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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN

Message from the Chairman

2012: A year of further recession

Two recessions in the space of five years have resulted in 
real national income returning to skim the levels reached 
at the end of the 90s. Compared to last year, it has fallen 
2.4 per cent in 2012 and 0.9 percent in the last quarter of 
the year, so that the variation absorbed in 2013 is already 
-1.0 per cent. The austerity policies necessarily adopted 
by the Monti government to help restore Italy’s credibility 
on the financial markets and in the European Union have 
ended up making the recession longer and probably more 
serious.

The financial situations of local and regional authorities, 
the 2012 stability law and the banks’ scant ability to raise 
long-term funds have reduced the demand for loans for 
public works; any emerging demand was met by the 
Deposits and Loans Fund, which continues to channel the 
savings of postal deposits.

At the time of writing, the general election results are 
known and the presidents of the new Chambers have 
been elected. A full mandate to form the government of 
the 17th legislature has yet to be conferred and a successor 
must be chosen for the President of the Republic, whose 
seven-year term is at an end. This institutional gridlock is 
made even more critical as the newest of the three major 
Parliamentary political groupings reiterates its intention 
to not reach agreement with the other two; at the same 
time the old hostilities, dormant but not surpassed during 
the short period of common support for the Monti 
government, don’t allow the latter two groups - until now 
- to create alliances…

Although a ratings agency may have rushed to downgrade 
its judgement on the reliability of Italy’s sovereign debt, 
implicitly dragging down its rating also of the banks, it 
is reasonable to hope that the markets maintain their 
capacity to look towards improving public finances, i.e. 
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a substantially balanced structural budget in 2013, sovereign debt defences prepared by the Eurozone and the ECB, 
and prospects for economic improvement from 2014. The OECD already seems to detect a scintilla of recovery that can 
become a flame only through actions that the present and future government are able to take to alleviate the conditions 
of business liquidity, fiscally increase workers’ income and avoid the further worsening of unemployment, especially 
among the young.

In this particularly complex economic-political situation Dexia Crediop needs to find a new ownership structure. The 
agreements reached by the Belgian, French and Luxembourg governments and the European Commission provide that, 
in view of the latest 6 billion euro injection of public capital and 85 billion for sovereign guarantees, the Group be 
dismantled in run-off, with the prohibition of new operations, except in rigorously defined circumstances. Our parent 
company, Dexia Crédit Local, will pledge a maximum of 500 million euro in renegotiating existing operations, mitigating 
the effects of the break up. In 2013 Dexia Crediop will be able to conduct transactions with the existing customer base 
for up to 200 million euro, to be collected independently in order to maintain the franchise, which will enable the sale as 
a going concern by the end of the year. If it is not possible to find a buyer, the European Commission can decide, while 
awaiting a bid, to award a temporal extension of operating capacity to Dexia Crediop or ask that it also be managed in 
run-off.

The search for a consultant to identify potential buyers is already at an advanced stage. The current owners and company 
executives are working to make it possible for the country to maintain a core of financial expertise, developed over more 
than ninety years in the field of public works, and for the staff to continue to believe in and work for this Bank.

Mario Sarcinelli
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Message from the Chief
Executive Officer

During 2012, the financial strain that hit some countries 
and the effects of consolidation of public budgets spread 
also to economies considered healthier, leading to a 
downward revision of prospects for growth in 2013.

In Italy, the first half of 2013 shows no signs of a reversal 
of economic trends; a return to modest growth could 
appear in the second half, but the dynamics of the GDP 
would still be negative on average in 2013. 

The adverse economic scenario was then reflected in the 
finances of Italian banks, with strong provisioning on 
loans and low funding of bonds. During 2012, the return 
difference between ten-year Italian and German bonds 
remained high and has continued to negatively affect the 
cost of refinancing and unsecured liquidity.  

With regard to the Dexia Group, the ordered resolution 
plan, announced at the end of 2011 and presented 
by Belgium, France and Luxembourg to the European 
Commission in 2012, was approved by the Commission 
on 28 December. This plan establishes, in view of an 
increase of capital issued by the States for an amount of 
€ 5.5 billion and a State guarantee of € 85 billion, the run-
off management of the activities of group entities, with 
the exception of Dexia Crediop and its parent company 
Dexia Crédit Local, which will enjoy specific conditions.

More precisely, Dexia Crediop can help maintain its 
franchise business by generating new assets in 2013 
for an amount of up to € 200 million for use with the 
existing customer base; in the same period the Bank will 
be available for sale. In the event that the sale does not 
take place, the European Commission may authorise new 
funding for a further annual period or decide on run-off 
management for Dexia Crediop.  
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The agreements between the States and European Commission approval as described above are, for the Dexia Group and 
for Dexia Crediop, a factor of greater clarity and a point of secure reference in terms of company continuity. 

In the light of the above, with reference to the deteriorated market environment and the expected resolution plan of 
the Dexia Group, 2012 was characterised by containment of funding and a satisfactory search for activities concerning 
project finance and cash management.

In an environment still difficult in terms of financial market strains, 2013 is nevertheless marked by a new process aimed 
to maintain the trading capacity of Dexia Crediop to allow it to be sold. It will be my task, even as an independent 
manager as established by the European Commission, to act in the interests of our staff, customers and shareholders.

 

Jean Le Naour
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Report on operations

Profile of the Dexia Crediop Group  

About Us  

Dexia Crediop is a bank that operates in public and project finance boasting over 90 years of tradition and consolidated 
experience.

The Company was founded in 1919 as a Credit Consortium for Public Works. It stands alongside the Public Administration 
to help develop large and small development projects in our country. A tradition of reliability that has also guaranteed 
savings to millions of families, funding the safest investment of all: the commitment of the general public to ensure the 
growth of Italy.

Over time, the Bank has developed an effective market approach, to guarantee effective support to its customers, in 
synergy with its shareholders. These include not only the parent company Dexia Crédit Local, but also some of Italy’s 
largest cooperative banks: Banca Popolare di Milano, Banco Popolare and Banca Popolare dell’Emilia Romagna.

Dexia Crediop is one of the partners of choice for local authorities, large public administrations and the most important 
companies active in public utility sectors, issuing national and international bonds, structured finance transactions and 
project financing, debt management operations and the optimisation of supplier debt, advice and assistance connected 
to privatisation and restructuring processes and cash management. 

The Company is specialised in satisfying the demand for bank services in respect of balance sheet limits and legal and 
institutional restrictions, typical of public institutions. For Dexia Crediop, respect for compliance is one of its strong 
marketing points.

With regards to finance, to guarantee quality and added value of the products and services provided, Dexia Crediop 
operates on the financial markets within the sphere of several business lines: Sales & Cash Management, Funding & 
Capital Market, Structuring & Execution, Cash & Liquidity Management.

Dexia Crediop offers its clientèle a range of products and services, especially in the sector of public works and large 
infrastructure: this results in socially responsible action based on social, environmental and ethical criteria.
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Group structure and shareholders  

Group structure 
At 31 December 2012, the Dexia Crediop Group included not only the parent company Dexia Crediop S.p.A., but also 
the following subsidiaries:

Company name Head-
quarters

Investment relationship % of votes 
held

Investor 
company % share

Companies consolidated line-by-line

DCC – Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l. Rome Dexia Crediop 100% 100%

Dexia Crediop Ireland* Dublin Dexia Crediop 99,99% 99,99%

Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l. Rome Dexia Crediop 90% 90%

* Dexia Crediop Ireland has equity of € 100 million, represented by 100 million shares with a nominal value of € 1 each, including:
 - 99,999,999 shares held by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.;
 - 1 share held by Belfius Ireland (formerly Dexia Investments Ireland), in its capacity as Trustee for Dexia Crediop S.p.A. until 5 March 

2013; on 6 March 2013 Belfius Ireland sold, without a Trustee agreement, the share to Dexia Crèdit Local.  

DCC – Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l.
This company, owned entirely by Dexia Crediop, has been operational since 2004. Its exclusive purpose is the setting up 
of securitisation transactions pursuant to Italian Law no. 130/1999. The company is registered on the list of securitisation 
vehicle companies held by the Bank of Italy.
The company has carried out three bond-issue operations – in 2004, 2005 and 2008 – through the securitisation of 
portfolios composed exclusively of debt instruments issued by Italian public authorities. 

Dexia Crediop Ireland
This company, an unlimited company with the head office in Dublin, was established in 2007 for the purpose of centralising 
the management of the Group’s investment portfolios. By virtue of the deleveraging policy resolved by the Group, in 2010 
major disposals of non-core business were made and, consequently, equity has been reduced from e 700 million to 
e 100 million, reimbursing the shareholder Dexia Crediop at part value. 

Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l. 
The company, whose equity is € 10,000 is held 90% by Dexia Crediop, was acquired in 2010. Its registered office are in 
Rome and it is registered with the list of financial intermediaries in accordance with art. 106 of the Consolidated Law on 
Banking. It belongs to the Dexia Crediop banking group.
The company’s sole purpose is the issuing of covered bonds in accordance with article 7-bis of Law 130 of 30 April 1999, 
and subsequent implementation provisions. As of the date on which these financial statements were prepared, the 
company had not carried out any transactions.          

Shareholders of Dexia Crediop
With respect to 31 December 2011, note the following changes in the shareholders: effective as of 24 September 2012, 
the shareholder Em.Ro. Popolare S.p.A. (part of the Banca Popolare Emilia Romagna Group) merged with Banca Popolare 
dell’ Emilia Romagna Società Cooperativa.
The Dexia Crediop share capital is fully underwritten and paid up and amounts to e 450,210,000 consisting of 174,500,000 
ordinary shares, each with a nominal value of e 2.58. On the date this report was approved, they were held as follows:
• Dexia Crédit Local: 122,150,000 ordinary shares, representing 70% of the equity, totalling e 315,147,000;
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• Banca Popolare di Milano S.c.a.r.l.: 17,450,000 ordinary shares, representing 10% of the equity, totalling e 45,021,000;
• Banco Popolare società cooperativa: 17,450,000 ordinary shares, representing 10% of the equity, totalling e 

45,021,000;
• Banca Popolare dell’Emilia Romagna società cooperativa: 17,450,000 ordinary shares, representing 10% of the equity, 

totalling e 45,021,000;

Dexia Crediop does not own any of its own shares or shares in the parent company, nor has it owned any such shares 
during the year.

Rating 

The rating on the medium/long-term debt assigned to Dexia Crediop by the Agencies Fitchratings and Standard & Poor’s 
are BBB+ and B+, respectively.

On 27 July 2012, Fitchratings changed Dexia Crediop’s ratings as follows:
• Long-term counterparty rating: to BBB+ from the previous A;
• Short-term counterparty rating: to F2 from the previous F1.

On 02 August 2012, Standard & Poor’s altered the rating of Dexia Crediop as follows:
• Long-term counterparty rating: to B+ from the previous BB-;
• Short-term counterparty rating: confirmed at level B.

Fitchratings maintained the rating in “Rating Watch - Negative”, whilst Standard & Poor’s expresses a “Negative Outlook”.

Fitchratings – med-long term BBB+
Fitchratings – short term   F2
Fitchratings – viability rating Ccc  
Fitchratings – support 2

Standard & Poor’s - med-long term B+
Standard & Poor’s - short term B
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Profile of the Dexia Group

Historically operating in the public lending and retail bank services sectors, Dexia is a European banking group that, 
since the end of 2011, is managing an orderly resolution. Dexia SA, the Group’s holding company and an limited liability 
company operating under Belgian law, has its shares listed on the Brussels and Paris Euronext and the Luxembourgish 
stock exchange. Since the end of 2012, the date on which a capital increase reserved for the Belgian and French states 
was authorised, these two countries became the main shareholders of the Group.
In 2008, in a difficult economic situation, the Dexia Group, weakened by an unbalanced financial structure, implemented 
- with the support of the Belgian, French and Luxembourgish governments - a restructuring plan, validated by the 
European Commission, in order to concentrate its activities in its historic core business, to reduce its risk profile and 
restore balance to the financial structure.

In the autumn of 2011, in the face of returning liquidity pressure, the Group presented an ordered resolution plan, based 
on two main pillars:
- the sale of the Group’s operating franchises;
- run-off management of the other entities, with Group operations that will be ensured by a financing guarantee of 

e 85 billion, granted by Belgium, French and Luxembourg, and recapitalisation, approved on 31 December 2012, of 
an amount equal to e 5.5 billion on the part of the Belgian and French governments.

The Group’s resolution plan, which aims at avoiding the development of systemic risk that could lead to immediate 
liquidation, was approved by the European Commission on 28 December 2012.
In line with the commitments taken on, the Group has acted to sell the majority of its operating entities, specifically Dexia 
Banque Belgique in 2011, RBC Dexia Investor Services, DenizBank and Dexia Banque Internationale à Luxembourg in 
2012, and Dexia Municipal Agency and Dexia Asset Management at the beginning of 2013.
This strategy translates to a significant decrease both in the Group’s scope of action and in the size of its financial 
statements. In fact, at 31 December 2012, before the sale of Dexia Municipal Agency and Dexia Asset Management, the 
financial statements had decreased to e 357.2 billion, a 13.5% reduction on 31 December 2011. Considering the sale 
of the entities and the natural impairment of the assets, the financial statements will continue to decrease and will be at 
around e 150 billion at the end of 2020, with a dramatic reduction between 2020 and 2025.
If there are not significant credit shocks, the creditworthiness of the portfolio should remain relatively stable over time. 
The Group’s operations will mainly be financed through state-backed debt securities, placed on the market, through short 
and medium-term collateralised financing and, to a lesser extent, financing from central banks.
At an operating level, Dexia will move towards a more-centralised management model and, once the various processes 
that are in currently in course have been completed, will continue to optimise its procedures, adjusting them to the new 
size of the Group.
Dexia’s profile has hence been changed profoundly by the implementation of the ordered resolution plan. From this point 
of view, the year 2012 represents a turning point. The project has had a significant impact on both the financial profile 
of the Group and its shareholder structure.
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Company information  

Honorary Chairman

Antonio Pedone

Company officers
Board of Directors1

Mario Sarcinelli Chairman
Claude Piret 2 7 Deputy Chairman
Jean Le Naour Chief Executive Officer

Alberto Ludovico Maria 
Basadonna 2 Director

Marc Brugière Garde 8 Director
Enrico Corali 2 3 Director
Roberto  Ferrari Director
Philippe Rucheton 2 Director

Board of Auditors4

Pierre Paul Destefanis 5 Chairman
Vincenzo Ciruzzi Auditor
Flavia Daunia Minutillo 6 Auditor

Other company organs

Steering Committee

Jean Le Naour (Chief Executive Officer)
Jean Bourrelly
Stefano Catalano
Fabrizio Pagani

Thomas Duvacher was a member of the Steering 
Committee until 31 December 2012.  

The Financial Reporting Manager (the executive in 
charge of the company’s accounting documents)  

Jean Bourrelly

1 Board of Directors appointed for the three-year term 2012-2014 by the General Meeting on 27 April 2012. 
 Director Iacopo De Francisco resigned, due to a situation of incompatibility, effective as of 23 July 2012. 
 Director Alberto Gasparri resigned, due to a situation of incompatibility, effective as of 07 November 2012. 
 Director Francois Laugier resigned, due to a situation of incompatibility, effective as of 08 November 2012. 
 Director Stephane Vermeire resigned, due to a situation of incompatibility, effective as of 08 November 2012. 
 Director and Deputy Chairman Alain Clot resigned, effective as of 20 December 2012. 
2  Directors appointed by the Shareholders’ Meeting of 4 December 2012. 
3  Director Enrico Corali was coopted by the Board of Directors on 10 October 2012 and confirmed by the Shareholders’ Meeting of 4 December 2012. 
4  Board of Auditors appointed for the three-year term 2010-2012 by the General Meeting on 29 April 2010. 
 Chairman of the Board of Auditors Ezio Maria Simonelli resigned, due to a situation of incompatibility, effective as of 30 October 2012.  Auditor Nicola Ungaro took his 

place, effective 30 October 2012, as Chairman of the Board of Auditors, until he resigned on 4 December 2012. 
5  Auditor Pierre Paul Destefanis, formerly a standing auditor on the Board, was appointed Chairman of the Board of Auditors by the Shareholders’ Meeting on 4 December 

2012. 
6 Flavia Daunia Minutillo was appointed standing auditor by the Shareholders’ Meeting on 4 December 2012.  
7 Claude Piret was appointed Deputy Chairman by the Board of Directors on 18 January 2013.
8 Marc Brugière Garde was coopted by the Board of Directors on 18 January 2013.
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Organisation2

Organisational Structure

Chief Executive Officer Jean LE NAOUR

Management

Administration Jean BOURRELLY
Finance Stefano CATALANO
Project & Public Finance Fabrizio PAGANI

Departments

General and Legal Secretariat Edoardo BARATELLA
Internal Audit Giuseppe NUSINER
Compliance Claudio COLA
Human Resources Daniela POZZALI
Communication Marta BASSOTTI

  2 At the time these financial statements were prepared.
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The Dexia Crediop Banking Group  

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.
Via Venti Settembre, 30 - (00187) Rome
Tel. + 39 06 4771.1   Fax + 39 06 4771.5952
Web: www.dexia-crediop.it - E-mail: mailto:internet@dexia.com
Certified e-mail: dexia-crediop@pec.dexia-crediop.it

Equity e 450,210,000 fully paid up
Rome Register of Companies n. 04945821009
Register of banks n. 5288
Parent company of the Dexia Crediop Banking Group
Listed on the Register of Banking Groups
Member of the Interbank Deposit Protection Fund and the National Guarantee Fund
Company subject to management and coordination by Dexia Crédit Local

Branches:
Turin - Via S. Francesco d’Assisi, 22
Milan - Largo Richini, 63

Bologna - Galleria Ugo Bassi, 1
Naples - Centro Direzionale, Isola E/5 

DCC – Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l. 
Rome - Via Venti Settembre, 30 

Dexia Crediop Ireland 
Dublin - 2nd Floor, La Touche House, IFSC, Dublin 1 (Ireland)

Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l. 
Rome - Via Eleonora Duse, 53 

Auditing Firm for Dexia Crediop S.p.A.
Mazars S.p.A.

Other Dexia Group companies in Italy  

Dexia Asset Management Luxembourg S.A. – Milan branch4 
Milan - Corso Italia, 1 

  3 Closed as of 1 April 2013.
  4 An agreement for the sale of Dexia Asset Management was signed on 12 December 2012.
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Internal risk management and control system, pursuant to art. 123-bis, clause 
2, letter b) of the Consolidated Finance Act 

In compliance with the financial reporting rules of art. 123-bis, clause 2, letter b) of the Consolidated Finance Act, the 
main features of the internal risk management and control system (hereinafter, the “system”) implemented by the Dexia 
Crediop Group (hereinafter, the “Group”) are illustrated below.

According to corporate law and the rulings of bank surveillance, the Group has established a corporate governance 
model, consisting of an internal risk management and control system able to continuously protect against the typical 
risks of such a company. This system involves the Company boards, the Financial Reporting Manager, the independent 
auditing firm and the internal audit departments.
 
With regard to financial reporting in particular, the audits carried out by the Financial Reporting Manager and the 
administrative-accounting system introduced by the latter are examined below. 

Both the Corporate Governance Model and the administrative-accounting governance system introduced by the Financial 
Reporting Manager are fully operational and contribute to ensuring the reliability, accuracy and timeliness of the financial 
reporting.
 
More specifically, the system introduced by the Financial Reporting Manager is based on the analysis framework 
contemplated by the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations (CoSO) report, since this represents an internationally 
accepted standard of reference for internal auditing and financial reporting. The system can be divided into the following 
four components:

• definition of the companies and the administrative-accounting processes that are relevant for financial reporting 
(scoping);

• Company Level Control: supervision of the macro-system of internal controls at company level, including the rules 
which govern IT processes;

• Risk & Control Analysis and Test of Effectiveness (ToE): verification of the adequacy of the processes for the effective 
execution of the controls which mitigate the risks linked to accounting and financial reporting, and the definition and 
monitoring of risk mitigation measures;

• Evaluation: evaluation of the adequacy and effectiveness of the administrative-accounting processes.
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A brief description of the administrative-accounting governance system adopted is given below:

The Operational Risk & Security department gives practical assistance to the Financial Reporting Manager in the execution 
of the implementation and maintenance of the financial-administrative governance system.

The Operational Risk & Security department also analyses the results of the Risk and Control Self Assessment (RCSA). The 
RCSA provides for the application of a methodology defined by the parent company Dexia Crédit Local and meets the 
guidelines established by the Bank of Italy (see BI circ. 263 of 27 December 2006, 2nd update of 20 March 2008, “New 
Provisions on Prudential Supervision for Banks”). The department must also be a reference point for the assessment of 
the Permanent Control activities.

The Internal Audit department guarantees the independence of internal auditing, pursuant to an annual programme 
approved by the Board of Directors, always after hearing the opinion of the Audit, Compliance and Accounting Committee.  
The tasks of the Central Inspectorate include, among other things, collaboration with the Financial Reporting Manager in 
monitoring any corrective action proposed by the latter. 

The General and Legal Office collaborates with the Financial Reporting Manager on the analysis of changes in legislation 
that can have an impact on the management of the system, and in identifying relevant company accounting documents, 
deeds and communications referred to by law or disclosed to the market pursuant to clause 2 of art. 154-bis of the 
Consolidated Finance Act.

Reporting Manager

Operational Risk & Security

Reports Approves

Internal Audit

Process Owner

Management accounting and auditing

Board of Directors

General and Legal Secretariat

Operating activities

Operating activities

ICT & Facility Service

• Appoints the Reporting Manager (art. 26 of 
the Articles of Assoc.)

• Issues the certifications pursuant to Art. 
154-bis of the Consolidated Finance Act 
(the Managing Director)

• Assists with the analysis of changes in the law that 
could impact the management of the model. 

• Identifies the “sensitive” documents pursuant to 
clause 2 of art. 154 bis of the Cons. Finance Act

• Assists in defining the scope of analysis, by 
identifying the materiality thresholds and 
significant items (scoping).

• Assists the Rep Mgr in the implementation 
and monitoring of the administrative-ac-
counting governance model.

• Analyses legal aspects and identifies the 
needs for the evolution of the governance 
model.

• Assists the Rep Mgr in defining the corpora-
te scope and the relevant processes, in the 
analysis of internal auditing at company le-
vel, and in verification of the adequacy and 
effectiveness of the processes.

• Provides the Company standards and results 
of the RCSA activities, and those relating to 
the application segregation matrix.

• Assists in the carrying out of any organi-
sational corrective measures that may be 
needed.

• Highlights critical areas that may be detec-
ted during the course of its work, providing 
an opinion on the effective application of 
the audited controls and indicating any are-
as for improvement.

• Assists in identifying possible corrective ac-
tion, monitoring effective implementation.

• Assesses the adequacy and effectiveness of 
the processes.

• Coordinates the exchange of information to 
and from the Rep. Mgr.

•  Carry out procedures and controls
•  Collaborate in designing new operating 

procedures and/or modifying those already 
existing

•  The Back Office reports on the key controls 
carried out

•  Compliance sends the plan of its own acti-
vities, the reports of the conformity inspec-
tions carried out and the reports presented 
to the Board of Auditors

• Issues the certifications and declarations 
pursuant to Art. 154-bis of the Consolida-
ted Finance Act

• Defines the governance model pursuant to 
Art. 154-bis of the Consolidated Finance 
Act and is responsible for implementation 
and monitoring of the same

Other bodies
(Board of Statutory Auditors, Steering

Committee, Audit Compliance and
Accounting Committee, Company

Shareholdings Secretariat, Auditing company)

• Information exchange on risks, audit system, 
reliability of administrative-accounting pro-
cesses, results and action undertaken

•  Exchanges information and data relative to 
its own activities (e.g. audit plans);

•  Points out critical areas identified in the 
course of its activity, also giving its own opi-
nions on adequacy and with regard to any 
necessary improvements.

•  Gives information for assessment and go-
vernance of any critical factors, and indica-
tions useful for defining the scope of the 
administrative-accounting processes.

• Gives a summary of the monitoring of the 
mitigating actions carried out by the process 
owners.

• Checks on correct operating of the IT sy-
stems, guaranteeing that suitable measures 
are adopted to safeguard the security and 
the integrity of data and information
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The Process Owners are represented by the managers of the company structures/departments concerned by the processes 
falling within the scope of the activity. The Process Owners interact with the Financial Reporting Manager in verifying the 
adequacy of the effectiveness tests, and in identifying and implementing any corrective action.

The ICT & Facility Services department, among other things, checks on the correct functioning of the IT system, to 
guarantee that measures are taken to safeguard the physical and logical security and integrity of the data and information. 
The department collaborates with the Financial Reporting Manager in the assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness 
of the administrative-accounting processes, for all aspects concerning the technological infrastructure which support the 
internal control processes.

The Compliance Department is involved in the internal controls system at second level, as a risk owner and not for 
compliance. The Department carries out its own activity independently (pursuant to the supervisory regulations) on 
the basis of an annual programme approved by the Board of Directors, always after hearing the opinion of the Audit, 
Compliance and Accounting Committee.

The main information flows destined to the Financial Reporting Manager forecast the following:
• the General and Legal Office: extract of the convocation notice of Board of Directors meetings, with relative agenda, 

and the minutes and resolutions regarding the issues of interest to the Reporting Manager; as soon as available, 
any communications, observations and reports of the Supervisory Authorities (Bank of Italy, CONSOB, etc.) or other 
authorities presented to the attention of the Managing Director, held by the General and Legal office; and indication 
of “sensitive” documents as defined by clause 2 of art. 154-bis of the Consolidated Finance Act;

• the Internal Audit: theannual Audit Plan; every quarter, the reports presented to the Board of Auditors and the summary 
of the monitoring relative to mitigating actions carried out by the Process Owners; the reports on various inspections 
as soon as available;

• Compliance: the annual compliance plan; the reports presented to the Board of Auditors every quarter; the reports of 
the results, as soon as available;

• Operational Risk & Security: the annual Activity Plan; the reports of the quarterly verifications.
  
Every six months the Financial Reporting Manager sends a summary report on the findings of the verifications carried out 
to the Steering Committee, the Audit Committee, Compliance and Accounting, the Internal Audit department and the 
Compliance department.

The Financial Reporting Manager also reports to the company Boards, and in particular to:
• the Board of Directors, on the Budget for his/her own activity, and on the annual plan for verification of the administrative-

accounting processes, and, by means of the six-monthly summary report, on the findings of the verifications that s/he 
carries out;

• the Board of Auditors, by means of the six-monthly summary report, on the findings of verifications that s/he carries out.   

In addition, the Financial Reporting Manager meets and exchanges information with the external Auditing Firm on their 
respective activities, especially regarding any aspects of the internal controls which require particular attention.

In 2012, all auditing and assessments performed confirmed the basic suitability and effective application of the 
administrative/accounting procedures of Dexia Crediop.

The economic and financial situation 

At the global level, the economic cycle recorded, during the second half of 2012, a weak trend, despite the prevalence of 
generally expansive monetary policies in the main economies. While the economies of the United States and the United 
Kingdom demonstrated sings of recovery during the second half of the year, Japan’s recorded a new decline.    
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In the Euro area, during the course of 2012 the actions taken to consolidate public budgets resulted in slowing trends 
even for the economies held to be the most solid, in so doing weakening expectations for growth in 2013.  

On the other hand, the conditions of the financial markets generally improved over the course of 2012. Specifically, 
performance of government securities declined drastically, in some cases to an exceptional degree (Greece, Portugal), for 
countries in which the tensions of the recent past were the greatest.   

The turning point of this positive change was seen clearly with the announcement by the European Central Bank (ECB) in 
the summer of 2012, of its decision to allow countries in crisis to request intervention from said ECB aimed at reducing 
spread levels (Outright Monetary Transactions), which were then followed, in the subsequent months, by agreements 
through the Eurogroup which led to renewed support for Greece and an agreement on the establishment of a single 
bank supervision mechanisms arrived at by the Councils of the Economic and Financial Ministries of the countries of the 
European Union. 

Nonetheless, the continuation of various and sizeable issues of uncertainty regarding the possibility of a fall in performance 
for government securities continued to a significant degree and led the European countries to maintain unchanged the 
public finance measures adopted at present.   

In Italy, the situation continued to suffer from the weakness of internal demand and the GDP declined by an estimated 
2.1% in 20125. This result included the important positive contribution made by the increase in exports, which ended the 
year with the best results of all time in absolute terms, in combination with an exchange rate which in 2012 was at more 
favourable levels than the previous year.  

In terms of the employment market, in December 2012, employed individuals in Italy totalled 22 million 723 thousand, a 
1.2% decline over the previous year (-278 thousand). The employment rate, 56.4%, decreased by 0.6 percentage points 
with respect to twelve months prior. The unemployment rate settled at 11.2%, an increase of 1.8 percentage points over 
twelve months. The unemployment rate for young people (15-24 years) was particular high (36.6%), increasing by 4.9 
percentage points on the previous year.

The tax changes made through three successive manoeuvres over the last six months of the previous year were strongly 
reflected in the decline in household consumption, which fell by 5.4% with respect to the first quarter of 2011. The fall 
involved, to a large degree, imports, which for some time have been recording lower numbers (7 consecutive quarters), 
contributing to cushioning the impact on the economy of the country. In regards to consumption structure, there was 
a sharp fall in demand for durable goods, currently 23% less than the maximums of 2007, but also a notable decline 
in consumption of non-durable goods (-9% with respect to pre-crisis levels), among which the heaviest decline is in 
foodstuffs. 

Of particular significance was the also the reduction in real estate investments (both in the sales and new construction 
sectors) which, combined with the reduction in public investments which has continued without fail for many years, has 
gravely affected the building sector.     

In this context, credit availability, while facilitated by the policies enacted by the Eurosystem, continued to be held back by 
various factors, including the liquidity constraints weighing on Italian banks, by a credit risks that continues to be viewed 
as high and, in prospective, growing in relation to the effects that the recession is having on the budgets of companies 
and hence on debt sustainability. 

5 At the time these financial statements were prepared.
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The public finance framework highlights the progress in improvement of balances: the needs of the Public Administrations 
is estimated6 at around 3% of the GDP for 2012, against 3.9% the previous year and the already-approved manoeuvres 
should allow for additional improvements in the next few years. The public debt/GDP ratio should begin to fall starting in 
2014. The margin of respect for public finance objectives is made even more slim by the forecasts regarding the national and 
international contexts, which currently see the Italian GDP starting to grow again as of 2014. 

The market of reference

At the end of November 2012, according to the latest data available7, Italian Regions, Provinces and Municipalities had a 
total public debt of approximately e 100.2 billion, a value substantially in line with that recorded during the years from 
2007 to 2011. 

This relatively prolonged stability in the overall debt of Local Governments (Regions, Provinces and Municipalities) is a 
recent phenomenon of Italian finance, and it is unlike the experience of the European countries in which decentralisation 
processes, similar to those in Italy, have taken place.

The debt of Italian local governments is destined only for investment, on the basis of a close functional relationship 
reinforced since 2001 by provisions of a constitutional nature which were, however, pre-existent. 

Hence, from an economic point of view the stabilisation of the debt of the local administrations seen over the last few 
years is due to the territorial bodies’ renunciation of carrying out investments.

In a social, economic and regulatory situation in which the large part of current expenses is - for various reasons - inelastic, 
the reduction of spending on capital account and the delay of execution of payments are in fact, in many cases, the main 
management strategies that can be used by territorial bodies to respect the objectives of the so-called “Internal Stability 
Pact”. It therefore follows that the total spending of the local Italian administrations for gross fixed investments has gone 
from approximately 28 billion per year in 2009 to approximately 23 billion in 2011. In all likelihood this figure declined 
further in 2012, as can be deduced from the trend of the amounts of public work put up for tenders, which decreased by 
21.7%8.

The phenomenon would appear to be able to help compromise the country’s development prospects if one takes into 
account the fact that local administrations have always been responsible for 70% of public investments in Italy. 

In this situation, therefore, the demand for long-term financing from territorial bodies has diminished with respect to the 
previous year. 

The direct and indirect constraints on the contraction of debt on the part of territorial bodies, introduced with Law 
183/2011 (2012 Stability Law) appear able to contribute to decreasing expenses for investments and, as a consequence, 
the use of long-term debt transactions, also looking ahead to the next few years. 

As explained in greater detail elsewhere in this Report, debt management activities also suffered unfavourable conditions, 
though for other reasons.  

More varied market performance and better prospects can be seen in other sectors of activity in which Dexia Crediop 
has diversified its clientèle and services offered for some time, while still remaining in the area of a perimeter of public 
relevance in line with its main activities.  

6 At the date these financial statements were prepared.
7 Suppl. to the Statistical journal of the Bank of Italy no. 4 of 14 January 2013 Finanza pubblica, fabbisogno e debito, Tab. 7.
8 National Observatory on Project Financing - CRESME Europe Services, “The Public Private Partnership in Italy - 2012 Annual Report - Summary “, 31 January 2013.  
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In particular, in fact, 2012 also saw some positive developments for the Bank’s activities in the infrastructure sector carried 
out by making use of the project finance technique.

In fact, the percentage of tenders for public works using a public-private partnership (PPP) declined by 7% in 2012 in 
terms of amount, but an increase of 3% in terms of number. In other words, the market showed a decline in the large 
works sector (also in relation to the limited availability of credit), but saw an increase, even if limited, in works with a unit 
cost of under 50 million, despite the generally unfavourable economic situation. Hence, the spread of PPP continues to 
increase, with positive prospects, as a method for carrying out public investments.

The prospects for investments infrastructure executed by some subjects in the extended public sector (Ferrovie dello Stato 
- Italian Rail) appear equally positive, as well as by private managers of networks and infrastructure, particularly in the 
motorway sector. 

Finally, in regards to the delays of payments by the Public Administration (PP.AA.), in which the banking system has for 
some time played an important role in ensuring liquidity to the system of credit providers, in Italy the new European 
Directive on Delayed Payments was implemented through Legislative Decree 192 of 9 November 2012. The updated 
legislative framework sets payment terms that are much stricter than before (30 days instead of 75), also aiming at 
penalising delays with greater interest. In any case, in the next three years, the rules of the so-called “Internal Stability 
Pact” are expected to be extended to all local entities and specifically, in 2012, the Municipalities subject to the “Pact” 
will increase from 2,300 to around 5,750. It is therefore reasonable to hold that the banking system will again be asked to 
intervene heavily to ensure the suppliers of the Public Administration have the liquidity connected the amounts due them.

Profits and balance sheet results
To provide a better understanding of the results of the period, abbreviated versions of the balance sheet and income 
statement have been prepared, using the models given in the Bank of Italy Memorandum 262/2005 and making the 
necessary reclassifications as described below:  

Balance sheet schedule
• the item “Cash and cash equivalents” has been included under other assets;
• the item “Hedging derivatives” has been included under other assets/liabilities;
• the item “Fair value adjustment of financial assets in hedged portfolios” has been included among other assets;
• tangible and intangible assets have been aggregated into a single item;
• the provisions for severance indemnities and risks and charges have been aggregated into a single item;
• the item “Fair value adjustment of financial liabilities in hedged portfolios” has been included among other liabilities;
• the profit and valuation reserves have been aggregated into a single item.

Income statement schedule
• the item “Net hedging gains (losses)” has been included under net interest, in relation to the close correlation between 

hedging derivatives and the instruments covered;
• “net trading gains (losses)” and “Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase” has been aggregated into a single item;
• net adjustments on tangible and intangible assets have been aggregated into a single item.
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Reclassified balance sheet

euro

Reclassified Balance Sheet Assets 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Change Chan. %

Financial assets for trading 20. Financial assets held for trading 6,415,796,070 5,435,554,149 980,241,921 18%

Financial assets avaible for sale 40. Financial assets avaible for sale 666,254,961 603,107,077 63,147,884 10%

Financial assets held to maturity 50. Financial assets held to maturity 281,128,354 338,415,512 (57,287,158) -17%

Due from banks 60. Due from banks 13,042,437,826 12,358,959,477 683,478,349 6%

Due from customers 70. Due from customers 28,220,449,796 29,378,011,587 (1,157,561,791) -4%

Equity investments 100. Equity investments 100,024,000 100,024,000 0 0%

Tangible and intagible assets 46,626,462 47,252,382 (625,920) -1%

110. Property plant and equipment 43,303,670 43,847,312 (543,642) -1%

120. Intagible assets 3,322,792 3,405,070 (82,278) -2%

Tax Assets 130.  Tax Assets 32,737,547 69,439,031 (36,701,484) -53%

Othe asset items 659,927,199 725,436,036 (65,508,837) -9%

10. Cash and cash equivalent 3,392 2,710 682 0%

80. hedging derivatives 540,946,388 599,431,226 (58,484,838) -10%

90. Fair value adjustment of financial 
assets in hedge portfolios (+/-)

18,781,482 23,074,755 (4,293,273) -19%

150. Other asset 100,195,937 102,927,345 (2,731,408) -3%

Total assets  49,465,382,215  49,056,199,251  409,182,964 1%

euro

Reclassified Balance Sheet Liabilities and shareholders’ equity 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Change Chan. %

Due to banks 10. Due to banks 23,680,581,405 23,467,350,959 213,230,446 1%

Due to customers 20. Debiti verso clientela 5,934,682,150 5,569,503,727 365,178,423 7%

Securities in issue 30. Securities in issue 8,171,532,673 9,917,715,579 (1,746,182,906) -18%

Financial liabilities for trading 40. Financial liabilities for trading 6,443,735,410 5,512,819,382 930,916,028 17%

Tax liabilities 80. Tax liabilities 3,617,483 0 3,617,483 

Other liabilities items 4,082,366,837 3,508,489,332 573,877,505 16%

60. Hedging derivatives 4,042,261,711 3,475,357,734 566,903,977 16%

70. Fair value adjustment of financial 
liabilities in hedge portfolios (+/-)

0 0 0 0%

100. Other liabilities 40,105,126 33,131,598 6,973,528 21%

Provisions 12,538,644 15,992,159 (3,453,515) -22%

110. Provision for severance indemnities 2,116,500 2,358,930 (242,430) -10%

120. Provision for risks and charges 10,422,144 13,633,229 (3,211,085) -24%

Reserves 689,491,292 647,119,698 42,371,594 7%

130. Valutation reserves 54,677,023 (20,696,156) 75,373,179 -364%

160. Reserves 634,814,269 667,815,854 (33,001,585) -5%

Share capital 180. Share capital 450,210,000 450,210,000 0 0%

Profit (Loss) for the period 220. Profit (Loss) for the period (+/-) (3,373,679) (33,001,585) 29,627,906 -90%

Total liabilities and shareholders’ 
equity

 49,465,382,215  49,056,199,251  409,182,964 1%
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Reclassified income statement
     

euro

Reclassified income statement Income statements 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Change Chan. %

Net interest income 83,110,498 75,400,727 7,709,771 10%

10. Interest and similar income 1,016,554,768 1,064,601,041 (48,046,273) -5%

20. Interest and similar expenses (933,455,426) (989,430,708) 55,975,282 -6%

90. Net hedging gains (losses) 11,156 230,394 (219,238) -95%

Net fee and commission income (13,935,362) 9,956,986 (23,892,348) -240%

40. Fee and commission income 11,666,606 14,892,820 (3,226,214) -22%

50. Fee and commission expense (25,601,968) (4,935,834) (20,666,134) 419%

Dividend 70. Dividend and similar income 0 4,986,020 (4,986,020) -100%

Net trading gains (losses) (7,355,355) (74,000,253) 66,644,898 -90%

80. Net trading gains (losses) 22,271,091 (57,931,043) 80,202,134 -138%

100. Gains (losses) on disposal or 
repurchase

(29,626,446) (16,069,210) (13,557,236) 84%

Net interest and other banking 
income

61,819,781 16,343,480 45,476,301 278%

Net adjustment for impairment 130. Net adjustment for impairment (14,011,195) (3,099,166) (10,912,029) 352%

Net income from financial activities 47,808,586 13,244,314 34,564,272 261%

Administrative expenses 150. Administrative expenses (34,843,406) (38,194,725) 3,351,319 -9%

Net provisions 160. Net provisions for risck and charges (129,432) (3,154,552) 3,025,120 -96%

Amortization on assets (2,787,272) (2,471,027) (316,245) 13%

170. Net adjustment on property plant 
and equipment

(1,023,262) (1,043,363) 20,101 -2%

180. Net adjustment on intangible assets (1,764,010) (1,427,664) (336,346) 24%

Other operating expense/income 190. Other operating expense/income 248,995 219,022 29,973 14%

Operating costs (37,511,115) (43,601,282) 6,090,167 -14%
Profit (loss) from continuing 
operations before tax

10,297,471 (30,356,968) 40,654,439 -134%

Income tax
260. Income tax for the period on 
continuing operations

(13,671,150) (2,644,617) (11,026,533) 417%

Profit (loss) for the period (3,373,679) (33,001,585) 29,627,906 -90%
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Profits and balance sheet results

Changes to key income statement items

For 2012 the income statement of Dexia Crediop SpA presents net interest income, inclusive of hedging gains, of e 83.1 
million. This represents an increase of 10% on the previous year, mainly due to the greater margins deriving from the 
increase of payables with the parent company Dexia Credit Local, guaranteed by the French, Belgian and Luxembourgish 
governments. 

Net commission income amounted to -e 13.9 million, as compared with the +e 10 million of 2011 (-e 23.9 million). The 
decline can be viewed in relation to commissions payable for loan on securities, commissions payable linked to the issuing 
of Italian government backed securities and the reduction of the activities of Project Finance.

During the course of the year, no dividends were booked, with respect to the e 5.0 million of the previous year.

Total results for trading activities came to -e 7.4 million, deriving from expenses for early repayment of bonds and other 
assets, partially compensated for by the valuative effects connected to the improvement of the spread on government 
debt during the course of 2012.

Specifically, during 2012 1.75 million in assets were repaid early by the parent company Dexia Crédit Local, for expenses 
of around -31 million.

Trading gains improved by +66.6 million on the -74 million of the previous year, which had been severely impacted by 
the valuation of the increase of the spread on government debt, which mainly occurred during the second half of 2011, 
for a gross impact of -e 71.1 million.

Net interest and other banking income amounted to e 61.8 million, an increase of 45.5 million on 2011 (e 16.3 million).  

Total net impairment adjustments came to -e 14.0 million, mainly due to specific write-downs on a project financing 
transaction, compared to net write-downs on loans of -3.1 million the previous year.

Net profits on financial activities amounted to e 47.8 million, an increase with respect to the 13.2 million of 2011.

Administrative expenses amounted to e 34.8 million, a 9% decrease with respect to 2011, due above all to limiting of 
personnel expenses. Amortisation and depreciation, amounting to e 2.8 increased by 0.4 million on the previous year. 

Allocations made to the provisions for risks and charges came to -0.1 million (-3.2 million in 2011) and mainly regard 
allocations made for employee benefits.
 
The result of continuing operations before tax was e 10.3 million compared to -e 30.4 million in 2011.

Taxes were negative in the amount of -e 13.7 million. Tax suffers the increases of the tax base, mainly deriving from the 
partial non-deductibility of interest expense.

The net result for the period was therefore -e 3.4 million, while in the preceding period it had been -e 33.0 million. 
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Changes to the main balance sheet items

Total balance sheet assets amounted to e 49.5 billion at the end of 2012, an increase of 1.0% on the previous year.

In particular, there was an increase in the financial assets held for trading, which amounted to e 6.4 billion (compared to 
e 5.4 billion at the end of 2011). This increase was due to the value of derivatives held for trading purposes. The amount 
is balanced out by a similar change in the item “financial liabilities held for trading”. These derivatives are valued at their 
fair value, and are considered financial assets if their fair value is positive, and as financial liabilities if their fair value is 
negative. 

The financial assets available for sale amounted to e 0.7 billion at the end of 2012, up e 0.06 billion on the previous year. 
During the course of the year, no sales or purchases were made. The variation can be attributed to the fair value valuation 
of said assets as contra-items for the corresponding change in the valuation reserves.

Financial assets held to maturity totalled e 0.3 billion (a decrease of 17% compared to the previous year). During the year 
there were no disposals or acquisitions, so the decrease can be attributed to reimbursements during the year.

Receivables due from banks amounted to e 13.0 billion, an increase of 0.7 billion compared to the end of the previous 
year. The main changes can be attributed to the increase in securities issued by the parent company Dexia Crédit Local 
with guarantees from the French, Belgian and Luxembourgish governments, partially compensated for by a decrease in 
deposits held with other credit institutions.

Customer receivables total e 28.2 billion, a decrease of 1.2 billion on the figure recorded for the previous financial year. 
The reduction is mainly connected to period repayments.

Tax credits amounted to e 32.7 million (69.4 million in 2011) and mainly refer to the net credit for prepaid taxes and the 
credit for withholdings on interest, premiums and other income from deposits and current accounts, as well as the IRES 
reimbursement for the recognised deductibility of the IRAP from previous years.

The other items of the assets total e 0.7 billion (-9% on the end of 2011). The change is mainly due to the change in fair 
value of hedge derivatives.

Key items among the liabilities include the item “Due to banks”, totalling e 23.7 billion (23.5 billion in 2011), “Due to 
customers”, totalling e 5.9 billion (5.6 billion in 2011) and securities in issue, totalling 8.2 billion (9.9 billion in 2011). The 
change in this latter item is due to period repayments.

The other items of the liabilities total e 4.1 billion as compared with the 3.5 billion of the end of 2011. The change is 
mainly due to the change in fair value of hedge derivatives.

Reserves amounted to e 0.7 billion at the end of 2012 (+7% compared to 2011). The increase is due to the positive 
change in the valuation reserves, for which the fair value valuation was positive in the amount of 75 million.

At the end of 2012, share capital amounted to e 0.5 billion. There were no changes compared to the previous year.
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Performance Indicators

Loans disbursed during the year
In terms of disbursement flows, the activities for 2012 
amounted to approximately e 0.2 billion.

The figures include all the various forms of loans disbursed 
during 2012. 

Loans     
At the end of 2012, amounts due from customers and 
banks totalled 67% and 31% of total loans, respectively.

These figures include all the various loan formats in 
existence at 31 December 2012. 

Loan structures
A breakdown of loans by counterparty shows that most 
were made to governments and public bodies (59 %).

These figures include all the various loan formats in 
existence at 31 December 2012.

Structure of funds  
At the end of 2012 securities in issue and amounts due 
to banks respectively amounted to 22% and 62% of the 
total provisions.

The figures include all the various funding formats in 
existence at 31 December 2012.
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Return on Equity (RoE)
2012 RoE comes to -0.3% (compared to -3.0% in 2011) in 
relation to the net results for the period. 

Return on Equity is calculated as the ratio between net 
result for the year and net equity at year-end. This indicator 
expresses the profitability of own equity.

Cost to Income
The 2012 Cost to Income ratio is 61%, compared to 249% 
in 2011, due to a 7% reduction in costs and the increase in 
net interest and banking income. 

Cost to income is the ratio between operating costs 
(administrative expenses and depreciation) and net interest 
and other banking income. This indicator is a measure of 
productivity expressed as a percentage of profit absorbed by 
operating costs.

Earning per Share (EpS)
EpS for 2012 was -e 0.02 per share, and suffered from the 
net result. 

The EpS figure is the ratio between net result for the financial 
year and the number of shares in the share capital.

Net non-performing loans
The effect of non-performing loans was 0.06%, an increase 
over the 0.0018% recorded at the end of 2011, in relation to 
the changes of a specific project financing transaction.

The effect of non-performing loans is calculated as the ratio 
between net non-performing loans and overall net loans. 
This indicator expresses the risk level of the loans portfolio.  

Return on Asset (RoA) 
RoA for 2012 came to -0.007%, with respect to -0.067% 
in 2011, in relation to the changes in the net results for the 
period. 

The Return on Assets figure is calculated as the ratio between 
net result for the financial year and the total balance sheet 
assets. This indicator expresses the profitability of total 
invested equity.
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Report on Operations

Funding activities and the offer of financial services

Business in the public financing sector  

In the context of the unfavourable credit sector market for territorial bodies, the commercial strategy pursued by Dexia 
Crediop consists of making a broader, more complete range available to its customers, which includes not only medium 
and long-term financing but also short-term financing and debt management, cash management and advisory services, 
etc.. Activities are therefore carried out with a logic entailing the diversification of services and selectivity in granting 
long-term loans.  

Long-term loans
Again in 2012, the medium/long-term market for loans to public finance customers was affected by legislative provisions 
adopted to limit the debt of local administrations. Specifically, the regulations introduced for local entities through 
the 2012 Stability Law (Law 183/2011) began to produce their first significant effects. While on one hand, (article 8, 
paragraph 1) they notably reduce the possibility of contracting new debt, on the other (article 8, paragraph 3) they 
envisage the obligation to reduce the stock of existing debt, all aimed at improving the balances as a function of respect 
for the stringent constraints imposed by the Stability Pact.

Hence, local administrations have made little use of loans for amortisation fees for which they are responsible, mainly 
addressing their requests to Cassa Depositi e Prestiti.

On the other hand, decentralised bodies showed a slight recovery in requests for loans with amortisation charges due 
by the government, destined for the creation of large infrastructure. Nonetheless, the continuation of the crisis for the 
financial markets led to the inadequacy of the maximum interest rate levels envisaged by the regulations in effect for the 
assumption of said type of financing, with the result of making the intervention of intermediaries in said transactions 
extremely difficult, in relation to which Cassa Depositi e Prestiti once again took on a preponderant role.

In this context, Dexia Crediop’s activities were extremely limited.

Debt  Management 
At the end of June 2008, Legislative Decree 112/2008 was issued. Article 62 prohibited territorial bodies, “from the date 
in which the regulation takes effect” to be issued by the Ministry of Economy and Finance “and in any case for a period 
of a year to follow from the date it takes effect” (said Legislative Decree), from stipulating derivatives operations, or from 
taking on debt through contracts that did not call for reimbursement models through amortised rates including equity 
and interest or that called for amortisation plans that exceeded thirty years.

In October 2009, a rough draft of the regulation underwent a public consultation process by MEF. A number of interested 
parties and institutions participated in the consultation by providing their observations. At the time the present document 
was completed, the Ministry regulation in question had not yet been approved. 

Considering this, 2012 activities related to operations with corporate customers and mainly with parties implementing 
transactions under project financing regimes.    
.    
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Credit Structuring 
In 2012, despite the difficulties generated by the continuation of the financial crisis in the Eurozone that has led to an 
increase in the credit spread and a decrease in liquidity, Dexia Crediop has participated, even if more limitedly than in 
the past, in short-term restructuring operations of the debt exposure of public entities and/or their businesses towards 
suppliers.

As in the previous year, operations mainly concerned the restructuring of trade receivables due from suppliers of health 
services and products to the local hospitals, in addition to other operations to restructure trade receivables due from the 
utilities suppliers of services to public entities, own shareholders, also through the assumption of debt.

Cash Management
In 2012, cash management was further developed in order to meet the demands for customer use of liquidity.  
The year results were marked by a consolidation of the customer base and a preference for short-term cash management 
instruments and plain vanilla products.
  

Business in the Project Finance sector 

2012 displayed an overall increase in the market (project finance and structured operations) of around 50% on 2011. 
Long-term project finance suffered a serious blow mainly due to the decline in the renewable energy sector and that of 
infrastructure compensated for by the increase in bridge financing and acquisition financing activities.
In this situation, Dexia Crediop focused on the financial organisation of a limited number of operations, selected firstly on 
the basis of risk profile quality and diversification of clientèle.
The overall results were highly satisfactory, especially in terms of income, thanks to a multi-product strategy pursuant to 
which Dexia Crediop acted not only as lender but also as the provider of services concerning the whole of the product 
life cycle (advisory, arranging, financing, hedging and agency services). 
During the year, two new operations organised as the Mandated Lead Arranger were organised. For one of these 
operations, the prize of best European deal in the hospital sector is about to be awarded by Project Finance Magazine. 
The past year was finally marked by the attribution of important financial advisory duties and the taking on of new agency 
appointments, as well as the development of cash management activities.

Raising funds on the markets

Funding activities 

In January 2012, Dexia Crediop issued 3-year bonds, supported by government guarantees, pursuant to Legislative 
Decree 201 of 6 December 2011, totalling e 1,000 million, and in March 2012, issued other securities of this type, with 
a five-year duration, totalling e 400 million. The issued of State-backed debt securities has enabled an increase to the 
Bank’s counterbalancing capacity, consequently reducing pressure to access the markets. 

Dexia Crediop has also updated the prospectus for its internal emissions, as approved by Consob and established by 
Italian Law no. 262/2005. Dexia Crediop was the first Italian issuer to provide itself with this document, consequently 
increasing transparency with regards to the public of its emissions.

Finally, during the course of the year, rationalisation was begun of the system of guarantees granted in the face of 
financing received from supranational bodies.
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With regard to short-term liquidity, in addition to the traditional forms of funding, i.e. the interbank market and monetary 
policy transactions of the Central Bank, the Bank pursued its policy to diversify short-term deposit sources through 
operations using IT platforms and with customers.

Business on the financial and monetary markets

According to the current organisational structure, business is broken down into:

SALES AND STRUCTURING, i.e. the sale of financial products on the Italian stock market. During the course of 2012, 
these activities were concentrated on the trading of DC issued securities on the secondary market.
 
CASH AND LIQUIDITY MANAGEMENT, i.e. the management of short-term liquidity and the interest rate risk, generated 
in particular by Euribor indexation of the banking book items. The interest risk is also managed through the use of short-
term interest-rate derivatives (Forward Rate Agreements and EONIA swaps).

LONG TERM FUNDING, i.e. obtaining medium-long term funding on stock markets through securities and other, secured 
or unsecured, liabilities. 

DEBT CAPITAL MARKET, i.e. the origination of debt capital market transactions for bank customers.

Administration, control and support

Risk Management 

2012 confirmed that the Bank’s activities are generally characterised by a very limited credit risk, which is partly due to its 
focus on a client base made up predominantly of local and district public bodies. 

This is also contributed to by the increased use of cash collateral contracts on derivatives, which also produces a 
considerable reduction in credit risk. Note that during 2012 the operational management of these contracts was assigned 
to the Collateral Management Competence Center of the Dexia Group allocated at Belfius (formerly Dexia Banque 
Belgique), and that starting from 2013, management will pass to the analogous Group Collateral Management Center 
allocated at Dexia Crédit Local, allowing the Bank to be able to continue to make use of the expertise developed at the 
Dexia Group level. 

However, even if not directly due to credit risk, it is important to note that the news periodically published in the national 
mass media, in relation to the stages of the administrative and legal proceedings in relation to transactions in derivative 
instruments involving counterparties in the public sector, have, in terms of legal and reputational risk, partly increased the 
potential overall exposure to risk. It should also be noted that during 2012 three important decisions in favour of Dexia 
Crediop were made known.

Specifically, the Regional Administrative Court of Piedmont held that the self-protection provisions adopted by the 
Piedmont Regional Administration were taken on in the absence of the legal presuppositions declaring, de facto, the 
existence of jurisdiction for the English courts. In the second half of 2012, the Civil Court of London acknowledged Dexia 
Crediop’s request for ascertainment of the validity and efficacy of the swap contract.



31

DExIA CREDIOP S.P.A.

Relative to the extended dispute that has seen the bank in opposition with the Province of Pisa since June 2009, at the 
end of last November the Council of State, the highest Italian administrative court, issued a clear sentence on the merits 
of the dispute, which annuls the self-protection measure adopted by the Province and fully confirms the validity of the 
swap contracts existing with the Province.

In addition, the sentence provided clarity on some issues which had emerged during the debate regarding derivative 
operations with clientèle:
 
• mid-swap rates are merely a theoretical reference and do not correspond to the financial conditions the bank applies 

to its clientèle:
• the components of the tax additional to the mid-swap rate serve to remunerate the concrete risk and cost characteristics 

for every specific contract with the clientèle (including credit and liquidity risk) which the bank incurs to execute the 
transaction and said components do not constitute implicit costs;

• the debt restructuring operation executed by the Province of Pisa respects the principle of affordability and other 
requirements under the law;

• the behaviour of the bank with the Province was proper, transparent and focussed on the interests of its customer.

Concrete dispute or pre-dispute situations have already been initiated with regards to some local or territorial bodies, 
which, in the last few weeks, have entailed the posting of allocations to the provision for risks and charges limited to legal 
costs. Please refer to part B of the explanatory notes for a description of these positions.

In terms of operational risk, in line with that already established for the Dexia Group as a whole and in compliance with 
the provisions of the Bank of Italy, the use of the new Group software (OSCAR) has by now been definitively consolidated 
in signalling events of operational risk. As usual, the regular Risk Control Self Assessment (RCSA) has also been carried 
out.

With reference to “security” aspects, the annual review of the Business Continuity Plan was carried out, and the 
replacement of the Identity Management software with a more suitable tool was completed, which now makes it easier 
to monitor access to the various company applications, saving on management time.

Permanent Control activities, launched in 2006 in response to requirements of French banking laws (decree 31/05 of 
2005 and document 97/02 of the CRBF - Comité de la Réglementation Bancaire et Financière) were reviewed again, with 
the introduction of additional points of control and better specification of others.

Finally, work has continued on Quality Control (of loans), relating to the traceability of the information-gathering process 
and the inclusion of this data in the internal rating calculation software (CLEO/ATLAS) accessible to the regional, provincial 
and municipal authorities and related parties (local hospitals and hospital authorities).

In regards to management of liquidity risk, carried out at a consolidated Dexia Crediop Group level, the tendency to 
transfer assets from the unsecured channel to the secured one was confirmed, with a notable increase in the mobilisation 
of financial assets with the European Central Bank and market counter-parties, including those of the Dexia Group. 

The activity enabled the management of tension on the liquidity position caused by outlooks, such as, in particular, the 
increase of cash-collateral deposits on derivative transactions, in turn linked to the market deriving from the interest rates 
and the decrease in the value of the liquidity reserves due to the worsening of the credit rating of Italian issuers.

With regards to market and liquidity risk control, in addition to the usual risk and performance indicator measurement 
and the verification of compliance with the related operating limits, please note the conclusion during the first few 
months of 2013 of IT projects aimed at automating the processes underlying the reporting relating to the liquidity risk. 
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For further details on risks and related hedging policies, qualitative and quantitative information is given in part E of the 
Notes to the Accounts.

Compliance 
In 2012, activities of the compliance structure involved both project activities and control activities, which also involved 
the anti-money laundering area, which in 2011 became a company department.

Project activities specifically involved the introduction of rules regarding related parties issued by the Bank of Italy. 
Compliance was assigned the task of studying the new regulations and drafting a policy.

Control activities were mainly carried out in accordance with company priorities and on the basis of a control plan 
submitted to the company bodies. These activities were concentrated in the anti-money laundering area.

Among control activities, note verifications regarding classification, profiling and filing of documentation in the investment 
services areas, an activity carried out in addition to the MiFID Monitoring Report carried out in the context of the activities 
requested by the Dexia Group.

In the context of anti-money laundering, note: assessment activities with subsequent reinforcement of existing controls 
and the implementation of new process controls; the control regarding proper registration of information acquired and 
proper maintaining of the Centralised Computer Archive; execution of appropriate customer verification; the process of 
updating internal regulations.

This department, together with Internal Audit, as the control function, carried out specific verification tasks in the context 
of the company’s Organisational Model (Legislative Decree 231/2001) on the basis of the plan of activity determined by 
the Supervisory Body. 

Administration

In 2012, the Management Control and Accounting structure was busy with the standard activities, overseeing the 
preparation of the financial statements, but also with tax compliance and the annual and multi-year planning and 
management control, as part of a continuous upgrade process of production and supervisory notifications.

Controls regarding efficacy and appropriateness called for by the organizational model for the Financial Reporting 
Manager also continued. The accounting schemes relating to new products developed by the bank have been defined, 
basically aimed at improving the funding position.

This year too, under the supervision of the Risk Management department, all activities linked to the Basel II regulations 
concerning the capital adequacy assessment system (prudential control process - ICAAP) were carried out. In particular, 
the so-called ICAAP Report was sent to the Bank of Italy in April 2012. The report will be updated in April 2013 on the 
basis of the financial statement figures at 31 December 2012. 

During the course of 2012, Back Office supervised various project activities. Specifically, some of these were established 
following the new Group configuration, which made it necessary to replace some platforms that are now guided by the 
Parent Company.

At the same time, necessary modernisation continued of the platform that supports the Finance products and that used 
to reconcile settlements, while upgrading of the Lending platform began.
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In addition, assistance was provided to complete the Bank’s adhesion to the market segment known as MTS repo, and 
it participated in the first stage of the project that launched the new domestic platform for collateral management for 
Monte Titoli, known as x-Com.

In regards to the ICT & Facility Services department, the restructuring of the production processes which began in 2012 
was important, aimed at improving governance and security of systems and services. 

In addition, the Facility Management service of the Data Center was also reviewed, rendering it more reliable, responsive 
and organised with respect to the requirements of Dexia Crediop.

Equity investments  

Equity investments in subsidiary companies 

Please refer to the information given in the paragraph entitled “Group structure and shareholders”.

Other significant equity investments

ISTITUTO PER IL CREDITO SPORTIVO (ICS)
The Istituto per il Credito Sportivo (ICS) was set up under Italian Law n. 1295 of 24 December 1957 and is a public sector 
bank in accordance with art. 151 of Italian Legislative Decree n. 385/1993. Technically, it is a “public law entity with 
autonomous management”. 
Dexia Crediop’s interest in this bank at the end of the year stood at 21.622%. The investment is not considered as one 
providing significant influence, since the Bank does not have an equivalent number of votes on the Board of Directors, 
which also performs the functions of the General Meeting.
During the course of 2012, no dividends were distributed to Shareholders.
By Decree of the Ministry for the Economy and Finance of 28 December 2011, issued on the proposal of the Bank of 
Italy in accordance with Art. 70, paragraph 1 of the Consolidated Law on Banking, the Institute was subjected to an 
extraordinary administration procedure, which was extended at the end of December 2012 for a maximum of six months. 
In the context of commissioner activities, the special commissioners have sought to reopen the legal case of a government 
fund, asking for a review of the distribution of profits to investors and the regulations which were implemented in 2005 
on the subject. The Office of the Prime Minister, upon their request, with a communication received on 13 November 
2012, began proceedings aimed at annulling the 2005 ICS Statute in relation to which, on 13 March 2013, the Office of 
the Prime Minister communicated the adoption of the annulment procedure for the deeds of approval of the ICS statute 
and the transmission of the same to the relevant control bodies. The procedure and legal motivations will be available 
only at the conclusion of said control activities.  In regards to this issue the company, aided by an external qualified expert, 
holds that for the moment it is only exposed to risks considered remote.

Transactions with other companies of the Group

Transactions with subsidiaries, posted on the financial statement at the end of the period, represented total assets of € 
212 million and total liabilities of e 7 million. The related information is contained in Part H of the Notes. 

Transactions with the parent company DCL, which directs and coordinates the Bank pursuant to article 2497 of the 
Italian Civil Code, posted on the financial statement at the end of the year, represented total assets of e 7,413 million, 
total liabilities of e 5,844 million, and total guarantees and commitments of e 325 million. The information concerning 
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transactions with related parties can be found in Part H of the Notes. 

The key data from the last balance sheet of the parent company DCL are contained in Part L of the Notes, as required by 
article 2497-bis of the Italian Civil Code.
 
Transactions with companies of the Dexia Group, posted on the financial statement at the end of the period, represented 
total assets of € 693 million and total liabilities of e 3,867 million. The related information is contained in Part H of the 
Notes.

Human Resources  

The Bank employed 192 people as of 31 December 2012 (-7 compared to 31 December 2011).

Human Resource management for 2012 was mainly characterised by the realisation of different HR development and 
training initiatives, the continued pursuit of company social dialogue and the careful overseeing of numerous administrative 
duties, including new introductions.

In terms of training and development, note the implementation of a detailed training program aimed at reinforcing the 
inter-departmental integration of various company operating areas, a continuation of the previous three-year change 
management project. Focus was also on training regarding Compliance and Health and Safety, including in relation to 
the significant changes in the relevant regulations.

In addition, during the course of the year the second stage of use of inter-professional funds for continuous training 
began, with obtaining of additional reimbursement following the agreements reached with trade unions for the recourse 
to ordinary provisions pursuant to Italian Ministerial Decree no. 158 of 28. 4. 2000 (Solidarity Fund). 

In terms of industrial relations, during 2012 the social dialogue on various issues continued. Specifically, there were 
numerous informational meetings regarding the company and Group situation and on the trend of the new agreement 
regarding health coverage for personnel, as well as management of the application of the renewal agreement for the 
national labour contract for middle managers and personnel in professional departments.

In 2012, careful management of the remuneration policy monitoring and definition process also continued, in the light 
of the ongoing changes in the relevant regulatory framework and the necessary coordination with the Dexia Group’s 
reward policies.

Finally, the management activities of all administrative aspects connected with the access to the Solidarity Fund for credit 
staff continued, in particular following the numerous legislative amendments that have been applied to social security 
matters.

Communications

Dexia Crediop organised many events in 2012 on the communications front.

The Bank adhered to the 18th edition of the ASSIOM FOREx congress organised in Parma in February, during which the 
Governor of the Bank of Italy gave his first institutional speech of the year.
In June, Dexia Crediop carried out the eight Compliance Congress, in cooperation with the AICOM Association, in which 



35

DExIA CREDIOP S.P.A.

numerous guests participated to discuss the issue “Compliance, transparency and control in relations with the Public 
Administration.”

In November, the Bank organised the thirteenth edition of the Financial Meeting for Public Works. This event, dedicated 
to the theme of “Private infrastructure financing: towards and beyond Project Bonds,” was an occasion to exchange 
views for institutional representative and local administrations in regards to the most recent developments in local finance 
and project financing.
Through the Centro Alberto Beneduce, the fifth “Mauro Cicchinè” prize was awarded, for postgraduate dissertations or 
other new studies on economic issues.

Again this year, Dexia Credop participated in the cultural initiative “Invito a Palazzo,” which this year celebrated its 11th 
anniversary, promoted by ABI - the Italian Banking Association. It allows banks to share their art collections with the 
public.

In 2012 too, the commitment of Dexia Crediop continued for sustainable development and the company’s corporate 
liability. The commitment to the environment has resulted in, amongst other aspects, the collaboration with the Group 
for Sustainable Relations of Dexia.

The development of investments and specific projects aimed at the production of renewable energy has also been 
encouraged along with the management of relations with various different stakeholders: in particular, the participation 
in the Forum for Sustainable Finance and the Coordination of the Agendas of 21 Italian locations.

Business outlook

Significant post-balance sheet events

Note that during the course of the first quarter of 2013, the restructuring of a credit position in the project financing 
sector was finalised, which as of the end of financial year 2012 was booked under non-performing loans for the gross 
amount of € 38.5 million. The transaction involved, inter alia, the cancellation of an amount equal to 10.3 million, relative 
to said credits, and an additional amount to credit of 1.2 million, determined at the restructuring date, in the face of the 
early repayment of a derivatives position existing with the same counterparty. Said amounts were repaid in compensation 
for the signing, on the part of the pool of creditor banks (in which Dexia Crediop served as syndicate leader), of shares 
with the right of first refusal for future dividends of the counterparty. This restructuring did not lead to additional 
writedowns to be allocated to the budget in addition to that already accounted for in the year 2012. 

Note that as of 1 April 2013, the Milan Branch has been closed.

In addition, in the first few months of 2013 decisions in Dexia Crediop’s favour were issued relating to:
• Municipality of Prato: on 21 February 2013 the Regional Administrative Court of the Region of Tuscany’s sentence was 

published which, accepting Dexia Crediop’s appeal, held to be illegitimate the self-protection proceedings by which 
the Municipality had intended to annul the derivatives contracts signed with Dexia Crediop and also reiterated the 
jurisdiction of the civil court (in the case at hand, English) when the dispute regarded a contract signed by the Public 
Administration iure privatorum;

• Region of Tuscany: on 15 January 2013, Dexia Crediop was notified of the Decree of Dismissal for the criminal 
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proceedings, on the part of the Preliminary Investigation Court of Florence, in which the commission of crimes of 
aggravated fraud to the damage of the Region had been hypothesized, on the part, inter alia, of an employee of Dexia 
Crediop and unlawful administrative actions pursuant to Legislative Decree 231/2001 by Dexia Crediop, as the latter 
had not adopted and effectively implemented organisational and management models appropriate to prevent the 
commission of the hypothesized crime.

With regards to the equity investment held in Istituto per il Credito Sportivo (ICS), please note that on 22 March 2013, 
Dexia Crediop viewed the Inter-Ministerial Decree of 06 March 2013 whereby the administrative proceedings pursuant to 
Italian Law no. 241/1990 were concluded with the dissolution, by way of self-protection, of the acts approving the articles 
of association of the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo investment (articles of association issued on 04 August 2005). The 
mentioned decree was sent to the relevant authorities and is currently awaiting publication in accordance with the law. 
For more information on the equity investment in Istituto per il Credito Sportivo, please refer to the information given in 
the paragraph entitled “Other significant equity investments”.

Future operational prospects  

In order to assess the operational prospects of Dexia Crediop, we must refer to the situation of the Dexia Group, to the 
resolution plan concerning it and the latest significant changes that have affected its structure.

Already in past years, following the deterioration of financial conditions, the Group had begun a restructuring plan aimed 
at repositioning activities in its historic franchise, reducing its risk profile, and restoring balance to its financial structure. 
More specifically, the implementation of the restructuring plan according to the objectives defined in 2010 with the 
European Commission were pursued until May 2011; in this context, the sale of Dexia Crediop to other entities of the 
Group was one of the objectives to be realised by 31 October 2012. 
In October 2011, the Group adopted structural measures that profoundly changed its structure, announcing an orderly 
resolution plan. This plan, reviewed and presented to the Belgian, French and Luxembourgish governments of the 
European Commission, was definitively approved by the latter on 28 December 2012. 

The new Dexia Group orderly resolution plan envisages sales of the commercial franchises considered saleable over the 
short-term and run-off management of the other entities, possibly accompanied by residual financing activities, bringing 
other activities to maturity.

As of the approval date of said orderly resolution plan, Dexia had already sold a number of its main operating entities, 
which allowed for a notable reduction in the financial statements and its weighted assets.
In particular, note the sales of Dexia Banque Belgique9, RBC-Dexia Investor Services, Banque Internationale à Luxembourg 
and Denizbank. In addition, an agreement for the sale of Dexia Asset Management was signed on 12 December 2012.

The new plan contains a calendar for the sales of certain Group entities not yet sold and run-off management, without 
any new production for other residual entities, with the exception of Dexia Crediop and its parent company Dexia Crédit 
Local 10 (DCL), which will benefit from certain specific conditions.
Specifically, for Dexia Crediop that plan includes: 

(a) the benefit of a new production envelope up to EUR 200 million intended for existing clients for a one year term 
starting from the date of the European Commission decision, during which period Dexia Crediop may be subject to 
divestment but, can in this way, preserve its commercial franchise. At the end of this period, the three member States 
may request that the European Commission authorize an additional yearly amount of new loans. If the European 

9  Now Belfius Banque et Assurance..
10  In 2013-2014 DCL may grant new credits up to a limit of e 600 million, for the sole purpose of reducing the risk profile of the structured credits held in the portfolio, 

using methods approved by the European Commission.
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Commission does not grant such authorization, and Dexia Crediop has not been divested in the meantime, Dexia 
Crediop will be put in run-off by the end of the relevant year;

(b) the management of Dexia Crediop as a distinct entity and in its best interest. To this purpose, Dexia SA appointed Jean 
Le Naour, current CEO of Dexia Crediop, as hold-separate manager and shall ensure that he operates Dexia Crediop, 
in consultation with Dexia SA, in accordance with the commitments of the Dexia Group’s orderly resolution plan 
applicable to Dexia Crediop;

(c) the appointment of a monitoring trustee, proposed by the three member States and approved by the Commission, in 
charge of monitoring the compliance with the commitments of the Dexia Group’s orderly resolution plan, including 
those relating to Dexia Crediop.

In consideration of the orderly resolution plan approved by the European Commission, the consolidated financial 
statements of the Dexia Group were prepared in accordance with the principle of the company as a going concern. In 
fact, already in the previous year, the latter was for the entire Dexia Group influenced by a number of factors, adjusted 
to take into account the main changes which occurred in the reference market. In particular, this plan is based on certain 
structural hypotheses, around which there are some uncertainties. In addition, it takes into account:

• the obtaining of a definitive guarantee for the liquidity granted by the Belgian, French and Luxembourgish governments, 
without requiring collateral. This guarantee is limited by the governments to an amount of € 85 billion, taking into 
account the 5.5 billion of recapitalisation (of which 2 billion attributed to Dexia Crédit Local) which occurred at the end 
of December 2012. As were all of the hypotheses envisaged in the revised industrial plan, the guarantee was subject 
to definitive approval by the European Commission on 28 December 2012. The limit of this guarantee is € 85 billion 
in capital account, including the financing already covered by the provisional guarantee established in the month of 
December 2011 (for which the residual debt is equal to 53.9 billion at 28 December 2012). The definitive guarantee 
is 51.41% granted by Belgium, 45.59% by France, and 3% by Luxembourg and will cover funding obtained through 
to 31 December 2021 under the forms of securities and financial instruments, deposits or loans, with a maximum 
duration of ten years;

• the maintaining of the bank licenses of the various Group entities and maintaining of the ratings of Dexia SA and Dexia 
Crédit Local;

The macroeconomic situation underlying the revised plan is based on market data observable at the end of September 
2012 and assumes a worsening of the recession in 2013, followed by a gradual improvement starting in 2014. No 
additional relevant credit event was taken into account for the projection period.

In addition, the plan is based on a hypothesis of improvement in the capital market, such as to allow the Dexia Group 
to finance its assets through secured loans (repos) and, in addition, to sell its guaranteed short and long term debt on 
the market for an amount, issued in the context of the definitive guarantee mechanism of 2013, equal to 40 billion in 
2015. If the market is not able to absorb these issues, Dexia will have to accept more expensive sources of funding, with 
a consequent impact on its profitability.

The plan as revised and approved by the Group’s Board of Directors on 14 November 2012 therefore concludes with self-
sufficiency for the Dexia Group, on the basis of the hypotheses and scenarios considered.
Despite this, there are still some uncertainties connected to its implementation: in particular, the plan is sensitive to 
changes in interest rates and creditworthiness. For example, a reduction of 10 basis points on 10-year interest rates 
would lead to a billion euro increase in cash collateral deposit requirements which, financed at the Emergency Liquidity 
Assistance rate (the most costly source of financing) could generate an additional cost of 135 million for the Dexia Group 
for the 2013-2020 period.
Due to this, the plan will be updated regularly to take external variables into account, and in order to estimate their 
precise impact on the projections and their possibility of execution.
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Given the above, the company and consolidated financial statements of Dexia Crediop are prepared in accordance with 
the principle of a going concern, in consideration of the ordered resolution plan approved by the European Commission 
and that established specifically for Dexia Crediop within the same. Company prospects could suffer from the same 
factors as described above for the Dexia Group, in particular the capacity to provide support for subsidiaries, also in a 
deteriorated market situation.

In fact, the dynamic liquidity position of Dexia Crediop indicates that the expected net balances for 2013 are mainly 
negative. The sustainability of the same over twelve months will be guaranteed by support from the Dexia Group, already 
demonstrated repeatedly, and in accordance with the methods defined by the guarantor governments and the European 
Community.

Among the determinants of said balances, note the continuation of high levels of margins paid to counterparties for cash 
collateral contracts on derivative products, even if they improved in the first few months of 2013, in turn generated by 
the notable drop in long-term interest rates. For example, a reduction of 10 basis points on 10-year interest rates would 
generate an additional need for cash collateral deposits of around 170 million.  

Prospective needs for 2013 will be covered through mobilisation of available reserves and financing operations implemented 
by Dexia Crediop as well as, for the remaining part, through financing, essentially on an overnight basis, of the Dexia 
Group, in line with the indications of the guarantor governments, the Central Banks and the European Commission.

With reference to the predictable trend of the Public Finance market, the direct and indirect constraints on the contraction 
of debt on the part of territorial bodies, introduced with Law 183/2011 (2012 Stability Law) appear able to contribute to 
decreasing expenses for investments and, as a consequence, the use of long-term debt transactions, also looking ahead 
to the new few years. 
Better prospects can be seen in other sectors of activity in which Dexia Crediop has diversified its clientèle and services 
offered for some time, while still remaining in the area of a perimeter of public relevance in line with its main activities. In 
particular, the prospects of the infrastructure sector realised through Project Finance are positive, relative to investments 
by subjects in the wider public sector and private managers of networks and infrastructure, especially in the motorway 
sector.

The prospects for activities connected to debt optimisation operations for suppliers to public sector entities or companies 
are equally positive. 

In line with this reference context, Dexia Crediop maintains its long and short-term financing activities within the limits 
of the provisions of the plan approved by the European Commission. Thus, also with a view to ensuring diversification, 
the commercial strategy continues to rely on the availability for its customers of a more extensive, fuller range of offers, 
including advisory, arranging, hedging and agency and cash management services allowing also, in part, a type of 
operations that are not constrained by the use of credit lines.

Again under the scope of the Public Finance sector, in the last few years the bank became party to some administrative 
and legal proceedings in relation to derivative products stipulated with local and territorial entities that are still under way. 
Also in the light of the developments which have occurred up to the present in the proceedings, including the acceptance 
on the part of the Council of State of Dexia Crediop’s appeal, with annulment of the self-protection actions adopted by 
the local entity, it was not held necessary to carry out write-downs or provisions, other than those to the provision for risks 
and charges in view of potential legal costs, with the expectation of the substantial correctness and transparency adopted 
by the bank in the establishment of the contracts in question.

 11 As to this end classified by Mifid regulations.



39

DExIA CREDIOP S.P.A.

Furthermore, as decided in 2011, and described in the previous financial statements, activities in derivatives will only be 
carried out for professional and eligible clientèle11, with, in any case, the exclusion of local and territorial entities. 

Thus it is also held that a notice of liquidation of registration taxes received by the bank in December 2011 will not affect 
the management prospects, with respect to which, as more extensively explained in the explanatory notes, under the 
section on provisions for risks and contingencies, again for financial year 2012 no allocation has been carried out, while 
the suspension of its effects has been obtained by the administration. 
On the funding side, it is expected that issuing of bonds will begin again as soon as the markets make it possible, under 
conditions that will be defined on a case by case basis. Medium and long-term deposits continue to be carried out as 
usual, also in the form of loans with banking counterparties, including the European Central Bank.  With regard to short-
term deposits, in addition to the traditional forms of funding, i.e. the interbank market and monetary policy transactions 
of the Central Bank, the Bank intends to exploit its commercial franchise to collect liquid funds held by the reference 
clientèle.

In terms of administrative management, Dexia Crediop continues along the path of reducing costs and rationalising 
resources.
By virtue of the agreement for voluntary redundancy signed in 2009, by virtue of which an overall reduction in the 
workforce at end 2012 of 31 units was recorded, in 2013, staff will reduce by a further 2 units. 

In conclusion, the strategy adopted by the Group and validated by the European Commission will lead Dexia to withdraw 
from all the markets in which it is present, through the sales of its commercial franchises and run-off management of 
the residual entities, the two exceptions being Dexia Crediop and its parent company, within the terms and using the 
methods described above. 

This process will lead to a significant reduction in the size of the Group’s financial statements which will reach, according 
to the forecasts, e 150 billion around the end of 2020, with a significant reduction between 2020 and 202512. 
In terms of commitments, the creditworthiness of the portfolio should remain relatively stable over time, while in terms 
of sources the Group will finance itself mainly through guaranteed state-backed debt securities sold on the market, 
collateralised short and medium-term financing and, to a lesser degree, financing from central banks.

Also considering the notable capital increase signed by the governments at the end of 2012, Dexia finds itself in a stable 
situation of sovlency, both in terms of Basel 2 and Basel 3, which will be reinforced over time through reduction of the 
Group’s weighted assets. 

Also for Dexia Crediop and the Dexia Crediop Group, the solvency position is solid. The coming year will be notable for a 
new course aimed at preserving the commercial franchise, also with an eye to allowing for a future sale.

12 These projects are exclusively based on the natural amortisation of the portfolio and include the impact of the sale of Dexia Municipal Agency in 2013.
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Proposed allocation of net results

Dear Shareholders,

The proposed allocation of net results set out below is presented for your approval pursuant to Art. 25 of the Bank’s 
Articles of Association.

Euro

Verified net result for 2012 -3,373,679

- share of 5% to be allocated to reserve pursuant to art. 2430 Italian civil code

Residual result 2012 -3,373,679

Profit carried forward from 2011 558,305,190

Profit available to the meeting 554,931,511

of which:

- to be distributed to shareholders pursuant to art. 25 (4) of the Articles of Association 0

- to be carried forward 554,931,511

After the shareholders’ approval of the financial statement, and considering the proposal not to distribute the dividend 
in view of the commitment undertaken by the Dexia Group with the European Commission and in line with the Bank 
of Italy’s recommendation to reinforce the Bank’s asset structure, net equity will amount to e 1,136.3 million, and will 
consist of share capital of  e 450.2 million, a legal reserve of e 76.5 million, other reserves of e 554.9 million (excluding 
the valuation reserves) and valuation reserves of e 54.7 million.

As of 31 December 2012, regulatory capital amounts to e 1,340 million. At the end of December 2012, the total capital 
ratio (regulatory capital to assets weighted according to risk level) was 22.2 percent, while the Tier 1 ratio (Tier 1 capital 
to assets weighted according to risk level) was 16.7 percent.
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Report by the Board of Auditors

THE BOARD OF AUDITORS’ REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 
31 DECEMBER 2012 PURSUANT TO ART. 2429 OF THE CIVIL CODE

To the General Meeting of Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

We have examined the draft financial statements of the company DExIA CREDIOP S.P.A. at 31 
December 2012, which show a loss for the period of e 3,373,679, drawn up by the Directors pursuant 
to law and which the latter have transmitted to this Board of Auditors, subsequent to the terms of 
law, together with the schedules, the explanatory annexes and the Report on Operations.

Activity carried out by the Board of Auditors
We remind the shareholders that the legal accounts auditing was conferred, pursuant to art. 13-quater 
of Legislative Decree 39/2010, on the auditing firm Mazars S.p.A., and we inform you that in the 
periodic meetings with the appointed legal accounts auditing firm no important data or information 
emerged which we would have had to include in this report.

Moreover, in accordance with Art. 17 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 39/2010, we acknowledge that 
we have received annual confirmation from Mazars S.p.A. that it continues to meet independence 
requirements. We would also acknowledge that in addition to the legal auditing services for e 138 
thousand (e 120 thousand for Dexia Crediop and e 18 thousand for Tevere Finance), additional 
auditing services were supplied for e 131 thousand (e 65 thousand for Dexia Crediop and the 
remaining e 66 thousand for other group companies). 

No further services were supplied by the auditing firm itself or by any entities belonging to its network 
in 2012.
Pursuant to art. 2429 of the Civil Code, this Board of Auditors declares that during the financial year 
2012 it has performed the following activities:

• it has checked legitimacy pursuant to art. 2403, clause 1, of the Italian Civil Code, finding correct 
observation of law, the Articles of Association, and the principles of correct administration; 

• it has checked the adequacy of the company’s organisational, administrative and accounting 
structure, and its concrete functioning, and the reliability of the latter to correctly represent 
management activities; 

• it has attended the periodic assemblies and participated in the meetings prescribed by article 2405 
of the Civil Code, and can state that they were conducted according to the provisions of the Articles 
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of Association, law and regulations which govern their functioning, and we can reasonably ensure 
that the actions resolved conformed with law and the Articles of Association and were apparently 
not imprudent, risky, in potential conflict of interests or such as to compromise the intact nature of 
the company’s equity;

• it has verified that the company’s books have been kept and updated regularly, pursuant to art. 
2421.

We also inform you that during the period no complaints have been presented by shareholders for 
facts that do not comply with art. 2408 of the Civil Code.

With reference to the disputes relating to the Bank of Italy inspection report of 30 November 2011 
and the replies sent by the Company in the letter of 20 December 2011 setting out the action 
aimed at removing the critical issues detected, we note that on 18 September 2012 the Company 
sent the Supervisory Body a follow-up report on the implementation of the corrective action taken. 
An additional follow-up update was sent to the Bank of Italy on 21 March 2013 with reference to 
the implementation of the IT project concerning the processing of data aimed at determining the 
Company’s liquidity position.

This Board shall be responsible for constantly monitoring the progress of the corrective action in order 
to verify the overcoming of the critical issues noted by the Bank of Italy.

We also note that in relation to the response given by the Company to the request for information 
submitted by the Bank of Italy on 19 November 2012 with regards to the legal proceedings in 
connection with the operations implemented with Prato City Council, this Board has examined the 
documents prepared by the Company and on 10 December 2012 informed the Bank of Italy that it 
had no comments to make in this regard. 

Comments on the financial statements and proposals
With regard to the financial statements at 31 December 2012, the analytic control on the content 
of the same not being placed within our scope of competence, we have supervised the general 
approach to the same and conformity to law as regards preparation and structure, and we point out 
that the financial statements for the year 2012 also present, for comparative purposes, the data of 
the previous period drawn up in accordance with the same IAS standards and schedules adopted for 
2011.

The Board of Auditors acknowledges that the 2012 economic result is affected, amongst other 
matters, by the following factors:
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• the effects on the market of the long-term loans to Public Finance customers of the legislative 
provisions introduced by the 2012 Stability Law (Law no. 183/2011) to limit the indebtedness of 
local administrations;

• the early repayment of 1.75 billion in assets by the parent company Dexia Crédit Local, for expenses 
of around -31 million.

It is also noted that the improvement in the trading result compared to the previous year, with an 
increase of approximately e 66.6 million, was due to the strong impact of the valuation effect in 
2011, especially in the second half of the year, due to the increase in the spread on government debt.

In relation to the principle of “going concern”, the Board of Auditors acknowledges that stated by 
the directors in their report on operations, specifically under the section entitled “Outlook”, and the 
paragraph “Operational prospects” and concerned by a disclosure reference by the auditing company 
under paragraph 4 of their report, that the statutory financial statements of DExIA CREDIOP S.p.A. 
had been prepared on the basis of the business being a going concern, in view of the approval by the 
European Commission on 28 December 2012 of the resolution plan ordered and prepared for the 
Group. However, in the management report, the Directors mentioned that there is still uncertainty 
about the implementation of the plan, which could be affected by deterioration in the market context, 
particularly as a result of changes in interest rates and credit ratings. In their report, the Directors 
confirmed that the plan will be updated regularly to take external variables into account, and in order 
to estimate their precise impact on the projections and their possibility of execution.
We would remind you that in previous years, the bank became party to some administrative and legal 
proceedings in relation to derivative products stipulated with local and territorial entities that are still 
underway. In relation to these proceedings, which are analytically described in the Explanatory Notes, 
and in view of the developments seen as of today in said proceedings, the Directors have chosen not 
to adjust the value or make any allocations, except for those to the provisions for risks and charges 
for legal expenses.

Furthermore, as decided in 2011, the Company envisages continuing its activities in derivatives only 
for professional and eligible clientèle, with, in any case, the exclusion of local and territorial entities.

Moreover, the Directors believe that the notice of liquidation of the registration tax, for a comprehensive 
total of approximately e 250 million, served by the Tax Authority in December 2011 cannot affect the 
managerial prospects; therefore, for FY 2012, once again no allocation was made in this respect, also 
in view of the suspension of the effects obtained by the financial administration. 

To the best of our knowledge, we state, pursuant to art. 2429, clause two, of the Civil Code, that in 
drawing up the financial statements the Directors have not made any derogations from the principles 
pursuant to art. 2423 of the Civil Code.
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Part H of the Notes to the Accounts contains details on transactions carried out with related partes.

Dear Shareholders,

In view of the above, and considering that the report issued today by the independent auditing 
firm contains no findings or disclosure recalls, we would suggest that you approve these financial 
statements as they are presented.

3 April 2013

THE BOARD OF AUDITORS

Pierre Paul Destefanis  Chairman
Vincenzo Ciruzzi   Standing auditor
Flavia Daunia Minutillo  Standing auditor
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Independent Auditors’ Report





(Translation from the original Italian document) 

 

Auditors’ Report in accordance with articles 14 and 16 of Legislative Decree n° 39/2010 

 

To the Shareholders of 

Dexia Crediop S.p.A. 

 

 

1. We have audited the separate financial statements of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. as of and for the year ended Decem-

ber 31, 2012, comprising the balance sheet, the income statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the 

statement of changes in equity, the cash flow statement and the related explanatory notes. The directors of Dexia 

Crediop S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of these financial statements in compliance with the Interna-

tional Financial Reporting Standards endorsed by the European Union and with the regulations implementing 

art. 9 of Legislative Decree n° 38/2005. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements 

based on our audit. 

 

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards and procedures recommended by CONSOB 

(the Italian Stock Exchange Commission). In accordance with such standards and procedures, we planned and 

performed our audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 

misstatement and are, as a whole, reliable. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 

used and significant estimates made by the directors. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for 

our opinion. 

For the opinion on the prior year separate financial statements, whose financial data have been presented 

for comparative purposes, reference should be made to our auditors’ report issued on March 30, 2012. 

 

3. In our opinion the separate financial statements of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. as of and for the year ended December 

31, 2012 comply with International Financial Reporting Standards endorsed by the European Union and with 

the regulations implementing art. 9 of Legislative Decree n° 38/2005. Therefore they are clearly stated and give 

a true and fair view of the financial position, the results of operations, the changes in equity and the cash flows 

of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. for the year then ended. 
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4. As an emphasis of matter, we draw your attention to what is described by the directors in the report on opera-

tions, in the section "Business outlook", paragraph " Future operational prospects", regarding the information re-

lated to the maintenance of the going concern basis of Dexia Crediop S.p.A., mentioned in the notes in the 

"General Accounting Principles".  In particular, the directors report that, given above for the Dexia Group in 

paragraph "Future operational prospects", “the company and consolidated financial statements of Dexia 

Crediop Group are prepared in accordance with the principle of going concern, in consideration of the ordered 

resolution plan for Dexia Group approved by the European Commission and that established specifically for 

Dexia Crediop within the same. Company prospects could suffer from the same factors as described for the 

Dexia Group, in particular the capacity to provide support for subsidiaries, also in a deteriorated market situa-

tion. In fact, the dynamic liquidity position of Dexia Crediop indicates that the expected net balances for 2013 

are mainly negative.The sustainability of the same over twelve months will be guaranteed by support from the 

Dexia Group, already demonstrated repeatedly, and in accordance with the methods defined by the guarantor 

governments and the European Community.”. 

 

5. The directors of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of the report on operations in accord-

ance with the applicable laws and regulations. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consistency of 

the report on operations and the information required by comma 2, letter b) of art. 123-bis of Legislative Decree 

n° 58/98 disclosed in the specific section of the same report, with the financial statements, as required by law.  

For this purpose, we have performed the procedures required under auditing standard n. 001 issued by CNDEC 

(the Italian Accounting Profession) and recommended by CONSOB (the Italian Stock Exchange Commission). 

In our opinion, the report on operations and the information required by comma 2, letter b) of art. 123-bis of 

Legislative Decree n° 58/98 disclosed in the specific section of the same report are consistent with the separate 

financial statements of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. as of and for the year ended December 31, 2012. 

 

Rome, April 3, 2013 

 

 Mazars S.p.A. 

 (Signed on the original by) 

Emmanuele Berselli 

 Partner 
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Certification of the annual consolidated financial 
statements pursuant to article 154-bis of Legislative Decree 
58/98 and art. 81-ter of Consob Regulation no. 11971 of 
14th May 1999 and successive amendments and additions.

1. The undersigned Jean Le Naour, as Chief Executive Officer, and Jean Bourrelly, as the Manager responsible for preparing 
the annual report of Dexia Crediop S.p.A., hereby testify, also taking into account the provisions of art. 154-bis, clauses 
3 and 4, of legislative decree no. 58 of 24th February 1998, to:

• the adequacy in respect of the features of the company, and
• the effective application

of the administrative and accounting procedures on which the financial statements for the 2012 period are based,

2. it is also declared that:

2.1 the financial statements:

a) have been drawn up according to the international accounting standards applicable and recognised in the 
European Union pursuant to the regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and Council of 19th 
July 2002;

b) correspond to the balances in the accounting records;
c) give a true and correct representation of the issuer’s equity and economic and financial situation.

2.2 the report on business operations includes a reliable analysis of the management trend and result, as well as the 
issuer’s situation, together with a description of the main risks and uncertainties to which it is exposed.

Date: 21 March 2013

          Jean Le Naour                      Jean Bourrelly 
     Chief Executive Officer              The Financial Reporting Manager
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BALANCE SHEET  

 Euro 

 Assets 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

10. Cash and cash equivalents  3,392  2,710 

20. Financial assets held for trading  6,415,796,070  5,435,554,149 

40. Financial assets available for sale  666,254,961  603,107,077 

50. Financial assets held to maturity  281,128,354  338,415,512 

60. Due from banks  13,042,437,826  12,358,959,477 

70. Due from customers  28,220,449,796  29,378,011,587 

80. Hedging derivatives  540,946,388  599,431,226 

90. Fair value change of financial assets in hedged portfolios (+/-)  18,781,482  23,074,755 

100. Equity investments  100,024,000  100,024,000 

110. Property plant and equipment  43,303,670  43,847,312 

120. Intangible assets  3,322,792  3,405,070 

           of which:   

           - goodwill 0 0 

130.  Tax assets 32,737,547 69,439,031 

 a)    current 5,873,089 10,642,320 

 b)    advance 26,864,458 58,796,711 

 b1)  advance pursuant Law 214/2011 0 0 

150. Other assets 100,195,937 102,927,345 

 Total assets  49,465,382,215 49,056,199,251 

Euro

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

10. Due to banks 23,680,581,405 23,467,350,959 

20. Due to customers 5,934,682,150 5,569,503,727 

30. Securities issued 8,171,532,673 9,917,715,579 

40. Financial liabilities held for trading  6,443,735,410  5,512,819,382 

60. Hedging derivatives 4,042,261,711 3,475,357,734 

80. Tax liabilities 3,617,483 0 

   a) current 3,617,483 0 

100. Other liabilities 40,105,126 33,131,598 

110. Employee termination indemnities 2,116,500 2,358,930 

120. Provisions for risks and charges 10,422,144 13,633,229 

   a)   post employment benefits 296,171 565,602 

   b)   other provisions 10,125,973 13,067,627 

130. Valuation reserves 54,677,023 (20,696,156)

160. Reserves  634,814,269  667,815,854 

180. Share capital  450,210,000  450,210,000 

200. Net income (loss) (3,373,679) (33,001,585)

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  49,465,382,215  49,056,199,251
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INCOME STATEMENT  

 Euro  

Items 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

10.  Interest and similar income 1,016,554,768 1,064,601,041 

20.  Interest and similar expenses (933,455,426) (989,430,708)

30. Net interest income 83,099,342 75,170,333 

40. Fee and Commission income 11,666,606 14,892,820 

50. Fee and  Commission expenses (25,601,968) (4,935,834)

60. Net fee and commission income (13,935,362) 9,956,986 

70. Dividend and similar income 0 4,986,020 

80. Net trading gains (losses) 22,271,091 (57,931,043)

90. Fair Value adjustment in hedge accounting 11,156 230,394 

100. Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase of: (29,626,446) (16,069,210)

 a)    loans (30,851,227) (28,926,460)

 b)   financial assets available for sale 12,000 (57,333)

 d)   financial liabilities 1,212,781 12,914,583 

120. Net interest and other banking income 61,819,781 16,343,480 

130. Net adjustments for impairment of: (14,011,195) (3,099,166)

 a)    loans (14,011,195) (3,099,166)

140. Net income from financial activities 47,808,586 13,244,314 

150. Administrative expenses: (34,843,406) (38,194,725)

 a)   personnel expenses (21,213,602) (25,160,506)

 b)  other administrative expenses (13,629,804) (13,034,219)

160. Net provisions for risks and charges (129,432) (3,154,552)

170. Net adjustments on property plant and equipment (1,023,262) (1,043,363)

180. Net adjustments on intangible assets (1,764,010) (1,427,664)

190. Other operating expenses/income 248,995 219,022 

200. Operating expenses (37,511,115) (43,601,282)

250. Profit (loss) from continuing operations before tax 10,297,471 (30,356,968)

260. Taxes on income from continuing operations (13,671,150) (2,644,617)

270. Profit (Loss) from continuing operations after tax (3,373,679) (33,001,585)

290. Net income (loss) (3,373,679) (33,001,585)
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

 Euro

Items 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

10. Net income (loss) (3,373,679) (33,001,585)

 Other income components net of tax   

20.    Financial assets available for sale 53,295,394 (43,520,178)

30.    Property plant and equipment   

40.    Intangible assets   

50.    Hedges of foreign investments   

60.    Cash flow hedging 22,077,785 8,992,888 

70.    Exchange rate differences   

80.    Non-current assets held for sale   

90.    Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefits schemes   

100.    Share of valuation reserves related to equity investments

110. Total other income components net of tax 75,373,179 (34,527,290)

120. Comprehensive income (items 10 + 110) 71,999,500 (67,528,875)
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     a) ordinary 
shares

450,210,000 450,210,000 450,210,000 

     b) other shares

Share premiums

Reserves: 667,815,854 667,815,854 (33,001,585) 634,814,269 

     a) of profits 667,815,854 667,815,854 (33,001,585) 634,814,269 

     b) others

Valuation
reserves

(20,696,156) (20,696,156) 75,373,179 54,677,023 

Equity instruments

Treasury shares

Profit (Loss) for the 
period

(33,001,585) (33,001,585) 33,001,585 (3,373,679) (3,373,679)

Shareholders’ 
equity 

1,064,328,113 1,064,328,113 0 71,999,500 1,136,327,613

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Euro
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
Indirect method 

 euro

A. OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Amount

31/12/2012
Amount

31/12/2011
1. Cash Flow from operations 4,943,123 36,068,426 
      - net income (+/-) (3,373,679) (33,001,585)

      - gains/losses on financial assets held for trading and on   

        assets/liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss (-/+) (22,271,091) 57,931,043 

      - capital gains/losses on hedging assets (+/-) (11,156) (230,394)

      - net adjustments for impairment (+/-) 14,011,195 3,099,166 

      - net adjustments of tangible and intangible fixed assets (+/-) 2,787,272 2,471,027 

      - net provisions for risks and charges and other costs/revenues (+/-) 129,432 3,154,552 

      - taxes and duties to be settled (+) 13,671,150 2,644,617 

      - net adjustments of disposal groups classified as held for sale,   

        net of tax effect (-/+)   

      - other adjustments (+/-)   

2. Cash flow from / used in financial assets (401,537,153) (5,412,906,115)
      - financial assets held for trading (957,970,830) (1,576,061,045)

      - financial assets designated at fair value   

      - financial assets available for sale (63,147,884) 53,306,979 

      - due from banks: on demand 158,864,461 (169,964,898)

      - due from banks: other receivables (842,342,810) (3,733,955,941)

      - due from customers 1,143,550,595 (354,902,205)

      - other assets 159,509,315 368,670,995 

3.Cash flow from / used in financial liabilities 398,756,061 5,374,188,919 
      - due to banks: repayable on demand 15,000,000 0 

      - due to banks: other deposits 198,230,446 5,080,745,773 

      - due to customers 365,178,423 (84,869,058)

      - securities issued (1,746,182,906) (2,498,219,658)

      - financial liabilities held for trading 930,916,028 1,573,183,220 

      - financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss   

      - other liabilities 635,614,070 1,303,348,642 

Net cash flow from (used in) operating activities 2,162,031 (2,648,770)
B. INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES   
1. Cash flow from 0 4,986,020 
      - sales of equity investments 1   

      - dividend collected from equity investments  4,986,020 

      - sales of financial assets held to maturity   

      - sales of property plant and equipment   

      - sales of intangible assets   

      - sales of company divisions   

2. Cash flow used in (2,161,349) (2,337,525)
      - purchases of equity investments   

      - purchases of financial assets held to maturity   

      - purchases of property plant and equipment (479,618) (733,610)

      - purchases of intangible assets (1,681,731) (1,603,915)
      - purchases of company divisions   

Net liquidity generated/absorbed by investment activities (2,161,349) 2,648,495 
C. FUNDING ACTIVITIES 0 0 
      - issues/purchases of treasury shares   

      - issues/purchases of equity instruments   

      - distribution of dividend and other uses   

Net liquidity generated/absorbed by funding activities 0 0 
NET LIQUIDITY GENERATED/ABSORBED IN THE PERIOD 682 (275)



55

DExIA CREDIOP S.P.A.

RECONCILIATION
 euro 

Balance sheet items
Amount

31/12/2012
Amount

31/12/2011

Cash and cash equivalents at start of period 2,710 2,985 

Total net liquidity generated/absorbed in period 682 (275)

Cash and cash equivalents: effect of variations in exchange rates 0 0 

Cash and liquid assets at end of period 3,392 2,710 



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Part A - Accounting policies
Part B – Comments on the balance sheet
Part C – Comments on the income statement
Part D - Comprehensive income
Part E – Comments on risks and associated hedging policies
Part F – Comments on the capital
Part H – Transactions with related parties
Part L – Information on sectors
Balance sheet data of parent company Dexia Credit Local
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Part A - Accounting policies
  A.1   General Part      
   – Section 1 - Declaration of conformity to International Accounting Standards   
   – Section 2 - General accounting principles    
   – Section 3 - Events after the balance sheet date  
   – Section 4 - Other aspects    
  A.2   The main aggregates of the financial statements   
   1  - Financial assets held for trading    
   2  - Financial assets available for sale    
   3  - Financial assets held to maturity    
   4  - Loans       
   6  - Hedging transactions     
   7  - Equity investments     
   8  - Property plant and equipment     
   9  - Intangible assets    
   11  - Current and deferred taxes   
   12  - Provisions for risks and charges   
   13  - Debt instruments and securities in issue    
   14  - Financial liabilities held for trading    
   16  - Currency transactions     
   17  - Other information      
  A.3  Information on fair value    
  A.3.1   - Transfers between portfolios    
  A.3.2   - Fair Value Hierarchy     
  A.3.3   - Information on the so-called “day one profit/loss”   
         

Part B – Comments on the balance sheet      
  ASSETS        
   – Section  1 - Cash and cash equivalents    
   – Section  2 - Financial assets held for trading   
   – Section  4 - Financial assets available for sale   
   – Section  5 - Financial assets held to maturity   
   – Section  6 - Due from banks    
   – Section  7 - Due from customers    
   – Section  8 - Hedging derivatives    
   – Section  9 - Fair value adjustment of financial assets in hedged portfolios 
   – Section 10 - Equity investments    
   – Section 11 - Property plant and equipment    
   – Section 12 - Intangible assets   
   – Section 13 - Tax credits and liabilities   
   – Section 15 - Other assets    
  LIABILITIES        
   – Section  1 - Due to banks    
   – Section  2 - Due to customers    
   – Section  3 - Securities in issue    
   – Section  4 - Financial liabilities for trading    
   – Section  6 - Hedging derivatives    
   – Section  7 - Fair value adjustment of financial liabilities in hedged portfolios 
   – Section  8 - Tax liabilities    
   – Section 10 - Other liabilities    
   – Section 11 - Provision for severance indemnities   
   – Section 12 - Provisions for risks and charges    
   – Section 14 - Corporate capital    
   Other information         
   1   - Guarantees given and commitments    
   2   - Assets lodged as surety for own liabilities and commitments   
   4   - Management and broking for customer accounts:    
   5   - Provisions for losses on realization    
   6   - Fair value       
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Part C – Comments on the income statement      
   – Section  1 - Interest   
   – Section  2 - Commissions    
   – Section  3 - Dividend and similar income   
   – Section  4 - Trading gains (losses)   
   – Section  5 - Hedging gains (losses)   
   – Section  6 - Disposal/repurchase gains (losses)    
   – Section  8 - Net adjustments for impairment  
   – Section  9 - Administrative expenses    
   – Section 10 - Net provisions for risks and charges   
   – Section 11 - Net adjustments on property plant and equipment   
   – Section 12 - Net adjustments on intangible assets  
   – Section 13 - Other operating expenses and income   
   – Section 18 - Tax on profit from continuing operations  

Part D - Comprehensive income           
Analytic statement of comprehensive income       
            

Part E – Comments on risks and associated hedging policies    
Section 1 – Credit risk         
   Qualitative information       
    1.   General aspects       
    2.   Credit risk management policies       
    2.1 Organisational aspects      
    2.2 Management, measuring and audit systems      
    2.3 Credit risk mitigation techniques      
    2.4 Impaired financial assets       
  Quantitative information       
   A.   Credit quality       
    A.1 Impaired and performing loan exposure: amounts, write-downs, trends, economic
          and geographical distribution 
   A.2 Classification of exposure according to external and internal ratings 
   A.3 Breakdown of secured loans according to type of guarantee     
   B.  Distribution and concentration of loan exposure      
   B.1 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet customer loan exposure according to sector (book value)
   B.2 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet customer loan exposure according to area (book value)   
   B.3 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet bank loan exposure according to area (book value)
   B.4 Major exposure       
   C.  Securitisation and asset disposal transactions      
   C.1 Securitisation transactions     
   Qualitative information       
   Quantitative information       
       C.1.1 Exposure to securitisation transactions according to quality of underlying assets  
       C.1.3 Exposure to main “third party” securitisation transactions according to type
    of securitised assets and type of exposure        
           C.1.4 Exposure to securitisation transactions distributed by portfolio and type  
       C.1.6 Interests in special purpose vehicles       
       C.1.7 Servicer activities – collection of securitised loans and redemption of securities issued by the
                 vehicle company  
       C.2  Disposal transactions     
       C.2.1. Financial assets sold but not derecognized      
       C.2.2. Financial liabilities for assets sold but not derecognized     
Section 2 – Market risks         
   2.1   Interest rate risk and price risk - regulatory trading book    
    Qualitative information       
    A. General aspects       
    B. Management and measurement of interest rate risk and price risk 
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   Quantitative information       
   1. Regulatory banking book: distribution according to residual duration (re-pricing date)   
            of cash assets and liabilities and financial derivatives     
    3. Regulatory trading book - internal models and other sensitivity analysis methods    
2.2   Interest rate risk and price risk - banking book    
    Qualitative information      
    A. General aspects, management and measurement of interest rate risk and price risk
    B. Fair value hedging activities     
    C. Cash flow hedging     
   Quantitative information      
   1. Banking book: distribution according to residual duration (re-pricing date) of financial assets and 
       financial liabilities      
    2. Banking book:  internal models and other methods for analysing sensitivity     
  2.3   Exchange rate risk      
   Qualitative information      
   A. General aspects, management and measurement of exchange rate risk   
   B. Exchange rate risk hedging activities     
   Quantitative information      
    1. Distribution according to currency of the assets, liabilities and derivatives    
  2.4   Derivative instruments      
    A.   Financial derivatives      
    B.  Credit derivatives      
    C.  Credit and financial derivatives      
Section 3 – Liquidity risk       
   Qualitative information     
   A. General aspects, management and measurement of liquidity risk  
   Quantitative information     
   1. Distribution by maturity according to residual contractual term of financial assets and liabilities
Section 4 – Operating risks       
  Qualitative information     
  A. General aspects, management and measuring of operational risk  
  Quantitative information     
          

Part F – Comments on the capital       
Section 1 – Corporate capital      
  A. Qualitative information     
  B. Quantitative information     
Section 2 – Capital and minimum capital ratios     
  2.1 - Regulatory Capital     
  A. Qualitative information     
  B. Quantitative information     
  2.2 - Capital adequacy     
  A. Qualitative information     
  B. Quantitative information     
          

Part H – Transactions with related parties       
  1.  Information on key management personnel’s remuneration   
  2.  Information on transactions with related parties     
          

Part L – Information on sectors          
          
Balance sheet data of parent company Dexia Credit Local              
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PART A – ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. 1 – General Part

Section 1 – Declaration of conformity to international accounting standards

The Annual Report of the Dexia Crediop Company for the year ending 31st December 2012 were prepared in accordance 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards and the International Accounting Standards (hereafter “IFRS”, “IAS”, 
or international accounting standards) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the 
European Commission according to procedures referred to in article 6 of Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European 
Parliament and Council dated 19th July 2002, which were approved on that date. 
The Annual Report was also prepared in accordance with the Bank of Italy’s instructions contained in Circular n. 262 of 
22nd December 2005 and later updates.

The IAS/IFRS principles approved and in effect at 31 December 2012 were used in preparing the Annual Report (including 
the interpretative documents known as SIC and IFRIC).

The table below indicates the new international accounting principles or the amendments to accounting principles 
already in existence, with the relative approval regulations of the European Commission, which took effect during 2012.

Document title Date of
emission

Effective date Approval date EU Regulation and 
publication date

Amendments to IFRS 7 
Financial instruments: 
disclosures - Transfers of 
financial assets

October 2010 1 July 2011 22 November 2011 (EU) 1205/2011
23 November 2011

The table below indicates the new international accounting principles or amendments to accounting principles already 
in existence whose obligatory application begins - in the case of annual reports that follow the calendar year - as of 1 
January 2013 or subsequent.

Document title Approval date
EU Regulation

publication date

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income 05 June 2012 06 June 2012 

IAS 19 Employee Benefit 05 June 2012 06 June 2012 

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 11 December 2012 29 December 2012 

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 11 December 2012 29 December 2012 

IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities 11 December 2012 29 December 2012 

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 11 December 2012 29 December 2012 

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements 11 December 2012 29 December 2012 

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 11 December 2012 29 December 2012 

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine 11 December 2012 29 December 2012 

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes - Deferred tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets 11 December 2012 29 December 2012 

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of IFRS - Severe Hyperinflation and Removal 
of Fixed Dates for First-Time Adopters

11 December 2012 29 December 2012 

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities

13 December 2012 29 December 2012 

Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation - Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities

13 December 2012 29 December 2012 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Section 2 – General accounting principles

The company’s annual report was drawn up in true and fair fashion and consist of the balance sheet, the income 
statement, the statement of total income, the statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, the statement of changes in 
the financial position and the notes to the statements. The annual report is also accompanied by the Directors’ Report on 
Operations. The annual report was drawn up in units of one euro.

The schedules of the balance sheet, income statement and statement of total income consist of items identified with 
numbers and sub-items identified with letters together with additional information (the various “of which” references 
relative to the items and sub-items). The items, sub-items and associated additional information make up the annual 
report accounts. Each account in the balance sheet, income statement and statement of total income also shows the 
amount relating to the previous period. The balance sheet, income statement and statement of total income do not 
include any accounts with zero amounts in both the year of reference and the previous financial year.

The notes to the statements were drawn up in thousands of euro. Any items and tables which do not have any amounts 
are not mentioned in the notes to the statements.

The annual report was drawn up according to the going concern principle and the accruals concept.

Information regarding the existence of the prospects of a going concern are illustrated in the Report on Operations, in 
the Business Outlook section.

Section 3 – Events after the balance sheet date

There were no events after the balance sheet date which entail a need to amend the results of the annual report as at 
31st December 2012.

Section 4 - Other aspects

In compliance with the cited international accounting principles, the preparation of the annual report obligatorily requires 
the use of estimates and hypotheses which are able to determine relevant effects on the values in the balance sheet and 
income statement, as well as in the disclosure provided regarding potential assets and liabilities.
These estimates and the associated hypotheses and assumptions are based on past experience and other current available 
information held to be reasonable for the purposes of identifying management facts. Given their intrinsic subjectivity, 
the estimates and hypotheses are naturally susceptible to changes, even sizeable, from one year to the next, based on 
changes in market parameters and other information used during the estimate process. 
The areas of the financial statement most affected by the subjective estimate and evaluation processes are the following:
• determination of fair value for financial instruments not listed on active markets;
• evaluations of loss of value for loans, equity investments and other financial assets;
• evaluation of the severance indemnity fund and other funds for benefits due to employees;
• estimate of allocations for other provisions for risks and charges;
• estimates and assumptions of the recoverability of deferred tax assets (advance taxes).

On the closing date of this annual report there were also no apparent reasons to doubt the estimates which could lead 
to material amendments in the book values of the assets and liabilities. In addition, there were no changes made to the 
accounting estimates which have had effects in the current financial period. 
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A. 2 – The main aggregates of the annual report

1 – Financial assets held for trading  

Financial assets held for trading (item 20) include:

• financial assets, which, irrespective of their technical form, are held with a view to generating profits in the short term;
• derivative contracts not designated as hedging instruments. 

As regards financial assets, both debt and equity instruments are first recognised on the settlement date, while derivatives 
are entered on the trade date. 

Financial assets held for trading are initially recognised at fair value, which generally corresponds to the settlement price, 
exclusive of transaction costs and income which are immediately recognised in the income statement, as long as they are 
directly attributable to these financial instruments. When the settlement price is different from fair value, the financial 
asset is recognised at fair value and the difference compared to the settlement price is booked to the income statement. 

Any commitments for transactions to be regulated that are in existence as of the date of the annual report are evaluated 
using the same criteria applied to regulated transactions.

Subsequent measurement is carried out on the basis of changes in the fair value and the result is booked to the income 
statement. For an illustration of the criteria used to determine the fair value of such financial instruments, please refer to 
section “A.3.2 Fair Value Hierarchy”

Differentials in derivative contracts classified in the trading portfolio and the results of the fair value measurement are 
included in “Net trading gains (losses)”. 

Financial assets for trading are derecognised only on expiry of the contractual rights relating to the cash flows or when 
the financial assets are sold with the transfer to third parties of all the risks and benefits associated with them. However, 
if a significant share of the risks and benefits of the sold financial assets are maintained, they continue to be recognised, 
even if ownership of such assets has effectively been transferred.

If substantial transfer of the risks and benefits cannot be ascertained, the financial assets are derecognised when no 
type of control is maintained over the same. Otherwise, when such control is retained, even partially, these assets are 
maintained on the balance sheet to the extent to which the said control is retained, calculated according to exposure to 
changes in the value of the sold assets and variations in the cash flows of the same. 

These financial assets are derecognised on the date they are disposed of (settlement date). 

Derivatives are considered financial assets if their fair value is positive and liabilities if their fair value is negative. 

The Group does not compensate the current positive and negative values from transactions in existence with the same 
counterparty.

2 – Financial assets available for sale  

The item “Financial assets available for sale” includes all financial assets other than derivatives, that are not classified 
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as loans and receivables, investments held to maturity or financial assets held for trading. The item also includes debt 
securities and equity securities (including the equity investment in the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo) which cannot be 
classified as subsidiaries, associated companies or joint subsidiaries and which do not, therefore, fall within the scope of 
application of IAS 28. 

The first recognition of the financial asset is done on the basis of the IAS criteria of “settlement date accounting”, 
meaning the settlement date for debt or equity securities and the disbursement date in the case of loans.
Any commitments for transactions to be regulated that are in existence as of the date of the annual report are evaluated 
using the same criteria applied to regulated transactions.

Financial assets available for sale are recorded in the balance sheet at fair value, which is normally the same as the 
purchase price, including any charges or revenue directly ensuing from the instrument. When the settlement price is 
different from fair value, the financial asset is recognised at fair value and the difference compared to the settlement price 
is booked to the income statement.

Subsequent measurement is carried out on the basis of the fair value with recognition of gains or losses deriving from 
changes in fair value booked to a specific reserve in shareholders’ equity, net of any tax effects. Interest payments on debt 
securities, determined using the amortised cost method, are booked to the income statement.

Changes in exchange rates for non-monetary instruments (equity securities) are booked to the specific shareholders’ equity 
reserve, while those relating to monetary instruments (loans and debt securities) are booked to the income statement.
Equity securities whose fair value cannot be reliably determined are maintained at cost, and adjusted in the case that 
impairment losses are ascertained.

Any accumulated or unrealised profits or losses on securities available for sale are recognised in the income statement 
when the asset is derecognised, or when an impairment loss occurs.

As regards determination of the fair value of financial assets available for sale and the criteria used for derecognising 
them, the reader is referred to the information provided above for financial assets held for trading.

Financial assets available for sale are examined on an individual basis in order to verify whether there is any objective 
evidence of a fall in value (IAS 39 paragraph 59). This check, which is carried out at each yearly or interim period closing 
date, is based on a series of both qualitative and quantitative indicators. Qualitative indicators of a possible loss of value 
are, for example, significant financial difficulties for the issuer, non-fulfilment or lack of payment of interest and equity 
according to the terms, the disappearance of an active market for the asset in question. In addition, for investments in 
equity instruments, the following quantitative indicators are considered separately to serve as objective evidence of a loss 
of value: the presence of a fair value at the date of the annual report of less than 50% of the original purchase cost, or 
the prolonged presence (over 5 years) of a fair value less than the purchase cost of the asset.

If such evidence exists, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the book value of the asset, net of 
any redemptions and amortizations, and the current value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original 
effective interest rate, or on the basis of the fair value measurement for listed equity securities. 

If the reasons for the writedowns no longer exist, reversals are performed which are booked to the income statement 
if they refer to debt securities or loans, and to shareholders’ equity if they refer to equity securities. The amount of the 
writeback, for debt securities, cannot in any case exceed the amortised cost that the asset would have had, in the absence 
of impairment.
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3 – Financial assets held to maturity  

The item “Financial assets held to maturity” includes financial assets other than derivatives, which have fixed or calculable 
contractual payments and fixed maturity dates and which can be and are intended to be held to maturity except for those 
which:

a) the Bank designates, at the time of initial recognition, at the fair value booked to the income statement;
b) the Bank designates as available for sale;
c) meet the definition of loans and receivables.

If following a change of plan or capacity, it is no longer appropriate to keep an investment classified as held to maturity, 
it is reclassified among assets available for sale, and for the following two years it is not possible to recognised new assets 
in the category “Financial assets held to maturity”

Financial assets held to maturity are first recognised on the settlement date. On initial recognition, financial assets 
classified in this category are designated at fair value, determined on the trade date (IAS 39, paragraph 44 and AG 56) 
and including any charges and income directly attributable to the instrument. When the settlement price is different from 
fair value, the financial asset is recognised at fair value and the difference compared to the settlement price is booked to 
the income statement. 

Financial assets included in this category as a result of reclassification from ‘Assets available for sale’, are recognised at 
amortised cost, which is initially taken as being equal to the fair value of the asset on the date of reclassification. 

Any commitments for transactions to be regulated that are in existence as of the date of the annual report are evaluated 
using the same criteria applied to regulated transactions.

After initial recognition, financial assets held to maturity are carried at amortised cost. The result of said evaluation is 
booked to the income statement under item “10-Interest and similar income”. The amortised cost of an asset is the 
same as the value the asset was measured at on the date of initial recognition net of any equity reimbursements. This 
is increased or reduced by the overall amortisation, achieved by using the effective interest method, equity and interest 
payments contractually owed, and any difference between the initial value and the value on maturity and minus any 
reduction (made directly or through the use of a provision) following impairment loss or impossibility of recovery. 
“Financial assets held to maturity” are examined on an individual basis in order to verify whether there is any objective 
evidence of a fall in value (IAS 39 paragraph 59). This check is carried out at each yearly or interim period closing date, 
using the same methodology illustrated for the financial assets available for sale, to which the reader can refer for greater 
detail.
When there is objective evidence of impairment losses, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between 
the book value of the asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective 
interest rate. The associated adjustment is recognised in the income statement, under the item “130-Net adjustments for 
impairment of: c) financial assets held to maturity”.
 When the reasons for an impairment loss no longer exist, a reversal is booked to the income statement which cannot, 
however, exceed the amortized cost which the instrument would have had without the previous loss.

Gains or losses relative to the derecognition of assets held to maturity are booked to the income statement, under the 
item “100-Gains/losses on disposal or repurchase of: c) financial assets held to maturity”. With regards to derecognition 
criteria, please refer to that illustrated above for financial assets held for trading.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4 – Loans  

The item “Loans and receivables” includes non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments, which 
are not quoted in an active market, and which are not designated as “Financial assets available for sale” on the date of 
initial recognition. 
Normally, this item includes loans to clients and banks including debt securities with characteristics similar to loans.

Sale and repurchase transactions (Repos) are also included in the item “loans and receivables”.

Securities received in the context of a Repo transaction, which contractually envisage subsequent sale, and securities 
delivered in the context of a transaction that contractually envisages the subsequent repurchase, are not booked as 
treasury securities or derecognised from the annual report, respectively, but are booked as due to/from customers or 
banks. This is due to application of the “continuing involvement” principle sanctioned by IAS 39, § 17-23.

Receivables are first entered on the date they are issued or, in the case of debt securities, on the settlement date. 
Receivables are initially recognised at their fair value, equal to the amount paid out, or to the subscription/trading price, 
including any transaction costs/income directly attributable to the single receivable. Even if they have the above features, 
costs which are reimbursed by the borrower or which can be considered normal internal administrative costs are excluded. 

After initial recognition, the receivables are valued at the amortised cost, equal to the initial booking value decreased/
increased by equity payments, writedowns/writebacks and amortisation - calculated using the effective interest rate 
method - the difference between the amount paid out and that repayable at maturity, generally traceable to the costs/
revenues directly attributed to the individual receivable. The effective interest rate is identified by calculating the rate 
that is equal to the current value of the future flows of the receivable, for capital and interest, to the amount paid out 
inclusive of costs/revenues traceable to the receivable. This method of accounting, using financial logic, makes it possible 
to distribute the economic effect of the costs/revenues throughout the expected maturity of the receivable.

The amortised cost method is not used for short-term loans, as for these the effect of the application of the actualisation 
logic based on effective interest is negligible. For these receivables, interest matures “pro-rata temporis”, in accordance 
with the law of simple interest.

The book value of the loan portfolio is periodically subject to checks for the existence of any losses in value (IAS 39 
paragraph 59) which could lead to a reduction in their presumable sale value. For a classification of impaired debts in 
the various risk categories (non-performing loans, problem loans, restructured and past due loans), reference is made to 
the regulations issued on the subject by the Bank of Italy together with the internal provisions which establish rules for 
classification and transfers within the scope of the various expected risk categories. 
Determination of the write-down on the receivables, to be posted on the income statement net of the provisions 
previously allocated, is equal to the difference between the book value at valuation date (amortised cost) and the present 
value of the forecast future cash flows, calculated applying the effective original interest rate. For variable rate loans for 
which a change in the interest rate occurred during the period, an average tax determined on the measurement date is 
applied. The estimate of future cash flows takes account of expected recovery times, the presumable realization value of 
any existing guarantees and costs considered necessary for recovery of the loan exposure. 
Receivables classified as bad debts and substandard loans, with objective lasting impairment in value are evaluated on an 
analytical basis. 

Loans which do not show any objective evidence of impairment or for which no impairment is forecast are assessed 
collectively, by grouping them together in homogeneous categories with similar characteristics in terms of credit risk, such 
as the technical form of the loan, the economic sector the counterparties belong to, their geographical location and the 
type of existing guarantees.



66

The original value of the loans is reinstated in subsequent financial periods to the extent to which the reasons for the 
writedown are no longer evident; the writeback is booked to the income statement and may not in any case exceed the 
amortised cost that the loan would have had in the absence of previous writedowns.

Financial guarantees given which are not represented by derivatives are assessed taking into account the provisions of IAS 
39 which stipulate, on the one hand, recognition of the fee received, pursuant to IAS 18, and on the other, measurement 
of the risks and charges connected with the guarantees by applying the principles provided for in IAS 37. 

Loans transferred are derecognised from the assets in the financial statement only if the transfer involved the substantial 
transfer of all the risks and benefits connected to said loans. However, if a significant proportion of the risks and benefits 
of the sold financial assets has been maintained, they continue to be recognised among the assets, even if ownership of 
the receivable has effectively been transferred.

During 2004, 2005 and 2008, three securitisation transactions were performed on securities for Italian local authorities 
through the 100% subsidiary company, “DCC-Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l.” (hereafter, “DCC”). In support 
of these operations Dexia Crediop has issued an unconditional guarantee to the holder of the ABS senior (another 
company of the Dexia Group). Owing to this guarantee, and therefore to the obligation to re-purchase the securities and 
reimburse all the ABSs against any form of credit or fiscal event, we are of the opinion that, even if the legal ownership of 
the securities is transferred, control over the cash flows of the securities is in fact still retained, as well as the substantiality 
of the risks and benefits (continuing involvement). 

In 2009 and 2010, securitisation operations were originated for loans through the vehicle company Tevere Finance S.p.A., 
the equity of which is held by a Dutch foundation. By the total repurchase on the part of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. of the 
ABS securities issued by the vehicle, both senior and junior classes, at the same time as the sale of the assets, continuing 
involvement is maintained. 

Since the conditions do not exist for the derecognition of the assets sold, in compliance with the provisions of IAS 39, 
the prior situation has been restored on the financial statement, with the re-posting of the separate capital of DCC and 
Tevere Finance in the accounts of Dexia Crediop. 

4.1 - Due from banks
The item “Due from banks” includes receivables from banks which present fixed and determinable payments not listed 
on active markets and the securities issued by banks with features similar to the receivables, previously classified under 
“Bonds and other debt securities”.

4.2– Due from customers
The item “Due from customers” includes receivables from customers which present fixed and determinable payments not 
listed on active markets and the securities issued by customers with features similar to the receivables, previously classified 
under “Bonds and other debt securities”.

6 – Hedging derivatives  

The item “Hedging derivatives” recognises instruments used to neutralize potential losses which may be recognised in 
a particular element and attributable to one or more types of risk (interest rate risk, exchange rate risk, price risk, credit 
risk, etc.). 
The types of hedging transactions used are the following:
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• Fair value hedges, performed with the aim of hedging exposure to variations in the fair value of assets/liabilities 
recognised in the balance sheet; the subject of such hedging can be specific transactions, or an amount of balance 
sheet assets or liabilities, selected from a portfolio of financial instruments with a similar level of exposure to interest 
rate risk. (macro hedge, as envisaged in the “IAS 39 carve out” adopted by the European Community);

• Cash flow hedges, performed with the aim of hedging the exposure to variations in expected cash flows of assets/
liabilities recognised in the annual report or relating to highly probable future transactions;  

A financial instrument is designated as a hedge if there is formal documentation on the relationship between the hedged 
item and the hedging instrument, which includes the risk management objectives, the strategy for carrying out the hedge 
and the methods used to test the effectiveness of the hedge itself.
Dexia Crediop S.p.A. conducts an assessment at the start and periodically (on a quarterly basis), using forecasting and 
retrospective tests, to see whether or not the hedge is highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value or the 
expected cash flows of the hedged instrument. The tests on effectiveness are considered as passed if the ratio between 
the changes in the fair value (or cash flows) of hedging instruments and those of the hedged items fall within the range 
of 80-125%.

The hedging operation, and the relative Hedge Accounting are interrupted prospectively if: (i) the hedging operation 
through the derivative is revoked or is no longer highly effective; (ii) the derivative expires, is sold, annulled or exercised; 
(iii) the hedged item is sold, expires or is redeemed; (iv) it is no longer highly probable that the future hedged operation 
will be performed. In all the cases cited (except for the cases under (ii), the derivative in question is reclassified among 
financial instruments for trading.

The hedging instruments are designated as such only if stipulated with a counterparty external to the Dexia Crediop 
Group.

The accounting rules for hedging transactions envisage the following (see IAS 39, §85-101):

• Like all derivatives, hedging derivatives are initially recognised in the balance sheet on the trade date and are subsequently 
measured at fair value. The “Hedging derivatives” items among the assets (item 80) and liabilities (item 60) on the 
balance sheet include the positive and negative value of derivatives which are part of effective hedging operations.

• In the case of effective fair value hedging, any changes in the value of the hedging instruments and the hedged 
instruments (as regards the part attributable to the hedged risk) are booked to the income statement. The differences 
between these variations in value constitute the partial ineffectiveness of the hedge and lead to a net impact in the 
income statement, recognised under item 90 “Net hedging gains/losses”. Variations in value of the elements hedged, 
attributable to the risk which is being hedged against, are booked to the income statement as a matching entry for the 
variation in value attributed to the element in question. In the case of generic hedging the changes in the fair value 
of the element hedged are posted in the appropriate items of the assets (90) and liabilities (70) of the balance sheet 
pursuant to IAS 39, paragraph 89A.

• If a fair value hedge ceases to exist for reasons other than realization of the hedged item, the variations in value of 
the latter, which were recognised in the balance sheet for as long as the effective hedge was maintained, are booked 
to the income statement under interest income or expenditures. When the hedge refers to interest-bearing financial 
instruments, this is done using the amortized cost principle, or in other cases with a single amount.

• As regards cash flow hedges, the gain or loss portion on a hedging instrument that is considered effective is initially 
recognised in shareholders’ equity (cash flow hedging reserve), under item 130 “Valuation reserves”. Any share of gain 
or loss associated with the hedging instrument, which exceeds the fair value change of the expected flows from the 
covered element in absolute value, is immediately booked to the income statement (overhedging). When the cash flows 
being hedged become manifest and are recognised in the income statement, the relevant gain or loss on the hedging 
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instrument is transferred from shareholders’ equity to the corresponding item in the income statement (90 - “Net 
hedging gains/losses”). 

• In the case of interruption of a cash flow hedge relation, the total of the gain or loss of the hedging instrument 
previously booked to shareholders’ equity remains recognised in the specific equity reserve until the moment in which 
the transaction takes place or it is held that there is no longer a possibility that the transaction will occur. In this latter 
circumstance, this amount is transferred to the income statement under item 80 “Net trading gains/losses”. Fair value 
changes booked to item 130 of the liabilities are also recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income.

7 – Equity investments  

Investments in equity instruments fall under the definition of equity instruments contained in IAS 32.
The item “Equity investments” includes equity investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and companies subject 
to joint control.
Subsidiaries are companies in which the parent has the power to determine administrative, financial and management 
choices and in which it normally has more than half the voting rights. 
Associated companies are deemed to be those in which the Parent Company holds at least 20% share of the voting 
rights and companies whose administrative, financial and management choices are deemed to be subject to significant 
influence owing to the effects of actually existing legal links. 
Companies subject to joint control are deemed to be those where contractual agreements exist, which require the 
consent of the Company and of other investors with whom the control is shared, in order for administrative, financial and 
management choices to be made.
Equity investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and companies under joint control, are booked to the balance 
sheet on the settlement date and are carried at cost, adjusted when impairment losses are ascertained.
In the case that objective evidence of a loss in value is determined for an equity investment, an estimate of the recoverable 
value of the equity investment is carried out, corresponding to the greater of the fair value bet of sales expenses and 
the value in use. The value in use is the current value of the expected financial flows that the equity investment could 
generate, including the final disposal value.
If the recoverable value is less than the book value of the equity investment, the associated writedown is recognised in 
the income statement under item 210 “Profit(Loss) from equity investments”.
If the reasons for the write-down no longer exist, the reversals are booked to the income statement – under the same 
item 210 - only up to reinstatement of the original book value.

The associated dividend is recognised when the right to receive it arises.
Minority interests, or at least those not subject to significant influence, are included under the item “Financial assets 
available for sale”.
Equity investments are cancelled from the financial statement when the contractual rights on cash flows deriving from 
such assets cease, or when the equity is sold with substantial transfer of all risks and benefits linked to the same.

7.1 – Dividend  
Dividend is recognised when the right to receive it arises, which corresponds to the financial period in which the sum is 
received (IAS 18 paragraph 29).

8 – Property, plant and equipment  

The item “Property, plant and equipment” includes assets held to be used for more than one financial period in the 
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production and provision of services or for administrative purposes (so-called “instrumental assets”), together with real 
estate properties held for collecting rent and/or for the appreciation of the equity invested (so-called “non-instrumental 
assets”).
When the international accounting standards were first adopted, the part attributable to plots of land associated with 
“sky-to-ground” properties, was separated out since they were not subject to depreciation, as land has an indefinite 
useful life. Similarly the historical cost of works of art not subject to depreciation was reinstated, because their useful life 
is deemed impossible to estimate and their value is not likely to fall with the passing of time. 
In line with paragraph 7 of IAS 16, Property, plant and equipment assets are recognised in the balance sheet only when 
it is reasonably possible to determine the cost of the asset and it is probable that the associated future economic benefits 
will accrue to the company. Therefore, it is important to establish the time when the risks and benefits attached to an 
asset are effectively transferred to the company, irrespective of when ownership is formally conveyed.
Property, plant and equipment assets are initially entered at cost, which includes not only the purchase price but also any 
associated charges directly ensuing from the purchase and costs involved in starting up the asset. The expenses incurred, 
subsequent to purchase, increase the book value of an asset or are recognised as separate assets only when they lead to 
an increase in future economic benefits due to the use of the asset; other expenses incurred subsequent to purchase are 
booked to the income statement in the period in which they are incurred. 
In periods subsequent to that of initial recognition, assets are recognised in the accounts on the basis of the amortisable 
historical cost method. The relevant amortisation is carried out on the basis of the possible residual useful life of the 
assets. The useful life of Property, plant and equipment assets subject to depreciation is periodically re-assessed.
A Property, plant and equipment asset is eliminated from the balance sheet when it is sold or scrapped and when no 
future economic benefits are expected from its use.

9 – Intangible assets

The item “Intangible assets” includes assets that can be identified and are without physical consistency, which originate 
from legal or contractual rights and which are held to be used over a number of years. In the main, they are represented 
by application software.
Intangible assets are recognised at cost, net of overall depreciation and permanent impairment losses, only if the future 
economic benefits ascribable to the asset are likely and if the cost of the asset itself can be measured reliably. Otherwise, 
the cost of the assets is booked to the Income Statement in the year in which it was incurred.
Intangible assets recognised in the balance sheet are amortised on the basis of their residual useful life according to a 
straight-line method. The period and method of amortisation are re-assessed at the end of each financial period.
An intangible asset is eliminated from the balance sheet when it is disposed of or when no future economic benefits are 
expected.

11 - Current and deferred taxes  

Current income taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax result for the year. These taxes are entered as tax liabilities if 
they exceed the amounts already paid in advance during the year, and as tax assets if the amounts paid in advance exceed 
the taxes for the period.
Current taxes are booked as a revenue or as a charge and are included in profits or losses for the year except for taxes 
that refer to items that are accredited or debited directly to shareholders’ equity, in which case they are booked directly 
to shareholders’ equity.
Deferred taxes are calculated by applying the so-called balance sheet liability method, bearing in mind the fiscal effect 
connected with the temporary differences between the book value of assets and liabilities and their fiscal value, which 
lead to taxable or deductible amounts in future periods.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated by applying current tax rates to taxable temporary differences for which 
it is likely that taxes will effectively be sustained, and to deductible temporary differences for which there is a reasonable 
certainty of recovery. Deferred tax assets and liabilities relating to the same kind of tax which fall due in the same period 
are offset against each other.
If deferred tax assets and liabilities refer to items booked to the income statement, the contra-item is the associated 
income tax. When deferred tax assets and liabilities refer to transactions directly involving shareholders’ equity, with no 
direct influence on the income statement (such as adjustments relating to first adoption of IAS/IFRS, and measurements 
of financial instruments available for sale or of cash flow hedging derivatives), they are booked as contra-entries to 
shareholders’ equity, and entered in the specific reserves if appropriate. 
Assets and liabilities booked for deferred tax assets and liabilities are systematically assessed to take into account both 
any amendments in legal provisions or changes in rates and any different subjective situations of the Group companies.

12 – Provisions for risks and charges  

According to that envisaged in IAS 37, provisions for risks and charges involves exclusively provisions for current obligations 
(legal or implicit) originating from a past event, for which:
• the payment of financial resources to fulfil said obligation is probable;
• it is possible to make a reliable estimate of the relative amount. 

If the time factor is significant, the provisions, which are recognised in contra-items in the income statement, are 
discounted at current market rates. 
The item includes provisions for early retirement incentives, applying the rules of the national contracts for bank workers 
and of specific company agreements.

12.1 - Provisions for retirement funds and similar benefits
Staff pension funds include the various complementary retirement plans with defined benefits, established to implement 
company agreements and recognised in the accounts in compliance with the provisions of IAS 19 “Employee benefits”. 
These plans are considered defined benefit plans, in that they guarantee a series of benefits which depend on factors 
such as age, years of service, and salary prospects for employees, regardless of the effective performance of any financial 
assets used to serve the plan. In these cases, the actuarial risk and the investment risk fall mainly on the Company that 
guarantees the plan.
Liabilities related to these plans and the relative retirement costs relating to current employment are determined by 
independent actuaries on the basis of actuarial and financial hypotheses defined by the Dexia Group, using the Project 
Unit Credit Method. This method makes it possible to uniformly distribute the cost of the benefit throughout the working 
life of the employee, as a function of the years of service matured, hypotheses of salary increases, and theoretical seniority 
reached at the time the benefit is paid out.
More specifically, the amount booked as liability in item 120.a) “Provisions for risks and charges-retirement funds and 
similar benefits” is equal to the algebraic sum of the following values:
•  current value of the obligation at the reference date (calculated using the above method):
•  minus the fair value of any assets that serve the plan;
•  minus (plus) any actuarial gains or losses not booked in the annual report, on the basis of the so-called “corridor” 

method.

This “corridor” method envisages that the actuarial gains or losses are recognised in the financial statement only if they 
exceed the greater of 10% of the current value of the benefits generated by the plan, and 10% of the fair value of the 
assets serving the plan. Any excess is booked to the income statement on the basis of the average residual duration of 
the Fund’s benefits. 
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12.2 – Other provisions  
This item includes provisions made against legal and implicit obligations existing at the close of the period, including 
provisions for employee early retirement schemes and other social security and health charges, and provisions for the 
creation of the reserve required for paying employees their long-service bonuses according to the terms of company 
regulations.
These liabilities are determined, in the same way as pension funds, on the basis of an assessment conducted by an 
independent actuary using the methods laid down in IAS 19 (refer to that above in Provisions for retirement funds and 
similar benefits). 
The actuarial gains and losses are therefore recognized in the balance sheet with a contra-item in the income statement.
The provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.  

13 – Payables and securities issued

The items “Due to banks”, “Due to customers” and “Securities issued” include various forms of provisioning from banks 
and customers, reverse repurchase agreements and provisioning through bonds and other funding instruments issued 
(net of any shares of repurchased items). 
Initial recognition of such financial liabilities is done on the settlement date when the sums collected are received or when 
the securities are issued, on the basis of the fair value of the liabilities, which is normally equal to the amount received or 
the issue price, with an increase for any additional costs/revenues directly connected to the single funding or bond issue 
operation and not reimbursed by the lender. Internal administrative costs are excluded. 
After initial recognition, debts and the securities issued, with the exception of on-demand and short-term entries which 
remain booked at the price received, are valued at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when they have expired or are extinguished. They are also derecognised in the case of 
repurchase of previously issued securities. The difference between the book value of the liability and the amount paid to 
purchase it is booked to the income statement under item 100.d) ”Gains(losses) from repurchase of financial liabilities”. 
Replacement on the market of own securities after buyback is considered a new issue with recognition at the new 
placement price, with no effect on the Income Statement.

14 – Financial liabilities for trading  

The item includes the negative value of trading derivatives.
All financial liabilities for trading are initially booked on the trade date based on fair value, without considering any 
transaction costs directly attributable to the financial instrument, which are instead immediately booked to the income 
statement.
Subsequently, these liabilities are booked at fair value, with recognition of the evaluation to the income statement under 
item “80. Net trading gains (losses)”.
With regards to the criteria for determining fair value of financial instruments, please refer to section A.3.2 Fair value 
hierarchy”.
Financial liabilities held for trading are derecognised from the financial statement when the contractual rights over the 
associated financial flows expire or when the financial liability is transferred with the substantial transfer of all the risks 
and benefits deriving from ownership of the same.
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16 – Currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are first entered in the accounting currency, applying the exchange rate in effect at the 
moment of the transaction.
At the end of every financial year or interim period, foreign currency items are measured as follows:
• cash items are converted at the exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date;
• non-cash items are carried at their historical cost converted at the exchange rate in effect on the date of the transaction;
• non-cash items designated at fair value are converted at the exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date.
Exchange rate differences resulting from the settlement of cash elements or from the conversion of non-cash elements 
at rates other than those of the initial conversion or the conversion rate of the previous annual report, are booked to the 
Income Statement of the financial period in which they arise.
Exchange rate differences relating to a non-monetary element, valued at fair value as a matching entry to a shareholders’ 
equity reserve, are also booked to shareholders’ equity. On the other hand, when a non-monetary element is valued at 
fair value in the income statement as a matching entry, the relative exchange rate difference is also booked to the income 
statement.

17 – Other information

17.1 – Accruals and deferrals
Accrued income and deferred expenses include portions of revenues/expenses relating to several financial periods in part 
already matured during the current financial period (and in the previous ones) but not yet received/paid. Deferred income 
and expenses include portions of revenues/expenses already received/paid in the reporting period (or in previous ones) 
but relating to the current financial period or subsequent ones. 
These amounts are recognised in the balance sheet, adjusting the assets and liabilities they refer to.

17.2 – Recognition of revenues and costs
Revenues from the sale of goods or the provision of services are recognised in the balance sheet at the fair value of the 
consideration received on the basis of the accruals concept. In the majority of cases the consideration consists of cash or 
similar means and the amount of the revenues is the sum of cash or similar means received or due.
Costs are booked to the income statement in the periods when the associated revenues are recognised.

17.3 – Valuation reserves
This item includes valuation reserves relating to financial assets available for sale and cash flow hedges, net of the 
associated current or deferred taxation.

17.4 – Provision for employee severance indemnities
Following the reform of complementary retirement funds pursuant to Legislative Decree 252 of 5/12/2005, the quotas of 
severance indemnities accrued through to 31/12/2006 remained at the company, while quotas maturing after 1/1/2007 
were destined, based on the employee’s choice, to the bank’s or the INPS Treasury’s complementary retirement funds.

Hence the severance indemnity fund accrued through to 31/12/2006 continues to be a defined benefit plan, in accordance 
with that envisaged in IAS 19. The relative liability is booked to the financial statement on the basis of the actuarial value 
of the same, determined by an independent actuary, on the basis of simplified actuarial hypotheses, which no longer take 
into account expected future salary changes in the employment contract. Future flows of the severance indemnity are 
actualised as of the reference date and any actuarial gains or losses are booked to the income statement on the basis of 
the so-called “corridor” method (please see above, section Provisions for retirement funds and similar benefits). 
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Vice versa, the quotas of severance indemnities accrued after 1/1/2007 can be considered to be a defined contribution 
plan for all purposes, in that the obligation of the company is limited to paying the amounts accrued to the complementary 
retirement fund chosen by the employee or to the INPS Treasury. The relative cost for the period is given by the amounts 
paid to these alternative retirement funds.

17.5 – Bond lending
With reference to the clarifications provided by the Bank of Italy during the course of 2012 in regards to bond lending 
transactions without guarantees or with guarantees consisting of other securities or unavailable cash, the following 
accounting treatment was adopted.

The remuneration for the transactions in question is recognised by the lender under item 40 “fee income” in the income 
statement. Correspondingly, the cost of said transactions is recognised by the borrower under item 50 “fee expense” in 
the income statement.

With reference to any deposits made in favour of the lender by the borrower, considering that the cash remains fully 
available to the latter until maturity of the security loan transaction, the borrower - in application of the principle of 
substance prevailing over form - does not recognise either the asset in terms of the lender in the annual report, nor the 
corresponding constrained liability. Correspondingly, the lender does not recognise in the annual report a liability with the 
borrower or the connected constrained asset.
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A. 3 – Information on fair value

A.3.1 Transfers between portfolios
A.3.1.1 Reclassified financial assets: book value, fair value and effects on comprehensive income

thousands of euro

Type of 
financial 
instrument

Portfolio of 
origin

Allocation 
portfolio

Book 
value

 at
 31.12.2012

Fair value
 at

 31.12.2012

Income items for lack of 
transfer (pre-tax)

 Income items recorded 
during the year (pre-tax)

Evaluative Others Evaluative Others

Debt 
securities

AFS L&R 10,620,331  9,828,809 (835,720)  296,010 (65,865)  296,010 

The income items refer to interests as well as capital gains and losses realised on securities previously reclassified.

A.3.1.4 Effective interest rate and cash flows expected from the reclassified assets
With reference to the information pursuant to IFRS 7 § 12 A, letter f, we note that these securities do not meet the 
impairment requirements and all future cash flow is therefore forecast for recovery.

A.3.2 Fair Value Hierarchy
A.3.2.1 Accounting portfolios: distribution by fair value levels

thousands of euro

Financial assets/liabilities designated at fair value
 31/12/12 31/12/11

L 1 L 2 L 3 L 1 L 2 L 3

1.     Financial assets held for trading  6,230,085 185,711  5,275,371 160,183

2.    Financial assets designated at fair value       

3.    Financial assets available for sale 505,823  160,432 466,409  136,698

4.    Hedging derivatives  433,175 107,771  471,812 127,619

Total 505,823 6,663,260 453,914 466,409 5,747,183 424,500

1.     Financial liabilities held for trading  6,284,451 159,284  5,369,244 143,575

2.     Financial liabilities designated at fair value       

3.     Hedging derivatives  4,019,158 23,104  3,451,201 24,156

Total  10,303,609 182,388  8,820,445 167,731

       
Key:       

L 1 = Level 1       

L 2 = Level 2       

L 3 = Level 3       

The financial assets/liabilities measured at fair value are classified on the basis of a hierarchy of level that reflects the 
observance of the data used to determine it. In short:

a) Level 1: listings noted on an active market in accordance with the definition of IAS 39;
b) Level 2: prices of non-active markets or using valuation techniques based on observable market data;
c) Level 3: valuation techniques based on data not observable on the market.
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Financial assets held for sale include firstly bonds issued by Sovereign Entities and listed on active markets (“level 1”) and 
have been valued at market listings on the last business day of the period of reference. Compared to 2011, there are no 
changes in the valuation technique or in the hierarchical classification of the fair value.

Residual financial assets held for sale are represented by capital securities (“Level 3”). In section 4, the criteria adopted 
for the determination of the fair value and the estimate of impacts are analysed. 

The assets and liabilities held for trading are only derivative instruments.  With regard to all these instruments as a whole 
– therefore also including the hedge derivatives shown in the table above – over 90% of the fair value has been estimated 
according to techniques based on observable market data (“Level 2”). 

The remaining instruments include some structured derivatives for which certain market parameters (e.g. vega, volatility, 
correlations) were no longer directly observable on the market or which were no longer judged representative for the 
purpose of estimating fair value, hence mark-to-model parameters were used.  

Consistent with what is specified by the Bank of Italy, the fair value of derivatives should integrate the various components 
that due to counterparty risk. From an accounting standpoint, the credit risk component of expected (Expected Loss) is 
represented by the so-called Credit Value Adjustment.

To estimate the impact of the use of alternative valuation techniques on the fair value of the entire compartment of “level 
3” derivatives, the valuations given by the counterparts of the derivatives were considered. With regard to all financial 
assets and liabilities held for trading, since these are derivatives in matched banking transactions, there would be no 
impact (3,4 million euro in absolute value, positive on the assets and negative on the liabilities). However, the estimated 
impact on hedge derivatives – all “fair value hedges” and almost all relative to medium and long term deposits – amounts 
to plus 0.2 million euro on the assets and minus 1 million euro on the liabilities. 

A.3.2.2 Annual change of financial assets designated at fair value (Level 3)
thousands of euro

 
FINANCIAL ASSETS

held for trading
designed 

at fair value
available 
for sale

hedging

1. Opening balances 160,183   136,698  127,619 

2.      Increases  27,411   23,868  19,742 

2.1.   Purchases     

2.2.   Profits booked to:     

2.2.1. Income statement  16,121    19,032 

           - of which capital gains  456    2,859 

2.2.2. Shareholders’ equity X X  23,868  

2.3.    Transfers from other levels  1,430    710 

2.4.    Other increases  9,860    

3.     Decreases  1,883   134  39,590 

3.1.   Sales     

3.2.   Redemptions     

3.3.  Losses booked to:     

3.3.1.  Income statement  1,801    39,590 

         - of which capital losses  -      

3.3.2. Shareholders’ equity X X 134  

3.4.  Transfers to other levels  82    

3.5.  Other decreases     

4.     Closing balances  185,711   160,432  107,771 
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A.3.2.3 Annual change of financial liabilities designated at fair value (Level 3)
thousands of euro

 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

held for trading
designed 

at fair value
hedging

1.      Opening balances  143,575   24,156 

2.      Increases  18,534   19,767 

2.1.   Issues    

2.2.   Losses booked to:   

2.2.1. Income statement  17,104  

         - of which capital losses  95  

2.2.2.  Shareholders’ equity X X  

2.3.    Transfers from other levels  1,430   19,767 

2.4.    Other increases    

3.     Decreases  2,825   20,819 

3.1.   Redemptions    

3.2.   Repurchases    

3.3.   Profits booked to:    

3.3.1. Income statement  1,699   19,809 

         - of which capital gains   

3.3.2.Shareholders’ equity X X  

3.4.  Transfers to other levels  1,126   1,010 

3.5.  Other decreases    

4.     Closing balances  159,284   23,104 

A.3.3 Information on the so-called “day one profit/loss”
During the period the Company recorded the so-called “Day One Profit” (DOP) in the Income Statement, i.e. the difference, 
if any exists at the time of initial recognition, between the fair value on that date of financial instruments in the trading 
portfolio and the amount determined using valuation models whose variables include only market observable data. 
The DOP stated in item “80 – Net trading gains (losses” of the income statement of 2012 amounts to € 0.47 million and 
refers exclusively to transactions in derivative trading instruments.  In compliance with the provisions of IAS 39, this figure 
was calculated with reference to the amount paid/collected for these instruments, as these are broking transactions.
It is also specified that as of 31 December 2012, no DOP shares are present to be noted on the income statement of 
future years.
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PART B – COMMENTS ON THE BALANCE SHEET

Assets

Section 1 - Cash and cash equivalents – item 10

1.1 Cash and cash equivalents: breakdown
thousands of euro

 
Total at

31/12/2012
Total at

31/12/2011

a) Cash  3 3

b) Unrestricted deposits at Central Banks   

Total  3  3 

Section 2 - Financial assets held for trading - item 20

2.1 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown by type

thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 

A. Cash assets       

1. Debt securities       

   1.1 Structured securities       

   1.2 Other debt securities       

2. Equity securities       

3. Mutual fund shares       

4. Loans       

   4.1 Repurchase agreements       

   4.2 Others       

Total A

B. Derivative instruments       

1. Financial derivatives:   6,230,085  118,270   5,275,371  96,281 

      1.1 for trading   6,230,085  118,270   5,275,371  96,281 

       1.2 associated with the fair value option       

      1.3 others       

2. Credit derivatives:    67,441    63,902 

      2.1 for trading    67,441    63,902 

       2.2 associated with the fair value option       

      2.3 others       

Total B  6,230,085  185,711  5,275,371  160,183 

Total (A+B)  6,230,085  185,711  5,275,371  160,183 
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2.2 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown by debtors/issuers
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

A. Cash assets   

1. Debt securities   

    a) Governments and Central banks   

    b) Other public bodies   

    c) Banks   

    d) Other issuers   

2. Equity securities   

    a) Banks   

    b) Other issuers:   

         - insurance companies   

         - financial companies   

         - non-financial companies   

         - others   

3. Mutual fund shares   

4. Loans   

    a) Governments and Central banks   

    b) Other public bodies   

    c) Banks   

    d) Others   

Total A   

B. Derivative instruments  6,415,796  5,435,554 

    a) Banks   

        - fair value  4,957,488  3,791,245 

    b) Customers   

        - fair value  1,458,308  1,644,309 

Total B  6,415,796  5,435,554 

Total (A+B)  6,415,796  5,435,554 
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Section 4 - Financial assets available for sale - item 40

4.1 Financial assets available for sale: breakdown by type

thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 

1. Debt securities  505,823    466,409   

   1.1 Structured securities       

   1.2 Other debt securities  505,823    466,409   

2. Equity securities    158,311    134,443 

   2.1 Designated at fair value    158,311    134,443 

   2.2 Carried at cost       

3. Mutual fund shares    2,121    2,255 

4. Loans       

Total  505,823   160,432  466,409   136,698 

Details relating to equity securities and mutual fund shares are shown below:
thousands of euro

Equity securities and mutual fund shares
Financial Statements at 

31/12/2012

AFS reserve
at 31/12/2012

net of tax

Istituto per il Credito Sportivo  158,310  124,370 

Idroenergia S.c.r.l.  1 0

Equity securities  158,311  124,370 

Dimensione Network Fund (Mutual fund shares)  241  162 

Mid Capital Mezzanine Fund (Mutual fund shares)  1,880 (101)

Mutual fund shares  2,121  61 

Total  160,432  124,431 

As regards the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo (ICS), Dexia Crediop S.p.A. holds 2,065,864 shares, with a par value of 1 
euro each, out of a total of 9,554,452 shares, representing a stake of 21.622%. Since the interest held by Dexia Crediop 
S.p.A. does not express a corresponding level of voting rights nor can it be classified as of significant influence, the 
interest has been classified among financial assets available for sale (AFS).
The amount in the Dimensione Network Fund is booked at the symbolic value of 1 euro.

In compliance with the Dexia Group policy and the elements underlying the valuation, the fair value of the interests above 
is determined on the basis of “inputs not based on observable market data (level 3)”.
 
The following is a summary of the measurement methods used:
- Istituto per il Credito Sportivo: mixed capital method;
- Dimensione Network Fund (Mutual fund shares): equity method;
- Mid-Capital Mezzanine Fund (Mutual fund shares): equity method.
 
In relation to the measurement method used for by Istituto per il Credito Sportivo, the application of the pure equity method 
would increase the value, gross of tax, by approximately E 29.9 million because of the increase in interest rate and the 
alternative investment income decrease ability of the company. As concerns the two Mutual fund shares, the measurements 
are based on equity data supplied by the companies. 
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4.2 Financial assets available for sale: breakdown by debtors/issuers
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

1. Debt securities  505,823  466,409 

    a) Governments and Central banks  505,823  466,409 

    b) Other public bodies   

    c) Banks   

    d) Other issuers   

2. Equity securities  158,311  134,443 

    a) Banks  158,310  134,442 

    b) Other issuers:  1  1 

         - insurance companies   

         - financial companies   

         - non-financial companies  1  1 

         - others   

3. Mutual fund shares  2,121  2,255 

4. Loans   

    a) Governments and Central banks   

    b) Other public bodies   

    c) Banks   

    d) Others   

Total  666,255  603,107 

4.3 Financial assets available for sale with specific hedges
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

1. Financial assets with specific fair value hedges:  505,823  466,409 

    a) interest-rate risk  505,823  466,409 

    b) price risk  

    c) exchange rate risk  

    d) credit risk  

    e) multiple risks  

2. Financial assets with specific cash flow hedges:  

    a) interest-rate risk  

    b) exchange-rate risk  

    c) other risks  

 Total  505,823  466,409
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4.4 Financial assets available for sale: annual change
thousands of euro

Debt securities Equity securities UCITS units Loans  Total

A. Opening balances  466,409  134,443  2,255  603,107 

B. Increases 87,129 23,868 0  110,997 

      B1. Purchases  41,413 41,413

      B2. Increases in FV  45,703  23,868  69,571 

      B3. Writebacks

       - booked to the income statement  x 

       - booked to shareholders’ equity

      B4. Transfers from other portfolios

      B5. Other changes  13 13

C. Decreases 47,715 0 134  47,849 

      C1. Sales  41,425 41,425

      C2. Redemptions

      C3. Decreases in FV  3,452  134  3,586 

      C4. Writedowns for impairment

       - booked to the income statement

       - booked to shareholders’ equity

      C5. Transfers to other portfolios

      C6. Other changes  2,838  2,838 

D. Closing balances  505,823  158,311  2.,21  666,255

Section 5 - Financial assets held to maturity - item 50

5.1 Financial assets held to maturity: breakdown by type
thousands of euro

 Total at
31/12/2012

 Total at
31/12/2011

BV
 FV 

BV
 FV 

 LEVEL 1  LEVEL 2  LEVEL 3  LEVEL 1  LEVEL 2  LEVEL 3 

1. Debt securities  281,128  321,315  338,416  380,218 

   - structured

   - others  281,128  321,315  338,416  380,218 

2. Loans

Key:
FV = fair value
BV = book value
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5.2 Financial assets held to maturity: debtors/issuers
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

1. Debt securities  281,128  338,416 

    a) Governments and Central banks

    b) Other public bodies  281,128  338,416 

    c) Banks

    d) Other issuers

2. Loans

    a) Governments and Central banks

    b) Other public bodies

    c) Banks

    d) Others

Total  281,128  338,416

5.4 Financial assets held to maturity: annual change
thousands of euro

Debt securities Loans  Total

A. Opening balances  338,416  338,416 

B. Increases 14 14

      B1. Purchases

      B2. Writebacks

      B3. Transfers from other portfolios

      B4. Other changes  14  14 

C. Decreases  57,302  57,302 

      C1. Sales

      C2. Redemptions  53,715  53,715 

      C3. Writedowns

      C4. Transfers to other portfolios

      C5. Other changes  3,587  3,587 

D. Closing balances  281,128  281,128
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Section 6 - Due from banks - item 60

6.1 Due from banks: breakdown by type
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

A. Due from Central Banks 15,885 193,519

     1. Restricted deposits

     2. Compulsory reserve  15,885 193,519

     3 Repurchase agreements 

     4. Others

B. Due from banks  13,026,553  12,165,440 

     1. Current accounts and demand deposits  669,513  2,231,154 

     2. Restricted deposits  5,261,106  5,611,981 

     3. Other loans:  791,121  1,414,513 

         3.1 Repurchase agreements  557,274  1,125,513 

         3.2 Financial lease

         3.3 Others  233,847  289,000 

     4. Debt securities  6,304,813  2,907,792 

         4.1 Structured securities

         4.2 Other debt securities  6,304,813  2,907,792 

Total (book value)  13,042,438  12,358,959 

Total (fair value)  13,045,188  12,302,971

6.2 Due from banks with specific hedges
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

1. Loans with specific fair value hedges: 198,163  197,438 

    a) interest-rate risk 198,163  197,438 

    b) exchange-rate risk

    c) credit risk

    d) multiple risks

2. Loans with specific cash flow hedges:

    a) interest rate

    b) exchange rate

    c) other risks

Total 198,163  197,438
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Section 7 - Due from customers - item 70

7.1 Due from customers: breakdown by type
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts

 Total at 31/12/2012  Total at 31/12/2011

Performing
Non Performing

Performing
Non Performing

Purchased Other Purchased Other

1. Current accounts

2. Reverse repurchase agreements  655,908 

3. Loans  10,083,887  25,490  12,161,461  786 

4. Credit cards, personal loans,
    salary-backed loans

5. Financial lease

6. Factoring

7. Other transactions  1,682,038  446,354 

8. Debt securities  16,429,035  16,113,503 

     8.1 Structured securities

     8.2 Other debt securities  16,429,035  16,113,503 

Total (book value)  28,194,960  25,490  29,377,226  786 

Total (fair value)  26,789,048  25,490  27,304,228  786

7.2 Due from customers: breakdown by debtors/issuers
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts

Total at 31/12/2012 Total at 31/12/2011

Performing
Non Performing

Performing
Non Performing

Purchased Other Purchased Other

1. Debt securities:  16,429,035 16,113,503

     a) Governments  4,892,245  4,396,159 

     b) Other public bodies  9,082,034  9,210,256 

     c) Other issuers  2,454,756  2,507,088 

          - non-financial companies  1,210,258  1,147,657 

          - financial companies  1,244,498  1,359,431 

          - insurance companies

          - others

2. Loans to:  11,765,925  13,263,723  786 

     a) Governments  3,104,653  3,261,899 

     b) Other public bodies  6,896,289  139  7,598,481  147 

     c) Others  1,764,983  25,351  2,403,343  639 

          - non-financial companies  1,103,954  25,351  1,671,733 

          - financial companies  659,655  729,934  639 

          - insurance companies

          - others  1,374  1,676 

Total  28,194,960  25,490  29,377,226  786
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7.3 Due from customers: microhedged assets
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012 
 Total at

31/12/2011 

1. Loans with specific fair value hedges: 16,855,062  16,792,395 

    a) interest-rate risk 16,305,383  16,221,798 

    b) exchange-rate risk

    c) credit risk

    d) multiple risks 549,679  570,597 

2. Loans with specific cash flow hedges: 959,173  2,877,729 

    a) interest-rate risk 959,173  2,877,729 

    b) exchange-rate risk

    c) other risks

Total 17,814,235  19,670,124

Section 8 - Hedging derivatives - item 80

8.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by type of hedging and by level
thousands of euro

 FV
31/12/2012 

NV   
31/12/2012

FV
31/12/2011

NV   
31/12/2011

 L1  L2  L3  L1  L2  L3 

 A)  Financial derivatives  433,175  107,771  8,601,719  471,812  127,619  8,683,244 

    1) Fair Value  381,807  107,771  7,350,726  430,485  127,619  7,819,967 

    2)  Cash flow hedges 51,368  1,250,993 41,327  863,277 

    3) Foreign investments

 B)  Credit derivatives

    1) Fair Value

    2)  Cash flow hedges

Total  433,175  107,771  8,601,719  471,812  127,619  8,683,244 

Key:
NV = nominal value
L 1 = Level 1
L 2 = Level 2
L 3 = Level 3
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8.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by portfolios hedged and type of hedging
thousands of euro

Transaction/Type
of hedging

 Fair value Cash flow hedges

Foreign  
investments

Specific
Generic Specific Genericinterest 

rate risk
exchange 
rate risk

credit risk price risk
multiple 

risks

1. Financial assets 
available for sale

 x  x  x 

2. Loans  480  x  11,600  x  51,311  x  x 

3. Financial assets held
to maturity

 x  x  x  x  x 

4. Portfolio  x  x  x  x  x  9,770  x  x 

5. Other transactions  x  x 

Total assets  480 0 0 0  11,600 9,770  51,311 0 0

1. Financial liabilities  426,473  x  41,255  x  57  x  x 

2. Portfolio  x  x  x  x  x  x  x 

Total liabilities  426,473 0 0 0  41,255 0 57 0 0

1. Expected transactions  x  x  x  x  x  x  x  x 

2. Portfolio of financial 
assets and liabilities

 x  x  x  x  x  x 
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Section 9 - Fair value adjustment of financial assets in hedged portfolios - item 90

9.1 Fair value adjustments of hedged assets: breakdown by portfolios hedged
thousands of euro

Fair value adjustments of hedged assets/Securities
Total at

31/12/2012
Total at

31/12/11

1. Increases  28,460  31,468 

     1.1 of specific portfolios:  28,460  31,468 

           a) loans  28,460  31,468 

           b) financial assets available for sale

     1.2 total

2. Decreases  9,679  8,393 

     2.1 of specific portfolios:  9,679  8,393 

           a) loans  9,679  8,393 

           b) financial assets available for sale

     2.2 total

Total  18,781  23,075

9.2 Assets of the banking group with macro hedging of interest rate risk
thousands of euro

Hedged assets 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

1.  Loans  6,942,345  7,017,087 

2.  Assets available for sale 

3.  Portfolio 

Total  6,942,345 7,017,087
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Section 10 - Equity investments – item 100

10.1 Equity investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled companies or companies subject to significant 
influence: information on the interests held

Name Head-quarters % of equity held % of votes held

A. Full subsidiaries

      1 DCC – Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l. Rome 100% 100%

      2 Dexia Crediop Ireland (1) Dublin 99.99% 99.99%

      3 Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l. Rome 90% 90%

B. Jointly controlled companies

C. Companies subject to significant influence

(1) Unlimited liability company constituted under Irish law, with registered offices in 6 George’s Dock, Dublin 1 and share capital of Euro 100 million 
represented by 100 million shares, each with a nominal value of 1 euro.

 - 99,999,999 shares are held by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.;
 - 1  share held by Belfius Ireland (ex Dexia Investments Ireland), in its capacity as Trustee for Dexia Crediop S.p.A .detenuta da Belfius Ireland (ex 

Dexia Investments Ireland), in qualità di Trustee di Dexia Crediop S.p.A., until the 05/03/2013; on 06/03/2013  Belfius Ireland sold, senza accordo di 
trustee, the share to Dexia Crédit Local.   

10.2 Equity investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled companies or companies subject to significant 
influence: accounting information

thousands of euro

Name Total assets
Total 

revenue
Profit 
(Loss)

Shareholders’ 
equity

Book 
value 

Fair value

A. Full subsidiaries 301,703 21,559 5,068 87,009 100,024

     1 DCC. – Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l. 135 99 0 15 15

     2 Dexia Crediop Ireland 301,558 21,460 5,068 86,984 100,000

     3 Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l. 10 0 0 10 9

B. Jointly controlled companies

C. Companies subject to significant influence

Total 301,703 21,559 5,068 87,009 100,024

The company owned Dexia Crediop Ireland (DCI) at 31 December 2012 a net book value amounted to 87 million.
This heritage reflects the negative effect of the fair value of an Italian state (BTP) via the AFS.
Given that DCI has the ability to hold to the final maturity portfolio security is not considered of having to write-down of 
the investment to bring the book value of the equity of Irish society.
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10.3 Equity investments: annual change
thousands of euro

 Total at
31/12/2012

 Total at
31/12/2011

A. Opening balances  100,024  150,024 

B. Increases 0 0 

B.1 Purchases

B.2 Writebacks

B.3 Revaluations

B.4 Other changes

C. Decreases 0 50,000 

C.1 Sales

C.2 Writedowns

C.4 Other changes  50,000 

D. Closing balances 100,024 100,024 

E. Total revaluations

F. Total adjustments
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Section 11 - Property, plant and equipment – item 110

11.1 Property plant and equipment: breakdown of assets carried at cost
thousands of euro

Assets/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

A. Assets for business purposes

1.1 company owned  43,304  43,847 

        a) land  28,844  28,844 

        b) buildings  12,265  12,505 

        c) furniture  1,821  1,907 

        d) electronic systems  255  370 

        e) others  119  221 

1.2 acquired on financial lease

        a) land

        b) buildings

        c) furniture

        d) electronic systems

        e) others

Total A  43,304  43,847 

B. Assets held as investments

2.1 company owned

        a) land

        b) buildings

2.2 acquired on financial lease

        a) land

        b) buildings

Total B

Total (A+B)  43,304  43,847

Additional information
The depreciation method used for tangible assets, which is deemed to reflect the ways in which the associated future 
economic benefits will be used, is the straight-line method. This method involves the depreciation of a constant charge 
throughout the useful life of the asset if its residual value does not change. During the period there have been no changes 
to the expected uses of the future economic benefits, that would require changes to the depreciation method.
The useful life of assets is calculated on the basis of their expected usefulness. Since land and works of art have an 
unlimited useful life, they are not subject to depreciation.
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11.3 Property plant and equipment for business purposes: annual change
thousands of euro

 Land Buildings Furniture
Electronic 
systems

Others  Total

A. Gross opening balances  28,844  22,444  3,426 698  1,541  56,953 

A.1 Net total adjustments 0  9,939  1,519 328  1,320  13,106 

A.2 Net opening balances  28,844  12,505  1,907  370  221  43,847 

B. Increases: 0 439 4 27 10  480 

B.1 Purchases  439  4 27  10  480 

B.2 Expenses for capitalised improvements

B.3 Writebacks

B.4 Increases in fair value booked to

       a) shareholders’ equity

       b) income statement

B.5 Positive exchange-rate differences

B.6 Reclassification from buildings held as investments

B.7 Other changes

C. Decreases: 0 679 90 142 112  1,023 

C.1 Sales

C.2 Depreciation  679  90 142  112  1,023 

C.3 Impairment losses booked to:

       a) shareholders’ equity

       b) income statement

C.4 Decreases in fair value booked to

       a) shareholders’ equity

       b) income statement

C.5 Negative exchange-rate differences

C.6 Reclassification to:

       a) property plant and equipment held as investments

       b) assets held for sale

C.7 Other changes

D. Net closing balances  28,844  12,265  1,821  255  119  43,304 

D.1 Net total adjustments  10,618  1,609  470  1,432  14,129 

D.2 Gross closing balances  28,844  22,883  3,430  725  1,551  57,433 

E. Measurement at cost
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Section 12 – Intangible assets – item 120

12.1 Intangible assets: breakdown by type of asset
thousands of euro

Assets/Amounts

 Total at
31/12/2012

 Total at
31/12/2011

Defined duration Indefinite duration Defined duration Indefinite duration

A.1 Goodwill  X X

A.2 Other intangible assets  3,323  3,405 

A.2.1 Assets carried at cost:  3,323  3,405 

        a) Intangible assets generated internally

        b) Other assets  3,323  3,405 

A.2.2 Assets designated at fair value:

        a) Intangible assets generated internally

        b) Other assets 

Total  3,323  3,405 

Intangible assets consist of software purchased from third parties in the process of amortization. The amortisation is 
carried out on the basis of the possible residual useful life.
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12.2 Intangible assets: annual change
thousands of euro

Goodwill
Other intangible assets: 

generated internally
Other intangible assets: 

others
 Total  

DEF INDEF DEF INDEF

A. Opening balances  29,426  29,426 

A.1 Net total adjustments  26,021  26,021 

A.2 Net opening balances  3,405  3,405 

B. Increases  1,682  1,682 

B.1 Purchases  1,682  1,682 

B.2 Increases in internal intangible assets  x 

B.3 Writebacks  x 

B.4 Increases in fair value: 

       - to shareholders' equity  x 

       - to income statement  x 

B.5 Positive exchange-rate differences

B.6 Other changes

C. Decreases  1,764  1,764 

C.1 Sales

C.2 Writedowns  1,764  1,764 

       - Amortization  x  1,764  1,764 

       - Devaluations:

             + shareholders' equity  x 

             + income statement

C.3 Decreases in fair value: 

       - to shareholders' equity  x 

       - to income statement  x 

C.4 Reclassification to non-current assets held for sale

C.5 Negative exchange-rate differences

C.6 Other changes

D. Net closing balances  3,323  3,323 

D.1 Total net adjustments 27,785  26,021 

E. Gross closing balances 31,108  29,344 

F. Measurement at cost

Key:
DEF: of defined duration

INDEF: of indefinite duration
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Section 13 – Tax credits and liabilities - item 130 of the assets and Item 80 of the liabilities

13.1 Deferred tax assets: breakdown
        

thousands of euro

Costs deductible in other periods  3,693 

Provisions for risks and charges  3,048 

Net changes in cash flow hedging derivatives  943 

AFS securities devaluations  42,613 

Total  50,297 
        
        
        

 13.2 Deferred tax liabilities: breakdown        
        

thousands of euro

Costs deducted with comptetence in future periods  128 

Property plant and equipment - elimination of depreciation on FTA  3,217 

AFS securities revaluation  20,088 

Total  23,433 
        

Deferred tax assets and liabilities in the Balance Sheet are shown as compensated, in accordance with paragraph 74 of 
IAS 12.
        

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



95

DExIA CREDIOP S.P.A.

13.3 Change in deferred tax assets (with matching entry in income statement)
thousands of euro

 Total at
31/12/2012

 Total at
31/12/2011

1.  Initial balance  10,620  11,120 

2.  Increases  242  2,287 

2.1 Deferred tax assets arising in the year  242  2,095 

     a) relating to prior years

     b) due to changes in accounting policies

     c) writebacks

     d) other  242  2,095 

2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates  192 

2.3 Other increases

3. Decreases  4,121  2,787 

3.1 Deferred tax assets cancelled in the year  4,121  2,787 

     a) reversals  4,121  2,787 

     b) written down as now considered unrecoverable

     c) change in accounting policies

     d) other

3.2 Reduction in tax rates

3.3 Other decreases  -    -   

4. Final balance 6,741  10,620

Advance taxes are recognised according to the likelihood that sufficient taxable amounts will be generated in the future.

The rates used to value advance taxes for IRES and IRAP purposes are 27.50% and 5.57% respectively.

Deferred tax assets recognized during the year amounted to 242 thousand euros and are attributable to provisions not 
immediately deductible.

Advance taxes cancelled during the year amount to 4,121 thousand euros and are attributable to the uses of provisions 
not deducted in prior years and the recovery of costs deductible over several years and to the utilization of the 2011 fiscal 
loss. 



96

13.4 Changes in deferred tax liabilities (with matching entry in income statement)
thousands of euro

 Total at
31/12/2012

 Total at
31/12/2011

1. Initial balance  3,217  3,144 

2. Increases  128  73 

 2.1 Deferred tax liabilities arising in the year  128 

      a) relating to prior years 

      b) due to changes in accounting policies 

      c) other  128 

 2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates  73 

 2.3 Other increases 

3. Decreases

 3.1 Deferred tax liabilities cancelled in the year 

      a) reversals 

      b) due to changes in accounting policies 

      c) other 

 3.2 Reduction in tax rates 

 3.3 Other decreases 

4. Final balance  3,345  3,217

Deferred taxes are booked for temporary differences between the book value of an asset or liability and its fiscal value. 
This recognition has been carried out in accordance with current fiscal legislation.

The rates used to value deferred taxes for IRES and IRAP purposes are 27.50% and 5.57% respectively.

Deferred tax assets recognized during the year amounted to 128 thousand euros and are attributable to costs deductible 
in the current year but with comptetence in future profit & loss.
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13.5 Changes in deferred tax assets (with matching entry to equity)
thousands of euro

 Total at
31/12/2012

 Total at
31/12/2011

1. Initial balance  70,573  62,628 

2. Increases 0 12,207

 2.1 Deferred tax assets arising in the year 10,754

      a) relating to prior years 

      b) due to changes in accounting policies 

      c) other 10,754

 2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates  1,453 

 2.3 Other increases 

3. Decreases 27,017 4,262 

 3.1 Deferred tax assets cancelled in the year 27,017 4,262 

      a) reversals  27,017  4,262 

      b) written down as now considered unrecoverable 

      c) change in accounting policies 

      d) other 

 3.2 Reduction in tax rates 

 3.3 Other decreases 

4. Final balance  43,556  70,573

Deffered taxes canceled during the year amounted to 27,017 thousand euros and is attributable to the revaluation of 
derivatives to hedge cash flows and to revalutation of AFS securities.
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13.6 Change in deferred tax liabilities (with matching entry to equity)
thousands of euro

 Total at
31/12/2012

 Total at
31/12/2011

1. Initial balance  19,179 20,042 

2. Increases 1,613 465

 2.1 Deferred tax liabilities arising in the year 1,613 

      a) relating to prior years 

      b) due to changes in accounting policies 

      c) other 1,613 

 2.2 New taxes or increases in tax rates  465 

 2.3 Other increases 

3. Decreases 704 1,328 

 3.1 Deferred tax liabilities cancelled in the year  704  1,328 

      a) reversals  704  1,328 

      b) due to changes in accounting policies 

      c) other 

 3.2 Reduction in tax rates 

 3.3 Other decreases 

4. Final balance  20,088  19,179

Deferred taxes recognized during the year amounted to 1,613 thousand euros and are due to revalutation of AFS 
securities.
Deferred taxes canceled during the year amounted to 704 thousand euros and are due to impairments of AFS securities.

13.7 Other information
13.7.1 Assets in the form of current taxes: breakdown
The current tax assets are related primarily to the excess of the advance tax paid (withholding tax on interest, premiums 
and other fruits of the deposits and current accounts) with respect to the debt accrued and to the IRES of previous tax 
period request for reimbursement ex art. 2 of DL 201/2011 and art. 6 of DL 185/2008 .

13.7.2 Liabilities in the form of current taxes: breakdown
Liabilities in the form of current taxes are related primarily to IRES and IRAP due for the tax period net of advaces paid.

Section 15 - Other assets - item 150

15.1  Other assets: breakdown
thousands of euro

Description
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

1. Adjustments to exchange rate derivatives  35,392  41,768 

2. Sundry accrued expenses and deferred charges  43,865  36,445 

3. Other assets  20,939  24,714 

Total  100,196  102,927

The item also includes the credit position of a defined-benefits fund of 5,016 thousand euros (4,395 thousand euros at 
31.12.11). For the related information please see Section 12 of Liabilities, “Provisions for risks and charges”.
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Liabilities

Section 1 - Due to banks - item 10

1.1 Due to banks: breakdown by type
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

1. Due to central banks  17,421,943  12,206,151 

2. Due to banks  6,258,638  11,261,200 

2.1 Current accounts and demand deposits

2.2 Restricted deposits  729,919  720,320 

2.3 Loans  5,528,719  10,540,880 

       2.3.1 Repurchase agreements  1,754,070  5,543,527 

       2.3.2 Others  3,774,649  4,997,353 

2.4 Due for commitments to repurchase own equity instruments

2.5 Other debts

Total  23,680,581  23,467,351 

Fair value  23,602,334  23,040,091 
  

1.2 Details of item 10 “Amounts due to banks”: subordinated debts 
On 31.12.12 subordinated debts stood at 400,040 thousand euros (400,072 thousand euros in 2011).
The subordinate loan has the following characteristics:
- technical form: loan;  
- nominal amount: e 400 million;  
- duration: 10 years;  
- maturity: June 2017  
- reimbursement: bullet;  
- interest rate: euribor 3 months increased by 72 bps pa.  
  
  
1.4 Due to banks with specific hedges 

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

1. Payables with specific fair value hedges:  137,620  158,501 

    a) interest-rate risk  137,620  158,501 

    b) foreign exchange risk

    c) various risks

2. Payables with specific cash flow hedges:  445,987  7,976,360 

    a) interest-rate risk  445,987  7,976,360 

    b) foreign exchange risk

    c) other risks
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Section 2 – Amounts due to customers – item 20

2.1 Due to customers: breakdown by type
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

 1. Current accounts and demand deposits  273,752  305,387 

 2. Restricted deposits 

 3. Loans  2,297,652  1,717,736 

      3.1 Repurchase agreements  805,396  998 

      3.2 Others  1,492,256  1,716,738 

 4 Amounts due for commitments to repurchase own equity instruments 

 5. Other payables  3,363,278  3,546,381 

 Total  5,934,682  5,569,504 

 Fair value  5,497,009  5,151,714 
  
  

Section 3 - Securities in issue - item 30

3.1 Securities in issue: breakdown by type
thousands of euro

Type of securities/Amounts

 Total at 31/12/2012  Total at 31/12/2011

Book value
 Fair value 

Book value
 Fair value 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 

A. Securities

      1. Bonds  8,166,747  2,822,553  5,075,740  9,917,130  1,724,611  7,723,412 

            1.1 structured

            1.2 others  8,166,747  2,822,553  5,075,740  9,917,130  1,724,611  7,723,412 

      2. Other securities  4,786  4,806  586  586 

            2.1 structured

            2.2 others  4,786  4,806  586  586 

Total  8,171,533  2,822,553 0  5,080,546  9,917,716 1,724,611 0  7,723,998

3.3 Details of item 30 “Securities issued”: securities with specific hedges
thousands of euro

 Total at
31/12/2012

 Total at
31/12/2011

1. Securities with specific fair value hedges:  5,255,779  8,009,776 

    a) interest-rate risk  3,613,924  5,247,850 

    b) exchange-rate risk

    c) multiple risks  1,641,855  2,761,926 

2. Securities with specific cash flow hedges: 0 0

    a) interest-rate risk

    b) exchange-rate risk

    c) other risks
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Section 4 - Financial liabilities for trading - item 40

4.1 Financial liabilities for trading: breakdown by type
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts

 Total at 31/12/2012  Total at 31/12/2011

 NV  FV  FV *  NV  FV  FV * 

 L 1  L 2  L 3  L 1  L 2  L 3 

A. Cash liabilities

1. Due to banks

2. Due to customers

3. Debt securities 

    3.1 Bonds

        3.1.1 Structured  x  x 

        3.1.2 Other bonds  x  x 

    3.2 Other securities

        3.2.1 Structured  x  x 

        3.2.2 Others  x  x 

Total A

B. Derivative instruments

1. Financial derivatives 6,284,451  95,949 5,369,244  82,395 

        1.1 Trading  x 6,284,451  95,949  x  x 5,369,244  82,395  x 

        1.2 Associated with the fair value
              option

 x  x  x  x 

        1.3 Others  x  x  x  x 

2. Credit derivatives  63,335  61,180 

        2.1 Trading  x  63,335  x  x  61,180  x 

        2.2 Associated with the fair value
              option

 x  x  x  x 

        2.3 Others  x  x  x  x 

Total B  X 6,284,451 159,284 X X 5,369,244 143,575 X

Total (A+B)  X 6,284,451 159,284 X X 5,369,244 143,575 X

Key
FV = fair value

FV* = fair value calculated excluding the value changes due to variation in issuer’s creditworthiness since the date of issue

NV = nominal or notional value

L 1 = Level 1

L 2 = Level 2

L 3 = Level 3
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Section 6 - Hedging derivatives - item 60

6.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by type of hedging and by hierarchical levels
thousands of euro

 Fair value 31/12/2012  NV 
31/12/2012

 Fair value 31/12/2011 NV 
31/12/2011L 1 L 2 L 3 L 1 L 2 L 3

A. Financial derivatives 4,019,158 23,104 29,404,918 3,451,201 24,156 40,449,337

     1) Fair Value 3,971,725 23,104 28,845,476 3,380,419 24,156 31,780,986

     2) Cash flow hedges 47,433 559,442 70,782 8,668,351

      3) Foreign investments 

 B) Credit derivatives

     1) Fair Value

     2) Cash flow hedges

 Total 4,019,158 23,104 29,404,918 3,451,201 24,156 40,449,337

Key
NV = notional value

L 1 = Level 1

L 2 = Level 2

L 3 = Level 3

6.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by portfolios hedged and type of hedging
thousands of euro

Transaction/Type
of hedging

 Fair Value Cash flow hedges

Foreign 
investments

Specific

Generic Specific Genericinterest 
rate risk

foreign 
exchange 

risk
credit risk price risk

various 
risks

1. Financial assets available 
for sale

 58,945  x  x  x 

2. Loans  3,801,025  x  91,575  x  148  x  x 

3. Financial assets held to 
maturity

 x  x  x  x  x 

4. Portfolio Hedge  29,890  x 

5. Other transactions  x  x  x  x  x  x  x  x 

Total assets  3,859,970  91,575 29,890  148 

1. Financial liabilities  9,938  x  3,456  x  47,285  x  x 

2. Portfolio Hedge  x 

Total liabilities  9,938  3,456  47,285 

1. Forecast transactions  x  x  x  x  x  x  x  x 

2. Portfolio of financial assets 
and liabilities

 x  x  x  x  x  x  x 
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Section 8 – Tax liabilities – item 80
See section 13 of assets.

Section 10 - Other liabilities - item 100

10.1  Other liabilities: breakdown
thousands of euro

Description
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

1. Relations with suppliers and professionals  9,947  8,963 

2. Sundry accrued expenses and deferred income  8,002  1,517 

3. Other liabilities  22,156  22,652 

Total  40,105  33,132 
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Section 11 - Provision for severance indemnities - item 110

11.1 Provision for severance indemnities: annual change
thousands of euro

 Total at
31/12/2012

 Total at
31/12/2011

A. Opening balances  2,359 3,044

B. Increases  75  115 

B.1 Provision for the year  75  115 

B.2 Other changes

C. Decreases  317  800 

C.1 Indemnities paid  317  800 

C.2 Other changes

D. Closing balances  2,117  2,359 

Total  2,117  2,359

Section 12 - Provisions for risks and charges - item 120

12.1 Provisions for risks and charges: breakdown 
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2012
Total at

31/12/2011

1 Provisions for retirement benefits  296  566 

2. Provisions for risks and charges  10,126  13,067 

    2.1 legal disputes  6,245  8,465 

    2.2 personnel expenses  3,881  4,563 

    2.3 others  39 

Total  10,422  13,633

The fund for legal disputes includes allocations made for legal costs expected to be incurred following administrative and legal 
proceedings, relative to transactions concluded with local entities, to which Dexia Crediop is a party. For these proceedings, 
it has not, on the other hand, been deemed necessary to adjust the value. A description follows of the state of the individual 
proceedings.
On 03 February 2010, in relation to investigations into operations with the Region Apulia, some of which also carried out by 
Dexia Crediop, the latter was notified of guarantee information insofar as investigated for the administrative crime pursuant 
to Arts. 5, paragraph 1, letter a), 21, 24, paragraphs 1 and 2 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 231/01, in relation to Arts. 110, 
subsection 81, 640, paragraph 1 and 61, subsection 7. By Order dated 18 February 2012 the Preliminary Investigation Court 
of Bari revoked the attachment order applied to Dexia Crediop on 03 February 2010 for the amount of approximately e 8.6 
million and arranged for the return of this amount to Dexia Crediop. The preliminary hearing will be held on 8 May 2013.

On 29 June 2009, the Province of Pisa dissolved, through a self-protection procedure, its deliberations regarding an Interest 
Rate Swap signed on 4 July 2007 with Dexia Crediop in regards to variable interest rate bonds partially underwritten by Dexia 
Crediop. As a consequence, the Province of Pisa has interrupted its payments to Dexia Crediop owed through the signed 
Interest Rate Swap. By virtue of this, the Province of Pisa has not, as of today, proceeded with the payment of approximately 
e 4.7 million. Hence, Dexia Crediop has begun legal action in England, aimed at obtaining fulfilment of the obligations of 
the Province of Pisa. Dexia Crediop has also begun legal action in Italy aimed at obtaining the annulment of the above-cited 
self-protection procedure. Under the scope of these proceedings, on 7 September 2011 the Council of State issued a non-
definitive sentence which,inter alia, ascertained the exclusive jurisdiction of the administrative courts in ruling on the validity 
of the self-protection deed and requested that an expert witness be appointed. On 17 November 2011, Dexia Crediop 
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notified an appeal with Cassation against this sentence of the Council of State for reasons relating to jurisdiction. On 27 
November 2012 the Council of State, issuing a definitive judgement on the appeal, issued a sentence which fully accepted 
the requests of Dexia Crediop and, as a result, annulled the above-cited self-protection procedure. In the light of the definitive 
sentence of the Council of State, Dexia Crediop has renounced the appeal with Cassation described above. On 29 January 
2013, the hearing in Cassation was held. Dexia Crediop is awaiting publication of the sentence.

On 21 December 2010, Dexia Crediop was served a preventative seizure decree of furniture and equipment, property and 
receivables up to the value of the amount of approximately 635 thousands of euro, under the scope of an investigation 
concerning derivative financial instruments stipulated in 2004 by Dexia Crediop with the Regional Authorities of Tuscany, in 
which it is hypothesised that Dexia Crediop had committed an unlawful administrative act pursuant to arts. 5, paragraph 1, 
letter a) and 24, paragraph 2 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 231/01 in relation to arts. 110, subsection 81, 640 paragraph 
2, no. 1 and 61, subsection 7. As of today, the seizure decree has not yet been enforced, as Dexia Crediop has deposited 
security for the same amount in lieu of the seizure.
On 15 January 2013, Dexia Crediop was notified of the Decree of Dismissal for the proceedings on the part of the Preliminary 
Investigation Court of Florence, with the consequent restitution to Dexia Crediop of the deposited security provided as 
substitution for the seizure.

On 31 December 2010, the Municipality of Prato dissolved, through a self-protection procedure, its deliberation regarding an 
Interest Rate Swap signed on 29 June 2006 with Dexia Crediop in regards to two variable interest rate bonds underwritten 
by Dexia Crediop. By virtue of this, the Municipality has not, as of today, proceeded with the payment of approximately 
e  4.5 million. Dexia Crediop has begun legal action in England aimed at obtaining compliance by the Municipality with its 
obligations and has also begun legal action in Italy before the Regional Administrative Court of Tuscany, which concluded in 
the favour of Dexia Crediop with the sentence dated 24 November 2011. On 23 January 2012, the Municipality initiated a 
new self-protection proceedings aimed at verifying the validity of the tender called by the Municipality of Prato to select its 
advisor (Dexia Crediop) in 2002 and the subsequent restructuring operations of swaps prior to 2006, this latter being the 
subject of the first self-protection proceedings. On 19 April 2012, the Municipality resolved annulment in self-protection. On 
19 May 2012 Dexia Crediop filed an appeal against this resolution with the TAR of Tuscany. The hearing for discussion was 
held on 21 November 2012. 
On 21 February 2013, the sentence of the Regional Administrative Court was published, accepting the appeal of Dexia 
Crediop. Specifically, the Regional Administrative Court held that:
i.  the role assigned through the tender referred only to the role of advisor and not that of swap contractor;
ii. dissolving is, as a general principle, possible if referred to the assignment as swap contractor without a tender established 

in 2002 and that this dissolving could also overwhelm the contract and its subsequent renegotiations;
iii. the dissolving is not allowed and the relative self-protection proceedings are therefore illegitimate in that they occurred 

after the term of 3 years after the signing of the contract on the basis of that envisaged in paragraph 136 of Law 311/2004 
protecting the certainty of legal relationships between public entities and private subjects, not being applicable to the 
specific case article 21, nonies, of Law 241/1990, which envisages a generic reference to a “reasonable time” within which 
to exercise self-protection.

Finally, the Regional Administrative Court stress that jurisdiction over contracts falls to civil courts and, in particular, the 
English one.

On 23 December 2010, the Regional Authorities of Lazio served Dexia Crediop with a writ of summons before the Civil Court 
of Rome. The deed concerned transactions in derivatives concluded with the Regional Authorities of Lazio. In addition to Dexia 
Crediop, a further 11 banks are involved. The Regional Authorities of Lazio demand that Dexia Crediop pay compensation 
for damages it alleges having suffered, for an amount of approximately e 8.5 million. The next hearing will be held on 18 
June 2013.

On 30 April 2011, the Municipality of Florence dissolved, through a self-protection procedure, its deliberations to approve 
two operations in derivatives completed on 26 June 2006 with Dexia Crediop. By virtue of this, the Municipality has not, 
as of today, proceeded with the payment of approximately e 8.2 million. Dexia Crediop has taken legal action in England 
aimed at ascertaining the validity and effectiveness of these contracts, in addition to taking legal action in Italy, bringing a 
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case before the Regional Administrative Court of Tuscany. On 19 April 2013 the hearing before the Regional Administrative 
Court of Tuscany will be held.

On 23 January 2012, the Region of Piedmont dissolved, through a self-protection procedure, its deliberations to approve an 
amortising swap operation completed on 16 November 2006. Dexia Crediop has begun legal proceedings in England aimed 
at ascertaining the validity of the contract. By virtue of this, the Region of Piedmont has not, as of today, proceeded with the 
payment of a total of approximately e 16.3 million. The legal proceedings in England ended with a sentence registered on 
24 September 2012, by which the validity and efficacy of this swap contract were ascertained. Dexia Crediop has also begun 
legal action in Italy, with the Regional Administrative Court of Piedmont, aimed at obtaining the annulment of the above-
cited self-protection procedure. At the conclusion of these proceedings, on 21 December 2012, the Regional Administrative 
Court of Piedmont issued a sentence which declared both the main appeal and the incidental one inadmissible due to a lack 
of jurisdiction for the administrative court, while simultaneously ascertaining the jurisdiction of the civil court (in the case in 
question, the English Courts), in that the self-protection proceedings were adopted by the Regional Administration in the 
absence of the relative legal presuppositions, in order to mask a unilateral legal transaction established for the sole purpose 
of unilaterally dissolving the contractual constraint.
On 27 February 2013, Dexia Crediop was notified of an appeal with the Council of State by the Region of Piedmont, for 
reasons related to jurisdiction.

On 14 April 2011, the Municipality of Messina served Dexia Crediop with a writ of summons before the Civil Court of 
Messina. The act concerns two operations in derivatives completed on 28 June 2007. The Municipality of Messina asks that 
the nullity of the contracts be ascertained with regards to Dexia Crediop or alternatively that they be declared as cancelled, 
in addition to the sentencing of compensation for damages. The next hearing will be held on 28 March 2013. Additionally, 
on 18 October 2011, the Municipality of Florence dissolved, through a self-protection procedure, its deliberations to approve 
these operations in derivatives. By virtue of this, the Municipality has not, as of today, proceeded with the payment of a 
total of approximately e 1.5 million. Dexia Crediop has begun legal action in Italy aimed at obtaining the annulment of the 
above-cited self-protection procedure. The hearing on the merits for discussion of the case was held on 13 February 2013. 
On 18 February 2013, with an ordinance, the Regional Administrative Court of Sicily suspended the judgement issued for 
Dexia Crediop while awaiting the sentence of the Court of Cassation in the face of the appeal related to the preventive 
ruling on jurisdiction, presented by another bank in the context of a similar proceedings established with the same Regional 
Administrative Court of Sicily.

On 14 June 2012, the Province of Crotone began a civil mediation process with Dexia Crediop, contesting the legitimacy of 
swap contracts signed between Dexia Crediop and the Province in 2007. Dexia Crediop has begun legal action in England 
aimed at ascertaining the validity and efficacy of the swap contracts existing with the Province of Crotone.

On 23 July 2012, the Municipality of Ferrara, with a Council Resolution, annulled all of its deeds that led to approval of the 
swap contracts completed in 2002, 2003 and 2005 with Dexia Crediop, as self-protection. By virtue of this, the Municipality 
has not, as of today, proceeded with the payment of approximately e 1 million. Dexia Crediop has begun legal action in 
England aimed at obtaining ascertainment of the validity and efficacy of the swap contracts, as well as compliance by the 
Municipality with its obligations and has also begun legal action in Italy, now pending before the Regional Administrative 
Court of Emilia Romagna, aimed at obtaining the annulment of the above-cited self-protection procedure. 

On 19 September 2012, Dexia Crediop received a letter from the Municipality of Forlì which contested the validity of the 
swap contracts signed in 2002, 2003 and 2005. On 19 February 2013, Dexia Crediop received a communication from the 
Financial Banking Conciliator on the subject of “Communication of a request for mediation” by which the body informed 
Dexia Crediop that it had received a request for civil mediation from the Municipality of Forlì. The mediation meeting has 
been set for 20 March 2013. Dexia Crediop has begun legal action in England aimed at ascertaining the validity and efficacy 
of the swap contracts existing with the Municipality of Forli.
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Additionally, other funds include tax expense for 1.1 million, allocated during the first half of 2011 in relation to a general 
inspection by the Tax Authority in relation to tax period 2008.  

Finally, please note that on 1 December 2011, the Tax Authority served a notice of liquidation for registration tax for 
approximately e 108 million, in addition to sanctions and interest for a total of approximately e 250 million. Against 
presentation of a self-protection request and suspension of the effects of the notice of liquidation, in January 2012 the 
Administration filed suspension of the effects of the notice of liquidation. The Company also appealed against this and 
considered there being no reason to make any allocation in this respect, also given the achievement of the suspension and 
valid arguments able to confirm the correctness and legitimacy of the Company’s work.

12.2 Provisions for risks and charges: annual change
thousands of euro

Pension funds Other provisions  Total

A. Opening balances  566  13,067  13,633 

B. Increases  1,196  292  1,488 

B.1 Provision for the year  1,196  292  1,488 

B.2 Changes due to the passing of time

B.3 Changes due to variations in the discount rate

B.4 Other changes

C. Decreases  1,466  3,233  4,699 

C.1 Use during the period  552  3,233  3,785 

C.2 Changes due to variations in the discount rate

C.3 Other changes  914  914 

D. Closing balances  296  10,126  10,422

B.1 The item “Provision for the year” relative to other funds benefit also contains the negative effect (- e 0.137 million), 
resulting from early termination of an employee benefit.

C.3 The item “Other decreases” represents the portion of the provisions recognized in the income statement in the year 
2012, relating to defined benefit plans in Sez.15 reclassified (other assets). That entry contains the effect positive (+e 

0.155 million e), arising from actuarial gains.

12.3 Company defined-benefit pension funds
1. Description of the funds

The sub-item “Pension funds and similar benefits” includes provisions recognized on the basis of IAS 19 “Employee 
benefits” against various forms of complementary retirement schemes with defined benefits. These commitments are 
based on calculations carried out by independent Actuaries using the projected units credit method. In particular, the 
provisions are the same as the current value of the defined-benefit obligations net of the fair value of the fund’s assets and 
having taken into consideration the actuarial profits and losses not recognised in the balance sheet by applying the so-
called “corridor option”. This “corridor option” stipulates that the actuarial profits/losses, taken in accumulation, which 
might come about due to the effect of adjustments caused by the re-formulation of the previous actuarial assumptions, 
are only recognized for the part that exceeds 10% of the higher amount between the fair value of the assets and the fair 
value of the obligation and on the basis of the average residual duration of the benefits of the Fund and starting from 
the following period.
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You can see below the information relating to the variations in the funds during the financial period, the reconcilement 
between the current value of the funds, the current value of the assets serving the schemes and the assets and liabilities 
entered in the balance sheet, together with the main actuarial assumptions.

thousands of euro
2012 2011

A Variations in the defined-benefit obligations
1. Fair value of obligations at the start of the year  43,190  44,382 
2. Retirement benefit costs relating to current employment  574  599 

3. Interest expenses  1,841  1,762 

4. Contributions from those taking part in the scheme  149  160 

5. Benefits paid out (2,267) (3,736)

6. Actuarial losses (profits) 4,365 23 

7. Fair value of obligations at the end of the year  47,852  43,190 

B. Variations in assets of the schemes

1. Fair value of assets at the start of the year  41,902  42,645 
2. Yield of the assets  1,439  1,265 

3. Employer contributions  1,931  2,332 

4. Contributions from those taking part in the scheme  149  160 

5. Benefits paid out (2,267) (2,840)

6. Actuarial losses (profits) on the assets 1,274 (1,660)

7. Fair value of assets at the end of the year  44,428  41,902 

C. Reconcilement of the obligations and assets of the schemes

Fair value of bonds on the financed schemes  47,852  43,120 

Assets fair value  44,429  41,903 

Actuarial deficit (surplus) on the financed schemes  3,423  1,217 

Actuarial deficit (surplus) on the non-financed schemes  -  70 

Actuarial losses (profits) not recognized in the balance sheet (8,143) (5,115)

Liabilities (assets) recognized in the balance sheet (4,720) (3,828)

Summary of amounts recognized in the balance sheet

1. Balance sheet assets 5,016 4,394 

2. Balance sheet liabilities 296 566 

3. Balance of liabilities (assets) recognized in the balance sheet (4,720) (3,828)

D. Cost components

Retirement benefit costs relating to current employment 574 599

Interest expenses 1,842 1,762

Yield of the assets (1,438) (1,265)

Actuarial losses (profits) recorded in the balance sheet 62 189

Total costs recorded in the balance sheet 1,040 1,285

E. Main actuarial assumptions 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

minimum maximum minimum maximum

Discount rate 3.7% 4.7% 3.0% 4.7%

Expected rate of yield of the assets 3.0% 4.7% 3.0% 3.0%

Expected rate of salary increases 2.0% 3.5% 2.5% 3.5%

Inflation rate 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

F. Reconciliation of book values 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Opening balances of assets recognised in the balance sheet 4,394 3,117

Opening balances of liabilities recognised in the balance sheet 566 1,232

F1. Opening balances of Liabilities (Assets) (3,828) (1,884)

F2. Cost booked to the income statement 1,040 1,285

F3. Uses for expenses (1,931) (3,228)

Closing balances of Assets recognised in the balance sheet (5,016) (4,394)

Closing balances of Liabilities recognised in the balance sheet 296 566

F4. Closing balances of Liabilities (Assets) (4,720) (3,828)
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12.4 Provisions for risks and charges – other provisions

The “other provisions” amounting to 10,126 thousands of euro consist of:
-  personnel expenses: The fund includes 3,881 thousands of euro for charges relating to voluntary redundancy incentives, 

seniority prizes to employees, life insurance benefits and the expense specifically allocated to a Solidarity Provision, 
payment of which is directly linked to the Company 2009-2011 Restructuring Plan. This defined benefit fund also falls 
under the scope of application of international standard IAS 19;

-  provisions for legal expenses amounting to 5,163 thousands of euro; 
-  provisions for taxation amounted to 1,082,000 thousands of euro.     
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You can see below the information relating to the variations in the Solidarity Fund during the financial period, the reconcilement 
between the relevant current value and the liabilities entered in the balance sheet, together with the main actuarial assumptions.

thousands of euro

2012 2011

A Variations in the defined-benefit obligations

1. Fair value of obligations at the start of the year  3,748  5,761 

2. Provision 0 6 

3. Interest expenses 85 161 

4. Contributions from those taking part in the scheme

5. Benefits paid out (976) (1,465)

6. Actuarial losses (profits) on the assets 120 (715)

7. Fair value of assets at the end of the year  2,977  3,748 

B. Variations in assets of the schemes

1. Fair value of assets at the start of the year

2. Yield of the assets

3. Employer contributions 976 1,465 

4. Contributions from those taking part in the scheme

5. Benefits paid out (976) (1,465)

6. Perdite (utili) attuariali sulle attività

7. Fair value delle attività a fine di anno

C. Reconcilement of the obligations and assets of the schemes

Fair value of bonds on the financed schemes 2,977 3,748 

Assets fair value

Actuarial deficit (surplus) on the financed schemes 2,977 3,748 

Actuarial deficit (surplus) on the non-financed schemes

Actuarial losses (profits) not recognized in the balance sheet

Liabilities (assets) recognized in the balance sheet 2,977 3,748 

Summary of amounts recognized in the balance sheet

1. Balance sheet assets

2. Balance sheet liabilities 2,977 3,748 

3. Balance of liabilities (assets) recognized in the balance sheet 2,977 3,748 

D. Cost components

Retirement benefit costs relating to past employment 0 7 

Interest expenses 85 161 

Yield of the assets

Actuarial losses (profits) recorded in the balance sheet 120 (715)

Total costs recorded in the balance sheet 205 (547)

E. Main actuarial assumptions 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

minimum maximum minimum maximum

Discount rate 1.9% 2.8% 3.0% 3.3%

Expected rate of yield of the assets N/A N/A N/A N/A

Expected rate of salary increases N/A N/A N/A N/A

Inflation rate 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

F. Reconciliation of book values 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Opening balances of assets recognised in the balance sheet

Opening balances of liabilities recognised in the balance sheet 3,748 5,761

F1. Opening balances of Liabilities (Assets) 3,748 5,761

F2. Cost booked to the income statement 205 (547)

F3. Uses for expenses (976) (1,465)

Closing balances of Assets recognised in the balance sheet

Closing balances of Liabilities recognised in the balance sheet 2,977 3,748

F4. Closing balances of Liabilities (Assets) 2,977 3,748
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Section 14 – Corporate capital - items 130, 150, 160, 170, 180, 190 and 200  

14.1 “Share capital” and “Treasury shares”: breakdown
The share capital is fully subscribed and paid up and amounts to e 450,210,000 consisting of 174,500,000 ordinary 
shares with a nominal unit value of e 2.58. The company does not own any of its own shares.

14.2  Equity - Number of shares: annual change

Items/Types Ordinary Others

A. Shares existing at start of period  174,500,000 

     - fully paid up  174,500,000 

     - not fully paid up

A.1 Treasury shares ( - )

A.2. Shares in circulation: opening balance  174,500,000 

B. Increases

B.1 New issues

       - against payment:

          - company merger operations

          - bond conversion

          - exercise of warrants

          - others

       - free of charge:

          - for employees

          - for directors

          - others

B.2 Sale of treasury shares

B.3 Other changes

C. Decreases

C.1 Cancelled

C.2 Purchase of treasury shares

C.3 Corporate sale transactions

C.4 Other changes

D. Shares in circulation: closing balance  174,500,000 

D.1 Treasury shares ( + )

D.2. Shares existing at end of period  174,500,000 

     - fully paid up  174,500,000 

     - not fully paid up
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14.4 Profit reserves: other information
thousands of euro

Legal reserve Other reserves

A. Opening balances  76,509 591,307

B. Increases

C. Decreases  33,002 

Destination loss 2011  33,002 

D. Closing balances  76,509  558,305

Pursuant to article 2430 of the Italian Civil Code, the legal reserve is formed of at least one-twentieth of the net annual 
profits until the reserve reaches one fifth of the share capital.

Other information 

1. Guarantees given and commitments 
thousands of euro

Transactions
 Amount 

31/12/2012
 Amount 

31/12/2011

1)  Financial guarantees  365,399  423,665 

     a) Banks  253,251  293,073 

     b) Customers  112,148  130,592 

2)  Commercial guarantees

     a) Banks

     b) Customers

3)  Irrevocable commitments to grant finance  565,178  613,028 

     a) Banks

           i) certain to be called on

           ii) not certain to be called on

     b) Customers  565,178  613,028 

           i) certain to be called on  565,178  613,028 

           ii) not certain to be called on

4)  Commitments underlying credit derivatives: sales of protection  802,627  802,627 

5) Assets pledged in guarantee of third-party obligations

6) Other commitments

Total  1,733,204  1,839,320 
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2. Assets lodged as surety for own liabilities and commitments
thousands of euro

Portfolios
 Amount 

31/12/2012
 Amount 

31/12/2011

1. Financial assets held for trading

2. Financial assets designated at fair value

3. Financial assets available for sale  477,699  22,595 

4. Financial assets held to maturity  214,986  253,597 

5. Due from banks  5,804,528  2,757,395 

6. Due from customers  22,352,772  11,722,544 

7. Property plant and equipment

4. Management and broking for customer accounts
thousands of euro

Type of services Amount

1. Execution of orders on behalf of the clientele

     a) Purchases

          1. settled

          2. not settled

     b) Sales

          1. settled

          2. not settled

2. Portfolio management

     a) individual

     b) collective

3. Custody and administration of securities  32,749,890 

     a)third-party securities on deposit: as custodian bank 

      (excluding portfolio management schemes)

                  1. securities issued by consolidated companies

                  2. other securities

     b) other third party securities on deposit (excluding portfolio management schemes): other  10,733,733 

           1. securities issued by consolidated companies 180,000

           2. other securities  10,553,733 

     c) third-party securities deposited with third parties 7,363,225

     d) portfolio securities deposited with third parties  22,016,157 

4. Other transactions
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5. Changes in portfolio adjustments

Information is given below on the reconcilement of the variations which occurred during the period on the portfolio 
adjustments recorded for every class of financial asset. 

thousands of euro

Portfolio adjustments

 TotalFinancial assets 
available for sale

Financial assets held 
to maturity

Due from banks Due from customers

A. Opening balances 256  35,469  35,725 

B. Increases 517 0 517 

B.1 Writedowns  517  517 

C. Decreases 0 95 95 

C.1 Writebacks  95  95 

D. Closing balances 773 35,374 36,147

     

6. Fair value      
     
Please refer to “A.3 Information on fair value” for the analysis of the criteria used to determine the fair value of the 
financial assets and liabilities recorded on the financial statements.
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PART C - COMMENTS ON THE INCOME STATEMENT

Section 1 - Interest - items 10 and 20

1.1 Interest and similar income: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Technical types
Debt 

securities
    Loans

Other 
transactions

Total at
31/12/2012

Total at
31/12/2011

1 Financial assets held for trading

2 Financial assets available for sale  17,788  17,788  17,827 

3 Financial assets held to maturity  16,247  16,247  18,344 

4 Due from banks  63,295  82,827  146,122  127,070 

5 Due from customers  468,090  368,308  836,398  901,360 

6 Financial assets designated at fair value

7 Hedging derivatives 

8 Other assets 

Total  565,420  451,135  1,016,555  1,064,601

1.3 Interest and similar income: other information
thousands of euro

Items 31/12/2012

1.3.1 Interest income on financial assets in foreign currencies 25,891
  

1.4 Interest and similar expenses: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Technical types Payables Securities
Other 

transactions
Total at

31/12/2012
Total at

31/12/2011

1. Amounts due to central banks (142,533) (142,533) (108,225)

2. Due to banks (196,536) (196,536) (238,201)

3. Due to customers (54,218) (54,218) (81,776)

4. Securities in issue (204,826) (204,826) (381,924)

5. Financial liabilities held for trading

6.
Financial liabilities designated at fair 
value

7. Other liabilities and provisions (521)

8. Hedging derivatives (335,342) (335,342) (178,784)

Total (393,287) (204,826) (335,342) (933,455) (989,431)
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1.5 Interest and similar expenses: differentials on hedging transactions       
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

A. Positive differentials on hedging transactions: 135,866 439,439

B. Negative differentials on on hedging transactions: 471,208 618,223

C. Balance (A-B) (335,342) (178,784)

1.6 Interest and similar expenses: other information
thousands of euro

Items 31/12/2012

1.6.1 Interest paid on liabilities in foreign currency (25,685)

Sezione 2 - Fees and commissions - items 40 and 50

2.1 Fee and commission income: breakdown
thousands of euro

Type of services/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2012
Total at

31/12/2011

 a) guarantees given  709  1,112 

 b) credit derivatives 

 c) management, broking and consulting services:  3,869  4,544 

1. financial instrument trading

2. foreign exchange trading

3. portfolio management

3.1. individual

3.2 collective

4. custody and administration of securities  3,511  3,986 

5. depositary bank

6. placing of securities

7. collection of the data receipt and transmission activities

8. advisory services  358  558 

8.1 in relation to investments

8.2 in relation to financial structure  358  558 

9. distribution of third-party services

9.1. portfolio management

9.1.1. individual

9.1.2. collective

9.2. insurance products

9.3. other products

 d) collection and payment services

 e) servicing of securitisation transactions

 f) services for factoring transactions

 g) management of rate- and tax-collection agencies

 h) multilateral trading facilities management

 i) keeping and management of current accounts

 j) other services  7,089  9,237 

Total  11,667  14,893
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2.3 Fee and commission expenses: breakdown
thousands of euro

Services/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2012
Total at

31/12/2011

  a) guarantees received (13,756) (3,245)

  b) credit derivatives 

  c) management and brokerage services: (532) (670)

1. financial instrument trading

2. foreign exchange trading

3. portfolio management

3.1 own

3.2 for third parties

4. custody and administration of securities (532) (670)

5. placing of financial instruments

6. external marketing of financial instruments, products and services

  d) collection and payment services (466) (313)

  e) other services (10,848) (708)

Total (25,602) (4,936)

Section 3 - Dividend and similar income - item 70

3.1 Dividend and similar income: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Income

Total at
31/12/2012

Total at
31/12/2011

dividend
income from 

Mutual Fund shares
dividend

income from 
Mutual Fund shares

A. Financial assets held for trading 

B. Financial assets available for sale  2,359 

C. Financial assets designated at fair value

D. Equity investments  2,627 

Total 0  4,986 
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Section 4 - Net trading gains (losses) - item 80

4.1 Net trading gains (losses): breakdown
thousands of euro

Transactions/Income components
Capital gains 

(A)
Trading profits 

(B)
Capital losses 

(C)
Trading losses 

(D)

Net income 
(losses) [(A+B) - 

(C+D)]

1. Financial assets for trading

1.1 Debt securities

1.2 Equity securities

1.3 Mutual fund shares

1.4 Loans

1.5 Others

2. Financial liabilities for trading

2.1 Debt securities

2.2 Payables

2.3 Others

3. Other financial assets and liabilities: foreign 
exchange differences

X X X X  24 

4. Derivative instruments  1,561,192  1,245,608  1,515,885  1,268,306  22,247 

4.1 Financial derivatives:  1,557,642  1,245,608  1,513,718  1,268,306  20,864 

- on debt securities and interest rates  1,555,605  1,244,827  1,511,682  1,267,525  21,225 

- on equity securities and stock indices  2,037  781  2,036  781 1

- on currencies and gold x x x x (362)

- Others

4.2 Credit derivatives  3,550  2,167  1,383 

Total  1,561,192  1,245,608  1,515,885  1,268,306  22,271

Section 5 - Net hedging gains (losses) - item 90

5.1 Net hedging gains (losses): breakdown
thousands of euro

Income components/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2012
Total at

31/12/2011

A. Income relating to:

A.1 Fair value hedging derivatives

A.2 Hedged financial assets (fair value)  800,131  954,246 

A.3 Hedged financial liabilities (fair value) 9,851

A.4 Cash flow hedging derivatives

A.5 Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies

Total hedging income (A) 800,131 964,097

B. Expenses relating to:

B.1 Fair value hedging derivatives 760,569 963,867

B.2 Hedged financial assets (fair value) 

B.3 Hedged financial liabilities (fair value) 39,551

B.4 Cash flow hedging derivatives 

B.5 Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies

Total hedging expenses (B)  800,120  963,867 

C. Gains less losses on hedging (A – B)  11  230
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Section 6 - Gains (losses) from sale/repurchase - item 100

6.1  Gains (Losses) from sale/repurchase: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Income components

Total at
31/12/2012

Total at
31/12/2011

Gains Losses Net result Gains Losses Net result

Financial assets

1. Due from banks 0  31,150 (31,150) 6  8,370 (8,364)

2. Due from customers 666 367  299 314 20,876 (20,562)

3. Financial assets available for sale 12 0  12 6 63 (57)

   3.1 Debt securities 12  12 6  6 

   3.2 Equity securities 63 (63)

   3.3 Mutual fund shares

   3.4 Loans

4. Financial assets held to maturity

Total assets  678  31,517 (30,839)  326  29,309 (28,983)

Financial liabilities

1. Due to banks

2. Due to customers

3. Securities in issue 1,213 1,213 12,914 12,914

Total liabilities  1,213 0 1,213  12,914 0  12,914

Financial assets
The net loss of e 31 million stems mainly from the early repayment of securities issued by the parent company  Dexia 
Credit Local Sa for a total nominal value of e 1,750 million 

Financial liabilities
During the year 2012 it was decided to repurchase the securities issued for a total nominal value of 201 million euros. 
The difference between the repurchase price and the carrying value of these liabilities in the financial statements and the 
result of the cancellation of any hedging transactions amounted to 1,2 million recognized in the income statement for 
the same period.
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Section 8 - Net adjustments for impairment - item 130

8.1 Net adjustments for impairment: breakdown
thousands of euro

Transactions/Income 
components

Writedowns   Writebacks        
Total at

31/12/2012
Total at

31/12/2011

Specific
Of portfolio

Specific Of portfolio

Writeoffs Others A B A B

A. Due from banks (517) 157 (360) 4 

    - Loans (517) 157 (360) 4 

    - Debt securities

B. Due from customers (13,746) (2,559)  2,654 (13,651) (1,198)

         Impaired due purchased

                    - Loans

                    - Debt securities

         Other due (13,746) (2,559) 2,654 (13,651) (1,198)

                    - Loans (13,746) 2,654 (11,092) (267)

                    - Debt securities (2,559) (2,559) (931)

C. Total (13,746) (3,076) 2,811 (14,011) (1,194)

Key
A = from interest
B = other writebacks

8.4 Net adjustments for impairment of other assets: breakdown  
thousands of euro

Transactions/Income 
components

Writedowns   Writebacks        
Total at

31/12/2012
Total at

31/12/2011

Specific
Of portfolio

Specific Of portfolio

Writeoffs Others A B A B

A. Guarantees issued 0 (1,905)

B. Credit derivatives

C. Commitments to disburse 
funds

D. Other operations

E. Total 0 (1,905)

Key
A = from interest
B = other writebacks
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Section 9 - Administrative expenses - item 150

9.1 Personnel expenses: breakdown
thousands of euro

Type of expense/Amount
Total at

31/12/2012
Total at

31/12/2011

 1) Employees (19,754) (23,487)

a) wages and salaries (12,329) (14,479)

b) social security contributions (3,572) (4,141)

c) retirement indemnities (761) (922)

d) other pension costs

e) provisions for severance indemnities (75) (115)

f) provision for retirement benefits and similar benefits: (1,040) (1,285)

   – defined contribution

   – defined benefits (1,040) (1,285)

g) payments to complementary external pension funds: (359) (394)

   – defined contribution

   – defined benefits (359) (394)

h) costs pursuant to payment agreements based on own equity instruments

i) other employee benefits (1,618) (2,151)

 2) Other personnel working

 3) Directors and statutory auditors (1,046) (1,187)

 4) Retired personnel

 5) Recovery of expenses for employees seconded to other companies

 6) Recovery of expenses for others’ employees seconded to the company (414) (487)

Total (21,214) (25,161)

9.2 Average number of employees by category

Employees:

        a) managers 28

        b) middle managers 110

            - of which: of 3rd and 4th level 63

        c) remaining employees 63

Other personnel
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9.3 Company defined-benefit pension funds: total costs
thousands of euro

  31/12/2012   31/12/2011

a) Retirement benefit costs 574 (599)

b) Interest expenses 1,842 (1,762)

c) Yield of the assets (1,438) 1,265 

d) Actuarial losses (gains) recognized in the balance sheet 62 (189)

 Total 1,040 (1,285)

9.4 Other employee benefits
The costs for provisions in the year amounted to 336 thousands of euro. 

This cost also includes the expense specifically allocated to the Solidarity Provisions (205 thousands of euro), for which we 
would refer you to the information supplied in Section 12 “Provisions for risks and charges”.

9.5 Other administrative expenses: breakdown
thousands of euro

Type of expense/Amount 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Maintenance costs on furniture and equipment (3) (3)

Property rent payments (388) (420)

Telephone expenses (219) (241)

Postage and telegraph expenses (33) (36)

Costs for maintenance and updating of software (1,383) (1,219)

Security (190) (164)

Car leasing instalments (172) (173)

Energy, heating and water expenses (308) (252)

Maintenance costs on company-owned buildings (534) (523)

IT Services (4,691) (4,353)

Stationery and printing (24) (51)

Costs for cleaning premises (276) (247)

Professional fees (3,031) (3,091)

Advertising and public relations (249) (382)

Books, periodicals and information services (92) (88)

Insurance premiums (80) (65)

Membership fees (550) (594)

Study grants (27) (56)

Cultural and social contributions (28) (60)

Other expenses (534) (613)

Total (12,812) (12,631)

Indirect taxes

–  Imu Tax (721) (298)

–  Flat-rate tax, Decree 601/73

– Other (99) (105)

Total (820) (403)

Total of other administrative expenses (13,630) (13,034)
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Section 10 - Net provisions for risks and charges - item 160

10.1 Net provisions for risks and charges: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Income 
components

Total at
31/12/2012

Total at
31/12/2011

Provisions Utilisation Net result Provisions Utilisation Net result

 A. Risks

Total Risks

 B. Charges

 1. Personnel (292)  39 (253) (513)  1,440  927 

 2. Others  124  124 (4,082) (4,082)

Total Charges (292) 163 (129) (4,595) 1,440 (3,155)

Total Risks and Charges (292) 163 (129) (4,595) 1,440 (3,155)

Section 11 - Net adjustments on property plant and equipment - item 170

11.1 Net adjustments on property plant and equipment: breakdown
thousands of euro

Assets/Income component
Amortization

(a)
Impairment losses 

(b)
Writebacks

(c)
Net result 
(a + b - c)

A. Property plant and equipment

A.1 Company owned (1,023) (1,023)

      - for functional use (1,023) (1,023)

      - for investment 

A.2 Acquired on financial lease

      - for functional use 

      - for investment 

Total (1,023) (1,023)

Section 12 - Net adjustments on intangible assets - item 180

12.1 Net adjustments on intangible assets: breakdown
thousands of euro

Assets/Income component
Amortization

(a)
Impairment losses 

(b)
Writebacks

(c)
Net result 
(a + b - c)

A. Intangible assets

A.1 Company owned (1,764) (1,764)

      - Generated within the company

      - Other (1,764) (1,764)

A.2 Acquired on financial lease

Total (1,764) (1,764)
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Section 13 - Other operating expenses and revenues - item 190

13.1 Other operating expenses: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts 31/12/2012

Other expenses (10)

Total (10)
  

13.2 Other operating revenues: breakdown  
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts 31/12/2012

Rents collected 57

Other income 202

Total 259
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Section 18 - Income tax for the period on continuing operations - item 260 

18.1 Income tax for the period on continuing operations: breakdown
thousands of euro

Component/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2012
Total at

31/12/2011

1. Current taxes ( - ) (11,994) (2,072)

2. Changes in current taxes compared to previous periods ( +/- ) 2,330 

3. Decreases in current taxes for the period ( + )

4. Changes in deferred tax assets ( +/- ) (3,879) (573)

5. Changes in deferred tax liabilities ( +/- ) (128)

6. Taxes for the period (-) (-1+/-2+3+/-4+/-5) (13,671) (2,645)

Current taxes are collected under the tax rules.

The change in current taxes of previous years, amounting to 2,330 thousand euro, is attributable to the lower IRES 
previous years occurred on the deductibility of IRAP and request a refund pursuant to art. 6 of Dl. n. 185/2008 and art. 
2 of Dl. n. 201/2011.

The change in deferred tax assets amounted to 3,879 thousand euro, is due to the negative balance between increases 
and decreases in the period as indicated in Tables 13.3 and 13.4.

18.2 Reconciliation between theoretical tax burden and tax burden according to financial statements
thousands of euro

31/12/2012

Taxable income/variations/taxes ( +/- ) Taxable amount Tax

 Pre-tax profit - Rate (33.07%) 10,297 (3,405)

 Increases in taxes (Rate 27.50%) 34,043 (9,361)

 Decreases in taxes (Rate 27.50%) (10,721) 2,948 

 Greater taxable amount for IRAP (Regional Business Tax) (Rate 5.57%) 36,747 (2,047)

 Increases in taxes (Rate 5.57%) 37,950 (2,114)

 Decreases in taxes (Rate 5.57%) (5,534) 308 

 Taxes for the period (13,671)
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PART D - COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
DETAILED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

thousands of euro

Items Gross amount
Income

tax
Net amount

10. Net Income (Loss) for the period  10,297 (13,671) (3,374)

Other comprehensive income

20. Financial assets available for sale:  70,313 (17,017)  53,296 

    a) changes in fair value  66,845 (15,870)  50,975 

    b) reversal to income statement

        -  impairment losses

        -  profit/losses from disposals

    c) other changes  3,468 (1,147)  2,321 

30. Property plant and equipment

40. Intangible assets

50. Hedge of foreign investments:

    a) changes in fair value

    b) reversal to income statement

    c) other changes

60. Cash flow hedging:  32,987 (10,909)  22,078 

    a) changes in fair value  32,987 (10,909)  22,078 

    b) reversal to income statement

    c) other changes

70. Exchange rate differences: 

    a) changes in fair value

    b) reversal to income statement

    c) other changes

80. Non-current assets held for sale:

    a) changes in fair value

    b) reversal to income statement

    c) other changes

90. Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefits plans

100. Share of valuation reserves related to equity investments:

    a) changes in fair value

    b) reversal to income statement

        -  impairment losses

        -  profits/losses from disposals

    c) other changes

110. Total other income components  103,300 (27,926)  75,374 

120. Comprehensive income (10 + 110)  113,597 (41,597)  72,000

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PART E – COMMENTS ON RISKS AND ASSOCIATED HEDGING 
POLICIES
The information which must be given pursuant to Memorandum n. 263 “New provisions on prudential surveillance for 
banks” issued by the Bank of Italy on 27th December 2006 (Title IV, Chapter I “Information for the public”) is given at 
the website of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. (www.dexia.com). 

SECTION 1 – Credit risk 

Qualitative information

1. General aspects 

The area of operations concentrates on financing investments in the public sector and large infrastructure schemes.

2. Credit risk management policies 
2.1 Organisational aspects 
The credit risk is the risk of loss linked to the counterparts’ incapacity to honour their financial obligations. The factors 
which influence the level of this risk are: 
- the counterparty’s creditworthiness, measured by an internal rating (determined on the basis of suitable models) or a 

scoring system;
- the customer segment concerned (public sector, corporate sector, project finance, banking and financial sector, etc.);
- the economic, legal and financial context in which the counterpart operates;
- the type of operation carried out; 
- the duration of the operations; 
- any guarantees (tangible, personal, financial) which back the operation.  

Almost all the existing exposure regards customers of the public sector, with a low risk level and also subject to particular 
controls linked to their public nature.  The credit risks (like the operating, market and liquidity risks) are monitored by the 
Risk Management department divided into three sections – Credit Risk, Operational Risk and Market Risk and Balance 
Sheet Management - which ensure control of the respective risk categories. 

Risk Management has no hierarchical relationship with the Bank’s operating units. The department therefore operates 
absolutely independently from the Front Office structures. 

Specific Committees form an integral part of the internal auditing systems, helping to ensure that the system works 
correctly. 

The Credit Committee’s task is to examine loan proposals of any technical type. The Committee takes decisions relating to 
risks and financial conditions on the basis of proposals made by the competent operational Department and an opinion 
regarding the level of risk provided by the Risk Management Department. 

The Default/Watchlist Committee examines situations falling within the criteria of defaults as established by the Supervisory 
Authorities and by the Dexia Group policies. 
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2.2 Management, measuring and auditing systems 
As regards the methods of management, measuring and auditing, certain guidelines have been fixed at Group level. 

The Group has developed systems of internal annotation (SNI) for the following counterpart types: Corporate, Project 
Finance, the Local Public Sector (SPL - Settore Pubblico Locale) of western Europe, “Public Satellites”, “Private Satellites”, 
Sovereign.
For other counterparts not yet covered by a specific SNI, the ratings are determined on the basis of the so-called “expert 
methods” or by means of a scoring method. 

The internal rating system (IRS) defined on the basis of the most advanced methods (Advanced IRBA) involves: 
- the adoption of internal procedures which allow for the calculations by and historical documentation of the IRSs; 
- the progressive development of an information system (FERMAT) aimed at consolidating - in a common standardised 

form - the information relating to all counterparties (Client Database) and all exposure (Exposure Database) of the 
Group; 

- the adoption of a system for measuring the Bank’s entire risks on the basis of an approach based on its own economic 
resources.  

2.3 Credit risk mitigation techniques  
As regards derivative transactions, the ISDA Master Agreement includes the “Credit Support Annex” (CSA) for the 
majority of banking counterparties. This collateralization agreement minimises credit risk through the periodic (weekly or 
monthly) exchange of margins guaranteeing the net value of the bilateral exposure. 

The forms of real guarantees used are essentially pledges (mainly on securities) and much less frequently mortgages on 
properties. The management of these guarantees is the task of the administrative and legal offices.

The counterparties offering personal guarantees are banks, in the vast majority of cases, and sometimes public local or 
territorial authorities. The credit risk of these counterparties is assessed on the basis of the external and internal ratings 
attributed to them. 

The purchase of credit derivatives is not normally used as a mitigation technique, although it is permissible. 

Since financing activities are mainly aimed at the domestic public sector, the majority of guarantees backing loans consist 
of the issue of payment notes or guarantees provided by the Italian State (of a contractual nature or arising from 
legislation). 

2.4 Impaired financial assets 
The Group has issued specific rules governing the treatment of non-performing loans and actions to be taken in order to 
manage such loans so as to ensure that the procedures aimed at a positive outcome are implemented correctly. 

These rules define the general guidelines within which the individual organisational units treat this subject within the 
scope of their own responsibilities. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The various conditions of each non-performing loan have been classified within the scope of an internal watchlist 
consisting of four categories with an ascending scale of seriousness: 
- monitored loans;
- pre-problem loans;
- problem loans;
- non performing loans. 

The default/watchlist Committee is responsible for examining the non-performing positions and proposes: 
- their classification in one of the four categories;
- the adoption of specific writedowns on the loans; 
- the adoption of statistical or flat-rate adjustments which reflect the Expected Loss. 

Transactions which previously included in the default/watchlist categories are re-classified as “performing” when the 
counterparty emerges from a situation of economic/financial difficulty and returns to making all payments regularly as 
before.  

QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION
A. Credit quality

A.1 Impaired and performing loan exposure: amounts, write-downs, trends, economic and 
geographical distribution

A.1.1 Distribution of loan exposure by portfolio and credit quality (book values)

thousands of euro

Portfolio/quality
Non-

performing 
loans

Problem 
loans

Restructured 
loans

Past due 
loans 

Other assets  Total

1. Financial assets held for trading 6,415,796 6,415,796

2. Financial assets available for sale 505,823 505,823

3. Financial assets held to maturity 281,128 281,128

4. Due from banks 13,042,438 13,042,438

5. Due from customers 25,490 28,194,960 28,220,450

6. Financial assets designated at fair value

7. Non-current assets held for sale

8. Hedging derivatives 540,946 540,946

Total at 31/12/2012 25,490 48,981,091 49,006,581

Total at 31/12/2011 786 48,575,995 48,576,781
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A.1.2 Distribution of loan exposure according to portfolio and creditworthiness (gross and net values)
thousands of euro

Portfolio/quality
Impaired assets Performing

Total (net 
exposure)

Gross 
exposure

Specific 
writedowns

Net 
exposure

Gross 
exposure

Portfolio 
writedowns

Net 
exposure

1. Financial assets held for trading  6,415,796  6,415,796 

2. Financial assets available for sale  505,823  505,823  505,823 

3. Financial assets held to maturity  281,128  281,128  281,128 

4. Due from banks  13,043,211  773  13,042,438  13,042,438 

5. Due from customers  46,021  20,531  25,490  28,230,334  35,374  28,194,960  28,220,450 

6. Financial assets designated at fair 
value

7. Non-current assets held for sale

8. Hedging derivatives  540,946  540,946 

Total at 31/12/2012 46,021 20,531 25,490 42,060,496 36,147 48,981,091 49,006,581

Total at 31/12/2011 7,570 6,784 786 42,576,735 35,725 48,575,995 48,576,781

A.1.3 Cash and off balance sheet loan exposure to banks: gross and net amounts
thousands of euro

Type of exposure/Amounts
Gross 

exposure
Specific 

adjustments
Portfolio 

adjustments
Net 

exposure

A. CASH EXPOSURE

 a) Non-performing loans  x 

 b) Problem loans  x 

 c) Restructured loans  x 

 d) Past due loans  x 

 e) Other assets   13,043,211  x  773  13,042,438 

 Total A  13,043,211  773  13,042,438 

B. OFF-BALANCE-SHEET EXPOSURE

 a) Impaired  x 

 b) Others  1,149,409  x  1,149,409 

 Total B  1,149,409  1,149,409 

 Total A+B  14,192,620 0  773  14,191,847 
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A.1.6 Cash and off-balance-sheet loan exposure to customers: gross and net amounts
thousands of euro

Type of exposure/Amounts Gross exposure
Specific 

adjustments
Portfolio 

adjustments
Net exposure

A. CASH EXPOSURE

 a) Non-performing loans  46,021  20,531  x  25,490 

 b) Problem loans  x 

 c) Restructured loans  x 

 d) Past due loans  x 

 f) Other assets   29,017,285  x  35,374  28,981,911 

 TOTAL  A  29,063,306  20,531  35,374  29,007,401 

 B. OFF-BALANCE-SHEET EXPOSURE

 a) Impaired  3,633  x  3,633 

 b) Others  2,137,110  x  2,137,110 

 TOTAL B  2,140,743  2,140,743 

A.1.7 Cash loan exposure to customers: trend of gross impaired positions
thousands of euro

Reasons/Categories
Non-performing 

loans
Problem loans

Restructured 
loans

Past due loans 

A. Gross initial exposure  7,570 

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized

B. Increases 38,451

B.1 transfers from performing loan exposure 38,451

B.2 transfers of impaired loans from other categories

B.3 other increases

C. Decreases 0

C.1 transfers to performing loan exposure

C.2 writeoffs

C.3 collections

C.4 disposals

C.5 transfers of impaired loans to other categories

C.6 other decreases

D. Gross closing exposure  46,021 

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized
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A.1.8 Cash loan exposure to customers: trend of total adjustments
thousands of euro

Reasons/Categories
Non-performing 

loans
Problem loans

Restructured 
loans

Past due loans

A. Total initial adjustments  6,784 
- of which: loans sold but not derecognized

B. Increases 13,747 
B.1 writedowns 13,747

B.1 bis losses on disposal

B.2 transfers of impaired loans from other categories

B.3 other increases

C. Decreases
C.1 writebacks from valuations

C.2 writebacks from collections

C.2 bis gains on disposal

C.3 writeoffs

C.4 transfers of impaired loans to other categories

C.5 other decreases

D. Total final adjustments  20,531 
- of which: loans sold but not derecognized

A.2 Classification of exposure according to external and internal ratings
A.2.1 Distribution of cash and off-balance-sheet loan exposure according to external ratings

thousands of euro

Exposure
External rating classes Without 

rating
 Total 

 class 1  class 2  class 3  class 4  class 5  class 6 
A. Cash exposure  112,249  6,304,635  28,838,975  211,335 866,541 139 5,715,965  42,049,839 
B. Derivatives  664,610  117,856  928,533 154,032 57,209 4,506  432,829  2,359,575 
B.1 Financial derivatives 664,610 117,856 861,092 154,032 57,209 4,506  432,829  2,292,134 

B.2 Credit derivatives 67,441  67,441 

C. Guarantees given 183,447 69,804  112,148  365,399 
D. Commitments to 
disburse funds

 368,169 197,009  565,178 

E. Other 606,410 606,410
Total  776,859  6,422,491  30,925,534  435,171  923,750  4,645 6,457,951 45,946,401

The exposure considered is that of the financial statements included in the tables above A.1.3 and A.1.6. The external 
rating classes adopted to complete the table are those used by Standard&Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch. Given that several 
external ratings are assigned, the criteria adopted in making the choice is that established by the Bank of Italy, namely 
where there are two ratings, the worst is used, where there are three ratings the two best are identified, and, if these 
differ, the worse of the two is chosen. In order to breakdown according to ratings classes, a summary table has been used 
to convert the classification envisaged by the various different ratings companies to the credit standing classes.

A.2.2  Distribution of cash and off-balance-sheet exposure according to internal ratings
thousands of euro

Exposure
 Classi di rating interni Without 

rating
 Total 

 AAA / AA-  A+ / A-  BBB+/BBB-  BB+/B-  D1 / D2 
A. Cash exposure  3,276,319  15,989,071  17,714,712  5,025,632  42,958  1,147  42,049,839 
B. Derivatives  738,224  852,736  505,792  259,190 3,633 0  2,359,575 
B.1 Financial derivatives  735,897  852,736  440,678  259,190  3,633  2,292,134 

B.2 Credit derivatives  2,327  65,114  67,441 

C. Guarantees given  2,830  304,792  57,777  365,399 
D. Commitments to disburse 
funds

 77,222  268,396  135,997  83,563  565,178 

E. Other  606,410  606,410
Total  4,091,765  17,397,033  19,267,703  5,426,162  46,591 1,147 45,946,401
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A.3 Distribution of secured loans according to type of guarantee
A.3.1 Secured loan exposure to banks

thousands of euro
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1 Secured cash loan 
exposure:  5,154,424  5,154,424  5,154,424 

1.1 fully secured  5,154,424  5,154,424  5,154,424 

     - of which impaired

1.2 partially secured

     - of which impaired

2. Secured off-
balance sheet loan 
exposure:

 500,000  250,000  250,000 

2.1 fully secured

     - of which impaired

2.2 partially secured  500,000  250,000  250,000 
     - of which impaired

A.3.2 Secured loan exposure to customers
thousands of euro
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1 Secured cash loan 
exposure:  2,391,070  9,242 16,665  55,313  118,216  1,420,877 400,920  207,286  2,228,519 

1.1 fully secured  2,098,541  6,550  3,555  54,909  118,216  1,420,877 300,920  193,514  2,098,541 

     - of which impaired

1.2 partially secured  292,529  2,692 13,110  404 100,000  13,772  129,978 

     - of which impaired

2. Secured off-
balance sheet loan 
exposure:

 60,516  25,159 21,755  2,447  49,361 

2.1 fully secured  12,111  4  9,659  2,447  12,110 

     - of which impaired

2.2 partially secured  48,405  25,155 12,096  37,251 
     - of which impaired



134

B. Distribution and concentration of loan exposure
B.1 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet customer loan exposure according to sector (book value)

thousands of euro

Exposure/
Counterparties

Governments Other public bodies Financial companies
Insurance 
companies

Non-financial companies Other subjects
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 A. Cash 
exposure 

 A.1 Non-
performing loans 

 x  139  79  x  6,389  x  x  25,351  14,063  x  x 

 A.2 Problem 
loans 

 x  x  x  x  x  x 

 A.3 
Restructured 
loans 

 x  x  x  x  x  x 

 A.4 Past due 
loans 

 x  x  x  x  x  x 

 A.5 Other 
exposure 

 8,502,722  x  3,531  16,259,451  x  25,785  1,904,153  x  1,350  x  2,314,212  x  4,707  1,373  x  1 

 Total  A  8,502,722 0  3,531  16,259,590  79  25,785  1,904,153  6,389  1,350 0 0 0  2,339,563  14,063  4,707  1,373 0  1 

 B. "Off-
balance sheet" 
loans 

 B.1 Non-
performing loans 

 x  x  x  x  3,633  x  x 

 B.2 Problem 
loans 

 x  x  x  x  x  x 

 B.3 Other 
impaired assets 

 x  x  x  x  x  x 

 B.4 Other 
exposure 

 861,498  x  614,327  x  280,068  x  x  381,217  x  x 

Total   B 861,498 0 0 614,327 0 0 280,068 0 0 0 0 0 384,850 0 0 0 0 0

Total (A+B) 
31/12/2012

9,364,220 0 3,531 16,873,917 79 25,785 2,184,221 6,389 1,350 0 0 0 2,724,413 14,063 4,707 1,373 0 1

Total (A+B) 
31/12/2011

 9,349,704 0 197 17,750,971 71 27,872 2,144,924 5,750 1,908 0 0 0 3,064,142 500 4,755 649 0 2
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B.2 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet customer loan exposure according to area (book value)
thousands of euro

Exposure/
Geographical area

Italy
Other European 

countries
America Asia Rest of the world

Net exp.
Total 

adjustments
Net exp.

Total 
adjustments

Net 
exp.

Total 
adjustments

Net 
exp.

Total 
adjustments

Net 
exp.

Total 
adjustments

 A. Cash exposure 

 A.1 Non-performing 
loans 

 25,490  14,142  -    6,389 

 A.2 Problem loans 

 A.3 Restructured loans 

 A.4 Past due loans 

 A.5 Other exposure  28,519,851  35,184  462,060  190 

 Total A  28,545,341  49,326  462,060  6,579 0 0 0 0 0 0

 B. "Off-balance 
sheet" loans 

 B.1 Non-performing 
loans 

 3,633 

 B.2 Problem loans 

 B.3 Other impaired 
assets 

 B.4 Other exposure  1,954,647  170,773  11,690 

 Total B  1,958,280 0  170,773 0  11,690 0 0 0 0 0

 Total (A+B)
 31/12/2012

 30,503,621  49,326  632,833  6,579  11,690 0 0 0 0 0

 Total (A+B)
 31/12/2011

 31,859,365  36,327  705,822  5,926  1,882 0 0 0 0 0

Breakdown according to geographic area of relations with customers residing in Italy

thousands of euro

Exposure/
Geographical area

North West Italy North East Italy Central Italy Italy - South and Island

Net exp.
Total 

adjustments
Net exp.

Total 
adjustments

Net exp.
Total 

adjustments
Net exp.

Total 
adjustments

 A. Cash exposure 

 A.1 Non-performing loans  25,351  13,100 0 8  139  1,034 

 A.2 Problem loans 

 A.3 Restructured loans 

 A.4 Past due loans 

 A.5 Other exposure  7,105,209  11,404  2,951,545  5,386  13,931,292  11,123  4,531,805  7,271 

 Total   7,130,560  24,504  2,951,545  5,386  13,931,292  11,131  4,531,944  8,305 
 B. "Off-balance
 sheet" loans 
 B.1 Non-performing loans  3,633 

 B.2 Problem loans 

 B.3 Other impaired assets 

 B.4 Other exposure  460,443  121,710  1,220,192  152,302 

 Total  464,076 0  121,710 0  1,220,192 0  152,302 0

 Total  (A+B) 31/12/2012  7,594,636  24,504  3,073,255  5,386  15,151,484  11,131  4,684,246  8,305 
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B.3 Distribution of on and off-balance sheet bank loan exposure according to area (book value)
thousands of euro

Exposure/
Geographical 
area

Italy
Other European 

countries
America Asia Rest of the world

Net exp.
Total 

adjustments
Net exp.

Total 
adjustments

Net exp.
Total 

adjustments
Net 
exp.

Total 
adjustments

Net 
exp.

Total 
adjustments

 A. Cash exposure 

 A.1 Non-
performing loans 

 

 A.2 Problem loans 

 A.3 Restructured 
loans 

 A.4 Past due loans 

 A.5 Other exposure  686,016  717  12,342,785  56  524  13,113 

 Total A  686,016  717  12,342,785  56  524 0  13,113 0 0 0

 B. "Off-balance 
sheet" loans 

 B.1 Non-performing 
loans 

 B.2 Problem loans 

 B.3 Other impaired 
assets 

 B.4 Other exposure  383,155  766,254 

 Total   B 383,155 0 766,254 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

 Total (A+B) 
31/12/2012

1,069,171 717 13,109,039 56 524 0 13,113 0 0 0

 Total (A+B) 
31/12/2011

2,249,902 226 11,119,543 30 121,679 0 15,508 0 0 0

Breakdown according to geographic area of relations with banks residing in Italy

thousands of euro

Exposure/Geographical area

North West Italy North East Italy Central Italy Italy - South and Island

Net exp.
Total 

adjustments
Net exp.

Total 
adjustments

Net exp.
Total 

adjustments
Net exp.

Total 
adjustments

 A. Cash exposure 

 A.1 Non-performing loans    

 A.2 Problem loans 

 A.3 Restructured loans 

 A.4 Past due loans 

 A.5 Other exposure  450,959  235,057  717 

 Total   450,959 0 0 0  235,057  717 0 0

 B. "Off-balance sheet" loans 

 B.1 Non-performing loans 

 B.2 Problem loans 

 B.3 Other impaired assets 

 B.4 Other exposure  48,233  16,546  318,376 

 Total  48,233 0  16,546 0  318,376 0 0 0

 Total (A+B) 31/12/2012  499,192 0  16,546 0  553,433  717 0 0
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B.4 Significant risks

The information in relation to Major Risks is provided considering the changes made to prudential regulations on risk 
concentration.

a) Exposure  40,144,467 thousands of euro

b) Weighted  3,163,665  thousands of euro

c) Number  33 

C. SECURITISATION AND ASSET DISPOSAL
C.1 Securitisation transactions

Qualitative information
The Bank organised three securitisation operations pursuant to Italian Law no. 130/1999, which were concluded in 2004, 
2005 and 2008. In organising these securitisation transactions, the bank sought assistance from the leading specialised 
rating Agencies: Moody’s, Standard&Poor’s and FitchRatings.

The transactions were carried out via the special purpose vehicle DCC - Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l. 
(“DCC”), whose share capital is held entirely by Dexia Crediop S.p.A., which issued ABSs representing a portfolio of 
securities issued by Local and District Authorities in Italy. The securitisation transactions are aimed at the medium-to-long 
term refinancing of public-sector bonds held in the Parent Bank’s portfolio. 

The three securitisation transactions, of a traditional type, have the same financial structure and involve hedging against 
the interest rate risks inherent in the separate assets and in the ABSs issued, by agreeing interest rate swaps with Dexia 
Crediop S.p.A..

The class A ABS securities (senior) issued by the vehicle company have the benefit of an unconditioned first-demand 
guarantee granted by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.; pursuant to this guarantee and the consequent obligation to buy back the 
securities and repay the entire ABS in the case of any credit or fiscal event, the assets sold have not been cancelled from 
the Bank’s financial statement, in accordance with the indications of IAS 39, and the securities in question are posted 
on the Italian Parent Bank’s financial statement as well as the corresponding liabilities for the ABSs issued by the vehicle 
company.

In order to minimise management and operational risks, the services of the corporate servicer, paying agent and account 
bank were provided by entities outside the Group.

The information on the securitisation operations in which the Bank underwrote the deed for the issue of all the ABS 
securities are given in Section 3 “Liquidity risk”.

As regards the role of investor, the portfolio as at 31st December 2012 consists entirely of senior securities deriving mainly 
from the securitisation of loans to entities belonging to the Public Administration or from funds deriving from their real 
estate assets.
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QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION
C.1.1 Breakdown of exposure from securitisation transactions according to quality of underlying assets

thousands of euro

Quality of 
underlying assets/
Exposure

Cash exposure Guarantees given Credit lines

Senior Mezzanine Junior Senior Mezzanine Junior Senior Mezzanine Junior
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A. With own 
underlying assets:

a) Impaired

b) Others

B. With underlying 
assets of third 
parties:

1,144,561 1,144,561

a) Impaired

b) Others 1,144,561 1,144,561

C.1.3 Exposure from main “third party” securitisation transactions according to type of securitised asset and 
type of exposure

thousands of euro

Type of 
underlying 
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Exposure

Cash exposure Guarantees given Credit lines
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 A.1  

-  Non-
residential 
mortgage loans

86,404

 A.2  

- Other 1,058,157

 A.3 

 -  Leasing 

 A.4 

- Other assets

 A.5 

- Other non-
performing 
loans
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C.1.4 Breakdown of exposure to securitisation transactions distributed by portfolio and type

thousands of euro

Exposure/
Portfolio

Financial 
assets held for 

trading

Financial 
assets 

fair value 
option

Financial 
assets 

available for 
sale

Financial 
assets held to 

maturity

Loans Total at
31/12/2012

Total at
31/12/2011

1. On-balance 
sheet exposures

- “Senior” 1,144,561 1,144,561  1,266,837 

- “Mezzanine”

- “Junior”

2. Off-balance 
sheet loans

- “Senior”

- “Mezzanine”

- “Junior”

C.1.6 Stakes in special purpose vehicles

Name Registered office % Stake

DCC-Dexia Crediop per la cartolarizzazione S.r.l. Rome 100
  
  

C.1.7 Servicer activities – collection of securitised loans and redemption of securities issued by the vehicle 
company 

thousands of euro

Vehicle
company

Securitised assets 
(end of period)

Receivables collected 
during the period

% of securities redeemed (at the end of the period)

 senior  mezzanine  junior 

impaired performing impaired performing impaired 
assets

performing 
assets

impaired 
assets

performing 
assets

impaired 
assets

performing 
assets

DCC-Dexia 
Crediop per la 
cartolarizzazione 
S.r.l.

3,844,833 315,879 5%

           



140

C.2 Disposal transactions
C.2.1 Financial assets sold but not derecognized: book value and full value    

thousands of euro

Technical types/
Portfolio

Financial 
assets held 
for trading

Financial 
assets 

designated 
at fair value 

through 
profit and 

loss

Financial assets 
available for sale

Financial 
assets held 
to maturity

Due from banks Due from customers Total

 A  B  C  A  B  C  A  B  C  A  B  C  A  B  C  A  B  C 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

A. Cash assets

1. Debt securities  28,059  650,105  5,326,695  6,004,859  9,788,650 

2. Equity 
securities

 x  x  x  x  x  x  x  x  x 

3. Mutual fund 
shares

 x  x  x  x  x  x  x  x  x 

4. Loans

B. Derivatives  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X 

Total 
31/12/2012 

 28,059  650,105  5,326,695  6,004,859 

of which 
impaired

Total 
31/12/2011 

 2,757,395  7,031,255  9,788,650 

of which 
impaired

Key:
A = financial assets sold and fully recognized (book value)
B = financial assets sold and partially recognized (book value)
C = financial assets sold and partially recognized (full value)

 

C.2.2. Financial liabilities for assets sold not derecognized: book value 
thousands of euro

Liabilities/Assets portfolio
Financial 

assets held 
for trading

Financial 
assets 

designated 
at fair value 

through 
profit and 

loss

Financial 
assets 

available 
for sale

Financial 
assets held 
to maturity

Due from 
banks

Due from 
customers

Total

 1. Due to customers 28,059  4,140,615  4,168,674 

   a) fully recognized  28,059  4,140,615  4,168,674 

   b) partially recognized 

 2. Due to banks  651,174  1,102,896 1,754,070

   a) fully recognized  651,174  1,102,896  1,754,070 

   b) partially recognized 

 Total 31/12/2012 28,059 651,174 5,243,511 5,922,744

 Total 31/12/2011 3,192,383  5,898,523 9,090,906

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SECTION 2 – Market risks  

1.2 – Interest rate and price risks - Regulatory trading book  

INTEREST RATE RISK

Qualitative information

A. General aspects
The portfolio is composed exclusively of derivative products.

The short-term derivative is mainly composed of forward rate agreements and overnight indexed swaps. These instruments 
are used by the Cash & Liquidity Management (CLM) Business Line (BL) to hedge the interest rate risk linked to the Euribor 
parameter and generated by the bank’s core business. At the 31.12.2012 there aren’t short-term trading derivative.

The medium-long term derivative is composed almost entirely of derivatives for matched broking (mainly interest rate 
swaps). The underlying operations regard the management of the medium/long term debt, represented by mortgages or 
securities, of the public clientele, and the sale of derivative products to financial and Corporate customers. In both cases, 
the risk is precisely covered by derivatives of the opposite sign traded on the market. Operations in derivatives are also 
carried out to counter-balance the changes in the Credit Value Adjustment (CVA) due to the interest rate trend.

Management and measurement methods of interest rate risk and price risk  
The activities for measuring and controlling the interest rate risk, as well as market risks in general, are the responsibility 
of the Market Risk and Balance Sheet Management sector of the Risks Management department. 

According to the market risk management policy followed by the Dexia Group, the risk profiles are divided according to 
Business Line. This is also the case when banking and trading items are included in the same BL.

If the single BL can generate an interest rate risk which is more than marginal, operating limits on one or more risk 
indicators are imposed and the use is monitored daily. Periodic scenario analyses are also carried out periodically to 
measure the impact on the value of the portfolios monitored, by a series of non-parallel instantaneous shocks in the 
market interest rates.

The interest rate risk indicators measured are the following:
-   Shift sensitivity of fair value; 
-   Value at Risk (VaR). 

The shift sensitivity of fair value quantifies the variation in the portfolio value consequent to parallel and instantaneous 
increases of the market rates curve.
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The VaR is defined as the maximum potential loss caused by possible adverse movement in market rates, with reference 
to a confidence level of 99% and a holding period of 10 working days. 

The internal model is not used to calculate the equity requirements for market risks.  

PRICE RISK
The portfolio is not exposed to price risk. 

QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION
1. Regulatory banking book: distribution according to residual duration (re-pricing date) of financial assets and 
cash liabilities and financial derivatives 
Currency of instruments: Euro thousands of euro

Type/ 
Residual 
term

on demand
Up to

3 months
Between 3

and 6 months

Between 6 
months and 1 

year

Between 1 
year and 5 

years

Between 5
and 10 years

beyond
10 years

unspecified 
term

1. Cash 
assets
1.1 Debt 
securities
- with early
redemption 
option
- others
1.2 Other 
assets
2. Cash 
liabilities
2.1 
Repurchase 
agreements
2.2 Other 
liabilities
3. Financial 
derivatives
3.1 With 
underlying 
security
 - Options
    + long 
positions
    + short 
positions
 - Other 
derivatives
    + long 
positions
    + short 
positions
3.2 Without 
underlying 
security
 - Options
    + long 
positions
    + short 
positions
 - Other 
derivatives
    + long 
positions  568,974  13,038,569  13,180,787  1,421,185  7,158,261  5,109,619  10,722,185 

    + short 
positions  1,210,366  13,489,040  12,369,490  1,439,091  7,152,797  4,917,600  10,510,594 
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3. Regulatory trading book - internal models and other sensitivity analysis methods  

With regards to the short-term horizon, the above derivatives of the CLM classified in the trading portfolio but with the 
managerial purpose of hedging, as of 31 December 2012 showed a shift-sensitivity close to zero. Since the interest rate 
risk indicators are measured within the overall operating limits assigned to the CLM, please see the section dedicated to 
the banking portfolio to obtain a more comprehensive vision of said risk. 

With regard to the broking of medium and long term derivatives at par value carried out by the Public & Wholesale 
Banking business line, a sensitivity shift of € 6,369 for every base point was registered at 31.12.12, against an established 
ceiling of € 10,000. This sensitivity has remained constantly below the limit during 2012. The same BL is responsible 
for the management of the shift sensitivity to the interest rates of the CVA mentioned in the preceding paragraph. This 
management takes place through the trading of derivatives (plain vanilla interest rate swaps), which as of 31.21.2012 
show a sensitivity of -€€ 90,262 for 1 b.p. against sensitivity of the CVA estimated as +€€107,927.

2.2 – Interest rate risk and price risk – Banking book  

INTEREST RATE RISK

QUALITATIVE INFORMATION 

A. General aspects, management and measurement methods of interest rate risk and price risk 
Interest rate exposure on the short-term horizon (two years) in the banking portfolio, generated in particular by re-
fixing of variable rates, is managed by the Cash and Liquidity Management BL (CLM). Medium and long-term exposure, 
generated by a mismatching of fixed rate assets and liabilities (including, most recently, Own Funds) is of a residual nature 
as the new fixed rate production is hedged at the same time as it is recorded by the BL operating on the bank portfolio.
 
As with the regulatory trading book, the market risk monitoring and measurement activities are the responsibility of the 
Market Risk e Balance Sheet Management department, which calculates risk/performance indexes, verifying compliance 
with the operating limits established.

Exposure to the interest rate risk is also subject to regular disclosure and analysis by the Finance Committee with specific 
regard to the operative proposals for opening and closing the rate risk and the alternative investments to conventional 
liabilities at fixed rates represented by Own funds. The management and measurement of the medium and long-term 
interest rate risk takes place on a consolidated level.

For the interest rate risk, derivatives to hedge the fair value or the cash flows are used. The first category, fair value hedge 
derivatives, also includes certain derivatives of the CLM classified in the trading portfolio (see paragraph 2.1). The most 
commonly used instruments are Overnight Indexed Swaps, Forward Rate Agreements and Interest Rate Swaps. 
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B. Fair value hedging activities
Fair value hedging (both micro and macro, the latter by means of the Portfolio Hedge) is used to immunise the market 
value of the underlying financial instruments, protecting them against adverse changes in market rates. 

The instruments underlying the hedging are specific financial assets or liabilities, or  aggregates of similar type, and 
transactions are carried out under market conditions. 

Initial tests are performed on each hedge regarding the applicability of hedge accounting as well as regular tests on their 
effectiveness.

C. Cash flow hedging 
Cash flow hedging is mainly short-term and serves to stabilise cash flows indexed to variable parameters (usually the 
Euribor rates). 
The instruments underlying the hedging are specific financial assets or liabilities, or  aggregates of similar type, and 
transactions are carried out under market conditions. 

Initial tests are performed on each hedge regarding the applicability of hedge accounting as well as regular tests on their 
effectiveness.  

PRICE RISK

QUALITATIVE INFORMATION
 
A. General aspects, management and measurement of price risk 
The banking portfolio is exposed to price risk relative to equity securities classified among assets available for sale. 
Of the above investments, all unlisted, the one relating to the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo is particularly significant. The 
fair value was measured on the basis of a mixed capital-income method. 

B. Price risk hedging activities 
Considering the nature of the equity investments and the book value calculated on the basis of the fair value, no price-
risk hedges have been implemented. 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION

1. Banking book: distribution according to residual duration (re-pricing date) of financial assets and liabilities
Currency of instruments: Euro thousands of euro

Type/ Residual term on demand Up to 3 months
Between 3 and 

6 months

Between 6 
months and 1 

year

Between 1 year 
and 5 years

Between 5 and 
10 years

beyond 10 
years

Unspecified 
term

 1. Cash assets  715,463  11,343,115  13,432,699  1,567,481  4,142,752  2,077,542  5,788,795 

 1.1 Debt securities  467,321  2,490,778  5,296,018  1,026,283  1,954,166  1,161,075  4,068,651 
      - with early 
redemption option 
      - others  467,321  2,490,778  5,296,018  1,026,283  1,954,166  1,161,075  4,068,651 

 1.2 Due from banks  6,559  7,876,850  3,703,069  8,239  69,546  66,325  61,536 
 1.3 Due from 
customers  241,583  975,487  4,433,612  532,959  2,119,040  850,142  1,658,608 

      - c/a 

      - other loans  241,583  975,487  4,433,612  532,959  2,119,040  850,142  1,658,608 
           - with early 
redemption option 
           - others  241,583  975,487  4,433,612  532,959  2,119,040  850,142  1,658,608 

  2. Cash liabilities  817,118  29,517,014  1,159,205  1,644,991  2,756,181  516,776  355,183 

 2.1 Due to customers  12,292  4,568,195  5,200  141,469  7,977 

       - c/a  12,287 

       - other payables  5  4,568,195  5,200  141,469  7,977 
           - with early 
redemption option 
           - others  5  4,568,195  5,200  141,469  7,977 

 2.2 Due to banks  804,826  21,884,896  685,312  96,626  205,815  48 

       - c/a  15,000 

       - other payables  789,826  21,884,896  685,312  96,626  205,815  48 

 2.3 Debt securities  3,063,923  468,693  1,406,896  2,550,366  516,776  347,158 
           - with early 
redemption option 
           - others  3,063,923  468,693  1,406,896  2,550,366  516,776  347,158 

 2.4 Other liabilities  
           - with early 
redemption option 
           - others 
 3. Financial 
derivatives 
 3.1 With underlying 
security 
  - Options 

     + long positions 

     + short positions 

  - Other derivatives 

     + long positions 

     + short positions 
 3.2 Without underlying 
security 
  - Options 

     + long positions 

     + short positions 

  - Other derivatives 

     + long positions  13,044,440  7,340,767  11,075,134  1,941,750  2,504,858  391,980  74,805 

     + short positions  4,476,869  7,103,606  12,235,549  2,466,275  3,553,161  1,540,013  4,963,582 
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2. Banking book: internal models and other methods for analysing sensitivity 
The following indicators and charts show the performance of the indicators during the year: 

(euro) VAR 10 days Shift Sensitivity 100 bps
(absolute values)

31 Dec. 2012 366,655 18,257,471

minimum 33,119 3,220

average 536,494 8,598,443

maximum 2,606,770 25,525,400

For both indicators measured, no excess was recorded during  2012 over and above the operating limits. 

With regards to the measurement of risk and related operating limits on the medium and long-term timeframe, please 
refer to that explained in the section on market risks in the consolidated financial statements.
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2.3 – Exchange rate risk 

QUALITATIVE INFORMATION

A. General aspects, management and measurement of exchange rate risk  
The Group holds financial assets and issues bonds in other than euro currencies with the aim of exploiting favourable 
market opportunities, taking into account the cost of exchange rate risks.

B. Exchange rate risk hedging activities  
Financial assets and liabilities in currencies other than the euro are systematically hedged at the origin against exchange 
rate risks using derivative products (cross currency swaps). 

QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION

1. Distribution according to currency of the assets, liabilities and derivatives
thousands of euro

Items
Currencies

US Dollar Sterling  Yen Canadian Dollar Swiss franc
Other 

currencies

 A. Financial assets 

 A.1 Debt securities  293,829  159,294 

 A.2 Equity securities 

 A.3  Due from banks  523  28  1  41 

 A.4  Due from customers 

 A.5 Other financial assets 

 B Other assets 

 C. Financial liabilities  

 C.1 Due to banks  105,679 

 C.2 Due to customers 

 C.3 Debt securities  8,802 

 C.4 Other financial liabilities 

 D. Other liabilities  

 E. Financial derivatives 

  - Options 

     + long positions 

     + short positions 

  - Other derivatives 

     + long positions  301,417  33,697  8,802 

     + short positions  489,454  192,991 

 Total assets  595,769  193,019  8,803 0  41 0 

 Total liabilities  595,133  192,991  8,802 0 0 0 

 Differences (+/-) 636 28 1 0 41 0 
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2.4 DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
A. Financial derivatives
A.1 Regulatory trading book: notional values at end of period and averages

thousands of euro

Underlying assets/Type of 
derivatives

Total at 31/12/2012 Total at 31/12/2011

Over the counter Central counterparties Over the counter Central counterparties

1. Debt securities and interest rates  50,503,118  62,282,118 

   a) Options  275,434  285,215 

   b) Swap  50,227,684  61,996,903 

   c) Forward

   d) Futures

   e) Others

2. Equity securities and stock indices  110,600  170,650 

   a) Options  27,350 

   b) Swap  110,600  143,300 

   c) Forward

   d) Futures

   e) Others

3. Currencies and gold  458,643  595,825 

   a) Options

   b) Swap  458,643  595,825 

   c) Forward

   d) Futures

   e) Others

4. Goods

5. Other underlying assets

Total  51,072,361  63,048,593 

Averages 50,950,371  61,523,476 
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A.2 Banking book: notional values at end of period and averages

A.2.1  For hedging

thousands of euro

Underlying assets/Type of 
derivatives

Total at 31/12/2012 Total at 31/12/2011

Over the counter Central counterparties Over the counter Central counterparties

1. Debt securities and interest rates  35,811,023  45,737,582 

   a) Options  40,873  42,261 

   b) Swaps  35,770,150  45,695,321 

   c) Forwards

   d) Futures

   e) Others

2. Equity securities and stock indices  1,612,183  2,749,738 

   a) Options  91,072  91,072 

   b) Swaps  1,521,111  2,658,666 

   c) Forwards

   d) Futures

   e) Others

3. Currencies and gold  567,719  645,260 

   a) Options

   b) Swaps  461,926  517,183 

   c) Forwards  105,793  128,077 

   d) Futures

   e) Others

4. Goods

5. Other underlying assets

Total  37,990,925  49,132,580 

Averages  27,979,654  29,755,671 
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A.3 Financial derivatives: gross positive fair value - distribution by products
thousands of euro

Underlying assets/Type of derivatives

Positive fair value

Total at 31/12/2012 Total at 31/12/2011

Over the counter
Central 

counterparties
Over the counter

Central 
counterparties

A. Regulatory trading book  6,327,211  5,360,367 

   a) Options  3,257  1,900 

   b) Interest rate swaps  6,249,179  5,279,773 

   c) Cross currency swaps  74,436  76,359 

   d) Equity swaps  339  2,335 

   e) Forwards

   f) Futures

   g) Others

B. Banking book - hedging  540,947  599,431 

   a) Options  58,204  54,392 

   b) Interest rate swaps  429,831  451,946 

   c) Cross currency swaps  11,600  26,657 

   d) Equity swaps  41,255  66,098 

   e) Forwards  57  338 

   f) Futures

   g) Others

C. Banking book - other derivatives

   a) Options

   b) Interest rate swaps

   c) Cross currency swaps

   d) Equity swaps

   e) Forwards

   f) Futures

   g) Others

Total  6,868,158  5,959,798 
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A.4 Financial derivatives: gross negative fair value - distribution by products
thousands of euro

Underlying assets/Type of derivatives

Negative fair value

Total at 31/12/2012 Total at 31/12/2011

Over the counter
Central 

counterparties
Over the counter

Central 
counterparties

A. Regulatory trading book  6,380,400  5,451,640 

   a) Options  3,263  1,908 

   b) Interest rate swaps  6,300,898  5,369,935 

   c) Cross currency swaps  75,900  77,462 

   d) Equity swaps  339  2,335 

   e) Forwards

   f) Futures

   g) Others

B. Banking book - hedging  4,042,262  3,475,357 

   a) Options  6,096  5,027 

   b) Interest rate swaps  3,941,135  3,346,991 

   c) Cross currency swaps  92,865  98,604 

   d) Equity swaps  2,166  24,735 

   e) Forwards

   f) Futures

   g) Others

C. Banking book - other derivatives

   a) Options

   b) Interest rate swaps

   c) Cross currency swaps

   d) Equity swaps

   e) Forwards

   f) Futures

   g) Others

Total  10,422,662  8,926,997 
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A.5 OTC financial derivatives - regulatory trading book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair 
values by counterparties- contracts not part of offsetting agreements

thousands of euro

Contracts not part
of offsetting agreements

Governments 
and Central 

Banks

Other 
public 
bodies

Banks
Financial 

companies
Insurance 
companies

Non-
financial 

companies

Other 
subjects

 1) Debt securities and interest rates 

     - notional value  3,393,468  2,661,499  113,896  305,475  574,644 

     - positive fair value  593,102  409,005  56,579  78,720  92,656 

     - negative fair value  2,308 

     - future exposure  28,374  24,156  1,665  1,686  6,421 

 2) Equity securities and stock indices 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

     - future exposure 

 3) Currencies and gold 

     - notional value  127,489 

     - positive fair value  33,171 

     - negative fair value 

     - future exposure  9,562 

 4) Other valuables 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

     - future exposure 
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A.6 OTC financial derivatives - regulatory trading book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair 
values by counterparties- contracts part of offsetting agreements

thousands of euro

Contracts part
of offsetting agreements

Governments 
and Central 

Banks

Other 
public 
bodies

Banks
Financial 

companies
Insurance 
companies

Non-
financial 

companies

Other 
subjects

 1) Debt securities and interest rates 

     - notional value  42,337,148  1,116,985 

     - positive fair value  4,859,306  163,068 

     - negative fair value  6,186,160  115,693 

 2) Equity securities and stock indices 

     - notional value  110,600 

     - positive fair value  338,530 

     - negative fair value  338,530 

 3) Currencies and gold 

     - notional value  331,154 

     - positive fair value  41,264 

     - negative fair value  75,900 

 4) Other valuables 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 
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A.7 OTC financial derivatives - banking book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair values by 
counterparties- contracts not part of offsetting agreements

thousands of euro

Contracts not part
of offsetting agreements

Governments 
and Central 

Banks

Other 
public 
bodies

Banks
Financial 

companies
Insurance 
companies

Non-
financial 

companies

Other 
subjects

 1) Debt securities and interest rates 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

     - future exposure 

 2) Equity securities and stock indices 

     - notional value  28,600 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value  138,155 

     - future exposure  2,288 

 3) Currencies and gold 

     - notional value  105,793 

     - positive fair value  57 

     - negative fair value 

     - future exposure  1,058 

 4) Other valuables 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

     - future exposure 
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A.8 OTC financial derivatives - banking book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair values by 
counterparties- contracts part of offsetting agreements

thousands of euro

Contracts part 
of offsetting agreements

Governments 
and Central 

Banks

Other 
public 
bodies

Banks
Financial 

companies
Insurance 
companies

Non-
financial 

companies

Other 
subjects

 1) Debt securities and interest rates 

     - notional value  34,956,097  854,926 

     - positive fair value  388,953  40,877 

     - negative fair value  3,668,193  279,038 

 2) Equity securities and stock indices 

     - notional value  1,522,033  61,550 

     - positive fair value  99,459 

     - negative fair value  1,780  247 

 3) Currencies and gold 

     - notional value  206,676  255,250 

     - positive fair value  81  11,519 

     - negative fair value  92,865 

 4) Other valuables 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 
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A.9 Residual term of OTC financial derivatives: notional values
thousands of euro

Underlying instruments/ Residual term Up to 1 year
Between 1 year and 

5 years
More than 5 years Total

A. Regulatory trading book 9,219,077 14,257,244 27,596,040 51,072,361

A.1 Fin. derivatives on debt securities and 
interest rates

9,194,996 14,109,171 27,198,951 50,503,118

A.2 Fin. derivatives on equity securities and 
stock indices

110,600 110,600

A.3 Fin. derivatives on exchange rates and gold 24,081 37,473 397,089 458,643

A.4 Fin. derivatives on other valuables

B. Banking book  21,554,274  6,716,465  9,720,186 37,990,925

B.1 Fin. derivatives on debt securities and 
interest rates

 20,522,174  5,934,065  9,354,784 35,811,023

B.2 Fin. derivatives on equity securities and 
stock indices

 903,759  708,424 1,612,183

B.3 Fin. derivatives on exchange rates and gold  128,341  73,976  365,402 567,719

B.4 Fin. derivatives on other valuables

Total at 31/12/2012  30,773,351  20,973,709  37,316,226  89,063,286 

Total at 31/12/2011 44,886,559 25,980,593 41,314,021 112,181,173
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B. Credit derivatives
B.1 Credit derivatives notional values at end of period and averages

thousands of euro

Type of transaction
Regulatory trading book Banking portfolio

on a single subject
on several subjects 

(basket)
on a single subject

on several subjects 
(basket)

 1. Protection purchases  802,627 

     a) Credit default products  802,627 

     b) Credit spread products 

     c) Total rate of return swap 

     d) Others 

 Total at 31/12/2012  802,627 

 Averages  802,627 

 Total at 31/12/2011  802,627 

 2. Protection sales  802,627 

     a) Credit default products  802,627 

     b) Credit spread products 

     c) Total rate of return swap 

     d) Others 

 Total at 31/12/2012  802,627 

 Averages  802,627 

 Total at 31/12/2011  802,627 
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B.2 OTC credit derivatives: gross positive fair value - distribution by products
thousands of euro

Portfolios/Types of derivatives
Positive fair value

Total at 31/12/2012 Total at 31/12/2011

 A. Regulatory trading book  67,441  63,902 

     a) Credit default products  67,441  63,902 

     b) Credit spread products 

     c) Total rate of return swap 

     d) Others 

 B. Banking book 

     a) Credit default products 

     b) Credit spread products 

     c) Total rate of return swap 

     d) Others 

 Total  67,441  63,902 
  

  

 
B.3 OTC credit derivatives: gross negative fair value - distribution by products 

thousands of euro

Portfolios/Types of derivatives
Negative fair value

Total at 31/12/2012 Total at 31/12/2011

 A. Regulatory trading book  63,335  61,180 

     a) Credit default products  63,335  61,180 

     b) Credit spread products 

     c) Total rate of return swap 

     d) Others 

 B. Banking book 

     a) Credit default products 

     b) Credit spread products 

     c) Total rate of return swap 

     d) Others 

 Total  63,335  61,180 
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B.4 OTC credit derivatives: gross (positive and negative) fair values by counterparties- contracts not part of 
offsetting agreements      

thousands of euro

Contracts not part of 
offsetting agreements

Governments 
and Central 

Banks

Other public 
bodies

Banks
Financial 

companies
Insurance 
companies

Non-financial 
companies

Other 
subjects

 Regulatory trading 

 1) Purchase of protection 

     - notional value  802,627 

     - positive fair value  67,441 

     - negative fair value 

     - future exposure  80,263 

 2) Sale of protection 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

     - future exposure 

 Banking portfolio 

 1) Purchase of protection 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

 2) Sale of protection 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

B.5 OTC credit derivatives: gross (positive and negative) fair values by counterparties - contracts part of 
offsetting agreements     

thousands of euro

Contracts part of offsetting 
agreements

Governments 
and Central 

Banks

Other public 
bodies

Banks
Financial 

companies
Insurance 
companies

Non-financial 
companies

Other 
subjects

 Regulatory trading 

 1) Purchase of protection 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

 2) Sale of protection 

     - notional value  583,724  218,903 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value  38,654  24,681 

 Banking portfolio 

 1) Purchase of protection 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

 2) Sale of protection 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 
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B.6 Residual term of credit derivatives: notional values
thousands of euro

Underlying instruments/Residual term Up to 1 year
Between 1 year 

and 5 years
More than 5 

years
Total

A. Regulatory trading book 1,605,254 1,605,254

A.1 Credit derivatives with "subordinated" "reference obligation"

A.2 Credit derivatives with "subordinated" "reference obligation" 1,605,254 1,605,254

B. Banking book

B.1 Credit derivatives with "subordinated" "reference obligation"

B.2 Credit derivatives with "subordinated" "reference obligation"

Total at 31/12/2012 1,605,254 1,605,254

Total at 31/12/2011  1,605,254  1,605,254 

C. CREDIT AND FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES
C.1. OTC credit and financial derivatives: net fair values and future exposure by counterparties

thousands of euro

Governments 
and Central 

Banks

Other 
public 
bodies

Banks
Financial 

companies
Insurance 
companies

Non-
financial 

companies

Other 
subjects

 1) Financial derivative bilateral 
agreements 

     - positive fair value  839,521  168,177 

     - negative fair value  5,513,984  372,372 

     - future exposure  301,429  21,315 

     - net counterparty risk  1,140,950  189,492 

 2) Credit derivative bilateral agreements 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

     - future exposure 

     - net counterparty risk 

 3) Cross product agreements 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

     - future exposure 

     - net counterparty risk 
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SECTION 3 – Liquidity risk 

QUALITATIVE INFORMATION

A. General aspects, management and measurement of liquidity risk  

The Bank is structurally exposed to the risk of liquidity as the loans activity is mainly concentrated on a long-term horizon 
against deposits that are characterised by a shorter average duration.

The management of short-term liquidity risk lies with the Business Line Cash & Liquidity Management. With regards to 
the medium/long-term horizon, during approval of the multi-year Financial Plan, the Bank verifies the sustainability of 
the objectives established in terms of volumes and time distribution of loans and deposits with regards to a balanced 
management of forecast liquidity.

Control of the liquidity risk is entrusted to the Market Risk & Balance Sheet Management department within the Risk 
Management Structure and takes place through measurement of the following indexes: 

a) liquidity gap (accumulated balance of cash flow forecast according to maturity); 
b) available reserves (value of assets that can be allocated according to maturity).

The department checks everyday the respect of the following limits system:
- limits on short-term liquidity absolute gap
- limits on reserve to gap ratio on up to six months maturities
- limits to financing access with BCE.

The liquidity risk control system is sustained by early warnings indicators that anticipate eventual liquidity tensions without 
recurring in stress test or in Contingency Funding Plans both at Dexia Group Level and at Dexia Crediop Group level.
 
With regards to maturities beyond six months, the department carries out regular buckets analysis on monthly (up to 
three years) and annual basis (more than three years) of the evolution of the liquidity gap and available reserves. 

The outcome of the above analysis and audits are discussed by the Finance Committee usually once every fifteen days.

The entire government, management and control frame, with particular reference to the limits system, has been updated 
on the 27th of April 2012 after the Board of Directors approval; during the year, according to the Bank of Italy request, 
it has been calculated a first measurement of the Liquidity Coverage Ratio, one of the indicators foreseen by the new 
prudential Basel Committee instructions.
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QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION

1. Distribution by maturity according to residual contractual term of financial assets and liabilities - Currency: Euro
thousands of euro

Item/Time bracket
on 

demand

From more 
than 1 day 
to 7 days

From more 
than 7 
days to
15 days

From more 
than 15 

days to 1 
month

From more 
than 1 

month to 3 
months

Between 
3 and 6 
months

Between 
6 months 
and 1 year

Between 1 
year and 5 

years

More than 5 
years

Unspecified 
term

 Cash assets  74,739  5,570,418  476,465  211,711  2,779,324  4,931,075  949,244  5,967,069  16,684,189 

 A.1 Government securities 14,917 84,541 949,653 3,393,708  x 

 A.2 Other debt securities 1,832 3,253 13,182 4,514 554,765 733,041 202,953 1,761,253 8,057,809  x 

 A.3  Mutual fund shares  2,030  x 

 A.4 Loans  70,877  5,567,165  463,283  207,197  2,224,559  4,183,117  661,750  3,256,163  5,232,671 

       - Banks  1,567  5,118,710  462,978  146,259  2,150,000  3,701,141  8,058  68,029  113,067  x 

       - Customers  69,310  448,455  305  60,938  74,559  481,976  653,692  3,188,134  5,119,604  x 

 Cash liabilities   290,869  4,080,652  444,220  3,901,174  1,302,124  771,287  1,036,680  20,687,748  3,987,822 
 B.1 Deposits and current 
accounts 

 288,752  x 

       - Banks  15,000  x 

       - Customers  273,752  x 

 B.2 Debt securities  15,157 74,891 2,429,162  671,442  182,704  347,498  3,481,358  535,481 

 B.3 Other liabilities   2,117  4,065,495  369,329  1,472,013  630,682  588,583  689,182  17,206,390  3,452,341 

 Off balance sheet 
transactions 
 C.1 Financial derivatives 
with equity swap 

     - long positions  12,703  105,856  11,795  24,824  114,579  821,854  x 

     - short positions  12,703  106,829  11,094  24,100  109,880  791,532  x 

 C.2 Financial derivatives 
without equity swap 

     - long positions  6,252,717  162  9,560  38,998  41,656  90,755 

     - short positions  6,304,125  190  22,125  28,531  140,937  234,696 

 C.3 Deposits and loans to 
be received 

     - long positions  x 

     - short positions  x 

 C.4 Irrevocable 
commitments to disburse 
funds 

     - long positions  188,475  112,906  24,136  237,347  2,314  x 

     - short positions  802,627  x 

 C.5 Financial guarantees 
given 
 C.6 Financial guarantees 
received 
 C.7 Credit derivatives with 
equity swap 

     - long positions 

     - short positions 

 C.8 Credit derivatives 
without equity swap 

     - long positions 

     - short positions  x 
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The item financial derivatives without the exchange of capital includes, in the case of trading derivatives, the related fair 
value in the “on demand” timeframe and, in the case of hedging derivatives, the positive or negative differentials that 
are due in the year following that of reference of the financial statements.

The securitisation transactions in place as of 31 December 2012, originating on internal assets through Tevere Finance 
srl, in which Dexia Crediop (originator bank) signed the deed for the issue, total liabilities issued by the vehicle company 
are as follows:
- 200,678,527 euro, of which 199,635,527 euro Senior Notes, with ratings assigned by Standard & Poor’s as “A” and 
1,043,000 euro Junior Notes (without ratings), concerning loan agreements stipulated with Istituto per il Credito Sportivo;
- 309,787,682 euro of which 307,220,682 euro Senior Notes (without ratings) and 2,567,000 euro Junior Notes (without 
ratings), concerning loan agreements stipulated with public and private enterprises.

SECTION 4 – Operating risks  

QUALITATIVE INFORMATION 

A. General aspects, management and measuring of operational risk
Operational risk is “the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems, or from 
external events”. This definition includes legal risk, but not strategic risk (i.e. the risk of not achieving the desired 
performance owing to assessment errors by the management) or reputational risk (i.e. the risk of losing revenues owing 
to a loss of public confidence in the broker). 

The method used by the Group for measuring operational risk is the traditional Standardized Approach (TSA). 

As regards the qualitative method of assessing operational risks, an Operational Risk & Security Unit is active within the 
Risk Management Office, and has responsibility for: 
-  drafting and updating the rules for the correct management of company processes and the consequent mitigation of 

the operational risk;
-  measuring annually the Group’s exposure to the operational risk by means of the RCSA method (Risk & Control Self 

Assessment); 
-  defining, adopting and producing the reporting system on operational risk trends;
-  prepare, for the part of competence on operating risks, the document “ICAAP Report” to be send annually to the Bank 

of Italy; 
-  managing the security logics which control access to the IT applications;
-  guarantee the efficiency and update of the Operating Continuity Plan (OCP), also through the execution of annual 

tests. 

As regards management performance assessments, a number of Operational Risk Correspondents (ORC) have been 
chosen within each of the Parent Bank’s (Dexia Crediop) structures and Dexia Crediop Ireland, with the task of noting 
every operational risk event and subsequently filing the information in the Group’s software OSCAR. 
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QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION 

The main causes of operational risk events are shown below in percentage terms: 

CATEGORY OF EVENT %

internal fraud 0%

external fraud 0%

relationships with staff and safety in the workplace 0%

customers, products and business practice 7%

damage to or loss of property plant and equipment 0%

system failure or breakdown 20%

process execution, delivery and management 73%
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165

DExIA CREDIOP S.P.A.

PART F – COMMENTS ON THE CAPITAL

Section 1 - Corporate capital

A. QUALITATIVE INFORMATION
The corporate capital consists of the share capital, reserves from profits in previous periods, valuation reserves on financial 
assets available for sale and cash flow hedges and reserves as a result of first adoption of the IAS/IFRS principles. Except 
for the part of the capital used in equity investments and property and the part from first adoption of IAS/IFRS and from 
reserves consisting of the fair value of assets available for sale and cash flow hedging, the remainder of the capital is 
mainly invested in fixed-rate mid- to long-term financial assets.

B. QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION
B.1 Corporate capital: breakdown

thousands of euro

Items/Amounts Amount 31/12/2012 Amount 31/12/2011

 1. Share capital  450,210  450,210 

 2. Share premiums

 3. Reserves  634,814  667,816 

    - of profits

                  a)    legal  76,509  76,509 

                  b)    statutory

                  c)    treasury shares

                  d)    other  558,305  591,307 

    - other

 4. Equity instruments

 5. (Treasury shares)

 6. Valuation reserves 54,677 (20,696)

                   -   Financial assets available for sale  56,585  3,289 

                   -   Property plant and equipment

                   -   Intangible assets

                   -    Foreign investment hedging

                   -    Cash flow hedging (1,908) (23,985)

                   -    Exchange rate differences

                   -    Non-current assets held for sale

                   -    Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefits schemes

                   -    Proportions of valuation reserves relating to investee companies

                        consolidated at net equity

                   -    Special revaluation laws

 7.     Profit (Loss) for the period (3,374) (33,002)

Total  1,136,327  1,064,328
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B.2 Reserves from valuation of financial assets available for sale: breakdown
thousands of euro

Assets/Amounts
 Total at 31/12/2012  Total at 31/12/2011 

Positive reserve Negative reserve Positive reserve Negative reserve

     1. Debt securities  21,698  89,544  23,146  122,167 

     2. Equity securities  124,370  102,160 

     3. Mutual fund shares  162  101  180  30 

     4. Loans 

 Total  146,230  89,645  125,486  122,197

B.3 Valuation reserves of financial assets available for sale: annual changes

thousands of euro

Debt securities Equity securities
Mutual fund 

shares
Loans

1.     Opening balances (99,021)  102,160  150 0 

2.    Increases  31,175  22,210 0 0 

2.1    Increases in fair value  28,854  22,210 

2.2     Reversal to income statement of negative reserves:

         - for impairment

         - for disposal

2.3   Other changes  2,321 

3.    Decreases 0 0  89 0

3.1    Decreases in fair value  89 

3.2    Impairment losses

3.3    Reversal to income statement of positive reserve:
         for disposal

3.4   Other changes

4.     Closing balances (67,846) 124,370 61 0
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Section 2 – Capital and minimum capital ratios 

2.1 Regulatory Capital 

A. QUALITATIVE INFORMATION
1. Tier 1 capital
The capital paid-in, income reserves and period income are positive elements of the tier I capital. The negative elements 
consist of the intangible fixed assets and prudential filters characterised by negative valuation reserves on debt securities 
classified as “Financial assets held for sale”.  From all the positive and negative elements of the tier I capital, 50% is 
deducted from the book value of the investment in Istituto per il Credito Sportivo, net of the positive reserve.

2. Tier 2 capital
The positive elements of the supplementary equity consist of the positive valuation reserves relating to capital securities 
considered at 50%, the subordinate loan subscribed by the parent company Dexia Crédit Local and the excess total value 
adjustments as compared with forecast losses. Deductions are accounting for 50% by the book value of the investment 
in Istituto per il Credito Sportivo, net of the positive reserve.

B. QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION
thousands of euro

Total at
31/12/2012

Total at
31/12/2011

A. Tier 1 capital before application of prudential filters 1,078,328  1,081,619 

B. Tier 1 capital prudential filters:

    B.1  Positive IAS/IFRS prudential filters (+)

    B.2  Negative IAS/IFRS prudential filters (-) (55,460) (57,781) 

C. Tier 1 capital inclusive of elements to be deducted (A+B) 1,022,868  1,023,838 

D. Elements to be deducted from tier 1 capital 12,329  12,329 

E. Total Tier 1 capital (C-D) 1,010,539  1,011,509 

F.  Tier 2 capital before application of prudential filters 342,064  419,514 

G. Tier 2 capital prudential filters: 30  75 

   G.1   Positive IAS/IFRS prudential filters (+) 30  75 

   G.2   Negative IAS/IFRS prudential filters (-)

H. Tier 2 capital inclusive of elements to be deducted (F+G) 342,094  419,589 

I. Elements to be deducted from tier 2 capital 12,329  12,329 

L. Total Tier 2 capital (H-I) 329,765  407,260 

M. Elements to be deducted from total tier 1 and tier 2 capital 0 0

N. Regulatory capital (E+L-M) 1,340,304  1,418,769 

O. Tier 3 capital 0 0

P. Regulatory capital including Tier 3 (N+O) 1,340,304  1,418,769 
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2.2 Capital adequacy

A. QUALITATIVE INFORMATION
The process by which significant risks are identified and measurement methods defined, the quantification of the internal 
capital and economic capital in view of each risk type, all take place under the management and coordination of the 
parent company Dexia S.A..  
More specifically, the calculation engine for the quantification of internal capital and economic capital is managed on a 
centralised level by the parent company Dexia S.A..
Dexia S.A. also sends all Group companies, including Dexia Crediop, the descriptive methodologies adopted to measure 
each type of risk (including the risks considered as significant by Dexia Crediop and consolidated on a Dexia group level) 
and the quantification of the related risk capital.
The functions delegated to the management and control of risks are the property comprising the Risk Management 
Functions “Credit & Operational Risks” and “ALM & Market Risk” and the function of staff “Compliance”. The function 
“Financial Planning and Management Control”, for part of their responsibility related to the monitoring of strategic risk, 
collaborates with the functions of risk control.
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B. QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION
   

thousands of euro

Categories/Amounts
Unweighted amounts Weighted amounts/requirements

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

A. RISK ASSETS

A.1 Credit and counterparty risk 41,739,178 43,980,713 4,932,232 4,471,854

1. Standardized methodology 1,734,862 1,797,760 1,255,012 1,219,528

2. Methodology based on internal ratings 39,917,790 42,091,030 3,645,119 3,240,633

2.1 Basic

2.2 Advanced 39,917,790  42,091,030 3,645,119  3,240,633 

3. Securitisation 86,526 91,923 32,101 11,693

B. REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

B.1 Credit and counterparty risk 394,579 357,748

B.2 Market risk 24,651 18,102

1. Standard methodology 24,651  18,102 

2. Internal models

3. Concentration risk

B.3 Operational risk 6,237 11,391

1. Basic method

2. Standardized method 6,237  11,391 

3. Advanced method

B.4 Other prudential requirements

B.5 Other calculation elements (63,425)  20,284 

B.6 Total prudential requirements 362,042  407,525 

RISK ASSETS AND REGULATORY RATIOS

C.1 Risk-weighted assets 6,034,029  6,792,086 

C.2 Tier 1 capital/ Risk-weighted assets (Tier 1 capital ratio) 16.75% 14.89%

C.3 Regulatory capital including Tier 3/ Risk-weighted assets (Total 
capital ratio)

22.21% 20.89%

Item B.5 “Other calculation elements” includes the algebraic sum of the reduction of the requirements by 25% (negative 
sign) for banks belonging to Italian banking groups, and the Floor, envisaged for banks calculating equity requirements 
for credit and counterparty risk in accordance with the IRB method.
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PART H – TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES  
In compliance with law dispositions and internal procedures, all related party transactions occured during the fiscal year 
have been carried out at conditions equivalent to market conditions applied to transactions of similar nature and risk 
occured with non related parties. With regard to related parties, any unsusual or non-typical transaction and/or any 
transaction with non standard condistions, both economic and contractual, has been concluded.

1. Information on key management personnel’s remuneration
The information referred to in paragraph 17 of IAS 24 regarding key management personnel is shown below:
      

thousands of euro

Short term benefits  3,569 

Post-employment benefits  179 

Other long term benefits

Severance indemnity 0

Payment in shares

Total  3,748

2. Information on transactions with related parties
The bank is the Parent Company of “Gruppo Bancario Dexia Crediop S.p.A.” which, in addition to Dexia Crediop S.p.A., 
includes the following subsidiaries:

1. DCC - Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l., with a 100% shareholding;
2. D.C.I. - Dexia Crediop Ireland with a 100% shareholding(1);
3. Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.L. with a 90% shareholding;
4. Tevere Finance S.r.l.(2)

The company is controlled (70% of the share capital) by Dexia Crédit Local SA with registered offices in - 1, passerelle des 
Reflets Tour Dexia - La Défense 2 - 92913 La Défense Cedex.

(1)  Unlimited liability company constituted under Irish law, with registered offices in 6 George’s Dock, Dublin 1 and share capital of Euro 100 million 
represented by 100 million shares, each with a nominal value of 1 euro.

 - 99,999,999 shares are held by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.;
 - 1 share held by Belfius Ireland (ex Dexia Investments Ireland), in its capacity as Trustee for Dexia Crediop S.p.A. until the 05/03/2013; on 

06/03/2013  Belfius Ireland sold, without a Trustee agreement, the share to Dexia Crédit Local.

(2) Vehicle company in accordance with Italian law no. 130/1999 over which Dexia Crediop S.p.A. exercises de facto control.
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2.1 Transactions with the parent company

      

Assets and Liabilities thousands of euro

Assets

 -  Financial assets held for trading  63,671 

 -  Deposits  441,799 

 -  Bonds & securities  602,699 

 -  Hedging derivatives  6,304,813 

 -  Other Assets  209 

 Totale 7,413,191

Liabilities

 -  Borrowings 

 -  Financial liabilities held for trading  1,000,398 

 -  Hedging derivatives  18,081 

 -  Subordinated debts  538,820 

 -  Repurchase agreements  400,040 

 -  Deposits  3,580,484 

 -  Other liabilities  436,625 

 -  Altre passività  53 

 Total 5,974,501
      
      

Other transactions thousands of euro

- Guarantees received  325,000 

Total  325,000

Income and charges thousands of euro

 - Interest and similar income  185,307 

 - Interest paid and similar charges (209,242)

of which

interest margin on hedging transactions (27,680)

 - Commission income 395

 - Net trading gains (losses)  9,048 

 - Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase (31,150)

 - Administrative expenses (730)

 Total (46,372)
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2.2 Transactions with subsidiaries      
      

D.C.I.
Assets and Liabilities thousands of euro

Assets

 -  Reverse repurchase agreements  55,622 

 - Financial assets held for trading  156,488 

 Total  212,110 

Liabilities

 - Deposits 5,526

 - Other Liabilities 1,824

 Total  7,350 

Income and charges thousands of euro

 - Interest and similar income  1,687 

 - Interest paid and similar charges (3,343)

 - Commission expenses (1,824)

 - Net trading gains (losses)  38,527 

 Total  35,047 

2.3 Transactions with other companies of the Dexia Group
In addition to the above-illustrated transactions with the parent company and the subsidiaries, Dexia Crediop also carried 
out transactions with Dexia SA holding and its subsidiaries; all these transactions refer to the core business. 

DEXIA HOLDING
Assets and Liabilities thousands of euro

Liabilities

 - Other Liabilities  1,113 

 Total  1,113 

Income and charges thousands of euro

 - Administrative expenses  (1,120)

 Total (1,120)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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COMPANIES IN THE DCL GROUP      
Assets and Liabilities thousands of euro

Assets

 - Financial assets held for trading  693,226 

 - Other assets  399 

 Total  693,625 

Liabilities

 - Issued securites  53,473 

 - Repurchase agreements  440,413 

 - Payables - other loans  3,373,337 

 - Financial liabilities held for trading  21 

 Total 3,867,244

Income and charges thousands of euro

 - Interest paid and similar charges (54,511)

 - Commission income  3,504 

 - Net trading gains (losses)  159,167 

 Total  108,160 
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PART L – INFORMATION ON SECTORS 
The information is not required for individual financial statements in accordance with IFRS 8, paragraph 4.

Balance sheet data of parent company Dexia Credit Local 
Under the terms of art. 2497 bis of the Italian Civil Code, Dexia Crediop S.p.A. is subject to management and coordination 
by Dexia Credit Local.

The following is the balance sheet, abbreviated income statement and key indicators as at 31.12.11 for Dexia Credit 
Local.

DEXIA CREDIT LOCAL - Financial Statements at 31.12.11

DEXIA CREDIT LOCAL Balance sheet

EUR millions

ASSETS December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010

I. Cash, central banks and postal checking accounts  1,650  131 

II. Government securities  1,751  2,554 

III. Interbank loans and advances  40,728  38,702 

IV. Customer loans  41,617  44,791 

V. Bonds and other fixed income securities  49,362  53,764 

VI. Equities and other variable income securities  246  278 

VII. Long-term equity investments  2,520  2,965 

VIII. Intangible assets  37  43 

Ix. Tangible fixed assets  7  12 

x. Unpaid capital

xI. Uncalled capital

xII. Treasury stock

xIII. Other assets  25,880  18,096 

xIV. Accruals and other assets  16,121  11,221 

Total assets  179,919  172,557 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010

I. Interbank borrowings and deposits  78,737  65,026 

II. Customer deposits 722 2,495 

III. Debt securities 72,096 73,901 

IV. Other liabilities  2,904  8,218 

V. Accruals and other liabilities  18,085  13,308 

VI. Provisions and reserves  4,271  3,743 

VII. General banking risks reserve

VIII. Subordinated debt  2,214  4,757 

Ix. Capital stock  501  501 

x. Additional paid-in capital  4,870  1,501 

xI. Reserves and retained earnings (46) 637

xII. Net income for the year (4,435) (1,530)

xIII. Interim dividends

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  179,919  172,557 

DEXIA CREDIT LOCAL Profit and loss
EUR millions

INCOME STATEMENT December 31, 2011 December 31, 2010

I. Interest income 8,215 6,663 

II. Interest expense (9,019) (6,972)

III. Income from variable income securities 134 181 

IV. Commission income 14 11 

V Commission expense (24) (23)

VI. A Net gains (losses) on held-for-trading portfolio transactions (191) (386)

VI. B Net gains (losses) on portfolio transactions available for sale (1,392) (386)

VI. C Net losses on held to maturity portfolio transactions 0 0 

VII. Other banking income 1 4 

x. Other banking expense 0 (1)

NET BANKING INCOME (2,262) (909)

VIII. General operating expenses (167) (204)

Ix. Depreciation and amortization (25) (25)

GROSS OPERATING INCOME (2,454) (1,138)

xI. Cost of risk (529) (695)

OPERATING INCOME AFTER COST OF RISK (2,983) (1,833)

xII. Net gains (losses) on long-term investments (916) (11)

INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAX (3,899) (1,844)

xV. Non-recurring items 0 0 

xVII. Corporate income tax (536) 314 

xIII. Net allocation to general banking risks reserve 0 0 

NET INCOME (4,435) (1,530)

Basic earnings per share  (50.95)  (17.58)

Diluted earnings per share  (50.95)  (17.58)

EUR millions



Additional information 
On 29 October 2012, the document was published entitled “Enhancing the risk disclosures of banks”, prepared by an 
international task force (Enhanced Disclosure Task Force - EDTF).
The document sets out recommendations aimed at strengthening bank disclosure transparency on certain risk profiles.
Following on from this publication, some informative details are given on the statutory financial statements for 2012 as 
required by the document “Enhancing the risk disclosures of banks”.

     
EaD Distribution - RWA by class of credit exposure and valuation model     
     

Reference date Reference date

31/12/2012 31/12/2011

COUNTERPARTY TYPE
Method 
(Final)

RWA sum EaD sum RWA sum EaD sum

OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS ADV  1,345,932  44,450,850  248,385  803,457 

STD  187,434,912  181,356,314  111,958,000  131,722,109 

OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS Total  188,780,844  225,807,163  112,206,384  132,525,566 

CENTRAL ADMINISTRATIONS ADV  819,751,667  15,171,237,799  780,808,677  10,221,479,926 

CENTRAL ADMINISTRATIONS Total  819,751,667  15,171,237,799  780,808,677  10,221,479,926 

BANKS ADV  1,408,699,070  4,799,504,590  1,168,517,732  8,711,968,744 

STD  -    18,781,482  -    23,074,755 

BANKS Total  1,408,699,070  4,818,286,072  1,168,517,732  8,735,043,499 

CENTRAL BANKS ADV  622,726  18,337,137  5,862,775  193,518,556 

CENTRAL BANKS Total  622,726  18,337,137  5,862,775  193,518,556 

CORPORATE ADV  317,000,584  704,419,586  320,936,449  748,386,353 

STD  152,058,910  155,407,524  149,751,951  153,182,844 

CORPORATE Total  469,059,493  859,827,110  470,688,400  901,569,197 

LOCAL AUTHORITIES  ADV  810,979,445  13,267,485,563  738,698,592  15,686,531,318 

LOCAL AUTHORITIES Total  810,979,445  13,267,485,563  738,698,592  15,686,531,318 

NON-TARGET LOCAL AUTHORITIES STD  117,607,753  556,896,824  131,094,450  619,985,403 

NON-TARGET LOCAL AUTHORITIES Total  117,607,753  556,896,824  131,094,450  619,985,403 

INSURANCE ADV  39,508,402  159,582,929  38,448,967  155,303,641 

INSURANCE Total  39,508,402  159,582,929  38,448,967  155,303,641 

PMI (small/medium businesses) STD  27,562,275  29,557,298  278,786  2,256,365 

PMI Total  27,562,275  29,557,298  278,786  2,256,365 

PROJECT FINANCING ADV  212,516,932  504,283,969  214,553,408  455,077,656 

PROJECT FINANCING Total  212,516,932  504,283,969  214,553,408  455,077,656 

MUNICIPAL COMPANIES STD  591,499,179  603,412,557  645,942,310  662,298,725 

MUNICIPAL COMPANIES Total  591,499,179  603,412,557  645,942,310  662,298,725 

NON-REGIONAL PUBLIC AUTHORITIES ADV  15,250,562  441,625,469  17,889,162  520,901,650 

STD  15,922,618  79,613,089  19,327,377  96,636,885 

NON-REGIONAL PUBLIC AUTHORITIES Total  31,173,180  521,238,559  37,216,539  617,538,535 

SECURITISATIONS FOU  32,101,056  86,525,758  11,692,590  91,922,878 

STD  12,639,697  12,639,697  10,861,874  10,861,874 

SECURITISATIONS Total  44,740,753  99,165,455  22,554,464  102,784,752 

Comprehensive total  4,762,501,720  36,835,118,436  4,366,871,483  38,485,913,140

176

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



177

DExIA CREDIOP S.P.A.

In 2012, total RWA increased by 9%, mainly due to the effects of the introduction of a new method of calculating LGD 
for Banks.
The division of EAD by type of counterpart confirmed what is considered to be the bank’s core business - Italian central 
administrations and the sector of local and regional authorities which, together, represent 77% of total exposures. 
Relative to the most significant changes in EaD which occurred in 2012, observe the following: 
Central Administrations: the increase is mainly due to the subscribing of the DCL deposit certificates with guarantees 
from the Belgian, French and Luxembourgish governments. 
Banks: the decrease is mainly due to the repayment of DCL securities subscribed in 2007.
Central Banks: the reduction can be traced to the decrease in the account held with the Bank of Italy. 
Other Financial Institutions: the increase is due to the increase in Repo operations
Securitisations: the increase in the exposure can mainly be traced to the increase in the average residual life of an ABS 
security, correlated to the sales plan of the assets which has changed with respect to the initial plan. 

    
LGD Distribution - Credit Risk Exposure by counterparty type    

Reference date Reference date

31/12/2012 31/12/2011

COUNTERPARTY TYPE LGD AVERAGE
CREDIT 

EXPOSURE
LGD AVERAGE

CREDIT 
EXPOSURE

OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 24.16%  26,950,849 35.45%  803,457 

INSURANCE 34.99%  159,582,929 34.99%  155,303,641 

BANKS 39.07%  4,796,754,591 34.73%  8,709,718,745 

CENTRAL BANKS 10.00%  18,337,137 10.00%  193,518,556 

SECURITISATIONS 45.00%  86,525,758 45.00%  91,922,878 

MUNICIPALITIES 3.00%  3,737,385,982 3.01%  4,853,503,668 

CORPORATE 43.37%  678,136,610 42.36%  714,755,873 

NON-REGIONAL PUBLIC AUTHORITIES 3.00%  448,818,703 3.29%  524,401,650 

SOVEREIGN BODIES 8.30%  15,238,661,957 10.00%  10,362,652,402 

PROJECT FINANCING 17.84%  550,342,016 18.01%  491,767,769 

PROVINCES 3.00%  1,399,449,023 3.00%  1,482,572,054 

REGIONS 2.99%  8,152,371,409 2.99%  8,482,226,708 

Total  35,293,316,964  36,063,147,402

The analysis of the distribution of credit exposure for LGD provides clear evidence of the various risks which affect the 
bank’s portfolio which, on one hand, for its traditional activities (local and regional authorities and “similar” entities) 
indicates values that are very low for the size, despite the fact that for this type of counterparty the “floor” value imposed 
by the regulators (3%) is applied in the representation indicated above. On the other hand, it highlights appropriately 
diversified values, with a peak of 45% in the “securitisations” sector. 
The decrease in the average LGD in the “Sovereign” category can be traced to the subscription of the DCL deposit 
certificates with guarantees from the Belgian, French and Luxembourgish governments. In fact, the Belgian and 
Luxembourgish governments have LGDs of 8%, while the French government has a LGD of 10%.
It should be noted that, for the “securitisations” category, the LGD value is the regulatory one (45%), while the operations 
referred to therein are treated using Foundation methodology.
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RWA distribution by counterparty type and internal rating class      
  

COUNTERPARTY TYPE

INTERNAL RATING CLASS

31-12-12 31-12-11 31-12-12 31-12-11 31-12-12 31-12-11 31-12-12 31-12-11 31-12-12 31-12-11 31-12-12 31-12-11 31-12-12 31-12-11 31-12-12 31-12-11 31-12-12 31-12-11

 AAA  AA  A  BBB  BB  B  D1/D2  NR  TOTAL 

CENTRAL BANKS 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.2%

SOVEREIGN BODIES 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 22.6% 23.6% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.2% 22.6% 23.8%

INSURANCE 0.0% 0.0% 1.1% 1.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.1% 1.2%

BANKS 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 1.1% 5.3% 32.3% 32.9% 2.1% 0.6% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 38.9% 35.6%

REGIONS 0.4% 0.4% 0.3% 0.4% 0.4% 1.8% 9.3% 9.6% 3.1% 0.7% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 13.5% 12.9%

PROVINCES 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.4% 1.6% 1.3% 0.7% 0.9% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 2.4% 2.6%

MUNICIPALITIES 0.0% 0.0% 0.1% 0.7% 0.3% 0.4% 2.3% 5.7% 3.7% 0.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 6.5% 7.0%

CORPORATE 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 5.3% 5.6% 2.0% 3.7% 1.5% 0.4% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 8.7% 9.8%
NON-REGIONAL PUBLIC 
AUTHORITIES 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.2% 0.3% 0.2% 0.2% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.4% 0.5%

PROJECT FINANCING 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 3.9% 3.7% 2.0% 2.8% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 5.9% 6.5%

OTHER FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

100.0% 100.0%

NOTE: The calculation considers only those operations treated using ADV methodology. 

Representation in terms of RWA by counterparty type and internal rating class provides a detailed view of the composition 
of the Dexia Crediop Group’s credit portfolio: the largest part of the volumes existing at 31/12/2012 features an internal 
rating in the “investment grade” area (85% of the portfolio). 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Asset encumbrance table     
     

Asset type

Encumbered Unencumbered
Other
mln/€

Pledged as 
collateral

Other
Available as 

collateral
Other

mln/€ mln/€ mln/€ mln/€

Cash and other liquid assets 16,828 3,370 146 0 20,344

Other investment securities 4,727 0 0 0 4,727

Loans 8,393 0 0 0 8,393

Other financial assets 398 0 0 0 398

Non-financial assets 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL 30,347 3,370 146 0 33,863

This table illustrates the composition of the financial statement assets committed or that can be committed as guarantees 
for financing operations. 

Note:     
1. Figures relative to loans and securities refer to the nominal value, gross of any haircuts.    
2. The item “Cash and other liquid assets - Other” indicates the value of the residual balances of DCC securitisations.  
  
    
Description of the items:    
1. Cash and other liquid assets Nominal value, gross of haircut, securities eligible for central banks  
2. Other investment securities Nominal value, gross of haircut, securities not eligible for central banks  
3. Loans    Nominal value, gross of haircut, loans eligible for ABACO and conferred through EBI/ECB 
4. Other financial assets  Gross nominal value, securities conferred through EBI/ECB  
5. Non financial assets  -  
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Composition of wholesale funding        
        

As of 31 december 2012

Maturity of wholesale funding

Not more 
than 1m 
(mln/€)

Over 1m 
but not 

more than 
3m (mln/€)

Over 3m 
but not 

more than 
6m (mln/ €)

Over 6m 
but not 

more than 
1y (mln/ €)

Subtotal 
less than 1y 

(mln/ €)

Over 1y but 
not more 
than 2y 
(mln/ €)

Over 2y 
(mln/ €)

Total
(mln/ €)

a) Deposits 3,536 51 399 150 4,136 0 14,522 18,658

     from banks 635 51 399 150 1,235 0 0 1,235

     from ECB 2,901 0 0 0 2,901 0 14,522 17,423

b) CDs and CP 0 0 4 0 4 0 0 4

c) Asset-backed CP 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

c) Senior unsecured MTNs 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

d) Senior unsecured bonds 129 671 179 313 1,291 1,722 3,356 6,370

     structured 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

    unstructred 129 671 179 313 1,291 1,722 3,356 6,370

e) Covered bond/ABS 0 0 0 0 0 0 3,370 3,370

f) Subordinated liabilities 0 0 0 0 0 0 400 400

g) Other 262 34 112 189 598 311 1,170 2,079

Total 3,927 757 694 652 6,030 2,033 22,818 30,881

of which

Secured 3,688 65 174 339 4,267 311 20,619 25,197

Unsecured 239 691 520 313 1,763 1,722 2,199 5,684

        
Note:         
The table does not include retail funding (MOT) and secured funding obtained through repo operations.
The figures are expressed using nominal values.        
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Regulatory Capital Flow Statement        
        

thousands of euro

2011 Tier 1 Capital  1,011,509 

Change in profit reserves -33,002 

Change in results for the period  29,628 

Change in intangible assets  82 

Change in prudential filters  2,321 

2012 Tier 1 Capital  1,010,539 

2011 Tier 2 Capital  407,260 

Change in prudential filters -45 

Subordinate loan amortisation -80,000 

Change in excess adjustments compared to expected losses  2,549 

2012 Tier 2 Capital  329,765 

2011 Total Regulatory Capital  1,418,769 

2012 Total Regulatory Capital  1,340,304 
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REPORT ON OPERATIONS

Report on operations

Companies included in the consolidation      
           
 
At 31 December 2012, the Dexia Crediop Group included not only the parent company Dexia Crediop S.p.A., but also 
the following subsidiaries:

Company name Head-
quarters

Investment relationship % of votes 
held

Investor 
company

% share

Companies consolidated line-by-line

DCC – Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l. Rome Dexia Crediop 100% 100%

Dexia Crediop Ireland* Dublin Dexia Crediop 99.99% 99.99%

Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l. Rome Dexia Crediop 90% 90%

Tevere Finance S.r.l. Rome De facto control - -

* Dexia Crediop Ireland has equity of € 100 million, represented by 100 million shares with a nominal value of € 1 each, including:
 - 99,999,999 shares held by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.;
 - 1 share held by Belfius Ireland (formerly Dexia Investments Ireland), in its capacity as Trustee for Dexia Crediop S.p.A. until 5 March 

2013; on 6 March 2013 Belfius Ireland sold, without a Trustee agreement, the share to Dexia Crèdit Local.  

DCC – Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l
This company, owned entirely by Dexia Crediop, has been operational since 2004. Its exclusive purpose is the setting up 
of securitisation transactions pursuant to Italian Law no. 130/1999. The company is registered on the list of securitisation 
vehicle companies held by the Bank of Italy.
The company has carried out three bond-issue operations – in 2004, 2005 and 2008 – through the securitisation of 
portfolios composed exclusively of debt instruments issued by Italian public authorities.  

Dexia Crediop Ireland
This company, an unlimited company with the head office in Dublin, was established in 2007 for the purpose of centralising 
the management of the Group’s investment portfolios. By virtue of the deleveraging policy shared by the entire Dexia 
Group, in 2010 major disposals of non-core business were made and, consequently, equity has been reduced from e 700 
million to e 100 million, reimbursing the shareholder Dexia Crediop at part value. 

Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l.
The company, whose equity is e 10,000 is held 90% by Dexia Crediop, was acquired in 2010. Its registered office are in 
Rome and it is registered with the list of financial intermediaries in accordance with art. 106 of the Consolidated Law on 
Banking. It belongs to the Dexia Crediop banking group.

The company’s sole purpose is the issuing of covered bonds in accordance with article 7-bis of Law 130 of 30 April 1999, 
and subsequent implementation provisions. As of the date on which these financial statements were prepared, the 
company had not carried out any transactions.       

Tevere Finance S.r.l.
The company is a vehicle pursuant to law no.130/1999 of 21 September 2007. It implemented its first securitisation 
transactions in 2009, originated from Dexia Crediop. The share capital is e 10,000 and is fully subscribed and paid up. 
The sole shareholder is an Dutch foundation, whilst Dexia Crediop exercises effective control.
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Information on trends in the Group’s companies

Dexia Crediop S.p.A.
See the part relative to this Company’s own financial statements.

DCC – Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l.
In 2012, no more securitisation transactions were performed in addition to those three completed in the preceding 
financial years (2004, 2005 and 2008).

Dexia Crediop Ireland
In 2012, after the sale of assets in financial year 2010, the company continues to manage the stock of securities that has 
remained in the portfolio. More specifically, the securities portfolio as of 31 December 2012 consists exclusively of Italian 
government securities for a face value of e 270 million. 
The net interest and other banking income amounts to e 5.9 million, and operating costs are e 0.1 million. Pre-tax profit 
totals e 5.8 million which, net of local income tax, results in a net profit of 5.1 million. 

Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l.
The company, acquired in 2010, has not yet implemented any transactions.

Internal risk management and control system, pursuant to art. 123-bis, clause 
2, letter b) of the Consolidated Finance Act   

For the information request by art. 123-bis, clause 2, letter b), of the Consolidated Finance Act, see the paragraph 
“Internal risk management and control system, pursuant to art. 123-bis, clause 3, letter b) of the Consolidated Finance 
Act” of the Report on Operations to the company’s Financial Statements.

Transactions with other companies of the Dexia Group
 
Transactions with the parent company DCL, which directs and coordinates the Bank pursuant to article 2497 of the 
Italian Civil Code, posted on the financial statement at the end of the year, represented total assets of  e 7,413 million, 
total liabilities of e 5,844 million, and total guarantees and commitments of € 325 million. The information concerning 
transactions with related parties can be found in Part H of the Notes. 
The key data from the last balance sheet of the parent company DCL are contained in Part L of the Notes, as required by 
article 2497-bis of the Italian Civil Code.
 
Transactions with companies of the Dexia Group, posted on the financial statement at the end of the period, represented 
total assets of € 693 million and total liabilities of e 3,867 million. The related information is contained in Part H of the 
Notes. 
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Profits and balance sheet results
To provide a better understanding of the results of the period, abbreviated versions of the balance sheet and income 
statement have been prepared, using the models given in the Bank of Italy Memorandum 262/2005 and making the 
necessary reclassifications as described below: 

Balance sheet schedule
• the item “Cash and cash equivalents” has been included under other assets;
• the item “Hedging derivatives” has been included under other assets/liabilities;
• the item “Fair value adjustment of financial assets in hedged portfolios” has been included among other assets;
• tangible and intangible assets have been aggregated into a single item;
• the provisions for severance indemnities and risks and charges have been aggregated into a single item;
• the item “Fair value adjustment of financial liabilities in hedged portfolios” has been included among other liabilities;
• the profit and valuation reserves have been aggregated into a single item.

Income statement schedule
• the item “Net hedging gains (losses)” has been included under net interest, in relation to the close correlation between 

hedging derivatives and the instruments covered;
• “net trading gains (losses)” and “Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase” has been aggregated into a single item;
• net adjustments on tangible and intangible assets have been aggregated into a single item.
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Reclassified balance sheet

thousands of euro

Reclassified Balance Sheet Assets 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Change Chan. %

Financial assets for trading 20. Financial assets held for trading 6,259,309 5,307,652 951,657 18%

Financial assets avaible for sale 40. Financial assets avaible for sale 789,588 694,927 94,661 14%

Financial assets held to maturity 50. Financial assets held to maturity 281,128 338,415 (57,287) -17%

Due from banks 60. Due from banks 13,042,910 12,360,442 682,458 6%

Due from customers 70. Due from customers 28,164,827 29,161,829 (997,002) -3%

Tangible and intagible assets 46,627 47,252 (625) -1%

120. Property plant and equipment 43,304 43,847 (543) -1%

130. Intagible assets 3,323 3,405 (82) -2%

Tax Assets 140.  Tax Assets 51,584 71,153 (19,569) -28%

Othe asset items 812,524 850,103 (37,579) -4%

10. Cash and cash equivalent 3 3 0 0%

80. hedging derivatives 540,947 599,431 (58,484) -10%

90. Fair value adjustment of financial 
assets in hedge portfolios (+/-)

171,184 147,426 23,758 16%

160. Othe asset items 100,390 103,243 (2,853) -3%

Total assets 49,448,497 48,831,773 616,724 1%

thousands of euro

Reclassified Balance Sheet Liabilities and shareholders’ equity 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Change Chan. %

Due to banks 10. Due to banks 23,680,581 23,467,351 231,230 1%

Due to customers 20. Debiti verso clientela 2,565,868 1,861,798 704,070 38%

Securities in issue 30. Securities in issue 11,534,811 13,464,097 (1,929,286) -14%

Financial liabilities for trading 40. Financial liabilities for trading 6,287,248 5,384,917 902,331 17%

Tax liabilities 80. Tax liabilities 3,647 18 3,629 20161%

Other liabilities items 4,237,267 3,636,730 600,537 17%

60. Hedging derivatives 4,198,750 3,603,260 595,490 17%

70. Fair value adjustment of financial 
liabilities in hedge portfolios (+/-)

0 0 0 0%

100. Other liabilities 38,517 33,470 5,047 15%

Provisions 12,539 15,992 (3,453) -22%

110. Provision for severance indemnities 2,117 2,359 (242) -10%

120. Provision for risks and charges 10,422 13,633 (3,211) -24%

Reserves 668,683 573,123 95,560 17%

140. Valutation reserves (68,044) (186,078) 118,034 -63%

170. Reserves 736,727 759,201 (22,474) -3%

Share capital 190. Share capital 450,210 450,210 0 0%

Shareholders’ equity of minority 
interests

210. Shareholders’ equity of minority 
interests

11 11 0 0%

Profit (Loss) for the period 220. Profit (Loss) for the period 7,632 (22,474) 30,106 -134%

Total liabilities and shareholders’ 
equity

49,448,497 48,831,773 616,724 1%
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Reclassified income statement
     

thousands of euro

Reclassified income statement Income statements 31/12/2012 31/12/2011 Change Chan. %

Net interest income 96,112 92,175 3,937 4%

10. Interest and similar income 1,028,373 1,078,322 (49,949) -5%

20. Interest and similar expenses (932,551) (987,128) 54,577 -6%

90. Net hedging gains (losses) 290 981 (691) -70%

Net fee and commission income (12,125) 9,942 (22,067) -222%

40. Fee and commission income 11,667 14,893 (3,226) -22%

50. Fee and commission expense (23,792) (4,951) (18,841) 381%

Dividend 70. Dividend and similar income 0 3,109 (3,109) -100%

Net trading gains (losses) (7,360) (73,998) 66,638 -90%

80. Net trading gains (losses) 22,266 (57,930) 80,196 -138%

100. Gains (losses) on disposal or 
repurchase

(29,626) (16,068) (13,558) 84%

Net interest and other banking 
income

76,627 31,228 45,399 145%

Net adjustment for impairment 130. Net adjustment for impairment (14,011) (3,030) (10,981) 362%

Net income from financial activities 62,616 28,198 34,418 122%

Administrative expenses 180. Administrative expenses (35,175) (38,473) 3,298 -9%

Net provisions 190. Net provisions for risck and charges (129) (3,155) 3,026 -96%

Amortization on assets (2,787) (2,471) (316) 13%

200. Net adjustment on property plant 
and equipment

(1,023) (1,043) 20 -2%

210. Net adjustment on intangible assets (1,764) (1,428) (336) 24%

Other operating expense/income 220. Other operating expense/income 451 426 25 6%

Operating costs (37,640) (43,673) 6,033 -14%
Profit (loss) from continuing 
operations before tax

24,976 (15,475) 40,451 -261%

Income tax
290. Income tax for the period on 
continuing operations

(17,344) (6,999) (10,345) 148%

Profit (loss) for the period 7,632 (22,474) 30,106 -134%
Profit (loss) pertaining to minority 
interests

0 0 0

Profit (loss) pertaining to the parent 
bank

7,632 (22,474) 30,106 -134%
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Statement of reconciliation between consolidated profit and equity  
     

Parent company Dexia Crediop S.p.A.
31/12/2012 thousands of  euro

Shareholders’ equity Profit for the period Total

Share capital 450,210

Valutation reserves 54,677

Reserves 634,814

Profit (Loss) for the period (3,374)

Total 1,139,701 (3,374) 1,136,327

Subsidiary companies Shareholders’ equity Profit for the period Total

Share capital 100,024

Valutation reserves (133,010)

Reserves 117,316

Profit (Loss) for the period 5,068

Pertaining to minority interests 11 0

Total 84,341 5,068 89,409

Elimination of equity interests in subsidiaries (100,024)

Elimination of dividend of subsidiaries

Consolidation accounting on valuation reserves 10,289

Other intercompany eliminations (15,403) 5,938

Total (105,138) 5,938 (99,200)

Dexia Crediop Group Shareholders’ equity Profit for the period Total

Share capital 450,210

Valutation reserves (68,044)

Reserves 736,727

Profit (Loss) for the period 7,632

Pertaining to minority interests 11 0

Total consolidated capital as at  31.12.2012 1,118,904 7,632 1,126,536
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Dexia Crediop Group economic results and assets  

Changes to key income statement items

For 2012 the income statement of the Dexia Crediop Group presents net interest income, inclusive of hedging gains, of  e 
96.1 million. This represents an increase of 4% on the previous year, mainly due to the greater margins deriving from the 
increase of payables with the parent company Dexia Credit Local, guaranteed by the French, Belgian and Luxembourgish 
governments.

Net commission income amounted to -e 12.1 million, as compared with the +e 9.9 million of 2011 (-e 22.1 million). The 
decline can be viewed in relation to commissions payable for loan on securities, commissions payable linked to the issuing 
of Italian government backed securities and the reduction of the activities of Project Finance.

During the course of the year, no dividends were booked, with respect to the e 3.1 million of the previous year.

Total results for trading activities came to -e 7.4 million, deriving from expenses for early repayment of bonds and other 
assets, partially compensated for by the valuative effects connected to the improvement of the spread on government 
debt during the course of 2012.
 
Specifically, during 2012 1.75 million in assets were repaid early by the parent company Dexia Crédit Local, for expenses 
of around -31 million.

Trading gains improved by +66.6 million on the -74.0 million of the previous year, which had been severely impacted by 
the valuation of the increase of the spread on government debt, which mainly occurred during the second half of 2011, 
for a gross impact of -e 71.1 million.

Net interest and other banking income amounted to e 76.6 million, as compared with the e 31.2 million of 2011 (+e 

45.4 million).  

Total net impairment adjustments came to -e 14.0 million, mainly due to specific write-downs on a project financing 
transaction, compared to net write-downs on loans of -3.0 million the previous year.

Administrative expenses amounted to e 35.2 million, a 9% decrease with respect to 2011, due above all to limiting of 
personnel expenses. Amortisation and depreciation, amounting to e 2.8 increased by 0.3 million on the previous year.

Allocations made to the provisions for risks and charges came to -0.1 million (-3.2 million in 2011) and mainly regard 
allocations made for employee benefits.

The result of continuing operations before tax was e 25 million compared to -e 15.5 million in 2011.

Taxes were negative in the amount of -e 17.3 million. Tax suffers the increases of the tax base, mainly deriving from the 
partial non-deductibility of interest expense.  

The net period result therefore comes to +e 7.6 million as compared with the -22.5 million of the previous financial year, 
showing an increase of 30.1 million. 
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Changes to the main balance sheet items

Total balance sheet assets amounted to e 49.4 billion at the end of 2012, an increase of 1% on the previous year.

In particular, there was an increase in the financial assets held for trading, which amounted to e 6.3 billion (compared to 
e 5.3 billion at the end of 2011). This increase was due to the value of derivatives held for trading purposes. The amount 
is balanced out by a similar change in the item “financial liabilities held for trading”. These derivatives are valued at their 
fair value, and are considered financial assets if their fair value is positive, and as financial liabilities if their fair value is 
negative.

The financial assets available for sale at the end of 2011 amounted to e 0.8 billion, compared to € 0.7 billion in the 
previous year. During the course of the year, no sales or purchases were made. The variation can be attributed to the fair 
value valuation of said assets as contra-items for the corresponding change in the valuation reserves.

Financial assets held to maturity totalled e 0.3 billion (a decrease of 17% compared to the previous year). During the year 
there were no disposals or acquisitions, so the decrease is due to reimbursements during the year.

Receivables due from banks amounted to e 13.0 billion, an increase of 6% compared to the end of the previous year. 
The main changes can be attributed to the increase in securities issued by the parent company Dexia Crédit Local 
with guarantees from the French, Belgian and Luxembourgish governments, partially compensated for by a decrease in 
deposits held with other credit institutions. 

Customer receivables total e 28.2 billion, a fall of 1.0 billion on the figure recorded for the previous financial year. The 
reduction is mainly connected to period repayments.

Tax credits amounted to e 52 million (71 million at the end of 2011) and mainly refer to the net credit for prepaid taxes 
and the credit for withholdings on interest, premiums and other income from deposits and current accounts, as well as 
the IRES reimbursement for the recognised deductibility of the IRAP from previous years. 

The other items of the assets total e 0.8 billion as compared with the 0.9 billion of the end of 2011. The change is mainly 
due to the change in fair value of hedge derivatives.

Key items among the liabilities include the item “Due to banks”, totalling e 23.7 billion (23.5 billion in 2011), “Due to 
customers”, totalling e 2.6 billion (1.9 billion in 2011) and securities in issue, totalling 11.5 billion (13.5 billion in 2011). 
The reduction in the amount of securities is due to period repayments.
The other items of the liabilities total e 4.2 billion as compared with the 3.6 billion of the end of 2011. The change is 
mainly due to the change in fair value of hedge derivatives.

Reserves amounted to e 0.7 billion at the end of 2012 (+17% compared to 2011). The increase is due mainly due to the 
positive change in the valuation reserves, for which the fair value valuation was positive in the amount of 118 million.

At the end of 2012, share capital amounted to e 0.5 billion. There were no changes compared to the previous year.
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Performance Indicators

Loans  
At the end of 2012, amounts due from customers and 
banks totalled 67% and 31% of total loans, respectively.

These figures include all the various loan formats in 
existence at 31 December 2012. 

Loan structures 
A breakdown of loans by counterparty shows that most 
were made to governments and public bodies (59%).

These figures include all the various loan formats in 
existence at 31 December 2012.

Structure of funds  
At the end of 2012 securities in issue and amounts due 
to banks respectively amounted to 31% and 62% of the 
total provisions.

The figures include all the various funding formats in 
existence at 31 December 2012.

Return on Equity (RoE) 
2012 RoE comes to +0.7% as a consequence of the net 
period result. 

Return on Equity is calculated as the ratio between 
net result for the year and net equity at year-end. This 
indicator expresses the profitability of own equity.
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Cost to Income  
The 2012 Cost to Income ratio is 49.5%, lower than that of 
2011, due to a 7% reduction in costs and the increase in net 
interest and banking income.

Cost to income is the ratio between operating costs 
(administrative expenses and depreciation) and net interest 
and other banking income. This indicator is a measure of 
productivity expressed as a percentage of profit absorbed by 
operating costs.

Earning per Share (EpS)  
EpS for 2012 was +e 0.04 per share, in relation to the net 
result. 

The EpS figure is the ratio between net result for the financial 
year and the number of shares in the share capital.

Net non-performing loans  
The effect of non-performing loans was 0.06%, an increase 
over the 0.0018% recorded at the end of 2011, in relation 
to the changes of a specific project financing transaction.

The effect of non-performing loans is calculated as the ratio 
between net non-performing loans and overall net loans. 
This indicator expresses the risk level of the loans portfolio.

Return on Asset (RoA) 
RoA for 2012 came to 0.015%, with respect to -0.046% in 
the previous year, mainly in relation to changes in the net 
results for the period.

The Return on Assets figure is calculated as the ratio between 
net result for the financial year and the total balance sheet 
assets. This indicator expresses the profitability of total 
invested equity.
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Business outlook

Significant post-balance sheet events 

With regards to significant post-balance sheet events, please refer to that stated in the specific paragraph of the Report 
on Operations to the company’s financial statements.

Future operational prospects   

In order to assess the operational prospects of Dexia Crediop, we must refer to the situation of the Dexia Group, to the 
resolution plan concerning it and the latest significant changes that have affected its structure.

Already in past years, following the deterioration of financial conditions, the Group had begun a restructuring plan aimed 
at repositioning activities in its historic franchise, reducing its risk profile, and restoring balance to its financial structure. 
More specifically, the implementation of the restructuring plan according to the objectives defined in 2010 with the 
European Commission were pursued until May 2011; in this context, the sale of Dexia Crediop to other entities of the 
Group was one of the objectives to be realised by 31 October 2012. 
In October 2011, the Group adopted structural measures that profoundly changed its structure, announcing an orderly 
resolution plan. This plan, reviewed and presented to the Belgian, French and Luxembourgish governments of the 
European Commission, was definitively approved by the latter on 28 December 2012. 

The new Dexia Group orderly resolution plan envisages sales of the commercial franchises considered saleable over the 
short-term and run-off management of the other entities, possibly accompanied by residual financing activities, bringing 
other activities to maturity.

As of the approval date of said orderly resolution plan, Dexia had already sold a number of its main operating entities, 
which allowed for a notable reduction in the financial statements and its weighted assets.
In particular, note the sales of Dexia Banque Belgique1, RBC-Dexia Investor Services , Banque Internationale à Luxembourg 
and Denizbank. In addition, an agreement for the sale of Dexia Asset Management was signed on 12 December 2012.

The new plan contains a calendar for the sales of certain Group entities not yet sold and run-off management, without 
any new production for other residual entities, with the exception of Dexia Crediop and its parent company Dexia Crédit 
Local2 (DCL), which will benefit from certain specific conditions.
Specifically, for Dexia Crediop that plan includes: 

(a) the benefit of a new production envelope up to EUR 200 million intended for existing clients for a one year term 
starting from the date of the European Commission decision, during which period Dexia Crediop may be subject to 
divestment but, can in this way, preserve its commercial franchise. At the end of this period, the three member States 
may request that the European Commission authorize an additional yearly amount of new loans. If the European 
Commission does not grant such authorization, and Dexia Crediop has not been divested in the meantime, Dexia 
Crediop will be put in run-off by the end of the relevant year;

1 Now Belfius Banque et Assurance.
2 In 2013-2014 DCL may grant new credits up to a limit of e 600 million, for the sole purpose of reducing the risk profile of the structured credits held in the portfolio, 

using methods approved by the European Commission.
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(b) the management of Dexia Crediop as a distinct entity and in its best interest. To this purpose, Dexia SA appointed Jean 
Le Naour, current CEO of Dexia Crediop, as hold-separate manager and shall ensure that he operates Dexia Crediop, 
in consultation with Dexia SA, in accordance with the commitments of the Dexia Group’s orderly resolution plan 
applicable to Dexia Crediop;

(c) the appointment of a monitoring trustee, proposed by the three member States and approved by the Commission, in 
charge of monitoring the compliance with the commitments of the Dexia Group’s orderly resolution plan, including 
those relating to Dexia Crediop.

In consideration of the orderly resolution plan approved by the European Commission, the consolidated financial 
statements of the Dexia Group were prepared in accordance with the principle of the company as a going concern. In 
fact, already in the previous year, the latter was for the entire Dexia Group influenced by a number of factors, adjusted 
to take into account the main changes which occurred in the reference market. In particular, this plan is based on certain 
structural hypotheses, around which there are some uncertainties. In addition, it takes into account: 

• the obtaining of a definitive guarantee for the liquidity granted by the Belgian, French and Luxembourgish governments, 
without requiring collateral. This guarantee is limited by the governments to an amount of e 85 billion, taking into 
account the 5.5 billion of recapitalisation (of which 2 billion attributed to Dexia Crédit Local) which occurred at the end 
of December 2012. As were all of the hypotheses envisaged in the revised industrial plan, the guarantee was subject 
to definitive approval by the European Commission on 28 December 2012. The limit of this guarantee is € 85 billion 
in capital account, including the financing already covered by the provisional guarantee established in the month of 
December 2011 (for which the residual debt is equal to 53.9 billion at 28 December 2012). The definitive guarantee 
is 51.41% granted by Belgium, 45.59% by France, and 3% by Luxembourg and will cover funding obtained through 
to 31 December 2021 under the forms of securities and financial instruments, deposits or loans, with a maximum 
duration of ten years;

• the maintaining of the bank licenses of the various Group entities and maintaining of the ratings of Dexia SA and Dexia 
Crédit Local;

The macroeconomic situation underlying the revised plan is based on market data observable at the end of September 
2012 and assumes a worsening of the recession in 2013, followed by a gradual improvement starting in 2014. No 
additional relevant credit event was taken into account for the projection period.

In addition, the plan is based on a hypothesis of improvement in the capital market, such as to allow the Dexia Group 
to finance its assets through secured loans (repos) and, in addition, to sell its guaranteed short and long term debt on 
the market for an amount, issued in the context of the definitive guarantee mechanism of 2013, equal to 40 billion in 
2015. If the market is not able to absorb these issues, Dexia will have to accept more expensive sources of funding, with 
a consequent impact on its profitability.

The plan as revised and approved by the Group’s Board of Directors on 14 November 2012 therefore concludes with self-
sufficiency for the Dexia Group, on the basis of the hypotheses and scenarios considered.
Despite this, there are still some uncertainties connected to its implementation: in particular, the plan is sensitive to 
changes in interest rates and creditworthiness. For example, a reduction of 10 basis points on 10-year interest rates 
would lead to a billion euro increase in cash collateral deposit requirements which, financed at the Emergency Liquidity 
Assistance rate (the most costly source of financing) could generate an additional cost of 135 million for the Dexia Group 
for the 2013-2020 period.
Due to this, the plan will be updated regularly to take external variables into account, and in order to estimate their 
precise impact on the projections and their possibility of execution.
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Given the above, the financial statements of Dexia Crediop are also prepared in accordance with the principle of a going 
concern, in consideration of the orderly resolution plan approved by the European Commission and that established 
specifically for Dexia Crediop within the same. Company prospects could suffer from the same factors as described above 
for the Dexia Group, in particular the capacity to provide support for subsidiaries, also in a deteriorated market situation.

In fact, the dynamic liquidity position of Dexia Crediop indicates that the expected net balances for 2013 are mainly 
negative. The sustainability of the same over twelve months will be guaranteed by support from the Dexia Group, already 
demonstrated repeatedly, and in accordance with the methods defined by the guarantor governments and the European 
Community.

Among the determinants of said balances, note the continuation of high levels of margins paid to counterparties for cash 
collateral contracts on derivative products, even if they improved in the first few months of 2013, in turn generated by 
the notable drop in long-term interest rates. For example, a reduction of 10 basis points on 10-year interest rates would 
generate an additional need for cash collateral deposits of around 170 million.  

Prospective needs for 2013 will be covered through mobilisation of available reserves and financing operations implemented 
by Dexia Crediop as well as, for the remaining part, through financing, essentially on an overnight basis, of the Dexia 
Group, in line with the indications of the guarantor governments, the Central Banks and the European Commission.

For additional considerations regarding the specifics of certain aspects of the revised plan and the management prospects 
of the business lines specifically regarding Dexia Crediop, please refer to the section “operational prospects” in the Report 
on Operations of the Company Financial Statements.
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Report by the Board of Auditors

THE BOARD OF AUDITORS’ REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 DECEMBER 2012 PURSUANT TO ART. 2429 OF THE CIVIL CODE

To the General Meeting of Dexia Crediop S.p.A.

Dear Shareholders,
Within the sphere of our duties, pursuant to art. 2429 of the Civil Code, we have examined the consolidated 
financial statements of the DExIA CREDIOP Group at 31 December 2012 (which show a profit for the period 
of e 7.6 million) and the relative Group’s Report on Operations.

Audit of the consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements have been examined according to the Board of Auditors’ Rules of 
Conduct, established by the National Associations of Accountants and Tax Experts and of Qualified Bookkeepers 
and, in compliance with the said rules, we have taken as reference the legal provisions which govern the 
consolidated financial statements and in particular the international accounting standards IAS/IFRS, on the 
basis of which the financial statements in question have been prepared.
The financial statements of the subsidiary companies are subject to verification by the respective statutory 
auditors and are also audited by external auditing firms specifically appointed for the purpose, therefore 
this Board of Auditors has not extended its examination to the individual financial statements of the said 
subsidiaries.
The above-mentioned consolidated financial statements taken as a whole correctly illustrate the equity and 
financial situation and the profit of the DExIA CREDIOP Group for the financial year which closed on 31 
December 2012, in compliance with the provisions which discipline the said consolidated financial statements.

In relation to the Group’s investee companies, it should be noted that:
• DCC Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l. did not carry out any new securitization transactions in 

2012;
• after the transfer of assets in 2010, Dexia Crediop Ireland has continued to manage its stock of portfolio 

securities which consist exclusively of Italian government bonds with a nominal value of e 270 million;
• Crediop per le obbligazioni bancarie garantite S.r.l., acquired in 2010, has not yet carried out any transactions.

The year ended 31 December 2012 resulted in a profit for the year of e 7.6 million, compared to a loss of 
e 22.5 million in the previous year, with an increase of e 30.1 million.

The Board of Auditors acknowledges that the result for 2012 is a result of the early repayment of 1.75 billion 
in assets from the parent company Dexia Credit Local, with an obligation of approximately -31 million.

The Board can also report that the improvement in the trading result compared to the previous year, with 
an increase of approximately e 66.6 million, was due to the strong impact of the valuation effect in 2011, 
especially in the second half of the year, due to the increase in the spread on government debt (which in 2011 
had led to a negative trading result of e 74 million).
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In relation to the principle of “going concern”, the Board of Auditors acknowledges that stated by the 
directors in their report on operations, specifically under the section entitled “Outlook”, and the paragraph 
“Operational prospects” and concerned by a disclosure reference by the auditing company under paragraph 
4 of their report, that the consolidated financial statements of the DExIA CREDIOP Group had been prepared 
on the basis of the business being a going concern, in view of the approval by the European Commission on 
28 December 2012 of the resolution plan ordered and prepared for the Group. However, in the management 
report, the Directors mentioned that there is still uncertainty about the implementation of the plan, which 
could be affected by deterioration in the market context, particularly as a result of changes in interest rates and 
credit ratings. In their report, the Directors confirmed that the plan will be updated regularly to take external 
variables into account, and in order to estimate their precise impact on the projections and their possibility of 
execution.

Examination of the Report on Operations
We have examined the Directors’ Report on Operations, which accompanies the consolidated financial 
statements, in order to verify that the content respects the provisions in force and to ascertain the consistency 
of the consolidated financial statements; the report contains a reliable analysis of the business trend and of the 
management results, and also of the overall situation of the companies included in the consolidation, together 
with the description of the main risks to which they are exposed. 

On the basis of the checks carried out, this Board of Auditors maintains that the Group’s management report 
is correct and consistent with the consolidated financial statements. 

03 April 2013

THE BOARD OF AUDITORS

Pierre Paul Destefanis             Chairman
Vincenzo Ciruzzi  Standing auditor
Flavia Daunia Minutillo  Standing auditor
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Independent Auditors’ Report





(Translation from the original Italian document) 

 

Auditors’ Report in accordance with articles 14 and 16 of Legislative Decree n°39/2010 

 

To the Shareholders of 

Dexia Crediop S.p.A. 

 

 

1. We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. and its subsidiaries (“Dexia 

Crediop Group”) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2012, comprising the balance sheet, the income 

statement, the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity, the cash flow statement 

and the related explanatory notes. The directors of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of 

these financial statements in compliance with the International Financial Reporting Standards endorsed by the 

European Union and with the regulations implementing art. 9 of Legislative Decree n° 38/2005. Our responsi-

bility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 

 

2. We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards and procedures recommended by CONSOB 

(the Italian Stock Exchange Commission). In accordance with such standards and procedures, we planned and 

performed our audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 

misstatement and are, as a whole, reliable. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles 

used and significant estimates made by the directors. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for 

our opinion. 

For the opinion on the prior year consolidated financial statements, whose financial data have been pre-

sented for comparative purposes, reference should be made to our auditors’ report issued on March 30, 

2012. 

 

3. In our opinion the consolidated financial statements of Dexia Crediop Group as of and for the year ended De-

cember 31, 2012 comply with International Financial Reporting Standards endorsed by the European Union and 

with the regulations implementing art. 9 of Legislative Decree n° 38/2005. Therefore they are clearly stated and 

give a true and fair view of the financial position, the results of operations, the changes in equity and the cash 

flows of Dexia Crediop Group for the year then ended. 



202

REPORT ON OPERATIONS



   

4. As an emphasis of matter, we draw your attention to what is described by the directors in the report on opera-

tions, in the section "Business outlook", paragraph " Future operational prospects", regarding the information re-

lated to the maintenance of the going concern basis of Dexia Crediop Group, referred in the notes in the "Gen-

eral Accounting Principles". In particular, the directors report that, given above for the Dexia Group in para-

graph "Future operational prospects", “the consolidated financial statements of Dexia Crediop Group are pre-

pared in accordance with the principle of going concern, in consideration of the ordered resolution plan for 

Dexia Group approved by the European Commission and that established specifically for Dexia Crediop within 

the same. Company prospects could suffer from the same factors as described for the Dexia Group, in particu-

lar the capacity to provide support for subsidiaries, also in a deteriorated market situation. In fact, the dynamic 

liquidity position of Dexia Crediop indicates that the expected net balances for 2013 are mainly negative.The 

sustainability of the same over twelve months will be guaranteed by support from the Dexia Group,already 

demonstrated repeatedly, and in accordance with the methods defined by the guarantor governments and the 

European Community.”. 

 

5. The directors of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. are responsible for the preparation of the report on operations in accord-

ance with the applicable laws and regulations. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consistency of 

the report on operations and the information required by comma 2, letter b) of art. 123-bis of Legislative Decree 

n° 58/98 disclosed in the specific section of the same report, with the financial statements, as required by law.  

For this purpose, we have performed the procedures required under auditing standard n. 001 issued by CNDEC 

(the Italian Accounting Profession) and recommended by CONSOB (the Italian Stock Exchange Commission). 

In our opinion, the report on operations and the information required by comma 2, letter b) of art. 123-bis of 

Legislative Decree n° 58/98 disclosed in the specific section of the same report are consistent with the consoli-

dated financial statements of Dexia Crediop Group as of and for the year ended December 31, 2012. 

 

Rome, April 3, 2013 

 

 Mazars S.p.A. 

 (Signed on the original by) 

Emmanuele Berselli 

 Partner 
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Certification of the consolidated annual financial 
statements pursuant to art. 154-bis of Lgs. Decree 58/98 
and art. 81-ter of Consob Regulation no. 11971 of 14th May 
1999 and successive amendments and additions

1. The undersigned Jean Le Naour, as Chief Executive Officer, and Jean Bourrelly, as the Manager responsible for preparing 
the annual report of Dexia Crediop S.p.A., hereby testify, also taking into account the provisions of art. 154-bis, clauses 
3 and 4, of legislative decree no. 58 of 24th February 1998, to:

• the adequacy in respect of the features of the company and the Group, and
• the effective application

 of the administrative and accounting procedures on which the consolidated financial statements for the 2012 
period are based,

2. it is also declared that:

2.1 the consolidated financial statements:

a) have been drawn up according to the international accounting standards applicable and recognised in the 
European Union pursuant to the regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and Council of 19th 
July 2002;

b) correspond to the balances in the accounting records;
c) give a true and correct representation of the issuer’s equity and economic and financial situation and of all the 

companies included in the consolidation.

2.2 The report on business operations includes a reliable analysis of the management trend and result, as well as the 
issuer’s situation and that of all the companies included in the consolidation, together with a description of the 
main risks and uncertainties to which they are exposed.

Date: 21 March 2013

          Jean Le Naour                      Jean Bourrelly 
     Chief Executive Officer              The Financial Reporting Manager
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
thousands of euro

Assets 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

10. Cash and cash equivalents 3 3

20. Financial assets held for trading 6,259,309 5,307,652

40. Financial assets available for sale 789,588 694,927

50. Financial assets held to maturity 281,128 338,415

60. Due from banks 13,042,910 12,360,442

70. Due from customers 28,164,827 29,161,829

80. Hedging derivatives 540,947 599,431

90. Fair value change of financial assets in hedged portfolios (+/-) 171,184 147,426

120. Property plant and equipment 43,304 43,847

130. Intangible assets 3,323 3,405

     of which:

     - goodwill 0 0 

140.  Tax assets 51,584 71,153

     a)    current 5,873 10,642

     b)    advance 45,711 60,511

     b1)  advance pursuant Law 214/2011 0 0

160. Other assets 100,390 103,243

Total assets 49,448,497 48,831,773

thousands of euro

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

10. Due to banks 23,680,581 23,467,351

20. Due to customers 2,565,868 1,861,798

30. Securities issued 11,534,811 13,464,097

40. Financial liabilities held for trading 6,287,248 5,384,917

60. Hedging derivatives 4,198,750 3,603,260

80. Tax liabilities 3,647 18

     a)    current 3,647 18

100. Other liabilities 38,517 33,470

110. Employee termination indemnities 2,116 2,359

120. Provisions for risks and charges 10,422 13,633

a)   post employment benefits 296 565

b)   other provisions 10,126 13,068

140. Valuation reserves (68,044) (186,078)

170. Reserves 736,728 759,201 

190. Share capital 450,210 450,210

210. Shareholders’ equity of minority interests (+/-) 11 11

220. Net income (loss) 7,632 (22,474)

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  49,448,497  48,831,773
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DExIA CREDIOP BANKING GROUP

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
thousands of euro

Items 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

10.  Interest and similar income 1,028,373 1,078,322 

20.  Interest and similar expenses (932,551) (987,128)

30. Interest margin 95,822 91,194 

40. Fee and Commission income 11,667 14,893 

50. Fee and  Commission expenses (23,792) (4,951)

60. Net fee and commission income (12,125) 9,942 

70. Dividend and similar income 0 3,109 

80. Net trading gains (losses) 22,266 (57,930)

90. Fair Value adjustment in hedge accounting 290 981 

100. Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase of: (29,626) (16,068)

a)   loans (30,851) (28,926)

b)   financial assets available for sale 12 (56)

d)   financial liabilities 1,213 12,914 

120. Net interest and other banking income 76,627 31,228 

130. Net adjustments for impairment of: (14,011) (3,030)

a)   loans (14,011) (3,030)

140. Net income from financial activities 62,616 28,198 

170. Net income from financial and insurance activities 62,616 28,198 

180. Administrative expenses: (35,175) (38,473)

a)   personnel expenses (21,269) (25,190)

b)   other administrative expenses (13,906) (13,283)

190. Net provisions for risks and charges (129) (3,155)

200. Net adjustments on property plant and equipment (1,023) (1,043)

210. Net adjustments on intangible assets (1,764) (1,428)

220. Other operating expenses/income 451 426 

230. Operating expenses (37,640) (43,673)

280. Profit (loss) from continuing operations before tax 24,976 (15,475)

290. Taxes on income from continuing operations (17,344) (6,999)

300. Profit (Loss) from continuing operations after tax 7,632 (22,474)

320. Net income (loss) 7,632 (22,474)

330. Profit (Loss) pertaining to minority interests

340. Parent’s Company net income (loss) 7,632 (22,474)
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STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

thousands of euro

Items 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

10. Net income (loss) 7,632 (22,474)

Other comprehensive income (net of tax)

20.     Financial assets available for sale 101,935 (156,580)

30.     Property plant and equipment

40.     Intangible assets

50.     Hedges of foreign investments

60.     Cash flow hedging 16,099 473 

70.     Exchange rate differences

80.     Non-current assets held for sale

90.     Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefits plans

100.     Share of valuation reserves related to equity investments

110. Total other income (net of tax) 118,034 (156,107)

120. Comprehensive income (items 10 + 110) 125,666 (178,581)

130. Consolidated comprehensive income pertaining to minority interests

140. Consolidated comprehensive income pertaining to Parent Company 125,666 (178,581)

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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DExIA CREDIOP BANKING GROUP

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN CONSOLIDATED SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

thousands of euro
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Share capital: 450,210 450,210 450,210 11

     a) ordinary shares 450,210 450,210 450,210 11

     b) other shares

Share premiums

Reserves: 759,201 759,201 (22,474) 736,728

     a) of profits 584,063 584,063 (22,474) 561,589

     b) others 175,138 175,138 175,138

Valuation reserves (186,078) (186,078) 118,034 (68,044)

Equity instruments

Treasury shares

Profit (Loss) for the 
period

(22,474) (22,474) 22,474 7,632 7,632 0

Shareholders’ equity of 
the Group

1,000,859 1,000,859 0 125,666 1,126,526 11

Shareholders’ equity of 
minority interests

11 11 11
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
Indirect method

thousands of euro
A. OPERATING ACTIVITIES Amount 31/12/2012 Amount 31/12/2011
1. Cash Flow from operations 19,347 50,130 
      - net income (+/-) 7,632 (22,474)
      - gains/losses on financial assets held for trading and on 
        assets/liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss (-/+) (22,266) 57,930 
      - gains/losses on hedging activities (+/-) (290) (981)
      - net adjustments for impairment (+/-) 14,011 3,030 
      - net adjustments of tangible and intangible fixed assets (+/-) 2,787 2,471 
      - net provisions for risks and charges and other costs/revenues (+/-) 129 3,155 
      - net premiums to be collected (-)
      - other insurance revenues/charges to be collected (-/+)
      - taxes and duties to be settled (+) 17,344 6,999 
      - net adjustments of disposal groups classified as held for sale, net
        of tax effect (-/+)
      - other adjustments (+/-)
2. Cash flow from / used in financial assets (608,804) (4,686,492)
      - financial assets held for trading (929,391) (1,518,135)
      - financial assets designated at fair value through profit and losses
      - financial assets available for sale (94,661) 160,735 
      - due from banks: repayable on demand 158,263 (169,638)
      - due from banks: other receivables (840,731) (3,291,122)
      - due from customers 982,990 (138,651)
      - other assets 114,726 270,319 
3.Cash flow from / used in financial liabilities 591,618 4,635,591 
      - due to banks: repayable on demand
      - due to banks: other deposits 213,230 5,066,358 
      - due to customers 704,070 (101,037)
      - securities issued (1,929,286) (3,080,130)
      - financial liabilities held for trading 902,331 1,515,258 
      - financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss
      - other liabilities 701,273 1,235,142 

Net cash flow from (used in) operating activities 2,161 (771)
B. INVESTMENT ACTIVITIES
1. Cash flow from 0 3,109 
      - sales of investments in associates and companies subject to joint control
      - dividend collected on investments in associates and companies subject to joint control 0 3,109 
      - sales of financial assets held to maturity
      - sales of property plant and equipment 
      - sales of intangible assets 
      - sales of subsidiaries and company divisions
2. Cash flow used in (2,161) (2,338)
      - purchases of investments in associates and companies subject to joint control
      - purchases of financial assets held to maturity
      - purchases of property plant and equipment (480) (734)
      - purchases of intangible assets (1,681) (1,604)
      - purchases of subsidiaries and company branches

Net cash flow from (used in) investment activities (2,161) 771 
C. FUNDING ACTIVITIES
      - issues/purchases of treasury shares
      - issues/purchases of share capital
      - dividend distribution and other

Net cash flow from (used in) funding activities 0 0 
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH  AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 0 0

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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DExIA CREDIOP BANKING GROUP

RECONCILIATION

thousands of euro

Balance sheet items Amount
31/12/2012

Amount
31/12/2011

Cash and cash equivalents at the begininng of period 3 3 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent 0 0 

Cash and cash equivalents: foreign exchange rates effect 0 0 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of period 3 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Part A - Accounting policies
Part B - Infomation on the consolidated balance sheet
Part C - Information on the consolidated income statement
Part D - Consolidated comprehensive income
Part E – Information on risks and associated hedging policies
Part F – Information on the consolidated capital
Part H – Transactions with related parties
Part L – Segment reporting
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Part A - Accounting policies
  A.1   General Part      
   – Section  1 - Declaration of conformity to International Accounting Standards       
   – Section  2 - General accounting principles       
    – Section  3 - Consolidation area and methods       
    – Section  4 - Events after the balance sheet date       
    – Section  5 - Other aspects         
  A.2  The main aggregates of the financial statements   
   1  - Financial assets held for trading    
   2  - Financial assets available for sale   
   3   - Financial assets held to maturity    
   4  - Loans       
   6  - Hedging transactions    
   8  - Property plant and equipment     
   9  - Intangible assets    
   11  - Current and deferred taxes   
   12  - Provisions for risks and charges   
   13  - Debt instruments and securities in issue    
   14  - Financial liabilities held for trading   
   16  - Currency transactions    
   18  - Other information     
  A.3   Information on fair value     
  A.3.1  - Transfers between portfolios   
  A.3.2  - Fair Value Hierarchy    
  A.3.3  - Information on the so-called “day one profit/loss”    
         

Part B - Information on the consolidated balance sheet      
  ASSETS        
  – Section  1 - Cash and cash equivalents    
  – Section  2 - Financial assets held for trading   
  – Section  4 - Financial assets available for sale   
  – Section  5 - Financial assets held to maturity   
  – Section  6 - Due from banks    
  – Section  7 - Due from customers    
  – Section  8 - Hedging derivatives    
  – Section  9 - Fair value adjustment of financial assets in hedged portfolios 
  – Section 12 - Property plant and equipment   
  – Section 13 - Intangible assets   
  – Section 14 - Tax credits and liabilities   
   – Section 16 - Other assets   
  LIABILITIES        
  – Section  1 - Due to banks    
  – Section  2 - Due to customers   
  – Section  3 - Securities in issue    
  – Section  4 - Financial liabilities for trading   
  – Section  6 - Hedging derivatives    
  – Section  7 - Fair value adjustment of financial liabilities in hedged portfolios 
  – Section 10 - Other liabilities   
  – Section 11 - Provision for severance indemnities  
  – Section 12 - Provisions for risks and charges   
  – Section 15 - Group capital
  – Section 16 - Shareholders’ equity of minority interests   
   Other information          
   1   - Guarantees given and commitments   
   2   - Assets lodged as surety for own liabilities and commitments  
   5   - Management and broking for customer accounts: banking group    
   6   - Change in portfolio adjustments    
   7   - Fair value  



214

Part C - Information on the consolidated income statement      
  – Section  1 - Interest    
  – Section  2 - Commissions   
  – Section  3 - Dividend and similar income    
  – Section  4 - Trading gains (losses)   
  – Section  5 - Hedging gains (losses)   
  – Section  6 - Disposal/repurchase gains (losses)    
  – Section  8 - Net adjustments for impairment  
  – Section 11 - Administrative expenses    
  – Section 12 - Net provisions for risks and charges  
  – Section 13 - Net adjustments on property plant and equipment  
  – Section 14 - Net adjustments on intangible assets  
  – Section 15 - Other operating expenses and income   
  – Section 20 - Tax on profit from continuing operations  

Part D - Consolidated comprehensive income           
Analytic statement of consolidated comprehensive income       
            

Part E – Information on risks and associated hedging policies    
Section 1 - Risks for the banking group 
   1.1 Credit risk        
   Qualitative information       
    1.   General aspects       
    2.   Credit risk management policies       
    2.1 Organisational aspects      
    2.2 Management, measuring and audit systems      
    2.3 Credit risk mitigation techniques      
    2.4 Impaired financial assets       
  Quantitative information      
   A.   Credit quality       
    A.1 Impaired and performing loan exposure: amounts, write-downs, trends, economic
           and geographical distribution 
   A.2 Classification of exposure according to external and internal ratings
   A.3 Breakdown of secured loan exposure according to type of guarantee    
   B.  Distribution and concentration of loan exposure     
   B.1 Banking group - Distribution of on and off-balance sheet customer loan exposure according to sector
         (book value)
   B.2 Banking group - Distribution of on and off-balance sheet customer loan exposure according to area
         (book value)    
   B.3 Banking group - Distribution of on and off-balance sheet bank loan exposure according to area
         (book value)
   B.4 Major exposure      
   C.  Securitisation and asset disposal transactions      
   C.1 Securitisation transactions    
   Qualitative information       
   Quantitative information       
       C.1.1  Banking group - Exposure to securitisation transactions according to quality of underlying
    assets  
       C.1.3  Banking group - Exposure from main “third party” securitisation transactions according to type
    of securitised asset and type of exposure
       C.1.4  Banking group - Exposure to securitisation transactions distributed by portfolio and type  
       C.1.6 Banking group - Interests in special purpose vehicles      
       C.2  Disposal transactions     
       C.2.1. Banking group - Financial assets sold but not derecognized     
       C.2.2. Banking group - Financial liabilities for assets sold but not derecognized     
  D.   Banking group - Models for the measurement of credit risk

     

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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   1.2 Banking group - Market risks        
    1.2.1 Interest rate risk and price risk - regulatory trading book  
 Qualitative information           
 A.  General aspects        
 B.  Management and measurement of interest rate risk and price risk   
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PART A – ACCOUNTING POLICIES

A. 1 – General Part

Section 1 – Declaration of conformity to international accounting standards

The Annual Report of the Dexia Crediop Company for the year ending 31st December 2012 were prepared in accordance 
with the International Financial Reporting Standards and the International Accounting Standards (hereafter “IFRS”, “IAS”, 
or international accounting standards) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and adopted by the 
European Commission according to procedures referred to in article 6 of Regulation (EC) no. 1606/2002 of the European 
Parliament and Council dated 19th July 2002, which were approved on that date. 
The Annual Report was also prepared in accordance with the Bank of Italy’s instructions contained in Circular n. 262 of 
22nd December 2005 and later updates.

The IAS/IFRS principles approved and in effect at 31 December 2012 were used in preparing the Annual Report (including 
the interpretative documents known as SIC and IFRIC).

The table below indicates the new international accounting principles or the amendments to accounting principles 
already in existence, with the relative approval regulations of the European Commission, which took effect during 2012.

Document title Date of emission Effective date Approval date EU Regulation and 
publication date

Amendments to IFRS 7 
Financial instruments: 
disclosures - Transfers of 
financial assets

October 2010 1 July 2011 22 November 2011 (EU) 1205/2011
23 November 2011

The table below indicates the new international accounting principles or amendments to accounting principles already 
in existence whose obligatory application begins - in the case of annual reports that follow the calendar year - as of 1 
January 2013 or subsequent.

Document title Approval date
EU Regulation publication 

date

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentationof Items of Other Comprehensive Income 05 June 2012 06 June 2012 

IAS 19 Employee Benefit 05 June 2012 06 June 2012 

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 11 December 2012 29 December 2012 

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 11 December 2012 29 December 2012 

IFRS 12 Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities 11 December 2012 29 December 2012 

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 11 December 2012 29 December 2012 

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements 11 December 2012 29 December 2012 

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 11 December 2012 29 December 2012 

IFRIC 20 Stripping Costs in the Production Phase of a Surface Mine 11 December 2012 29 December 2012 

Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes - Deferred tax: Recovery of Underlying Assets 11 December 2012 29 December 2012 

Amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of IFRS - Severe Hyperinflation and Removal 
of Fixed Dates for First-Time Adopters

11 December 2012 29 December 2012 

Amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities

13 December 2012 29 December 2012 

Amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation - Offsetting Financial Assets 
and Financial Liabilities

13 December 2012 29 December 2012 
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Section 2 – General accounting principles

The company’s annual report was drawn up in true and fair fashion and consist of the balance sheet, the income 
statement, the statement of total income, the statement of changes in shareholders’ equity, the statement of changes in 
the financial position and the notes to the statements. The annual report is also accompanied by the Directors’ Report on 
Operations. The annual report was drawn up in units of one euro.

The schedules of the balance sheet, income statement and statement of total income consist of items identified with 
numbers and sub-items identified with letters together with additional information (the various “of which” references 
relative to the items and sub-items). The items, sub-items and associated additional information make up the annual 
report accounts. Each account in the balance sheet, income statement and statement of total income also shows the 
amount relating to the previous period. The balance sheet, income statement and statement of total income do not 
include any accounts with zero amounts in both the year of reference and the previous financial year.

The notes to the statements were drawn up in thousands of euro. Any items and tables which do not have any amounts 
are not mentioned in the notes to the statements.

The annual report was drawn up according to the going concern principle and the accruals concept.

Information regarding the existence of the prospects of a going concern are illustrated in the Report on Operations, in 
the Business Outlook section.

Section 3 – Consolidation area and methods
1. Equity investments in companies controlled exclusively by the parent bank or jointly (consolidated 
proportionately) 

Company name Head-quarters Relation-ship Investment relationship % of votes 
held

Investor 
company

Stake %

A. Companies:

A.1 Consolidated line-by-line

DCC – Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l. Rome 1 Dexia Crediop 100% 100%

D.C.I. – Dexia Crediop Ireland (1) Dublin 1 Dexia Crediop 99.9% 99.9%

Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.l. Rome 1 Dexia Crediop 90% 90%

Tevere Finance S.r.l. (2) Rome 4

     
(1) Dexia Crediop Ireland (DCI) is an unlimited liability company constituted under Irish law and established in 2008, with registered offices in 6 George’s 

Dock, Dublin 1 and share capital of e 700 million. 
 At 31st December 2012 the share capital amounts to €100 milion represented by 100 million shares, each with a nominal value of 1 euro.
    - 99,999,999 shares are held by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.;
    - 1 share held by Belfius Ireland (ex Dexia Investments Ireland), in its capacity as Trustee for Dexia Crediop S.p.A.., until 05.03.2013; on 06.03.2013 

Belfius Ireland sold, without trustee agreement, the share to Dexia Crédit local.

(2) This company is a vehicle pursuant to law no. 130/1999 founded on 21 September 2007. The share capital is e 10,000 and is fully subscribed and 
paid up. The sole shareholder is an Dutch foundation, whilst Dexia Crediop exercises effective control.
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Section 4 – Events after the balance sheet date

There were no events after the balance sheet date which entail a need to amend the results of the annual report as at 
31st December 2012.

Section 5 - Other aspects

In compliance with the cited international accounting principles, the preparation of the annual report obligatorily requires 
the use of estimates and hypotheses which are able to determine relevant effects on the values in the balance sheet and 
income statement, as well as in the disclosure provided regarding potential assets and liabilities.
These estimates and the associated hypotheses and assumptions are based on past experience and other current available 
information held to be reasonable for the purposes of identifying management facts. Given their intrinsic subjectivity, 
the estimates and hypotheses are naturally susceptible to changes, even sizeable, from one year to the next, based on 
changes in market parameters and other information used during the estimate process. 
The areas of the financial statement most affected by the subjective estimate and evaluation processes are the following:
• determination of fair value for financial instruments not listed on active markets;
• evaluations of loss of value for loans, equity investments and other financial assets;
• evaluation of the severance indemnity fund and other funds for benefits due to employees;
• estimate of allocations for other provisions for risks and charges;
• estimates and assumptions of the recoverability of deferred tax assets (advance taxes).

On the closing date of this annual report there were also no apparent reasons to doubt the estimates which could lead 
to material amendments in the book values of the assets and liabilities. In addition, there were no changes made to the 
accounting estimates which have had effects in the current financial period. 

A. 2 – The main aggregates of the annual report

1 – Financial assets held for trading   

Financial assets held for trading (item 20) include:

• financial assets, which, irrespective of their technical form, are held with a view to generating profits in the short term;
• derivative contracts not designated as hedging instruments. 

As regards financial assets, both debt and equity instruments are first recognised on the settlement date, while derivatives 
are entered on the trade date. 

Financial assets held for trading are initially recognised at fair value, which generally corresponds to the settlement price, 
exclusive of transaction costs and income which are immediately recognised in the income statement, as long as they are 
directly attributable to these financial instruments. When the settlement price is different from fair value, the financial 
asset is recognised at fair value and the difference compared to the settlement price is booked to the income statement. 

Any commitments for transactions to be regulated that are in existence as of the date of the annual report are evaluated 
using the same criteria applied to regulated transactions.

Subsequent measurement is carried out on the basis of changes in the fair value and the result is booked to the income 
statement. For an illustration of the criteria used to determine the fair value of such financial instruments, please refer to 
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section “A.3.2 Fair Value Hierarchy”

Differentials in derivative contracts classified in the trading portfolio and the results of the fair value measurement are 
included in “Net trading gains (losses)”. 

Financial assets for trading are derecognised only on expiry of the contractual rights relating to the cash flows or when 
the financial assets are sold with the transfer to third parties of all the risks and benefits associated with them. However, 
if a significant share of the risks and benefits of the sold financial assets are maintained, they continue to be recognised, 
even if ownership of such assets has effectively been transferred.

If substantial transfer of the risks and benefits cannot be ascertained, the financial assets are derecognised when no 
type of control is maintained over the same. Otherwise, when such control is retained, even partially, these assets are 
maintained on the balance sheet to the extent to which the said control is retained, calculated according to exposure to 
changes in the value of the sold assets and variations in the cash flows of the same. 

These financial assets are derecognised on the date they are disposed of (settlement date). 

Derivatives are considered financial assets if their fair value is positive and liabilities if their fair value is negative. The Group 
does not compensate the current positive and negative values from transactions in existence with the same counterparty.

2 – Financial assets available for sale  

The item “Financial assets available for sale” includes all financial assets other than derivatives, that are not classified 
as loans and receivables, investments held to maturity or financial assets held for trading. The item also includes debt 
securities and equity securities (including the equity investment in the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo) which cannot be 
classified as subsidiaries, associated companies or joint subsidiaries and which do not, therefore, fall within the scope of 
application of IAS 28. 

The first recognition of the financial asset is done on the basis of the IAS criteria of “settlement date accounting”, 
meaning the settlement date for debt or equity securities and the disbursement date in the case of loans.
Any commitments for transactions to be regulated that are in existence as of the date of the annual report are evaluated 
using the same criteria applied to regulated transactions.

Financial assets available for sale are recorded in the balance sheet at fair value, which is normally the same as the 
purchase price, including any charges or revenue directly ensuing from the instrument. When the settlement price is 
different from fair value, the financial asset is recognised at fair value and the difference compared to the settlement price 
is booked to the income statement.

Subsequent measurement is carried out on the basis of the fair value with recognition of gains or losses deriving from 
changes in fair value booked to a specific reserve in shareholders’ equity, net of any tax effects. Interest payments on debt 
securities, determined using the amortised cost method, are booked to the income statement.

Changes in exchange rates for non-monetary instruments (equity securities) are booked to the specific shareholders’ equity 
reserve, while those relating to monetary instruments (loans and debt securities) are booked to the income statement.
Equity securities whose fair value cannot be reliably determined are maintained at cost, and adjusted in the case that 
impairment losses are ascertained.
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Any accumulated or unrealised profits or losses on securities available for sale are recognised in the income statement 
when the asset is derecognised, or when an impairment loss occurs.

As regards determination of the fair value of financial assets available for sale and the criteria used for derecognising 
them, the reader is referred to the information provided above for financial assets held for trading.

Financial assets available for sale are examined on an individual basis in order to verify whether there is any objective 
evidence of a fall in value (IAS 39 paragraph 59). This check, which is carried out at each yearly or interim period closing 
date, is based on a series of both qualitative and quantitative indicators. Qualitative indicators of a possible loss of value 
are, for example, significant financial difficulties for the issuer, non-fulfilment or lack of payment of interest and equity 
according to the terms, the disappearance of an active market for the asset in question. In addition, for investments in 
equity instruments, the following quantitative indicators are considered separately to serve as objective evidence of a loss 
of value: the presence of a fair value at the date of the annual report of less than 50% of the original purchase cost, or 
the prolonged presence (over 5 years) of a fair value less than the purchase cost of the asset.

If such evidence exists, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the book value of the asset, net of 
any redemptions and amortizations, and the current value of the estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original 
effective interest rate, or on the basis of the fair value measurement for listed equity securities. 

If the reasons for the writedowns no longer exist, reversals are performed which are booked to the income statement 
if they refer to debt securities or loans, and to shareholders’ equity if they refer to equity securities. The amount of the 
writeback, for debt securities, cannot in any case exceed the amortised cost that the asset would have had, in the absence 
of impairment.

3 – Financial assets held to maturity  

The item “Financial assets held to maturity” includes financial assets other than derivatives, which have fixed or calculable 
contractual payments and fixed maturity dates and which can be and are intended to be held to maturity except for those 
which:

a) the Bank designates, at the time of initial recognition, at the fair value booked to the income statement;
b) the Bank designates as available for sale;
c) meet the definition of loans and receivables.

If following a change of plan or capacity, it is no longer appropriate to keep an investment classified as held to maturity, 
it is reclassified among assets available for sale, and for the following two years it is not possible to recognised new assets 
in the category “Financial assets held to maturity”

Financial assets held to maturity are first recognised on the settlement date. On initial recognition, financial assets 
classified in this category are designated at fair value, determined on the trade date (IAS 39, paragraph 44 and AG 56) 
and including any charges and income directly attributable to the instrument. When the settlement price is different from 
fair value, the financial asset is recognised at fair value and the difference compared to the settlement price is booked to 
the income statement. 

Financial assets included in this category as a result of reclassification from ‘Assets available for sale’, are recognised at 
amortised cost, which is initially taken as being equal to the fair value of the asset on the date of reclassification. 

Any commitments for transactions to be regulated that are in existence as of the date of the annual report are evaluated 
using the same criteria applied to regulated transactions.
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After initial recognition, financial assets held to maturity are carried at amortised cost. The result of said evaluation is 
booked to the income statement under item “10-Interest and similar income”. The amortised cost of an asset is the 
same as the value the asset was measured at on the date of initial recognition net of any equity reimbursements. This 
is increased or reduced by the overall amortisation, achieved by using the effective interest method, equity and interest 
payments contractually owed, and any difference between the initial value and the value on maturity and minus any 
reduction (made directly or through the use of a provision) following impairment loss or impossibility of recovery. 
“Financial assets held to maturity” are examined on an individual basis in order to verify whether there is any objective 
evidence of a fall in value (IAS 39 paragraph 59). This check is carried out at each yearly or interim period closing date, 
using the same methodology illustrated for the financial assets available for sale, to which the reader can refer for greater 
detail.
When there is objective evidence of impairment losses, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between 
the book value of the asset and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective 
interest rate. The associated adjustment is recognised in the income statement, under the item “130-Net adjustments for 
impairment of: c) financial assets held to maturity”.
 When the reasons for an impairment loss no longer exist, a reversal is booked to the income statement which cannot, 
however, exceed the amortized cost which the instrument would have had without the previous loss.

Gains or losses relative to the derecognition of assets held to maturity are booked to the income statement, under the 
item “100-Gains/losses on disposal or repurchase of: c) financial assets held to maturity”. With regards to derecognition 
criteria, please refer to that illustrated above for financial assets held for trading.

4 – Loans  

The item “Loans and receivables” includes non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments, which 
are not quoted in an active market, and which are not designated as “Financial assets available for sale” on the date of 
initial recognition. 
Normally, this item includes loans to clients and banks including debt securities with characteristics similar to loans.

Sale and repurchase transactions (Repos) are also included in the item “loans and receivables”.

Securities received in the context of a Repo transaction, which contractually envisage subsequent sale, and securities 
delivered in the context of a transaction that contractually envisages the subsequent repurchase, are not booked as 
treasury securities or derecognised from the annual report, respectively, but are booked as due to/from customers or 
banks. This is due to application of the “continuing involvement” principle sanctioned by IAS 39, § 17-23.

Receivables are first entered on the date they are issued or, in the case of debt securities, on the settlement date. 
Receivables are initially recognised at their fair value, equal to the amount paid out, or to the subscription/trading price, 
including any transaction costs/income directly attributable to the single receivable. Even if they have the above features, 
costs which are reimbursed by the borrower or which can be considered normal internal administrative costs are excluded. 

After initial recognition, the receivables are valued at the amortised cost, equal to the initial booking value decreased/
increased by equity payments, writedowns/writebacks and amortisation - calculated using the effective interest rate 
method - the difference between the amount paid out and that repayable at maturity, generally traceable to the costs/
revenues directly attributed to the individual receivable. The effective interest rate is identified by calculating the rate 
that is equal to the current value of the future flows of the receivable, for capital and interest, to the amount paid out 
inclusive of costs/revenues traceable to the receivable. This method of accounting, using financial logic, makes it possible 
to distribute the economic effect of the costs/revenues throughout the expected maturity of the receivable.
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The amortised cost method is not used for short-term loans, as for these the effect of the application of the actualisation 
logic based on effective interest is negligible. For these receivables, interest matures “pro-rata temporis”, in accordance 
with the law of simple interest.

The book value of the loan portfolio is periodically subject to checks for the existence of any losses in value (IAS 39 
paragraph 59) which could lead to a reduction in their presumable sale value. For a classification of impaired debts in 
the various risk categories (non-performing loans, problem loans, restructured and past due loans), reference is made to 
the regulations issued on the subject by the Bank of Italy together with the internal provisions which establish rules for 
classification and transfers within the scope of the various expected risk categories. 
Determination of the write-down on the receivables, to be posted on the income statement net of the provisions 
previously allocated, is equal to the difference between the book value at valuation date (amortised cost) and the present 
value of the forecast future cash flows, calculated applying the effective original interest rate. For variable rate loans for 
which a change in the interest rate occurred during the period, an average tax determined on the measurement date is 
applied. The estimate of future cash flows takes account of expected recovery times, the presumable realization value of 
any existing guarantees and costs considered necessary for recovery of the loan exposure. 
Receivables classified as bad debts and substandard loans, with objective lasting impairment in value are evaluated on an 
analytical basis. 

Loans which do not show any objective evidence of impairment or for which no impairment is forecast are assessed 
collectively, by grouping them together in homogeneous categories with similar characteristics in terms of credit risk, such 
as the technical form of the loan, the economic sector the counterparties belong to, their geographical location and the 
type of existing guarantees.

The original value of the loans is reinstated in subsequent financial periods to the extent to which the reasons for the 
writedown are no longer evident; the writeback is booked to the income statement and may not in any case exceed the 
amortised cost that the loan would have had in the absence of previous writedowns.

Financial guarantees given which are not represented by derivatives are assessed taking into account the provisions of IAS 
39 which stipulate, on the one hand, recognition of the fee received, pursuant to IAS 18, and on the other, measurement 
of the risks and charges connected with the guarantees by applying the principles provided for in IAS 37. 

Loans transferred are derecognised from the assets in the financial statement only if the transfer involved the substantial 
transfer of all the risks and benefits connected to said loans. However, if a significant proportion of the risks and benefits 
of the sold financial assets has been maintained, they continue to be recognised among the assets, even if ownership of 
the receivable has effectively been transferred.

During 2004, 2005 and 2008, three securitisation transactions were performed on securities for Italian local authorities 
through the 100% subsidiary company, “DCC-Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l.” (hereafter, “DCC”). In support 
of these operations Dexia Crediop has issued an unconditional guarantee to the holder of the ABS senior (another 
company of the Dexia Group). Owing to this guarantee, and therefore to the obligation to re-purchase the securities and 
reimburse all the ABSs against any form of credit or fiscal event, we are of the opinion that, even if the legal ownership of 
the securities is transferred, control over the cash flows of the securities is in fact still retained, as well as the substantiality 
of the risks and benefits (continuing involvement). 

In 2009 and 2010, securitisation operations were originated for loans through the vehicle company Tevere Finance S.p.A., 
the equity of which is held by a Dutch foundation. By the total repurchase on the part of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. of the 
ABS securities issued by the vehicle, both senior and junior classes, at the same time as the sale of the assets, continuing 
involvement is maintained.  
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Since the conditions do not exist for the derecognition of the assets sold, in compliance with the provisions of IAS 39, 
the prior situation has been restored on the financial statement, with the re-posting of the separate capital of DCC and 
Tevere Finance in the accounts of Dexia Crediop. 

4.1 - Due from banks
The item “Due from banks” includes receivables from banks which present fixed and determinable payments not listed 
on active markets and the securities issued by banks with features similar to the receivables, previously classified under 
“Bonds and other debt securities”.

4.2– Due from customers
The item “Due from customers” includes receivables from customers which present fixed and determinable payments not 
listed on active markets and the securities issued by customers with features similar to the receivables, previously classified 
under “Bonds and other debt securities”.

6 – Hedging derivatives  

The item “Hedging derivatives” recognises instruments used to neutralize potential losses which may be recognised in 
a particular element and attributable to one or more types of risk (interest rate risk, exchange rate risk, price risk, credit 
risk, etc.). 
The types of hedging transactions used are the following:

• Fair value hedges, performed with the aim of hedging exposure to variations in the fair value of assets/liabilities 
recognised in the balance sheet; the subject of such hedging can be specific transactions, or an amount of balance 
sheet assets or liabilities, selected from a portfolio of financial instruments with a similar level of exposure to interest 
rate risk. (macro hedge, as envisaged in the “IAS 39 carve out” adopted by the European Community);

• Cash flow hedges, performed with the aim of hedging the exposure to variations in expected cash flows of assets/
liabilities recognised in the annual report or relating to highly probable future transactions; 

 
A financial instrument is designated as a hedge if there is formal documentation on the relationship between the hedged 
item and the hedging instrument, which includes the risk management objectives, the strategy for carrying out the hedge 
and the methods used to test the effectiveness of the hedge itself.
Dexia Crediop S.p.A. conducts an assessment at the start and periodically (on a quarterly basis), using forecasting and 
retrospective tests, to see whether or not the hedge is highly effective in offsetting the changes in the fair value or the 
expected cash flows of the hedged instrument. The tests on effectiveness are considered as passed if the ratio between 
the changes in the fair value (or cash flows) of hedging instruments and those of the hedged items fall within the range 
of 80-125%.

The hedging operation, and the relative Hedge Accounting are interrupted prospectively if: (i) the hedging operation 
through the derivative is revoked or is no longer highly effective; (ii) the derivative expires, is sold, annulled or exercised; 
(iii) the hedged item is sold, expires or is redeemed; (iv) it is no longer highly probable that the future hedged operation 
will be performed. In all the cases cited (except for the cases under (ii), the derivative in question is reclassified among 
financial instruments for trading.

The hedging instruments are designated as such only if stipulated with a counterparty external to the Dexia Crediop 
Group.
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The accounting rules for hedging transactions envisage the following (see IAS 39, §85-101):

• Like all derivatives, hedging derivatives are initially recognised in the balance sheet on the trade date and are subsequently 
measured at fair value. The “Hedging derivatives” items among the assets (item 80) and liabilities (item 60) on the 
balance sheet include the positive and negative value of derivatives which are part of effective hedging operations.

• In the case of effective fair value hedging, any changes in the value of the hedging instruments and the hedged 
instruments (as regards the part attributable to the hedged risk) are booked to the income statement. The differences 
between these variations in value constitute the partial ineffectiveness of the hedge and lead to a net impact in the 
income statement, recognised under item 90 “Net hedging gains/losses”. Variations in value of the elements hedged, 
attributable to the risk which is being hedged against, are booked to the income statement as a matching entry for the 
variation in value attributed to the element in question. In the case of generic hedging the changes in the fair value 
of the element hedged are posted in the appropriate items of the assets (90) and liabilities (70) of the balance sheet 
pursuant to IAS 39, paragraph 89A.

• If a fair value hedge ceases to exist for reasons other than realization of the hedged item, the variations in value of 
the latter, which were recognised in the balance sheet for as long as the effective hedge was maintained, are booked 
to the income statement under interest income or expenditures. When the hedge refers to interest-bearing financial 
instruments, this is done using the amortized cost principle, or in other cases with a single amount.

• As regards cash flow hedges, the gain or loss portion on a hedging instrument that is considered effective is initially 
recognised in shareholders’ equity (cash flow hedging reserve), under item 130 “Valuation reserves”. Any share of gain 
or loss associated with the hedging instrument, which exceeds the fair value change of the expected flows from the 
covered element in absolute value, is immediately booked to the income statement (overhedging). When the cash flows 
being hedged become manifest and are recognised in the income statement, the relevant gain or loss on the hedging 
instrument is transferred from shareholders’ equity to the corresponding item in the income statement (90 - “Net 
hedging gains/losses”). 

• In the case of interruption of a cash flow hedge relation, the total of the gain or loss of the hedging instrument 
previously booked to shareholders’ equity remains recognised in the specific equity reserve until the moment in which 
the transaction takes place or it is held that there is no longer a possibility that the transaction will occur. In this latter 
circumstance, this amount is transferred to the income statement under item 80 “Net trading gains/losses”. Fair value 
changes booked to item 130 of the liabilities are also recognised in the Statement of comprehensive income.

7 – Equity investments  

Investments in equity instruments fall under the definition of equity instruments contained in IAS 32.
The item “Equity investments” includes equity investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and companies subject 
to joint control.
Subsidiaries are companies in which the parent has the power to determine administrative, financial and management 
choices and in which it normally has more than half the voting rights. 
Associated companies are deemed to be those in which the Parent Company holds at least 20% share of the voting 
rights and companies whose administrative, financial and management choices are deemed to be subject to significant 
influence owing to the effects of actually existing legal links. 
Companies subject to joint control are deemed to be those where contractual agreements exist, which require the 
consent of the Company and of other investors with whom the control is shared, in order for administrative, financial and 
management choices to be made.
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Equity investments in subsidiaries, associated companies and companies under joint control, are booked to the balance 
sheet on the settlement date and are carried at cost, adjusted when impairment losses are ascertained.
In the case that objective evidence of a loss in value is determined for an equity investment, an estimate of the recoverable 
value of the equity investment is carried out, corresponding to the greater of the fair value bet of sales expenses and 
the value in use. The value in use is the current value of the expected financial flows that the equity investment could 
generate, including the final disposal value.
If the recoverable value is less than the book value of the equity investment, the associated writedown is recognised in 
the income statement under item 210 “Profit(Loss) from equity investments”.
If the reasons for the write-down no longer exist, the reversals are booked to the income statement – under the same 
item 210 - only up to reinstatement of the original book value.

The associated dividend is recognised when the right to receive it arises.
Minority interests, or at least those not subject to significant influence, are included under the item “Financial assets 
available for sale”.
Equity investments are cancelled from the financial statement when the contractual rights on cash flows deriving from 
such assets cease, or when the equity is sold with substantial transfer of all risks and benefits linked to the same.

7.1 – Dividend  
Dividend is recognised when the right to receive it arises, which corresponds to the financial period in which the sum is 
received (IAS 18 paragraph 29).

8 – Property, plant and equipment  

The item “Property, plant and equipment” includes assets held to be used for more than one financial period in the 
production and provision of services or for administrative purposes (so-called “instrumental assets”), together with real 
estate properties held for collecting rent and/or for the appreciation of the equity invested (so-called “non-instrumental 
assets”).
When the international accounting standards were first adopted, the part attributable to plots of land associated with 
“sky-to-ground” properties, was separated out since they were not subject to depreciation, as land has an indefinite 
useful life. Similarly the historical cost of works of art not subject to depreciation was reinstated, because their useful life 
is deemed impossible to estimate and their value is not likely to fall with the passing of time. 
In line with paragraph 7 of IAS 16, Property, plant and equipment assets are recognised in the balance sheet only when 
it is reasonably possible to determine the cost of the asset and it is probable that the associated future economic benefits 
will accrue to the company. Therefore, it is important to establish the time when the risks and benefits attached to an 
asset are effectively transferred to the company, irrespective of when ownership is formally conveyed.
Property, plant and equipment assets are initially entered at cost, which includes not only the purchase price but also any 
associated charges directly ensuing from the purchase and costs involved in starting up the asset. The expenses incurred, 
subsequent to purchase, increase the book value of an asset or are recognised as separate assets only when they lead to 
an increase in future economic benefits due to the use of the asset; other expenses incurred subsequent to purchase are 
booked to the income statement in the period in which they are incurred. 
In periods subsequent to that of initial recognition, assets are recognised in the accounts on the basis of the amortisable 
historical cost method. The relevant amortisation is carried out on the basis of the possible residual useful life of the 
assets. The useful life of Property, plant and equipment assets subject to depreciation is periodically re-assessed.
A Property, plant and equipment asset is eliminated from the balance sheet when it is sold or scrapped and when no 
future economic benefits are expected from its use.
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9 – Intangible assets

The item “Intangible assets” includes assets that can be identified and are without physical consistency, which originate 
from legal or contractual rights and which are held to be used over a number of years. In the main, they are represented 
by application software.
Intangible assets are recognised at cost, net of overall depreciation and permanent impairment losses, only if the future 
economic benefits ascribable to the asset are likely and if the cost of the asset itself can be measured reliably. Otherwise, 
the cost of the assets is booked to the Income Statement in the year in which it was incurred.
Intangible assets recognised in the balance sheet are amortised on the basis of their residual useful life according to a 
straight-line method. The period and method of amortisation are re-assessed at the end of each financial period.
An intangible asset is eliminated from the balance sheet when it is disposed of or when no future economic benefits are 
expected.

11 - Current and deferred taxes  

Current income taxes are calculated on the basis of the tax result for the year. These taxes are entered as tax liabilities if 
they exceed the amounts already paid in advance during the year, and as tax assets if the amounts paid in advance exceed 
the taxes for the period.
Current taxes are booked as a revenue or as a charge and are included in profits or losses for the year except for taxes 
that refer to items that are accredited or debited directly to shareholders’ equity, in which case they are booked directly 
to shareholders’ equity.
Deferred taxes are calculated by applying the so-called balance sheet liability method, bearing in mind the fiscal effect 
connected with the temporary differences between the book value of assets and liabilities and their fiscal value, which 
lead to taxable or deductible amounts in future periods.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated by applying current tax rates to taxable temporary differences for which 
it is likely that taxes will effectively be sustained, and to deductible temporary differences for which there is a reasonable 
certainty of recovery. Deferred tax assets and liabilities relating to the same kind of tax which fall due in the same period 
are offset against each other.
If deferred tax assets and liabilities refer to items booked to the income statement, the contra-item is the associated 
income tax. When deferred tax assets and liabilities refer to transactions directly involving shareholders’ equity, with no 
direct influence on the income statement (such as adjustments relating to first adoption of IAS/IFRS, and measurements 
of financial instruments available for sale or of cash flow hedging derivatives), they are booked as contra-entries to 
shareholders’ equity, and entered in the specific reserves if appropriate. 
Assets and liabilities booked for deferred tax assets and liabilities are systematically assessed to take into account both 
any amendments in legal provisions or changes in rates and any different subjective situations of the Group companies.

12 – Provisions for risks and charges 

According to that envisaged in IAS 37, provisions for risks and charges involves exclusively provisions for current obligations 
(legal or implicit) originating from a past event, for which:
• the payment of financial resources to fulfil said obligation is probable;
• it is possible to make a reliable estimate of the relative amount. 

If the time factor is significant, the provisions, which are recognised in contra-items in the income statement, are 
discounted at current market rates. 
The item includes provisions for early retirement incentives, applying the rules of the national contracts for bank workers 
and of specific company agreements.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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12.1 - Provisions for retirement funds and similar benefits
Staff pension funds include the various complementary retirement plans with defined benefits, established to implement 
company agreements and recognised in the accounts in compliance with the provisions of IAS 19 “Employee benefits”. 
These plans are considered defined benefit plans, in that they guarantee a series of benefits which depend on factors 
such as age, years of service, and salary prospects for employees, regardless of the effective performance of any financial 
assets used to serve the plan. In these cases, the actuarial risk and the investment risk fall mainly on the Company that 
guarantees the plan.
Liabilities related to these plans and the relative retirement costs relating to current employment are determined by 
independent actuaries on the basis of actuarial and financial hypotheses defined by the Dexia Group, using the Project 
Unit Credit Method. This method makes it possible to uniformly distribute the cost of the benefit throughout the working 
life of the employee, as a function of the years of service matured, hypotheses of salary increases, and theoretical seniority 
reached at the time the benefit is paid out.

More specifically, the amount booked as liability in item 120.a) “Provisions for risks and charges-retirement funds and 
similar benefits” is equal to the algebraic sum of the following values:
• current value of the obligation at the reference date (calculated using the above method):
• minus the fair value of any assets that serve the plan;
• minus (plus) any actuarial gains or losses not booked in the annual report, on the basis of the so-called “corridor” 

method.

This “corridor” method envisages that the actuarial gains or losses are recognised in the financial statement only if they 
exceed the greater of 10% of the current value of the benefits generated by the plan, and 10% of the fair value of the 
assets serving the plan. Any excess is booked to the income statement on the basis of the average residual duration of 
the Fund’s benefits.  

12.2 – Other provisions  
This item includes provisions made against legal and implicit obligations existing at the close of the period, including 
provisions for employee early retirement schemes and other social security and health charges, and provisions for the 
creation of the reserve required for paying employees their long-service bonuses according to the terms of company 
regulations.
These liabilities are determined, in the same way as pension funds, on the basis of an assessment conducted by an 
independent actuary using the methods laid down in IAS 19 (refer to that above in Provisions for retirement funds and 
similar benefits). 
The actuarial gains and losses are therefore recognized in the balance sheet with a contra-item in the income statement.
The provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 

13 – Payables and securities issued

The items “Due to banks”, “Due to customers” and “Securities issued” include various forms of provisioning from banks 
and customers, reverse repurchase agreements and provisioning through bonds and other funding instruments issued 
(net of any shares of repurchased items). 
Initial recognition of such financial liabilities is done on the settlement date when the sums collected are received or when 
the securities are issued, on the basis of the fair value of the liabilities, which is normally equal to the amount received or 
the issue price, with an increase for any additional costs/revenues directly connected to the single funding or bond issue 
operation and not reimbursed by the lender. Internal administrative costs are excluded. 
After initial recognition, debts and the securities issued, with the exception of on-demand and short-term entries which 
remain booked at the price received, are valued at their amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 
Financial liabilities are derecognised when they have expired or are extinguished. They are also derecognised in the case of 
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repurchase of previously issued securities. The difference between the book value of the liability and the amount paid to 
purchase it is booked to the income statement under item 100.d) ”Gains(losses) from repurchase of financial liabilities”. 
Replacement on the market of own securities after buyback is considered a new issue with recognition at the new 
placement price, with no effect on the Income Statement.

14 – Financial liabilities for trading  

The item includes the negative value of trading derivatives.
All financial liabilities for trading are initially booked on the trade date based on fair value, without considering any 
transaction costs directly attributable to the financial instrument, which are instead immediately booked to the income 
statement.
Subsequently, these liabilities are booked at fair value, with recognition of the evaluation to the income statement under 
item “80. Net trading gains (losses)”.
With regards to the criteria for determining fair value of financial instruments, please refer to section A.3.2 Fair value 
hierarchy”.
Financial liabilities held for trading are derecognised from the financial statement when the contractual rights over the 
associated financial flows expire or when the financial liability is transferred with the substantial transfer of all the risks 
and benefits deriving from ownership of the same.

16 – Currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are first entered in the accounting currency, applying the exchange rate in effect at the 
moment of the transaction.
At the end of every financial year or interim period, foreign currency items are measured as follows:
• cash items are converted at the exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date;
• non-cash items are carried at their historical cost converted at the exchange rate in effect on the date of the transaction;
• non-cash items designated at fair value are converted at the exchange rate in effect on the balance sheet date.

Exchange rate differences resulting from the settlement of cash elements or from the conversion of non-cash elements 
at rates other than those of the initial conversion or the conversion rate of the previous annual report, are booked to the 
Income Statement of the financial period in which they arise.
Exchange rate differences relating to a non-monetary element, valued at fair value as a matching entry to a shareholders’ 
equity reserve, are also booked to shareholders’ equity. On the other hand, when a non-monetary element is valued at 
fair value in the income statement as a matching entry, the relative exchange rate difference is also booked to the income 
statement.

18 – Other information

18.1 – Accruals and deferrals
Accrued income and deferred expenses include portions of revenues/expenses relating to several financial periods in part 
already matured during the current financial period (and in the previous ones) but not yet received/paid. Deferred income 
and expenses include portions of revenues/expenses already received/paid in the reporting period (or in previous ones) 
but relating to the current financial period or subsequent ones. 
These amounts are recognised in the balance sheet, adjusting the assets and liabilities they refer to.
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18.2 – Recognition of revenues and costs
Revenues from the sale of goods or the provision of services are recognised in the balance sheet at the fair value of the 
consideration received on the basis of the accruals concept. In the majority of cases the consideration consists of cash or 
similar means and the amount of the revenues is the sum of cash or similar means received or due.
Costs are booked to the income statement in the periods when the associated revenues are recognised.

18.3 – Valuation reserves
This item includes valuation reserves relating to financial assets available for sale and cash flow hedges, net of the 
associated current or deferred taxation.

18.4 – Provision for employee severance indemnities
Following the reform of complementary retirement funds pursuant to Legislative Decree 252 of 5/12/2005, the quotas of 
severance indemnities accrued through to 31/12/2006 remained at the company, while quotas maturing after 1/1/2007 
were destined, based on the employee’s choice, to the bank’s or the INPS Treasury’s complementary retirement funds.

Hence the severance indemnity fund accrued through to 31/12/2006 continues to be a defined benefit plan, in accordance 
with that envisaged in IAS 19. The relative liability is booked to the financial statement on the basis of the actuarial value 
of the same, determined by an independent actuary, on the basis of simplified actuarial hypotheses, which no longer take 
into account expected future salary changes in the employment contract. Future flows of the severance indemnity are 
actualised as of the reference date and any actuarial gains or losses are booked to the income statement on the basis of 
the so-called “corridor” method (please see above, section Provisions for retirement funds and similar benefits). 

Vice versa, the quotas of severance indemnities accrued after 1/1/2007 can be considered to be a defined contribution 
plan for all purposes, in that the obligation of the company is limited to paying the amounts accrued to the complementary 
retirement fund chosen by the employee or to the INPS Treasury. The relative cost for the period is given by the amounts 
paid to these alternative retirement funds.

18.5 – Bond lending
With reference to the clarifications provided by the Bank of Italy during the course of 2012 in regards to bond lending 
transactions without guarantees or with guarantees consisting of other securities or unavailable cash, the following 
accounting treatment was adopted.

The remuneration for the transactions in question is recognised by the lender under item 40 “fee income” in the income 
statement, Correspondingly, the cost of said transactions is recognised by the borrower under item 50 “fee expense” in 
the income statement.

With reference to any deposits made in favour of the lender by the borrower, considering that the cash remains fully 
available to the latter until maturity of the security loan transaction, the borrower - in application of the principle of 
substance prevailing over form - does not recognise either the asset in terms of the lender in the annual report, nor the 
corresponding constrained liability. Correspondingly, the lender does not recognise in the annual report a liability with the 
borrower or the connected constrained asset.
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A.3 - INFORMATION ON FAIR VALUE

A.3.1 Transfers between portfolios
A.3.1.1 Reclassified financial assets: book value, fair value and effects on comprehensive income

thousands of euro

Type of 
financial 
instrument

Portfolio of 
origin

Allocation 
portfolio

Book 
value as at 
31.12.2012

Fair value 
as at 

31.12.2012

Income items for lack of 
transfer

 (before tax)

Income items recorded 
during the year

 (before tax)

valuation other valuation other

Debt 
securities

AFS L&R 10,620,331  9,828,809 (835,720)  296,010 (65,865)  296,010 

The income items refer to interests as well as capital gains and losses realised on securities previously reclassified.

A.3.1.4 Effective interest rate and cash flows expected from the reclassified assets
With regard to information pursuant to IFRS 7 § 12 A, letter f, we point out that these securities do not meet the 
Impairment requirements: all estimated future cash flows would be collected. 

A.3.2 Fair Value Hierarchy
A.3.2.1 Accounting portfolios: distribution by fair value levels

thousands of euro

Financial assets/liabilities designated at fair value
31/12/12 31/12/11

L 1 L 2 L 3 L 1 L 2 L 3

1.  Financial assets held for trading 6,073,598 185,711 5,147,469 160,183

2.  Financial assets designated at fair value through profit 
and loss

3.  Financial assets available for sale 629,156 160,432 558,229 136,698

4.  Hedging derivatives 433,175 107,772 471,812 127,619

Total 629,156 6,506,773 453,915 558,229 5,619,281 424,500

1.  Financial liabilities held for trading 6,127,964 159,284 5,241,342 143,575

2.  Financial liabilities designated at fair value

3.  Hedging derivatives 4,175,645 23,105 3,579,104 24,156

Total 10,303,609 182,389 8,820,446 167,731

    
Key:    

L 1 = Level 1    

L 2 = Level 2    

L 3 = Level 3    

Financial assets/liabilities designated at fair value are classified according to a hierarchy of level that reflects the significance of 
observable market inputs; the classification of an instrument is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement in its entirely.

The three levels of fair value are defined as follow:
a) Level 1: quoted market prices observable in active markets as defined by IAS 39;
b) Level 2: valuation techniques using observable inputs or quoted market prices observable in non-active markets;
c) Level 3: valuation techniques using unobservable inputs on the market.
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Financial assets available for sale include primarily government bonds listed on active markets (“Level 1”) and have been valued 
at market listings in the last business day of the period of reference. Compared to 2011, there are no changes in the valuation 
technique or in the hierarchical classification of the fair value.

The residual financial assets  available for sale are represented by capital securties (“Level 3”). In section 4, the criteria adopted 
for the determination of the fair value  and the estimate of impacts are analysed.
 
The assets and liabilities held for trading are mainly derivative instruments. With regard to all these instruments as a whole 
– therefore also including the hedge derivatives shown in the table above – over 90% of the fair value has been estimated 
according to techniques based on observable market data (“Level 2”).

The remaining instruments include some structured derivatives for which certain market parameters (e.g. volatility, correlations) 
were no longer directly observable on the market or which were no longer judged representative for the purpose of estimating 
fair value, hence mark-to-model parameters were used.  

Consistent with what is specified by the Bank of Italy, the fair value of derivatives should integrate the various components that 
due to counterparty risk. From an accounting standpoint, the credit risk component of expected (Expected Loss) is represented 
by the so-called Credit Value Adjustment.

To estimate the impact of the use of alternative valuation techniques on the fair value of the entire compartment of “level 3” 
derivatives, the valuations given by the counterparts of the derivatives were considered. With regard to all financial assets and 
liabilities held for trading, since these are derivatives in matched banking transactions, there would be no impact (3.4 mln/ €  
in absolute value, positive on the assets and negative on the liabilities). However, the estimated impact on hedge derivatives 
amounts to +0.2 mln/€ on the assets and   -1 mln/€ on the liabilities.

A.3.2.2 Annual changes in financial assets designated at fair valule through profit and loss (level 3)
thousands of euro

 

FINANCIAL ASSETS

held for trading
designated at fair 

value through 
P&L

available for sale hedging

1.     Opening balance 160,183   136,698  127,619 

2.     Increases  27,411   23,868  19,742 

2.1.  Puchases     

2.2.  Gaind recognised in:     

2.2.1. Income statement  16,121    19,032 

         - of which capital gains  456    2,859 

2.2.2. Shareholders’ equity X X  23,868  

2.3.  Transfers from other levels  1,430    710 

2.4.  Other increases  9,860    

3.     Decreases  1,883   134  39,590 

3.1.  Sales     

3.2.  Reimbursements     

3.3.  Losses recognised in:     

3.3.1. Income statement  1,801    39,590 

     - of which capital losses    

3.3.2.  Shareholders’ equity X X 134  

3.4.   Transfers to other levels  82    

3.5.  Other decreases     

4.     Closing balances  185,711   160,432  107,771 
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A.3.2.3 Annual change in financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss (level 3)
thousands of euro

 

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

held for trading
designated at fair 

value through 
P&L

hedging

1.     Opening balances  143,575   24,156 

2.     Increases  18,534   19,767 

2.1.  Issues    

2.2.  Losses recognised in:   

2.2.1. Income statement:  17,104  

         - of which capital losses  95  

2.2.2.  Shareholders’ equity X X  

2.3.  Transfers from other levels  1,430   19,767 

2.4.  Other increases    

3.     Decreases  2,825   20,818

3.1.  Reimbursement    

3.2.  Repurchases    

3.3.  Gains recognised in:    

3.3.1. Income statement  1,699   19,808 

         - of which capital gains   

3.3.2.  Shareholders’ equity X X  

3.4.  Transfers to other levels  1,126   1,010 

3.5.  Other decreases    

4.     Closing balances  159,284   23,105 

A.3.3 - Information on the so-called “day one profit/loss”
During the period, the group has recorded the so-called “Day One Profit” (DOP) in the income statement; it consist in 
the difference, if any exist, between the fair value at the initial recognition date of financial instruments included in the 
trading portfolio and the amount determine using valuation tecnhiques based on observable market data as inputs.
The DOP recorded in item “80 - Gain/Losses on trading” of 2012 income statement amounts to e 0.47 
million and refers exclusively to derivatives transaction included in the trading portfolio; according to IAS 39 that figure has 
been calculated taking into account the upfront fee paid/collected, beeing all these instruments back to back transactions.

It is also specified that as of 31 December 2012, no DOP shares are present to be noted on the income statement of 
future years.
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PART B – INFORMATION ON THE CONSOLIDATED BALANCE 
SHEET

Assets

Section 1 - Cash and cash equivalents – item 10

1.1 Cash and cash equivalents: breakdown
thousands of euro

 
Total at

31/12/2012
Total at

31/12/2011

a) Cash  3 3

b) Unrestricted deposits at Central Banks   

Total  3  3 

Section 2 - Financial assets held for trading - item 20

2.1 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown by type

thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

 L 1  L 2  L 3  L 1  L 2  L 3 

A. Cash assets       

1. Debt securities       

   1.1 Structured securities       

   1.2 Other debt securities       

2. Equity instruments       

3. Mutual fund shares       

4. Loans       

   4.1 Repurchase agreements       

   4.2 Others       

Total A

B. Derivatives       

 1. Financial derivatives:   6,073,598  118,270   5,147,469  96,281 

        1.1 trading   6,073,598  118,270   5,147,469  96,281 

        1.2 associated with fair value option       

        1.3 other       

 2. Credit derivatives:    67,441    63,902 

        2.1 trading    67,441    63,902 

        2.2 associated with fair value option       

        2.3 others       

Total B  6,073,598  185,711  5,147,469  160,183 

Total (A+B)  6,073,598  185,711  5,147,469  160,183 
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2.2 Financial assets held for trading: breakdown by borrower/issuer
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
 Total at 

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

A. Cash assets   

1. Debt securities   

    a) Governments and Central banks   

    b) Other public entities   

    c) Banks   

    d) Other issuers   

2. Equity instruments   

    a) Banks   

    b) Other issuers:   

         - insurance companies   

         - financial institutions   

         - non-financial companies   

         - others   

3. Mutual fund shares   

4. Loans   

    a) Governments and Central banks   

    b) Other public entities   

    c) Banks   

    d) Others   

Total A   

B. Derivative instruments  6,259,309  5,307,652 

    a) Banks   

        - fair value  4,957,488  3,791,245 

    b) Customers   

        - fair value  1,301,821  1,516,407 

Total B  6,259,309  5,307,652 

Total (A+B)  6,259,309  5,307,652 
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Section 4 - Financial assets available for sale - item 40

4.1 Financial assets available for sale: breakdown by type

thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

 L 1  L 2  L 3  L 1  L 2  L 3 

 1. Debt securities  629,156    558,229   

    1.1 Structured securities       

    1.2 Other debt securities  629,156    558,229   

 2. Equity instruments    158,311    134,443 

    2.1 Measured at fair value    158,311    134,443 

    2.2 Measured at cost       

 3. Mutual fund shares    2,121    2,255 

 4. Loans       

Total  629,156   160,432  558,229   136,698 

Here below are presented significant details related to Equity instruments and Mutual Funds:
thousands of euro

Equity instruments and mutual fund shares
Financial Statements at 

31/12/2012

AFS reserve at 
31/12/2012
 (net of tax)

Istituto per il Credito Sportivo  158,310  124,370 

Idroenergia S.c.r.l.  1 0

Equity securities  158,311  124,370 

Dimensione Network Fund (Mutual fund shares)  241  162 

Mid Capital Mezzanine Fund (Mutual fund shares)  1,880 (101)

Mutual fund shares  2,121  61 

Total  160,432  124,431 

With regard to Istituto per il Credito Sportivo (ICS), Dexia Crediop S.p.A. holds 2,065,864, out of a total of 9,554,452 
shares, with a par value of 1 euro each, representing a stake of 21.622%.
Since that stake does not express a corresponding level of voting rights nor it can be classified as of significant influence, 
the instrument has been recorded in financial assets available for sale portfolio (AFS).
The stake related to Dimensione Network Fund is booked at the symbolic value of 1 euro.

In accordance with the Dexia Group policy and with the nature of inputs used in valuation, the fair value of the stakes 
above is determined using techniques based on unobservable inputs (level 3).
 
Here following the summary of valuation methods used:
- Istituto per il Credito Sportivo: mixed equity-income method;
- Dimensione Network Fund (Mutual fund shares): equity method;
- Mid-Capital Mezzanine Fund (Mutual fund shares): equity method.
 
With regard to the valuation technique used for Istituto per il Credito Sportivo, the application of the pure equity 
method would increase the value (gross of tax) by approximately e 9 million. As concerns the Mutual funds shares, the 
measurement is based on equity data provided by the entities.
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4.2 Financial assets available for sale: breakdown by borrower / issuers
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

1. Debt securities  629,156  558,229 

    a) Governments and Central banks  629,156  558,229 

    b) Other public entities   

    c) Banks   

    d) Other issuers   

2. Equity securities  158,311  134,443 

    a) Banks  158,310  134,442 

    b) Other issuers:  1  1 

         - insurance companies   

         - financial institutions   

         - non-financial companies  1  1 

         - others   

3. Mutual fund shares  2,121  2,255 

4. Loans   

    a) Governments and Central banks   

    b) Other public entities   

    c) Banks   

    d) Others   

Total  789,588  694,927 

4.3 Financial assets available for sale with specific hedges
thousands of euro

Items/Components
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

1. Financial assets with specific fair value hedges  505,823  466,409 

    a) interest rate risk  505,823  466,409 

    b) price risk  

    c) foreign exchange risk  

    d) credit risk  

    e) various risks  

2. Financial assets with specific cash flow hedges  

    a) interest rate risk  

    b) foreing exchange risk  

    c) other  

 Total  505,823  466,409
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4.4 Financial assets available for sale: annual change
thousands of euro

Debt securities
Equity 

instruments
Mutual fund 

shares
Loans  Total

A. Opening balances  558,229  134,443  2,255  694,927 

 B. Increases 118,642 23,868 0  142,510 

       B1. Purchases  41,413 41,413

       B2. Increases in FV  77,216  23,868  101,084 

       B3. Writebacks 

        - recognised in income statement  x 

        - recognised in shareholders' equity 

       B4. Transfers from other portfolios 

       B5. Other changes  13 13

 C. Decreases 47,715 0 134  47,849 

       C1. Sales  41,425 41,425

       C2. Reimbursements 

       C3. Decreases in FV  3,452  134  3,586 

       C4. Writedowns for impairment 

        - recognised in income statement 

        - recognised in shareholders' equity 

       C5. Transfers to other portfolios 

       C6. Other changes  2,838  2,838 

D. Closing balances  629,156  158,311  2,121  789,588

Section 5 - Financial assets held to maturity - item 50

5.1 Financial assets held to maturity: breakdown by type
thousands of euro

 Total at
31/12/2012

 Total at 
31/12/2011

 BV 
 FV 

 BV 
 FV 

 LEVEL 1  LEVEL 2  LEVEL 3  LEVEL 1  LEVEL 2  LEVEL 3 

 1. Debt securities  281,128  321,315  338,415  380,218 

    - structured 

    - others  281,128  321,315  338,415  380,218 

 2. Loans 

Key:
FV = fair value
BV = book value
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5.2 Financial assets held to maturity: borrower/issuers
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at 

31/12/2011

 1. Debt securities  281,128  338,415 

     a) Governments and Central banks 

     b) Other public entities  281,128  338,415 

     c) Banks 

     d) Other issuers 

 2. Loans 

     a) Governments and Central banks 

     b) Other public entities 

     c) Banks 

     d) Others 

Total  281,128  338,415

Total fair value 321,315 380,218

5.4 Financial assets held to maturity: annual changes
thousands of euro

Debt securities Loans  Total

A. Opening balances  338,415  338,415 

B. Increases 14 14

      B1. Purchases

      B2. Writebacks

      B3. Transfers from other portfolios

      B4. Other changes  14  14 

C. Decreases  57,301  57,301 

      C1. Sales

      C2. Reimbursement  53,715  53,715 

      C3. Impairment losses

      C4. Transfers to other portfolios

      C5. Other changes  3,586  3,586 

D. Closing balances  281,128  281,128
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Section 6 - Due from banks - item 60

6.1 Due from banks: breakdown by type
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
 Total at 

31/12/2012
 Total at 

31/12/2011

 A. Due from Central Banks 15,885 193,519

      1. Restricted deposits 

      2. Compulsory reserve  15,885 193,519

      3. Repurchase agreements 

      4. Others 

 B. Due from banks   13,027,025  12,166,923 

      1. Current accounts and deposits  669,985  2,231,237 

      2. Restricted deposits  5,261,106  5,613,381 

      3. Other loans:  791,121  1,414,513 

          3.1 Reverse repurchase agreements   557,274  1,125,513 

          3.2 Financial lease 

          3.3 Others  233,847  289,000 

      4. Debt securities  6,304,813  2,907,792 

          4.1 Structured securities 

          4.2 Other debt securities  6,304,813  2,907,792 

Total (book value)  13,042,910  12,360,442 

Total (fair value)  13,045,660  12,304,454

6.2 Due from banks with specific hedges
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

1. Loans with specific fair value hedges 198,163  197,438 

    a) interest rate risk 198,163  197,438 

    b) foreign exchange risk

    c) credit risk

    d) various risks

2. Loans with specific cash flow hedges

    a) interest rate risk

    b) foreign exchange risk

    c) other risks

Total 198,163  197,438
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Section 7 - Due from customers - item 70

7.1 Due from customers: breakdown by type
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts

Total at 31/12/2012 Total at 31/12/2011

Performing
Non Performing

Performing
Non Performing

Purchased Other Purchased Other

1. Current accounts

2. Reverse repurchase agreements 0  439,725 

3. Loans  10,083,887  25,490  12,161,461  786 

4. Credit cards, personal loans, salary-backed 
loans

5. Financial lease

6. Factoring

7. Other transactions  1,626,415  446,354 

8. Debt securities  16,429,035  16,113,503 

     8.1 Structured securities

     8.2 Other debt securities  16,429,035  16,113,503 

Total (book value)  28,139,337  25,490  29,161,043  786 

Total (fair value)  26,733,426  25,490  27,304,012  786

7.2 Due from customers: breakdown by borrowers/issuers
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts

Total at 31/12/2012 Total at 31/12/2011

Performing
Non Performing

Performing
Non Performing

Purchased Other Purchased Other

1. Debt securities  16,429,035 16,113,503

     a) Governments  4,892,245  4,396,159 

     b) Other public entities  9,082,035  9,210,256 

     c) Other issuers  2,454,755  2,507,088 

          - non-financial institutions  1,210,257  1,147,657 

          - financial institutions  1,244,498  1,359,431 

          - insurance companies

          - others

2. Loans to  11,710,302 25,490  13,047,540  786 

     a) Governments  3,104,653  3,261,899 

     b) Other public entities  6,896,288  139  7,598,481  147 

     c) Others  1,709,361 25,351  2,187,160  639 

          - non-financial institutions  1,103,954  25,351  1,671,733 

          - financial institutions  604,033  513,751  639 

          - insurance companies

          - others  1,374  1,676 

Total  28,139,337  25,490  29,161,043  786
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7.3 Due from customers with specific hedges
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012 
 Total at

31/12/2011 

1. Loans with specific fair value hedges 16,855,062  16,792,395 

    a) interest rate risk 16,305,383  16,221,798 

    b) foreign exchange risk

    c) credit risk

    d) various risks 549,679  570,597 

2. Loans with specific cash flow hedges 959,173  2,877,729 

    a) interest rate risk 959,173  2,877,729 

    b) foreign exchange risk

    c) other risks

Total 17,814,235  19,670,124

Section 8 - Hedging derivatives - item 80

8.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by type of hedging and by level
thousands of euro

 FV
31/12/2012 

NA   
31/12/2012

FV
31/12/2011

NA   
31/12/2011

 L1  L2  L3  L1  L2  L3 

 A)  Financial derivatives  433,176  107,771  8,601,719  471,812  127,619  8,683,244 

      1) Fair Value  381,808  107,771  7,350,726  430,485  127,619  7,819,967 

      2) Cash flow hedges 51,368  1,250,993 41,327  863,277 

      3) Foreign investments 

  B) Credit derivatives 

      1) Fair Value 

      2) Cash flow hedges 

Total  433,176  107,771  8,601,719  471,812  127,619  8,683,244 

Key:
FV = fair value
NA = notional amount
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8.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by portfolios hedged and type of hedging (book value)
thousands of euro

Transaction/Type
of hedging

 Fair value Cash flow hedges

Foreign 
investments

Specific

Generic Specific Genericinterest 
rate risk

foreign 
exchange 

risk
credit risk price risk

various 
risks

1. Financial assets 
available for sale

 x  x  x 

2. Loans  480  x  11,600  x  51,311  x  x 

3. Financial assets held to 
maturity

 x  x  x  x  x 

4. Portfolio Hedge  x  x  x  x  x  9,771  x  x 

5. Other transactions  x  x 

Total assets  480 0 0 0  11,600 9,771  51,311 0 0

1. Financial liabilities  426,473  x  41,255  x  57  x  x 

2. Portfolio Hedge  x  x  x  x  x  x  x 

Total liabilities  426,473 0 0 0  41,255 0 57 0 0

1. Forecast transactions  x  x  x  x  x  x  x  x 

2. Portfolio of financial 
assets and liabilities

 x  x  x  x  x  x 
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Section 9 - Fair value changes of financial assets in hedged portfolios - item 90

9.1 Fair value changes of hedged assets: breakdown by portfolios hedged
thousands of euro

Fair value changes of hedged assets / Components of group 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

1. Increases 180,862  214,992 

     1.1 of specific portfolios: 180,862  214,992 

           a) loans 180,862  31,468 

           b) financial assets available for sale 0 183,524

     1.2 overall

2. Decreases  9,678  67,566 

     2.1 of specific portfolios:  9,678  67,566 

           a) loans  9,678  8,393 

           b) financial assets available for sale 0 59,173

     2.2 overall

Total  171,184  147,426

9.2 Assets hedged by macrohedging of interest rate risk
thousands of euro

Hedged assets 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

1. Loans  6,942,345  7,017,087 

2.  Assets available for sale 270,000 270,000

3.  Portfolio 

Total 7,212,345 7,287,087
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Section 12 - Property, plant and equipment - item 120

12.1 Property plant and equipment: breakdown of assets measured at cost
thousands of euro

Assets/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

A. Assets used in operations

1.1 company owned  43,304  43,847 

        a) land  28,844  28,844 

        b) buildings  12,265  12,505 

        c) furniture  1,821  1,907 

        d) electronic equipments  255  370 

        e) others  119  221 

1.2 acquired under financial lease

        a) land

        b) buildings

        c) furniture

        d) electronic equipments

        e) others

Total A  43,304  43,847 

B. Assets held as investments

2.1 company owned

        a) land

        b) buildings

2.2 acquired on financial lease

        a) land

        b) buildings

Total B 0 0

Total (A+B)  43,304  43,847

Additional information
The account for depreciation in property, plant and equipments is made by using the straight-line method; it reflects the 
ways in wich the futures economic benefits will be used. This methed consists in the accounting of a contast amount 
of depreciation charge throughout the entire life of the asset. During the period there have been no changes to the 
expected uses of the future economic benefits, that would require changes to the depreciation method.
The useful life of assets is calculated on the basis of their expected usefulness. Since land and works of art have an 
unlimited useful life, they are not subject to depreciation.
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12.3 Property plant and equipment used in operations: annual changes
thousands of euro

Land Buildings Furniture
Electronic 

equipment
Others  Total  

A. Gross opening balances  28,844  22,444  3,426 698  1,541  56,953 

A.1 Total net adjustments 0  9,939  1,519 328  1,320  13,106 

A.2 Net opening balances  28,844  12,505  1,907  370  221  43,847 

B. Increases 0 439 4 27 10  480 

B.1 Purchases 0  439  4 27  10  480 

B.2 Expenses for capitalised improvements

B.3 Writebacks

B.4 Increases in fair value recognised in:

       a) shareholders' equity

       b) income statement

B.5 Positive foreign exchange differences

B.6 Transfers from buildings held as investments

B.7 Other changes

C. Decreases 0 679 90 142 112  1,023 

C.1 Sales

C.2 Depreciation 0  679  90 142  112  1,023 

C.3 Impairment losses recognised in:

       a) shareholders' equity

       b) income statement

C.4 Decreases in fair value recognised in:

       a) shareholders' equity

       b) income statement

C.5 Negative foreign exchange differences

C.6 Transfer to:

       a) property plant and equipment held as investments

       b) assets held for sale

C.7 Other changes

D. Net closing balances  28,844  12,265  1,821  255  119  43,304 

D.1 Total net adjustments 0  10,618  1,609  470  1,432  14,129 

D.2 Gross closing balances  28,844  22,883  3,430  725  1,551  57,433 

E. Measured at cost
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Section 13 - Intangible assets - item 130

13.1 Intangible assets: breakdown by type of asset
thousands of euro

Assets/Amounts

 Total at 
31/12/2012

 Total at
31/12/2011

Defined useful
file

Indefinite useful 
life

Defined useful
file

Indefinite useful 
life

A.1 Goodwill  X X

A.1.1 pertaining to the Group x x

A.1.2 pertaining to third parties x x

A.2 Other intangible assets  3,323  3,405 

A.2.1 Assets measured at cost:  3,323  3,405 

        a) Internally generated intangible assets

        b) Other assets  3,323  3,405 

A.2.2 Assets measured at fair value:

        a) Internally generated intangible assets

        b) Other assets 

Total  3,323  3,405 

Intangible assets consist of software purchased from third parties in the process of amortization. The amortization period 
of investments is calculated according to the remaining useful lives.
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13.2 Intangible assets: annual change
thousands of euro

Goodwill
Other intangible assets: 

ginternally enerated
Other intangible assets: 

others
 Total

DEF INDEF DEF INDEF

A. Opening balances  29,426  29,426 

A.1 Total net adjustments  26,021  26,021 

A.2 Net opening balances  3,405  3,405 

B. Increases  1,682  1,682 

B.1 Purchases  1,682  1,682 

B.2 Increases in internal intangible assets  x 

B.3 Writebacks  x 

B.4 Increases in fair value recognised in:

       - shareholders' equity  x 

       - income statement  x 

B.5 Positive foreign exchange differences

B.6 Other changes

C. Decreases  1,764  1,764 

C.1 Sales

C.2 Writedowns  1,764  1,764 

       - Amortization  x  1,764  1,764 

       - Devaluations:

             + shareholders' equity  x 

             + income statement

C.3 Decreases in fair value recognised in:

       - shareholders' equity  x 

       - income statement  x 

C.4 Transfers to non-current assets held for sale

C.5 Negative foreign exchange differences

C.6 Other changes

D. Net closing balances  3,323  3,323 

D.1 Total net adjustments 27,785  26,021 

E. Gross closing balances 31,108  29,344 

F. Measurement at cost

Key:
DEF: defined duration

INDEF: indefinite duration
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Section 14 - Tax credits and liabilities - item 140 of the assets and Item 80 of the liabilities

14.1 Banking group - Deferred tax assets: breakdown
        

thousands of euro

Costs deductible in other periods  3,693 

Provisions for risks and charges  3,048 

Net changes in cash flow hedging derivatives  943 

AFS securities impairments  61,614 

Total  69,298 
        
        
        

 14.2 Banking group - Deferred tax liabilities: breakdown       
        

thousands of euro

Costs deducted but with comptetence in future periods  128 

Property plant and equipment - elimination of depreciation at FTA  3,217 

AFS securities revaluation  20,088 

Consolidation entries 154

Total  23,587 
        

Deferred tax assets and liabilities in the Balance Sheet are shown as compensated, in accordance with paragraph 74 of 
IAS 12.
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14.3 Banking group - Change in deferred tax assets (through profit and loss)
thousands of euro

 Total at
31/12/2012

 Total at
31/12/2011

Opening balance  10,620  14,919 

    Increases  242  2,562 

2.1 Deferred tax assets recognised in the period  242  2,562 

     a) related to previous years

     b) due to changes in accounting criteria

     c) writebacks

     d) other  242  2,095

2.2 New taxes or tax rate increases 0  467 

2.3 Other increases  

    Decreases  4,121 6,861

3.1 Deferred tax assets eliminated in the period  4,121 6,861

     a) reversals  4,121 6,861

     b) writeoffs

     c) due to changes in accounting criteria

     d) other

3.2 Tax rate reduction

3.3 Other decreases

    Closing balance 6,741  10,620

Advance taxes are recognised according to the likelihood that sufficient taxable amounts will be generated in the future.

The rates used to value advance taxes for IRES and IRAP purposes are 27.50% and 5.57% respectively.

Advance tax assets recognized during the year amounted to 242 thousand of euro and are attributable to provisions not 
immediately deductible.

Advance taxes cancelled during the year amount to 4,121 thousand of euro and are attributable to the uses of provisions 
not deducted in prior years and the recovery of costs deductible over several years and to the utilization of the 2011 fiscal 
loss. 
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14.4 Banking group - Changes in deferred tax liabilities (with matching entry in income statement)
thousands of euro

 Total at 
31/12/2012

 Total at
31/12/2011

1. Opening balance  3,378  3,307 

2. Increases  128  71 

2.1 Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the period  128 0

     a) related to previous years

     b) due to changes in accounting criteria

     c) other  128 0

2.2 New taxes or tax rate increases 0  71 

2.3 Other increases

3. Decreases 7 0

3.1 Deferred tax liabilities eliminated in the period 7 0

     a) reversals 7 0

     b) due to changes in accounting criteria

     c) other

3.2 Tax rate reduction

3.3 Other decreases

4. Closing balance  3,499  3,378

Deferred taxes are booked for temporary differences between the book value of an asset or liability and its fiscal value. 
This recognition has been carried out in accordance with current fiscal legislation. 

The rates used to value deferred taxes for IRES and IRAP purposes are 27.50% and 5.57% respectively.

Deferred tax assets recognized during the year amounted to128 thousands of euro and are attributable to costs deductible 
in the current year but with comptetence in future profit & loss.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



251

DExIA CREDIOP BANKING GROUP

14.5 Banking group - Changes in deferred tax assets (with matching entry to equity)
thousands of euro

 Total at
31/12/2012

 Total at
31/12/2011

1. Opening balance  72,448  68,627 

2. Increases 17,126 16,281

2.1 Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the period 17,126 14,828

     a) related to previous years

     b) due to changes in accounting criteria

     c) other 17,126 14,828

2.2 New taxes or tax rate increases 0  1,453 

2.3 Other increases

3. Decreases 27,017 12,460

3.1 Deferred tax liabilities eliminated in the period 27,017 12,460

     a) reversals  27,017 12,460

     b) writeoffs

     c) due to changes in accounting criteria

     d) other

3.2 Tax rate reduction

3.3 Other decreases

  4. Closing balance  62,557  72,448

Deffered taxes recorded during the year amount to 17,126 thousands of euro and are attributable to devaluations of AFS 
securities.

Deffered taxes canceled during the year amounted to 27,017 thousands of euro and is attributable to the revaluation of 
derivatives to hedge cash flows and to revalutation of AFS securities
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14.6 Banking group - Changes in deferred tax liabilities (with matching entry to equity)
thousands of euro

 Total at
31/12/2012

 Total at
31/12/2011

1. Opening balance  19,179 20,042 

2. Increases 1,613 465

2.1 Deferred tax liabilities recognised in the period 1,613 0

     a) related to previous years

     b) due to changes in accounting criteria

     c) other 1,613 0

2.2 New taxes or tax rate increases 0  465 

2.3 Other increases

3. Decreases 704 1,328 

3.1 Deferred tax liabilities eliminated in the period  704  1,328 

     a) reversals  704  1,328 

     b) due to changes in accounting criteria

     c) other

3.2 Tax rate reduction

3.3 Other decreases

4. Final balance  20,088  19,179

Deferred taxes recognized during the year amounted to 1,613 thousand of euros and are due to revalutation of AFS 
securities.
Deferred taxes canceled during the year amounted to 704 thousand of euros and are due to impairments of AFS securities.

14.7 Other information
14.7.1 Assets in the form of current taxes: breakdown
The current tax assets are related primarily to the excess of the advance tax paid (withholding tax on interest, premiums 
and other fruits of the deposits and current accounts) with respect to the debt accrued and to the IRES of previous tax 
period request for reimbursement ex art. 2 of DL 201/2011 and art. 6 of DL 185/2008.

14.7.2 Liabilities in the form of current taxes: breakdown
Liabilities in the form of current taxes are related primarily to IRES and IRAP due for the tax period net of advaces paid.
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Section 16 - Other assets - item 160

16.1  Other assets: breakdown
thousands of euro

Type of transaction
 Totale at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

1. Adjustments to exchange rate derivatives  35,392  41,768 

2. Sundry accrued expenses and deferred charges  43,865  36,445 

3. Other assets  21,133  25,030 

Total  100,390  103,243

The item also includes the credit position of a defined-benefits fund of 5,016 thousand of euros (4,395 thousand of euros 
at 31.12.11). For the related information please see Section 12 of Liabilities, “Provisions for risks and charges”.
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Liabilities

Section 1 - Due to banks - item 10

1.1 Due to banks: breakdown by type
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Components of the group
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at 

31/12/2011

1. Due to central banks  17,421,943  12,206,151 

2. Due to banks  6,258,638  11,261,200 

2.1 Current accounts and deposits

2.2 Restricted deposits  729,919  720,320 

2.3 Loans  5,528,719  10,540,880 

       2.3.1 repurchase agreements  1,754,070  5,543,527 

       2.3.2 others  3,774,649  4,997,353 

2.4 Due for commitments to repurchase own equity instruments

2.5 Other debts

Total  23,680,581  23,467,351 

Fair value  23,602,334  23,040,091 
  

1.2 Details of item 10 “Due to banks”: subordinated debts 
On 31.12.12 subordinated debts stood at e 400,040,000 (e 400,072,000 in 2011).
The subordinate loan has the following characteristics: 
- technical form: loan;  
- nominal amount: e 400 million;  
- duration: 10 years;  
- maturity: June 2017  
- reimbursement: bullet;  
- interest rate: euribor 3 months increased by 72 bp pa.  
  
  
1.4 Due to banks with specific hedges  

thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
 Total at 

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

1. Payables with specific fair value hedges  137,620  158,501 

    a) interest rate risk  137,620  158,501 

    b) foreign exchange risk

    c) various risks

2. Payables with specific cash flow hedges  445,987  7,976,360 

    a) interest rate risk  445,987  7,976,360 

    b) foreign exchange risk

    c) other risks

Total 583,607 8,134,861
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Section 2 – Due to customers – item 20

2.1 Due to customers: breakdown by type
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Components of the group
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at 

31/12/2011

1. Current accounts and deposits  273,752  305,376 

2. Restricted deposits

3. Loans  2,292,126  1,556,422 

     3.1 repurchase agreements  805,396  998 

     3.2 others  1,486,730  1,555,424 

4 Due for commitments to repurchase own equity instruments

5. Other debts   

 Total 2,565,868 1,861,798

 Fair value 2,293,509 1,649,296
  
  

Section 3 - Securities issued - item 30

3.1 Securities in issue: breakdown by type
thousands of euro

Type of securities/Amounts

 Total at 31/12/2012  Total at 31/12/2011

Book value
 Fair value 

Book value
 Fair value 

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3 

A. Securities 

      1. Bonds 11,530,025  2,822,553 8,273,704 13,463,511  1,724,611 11,064,506

            1.1 structured

            1.2 others 11,530,025  2,822,553 8,273,704 13,463,511  1,724,611 11,064,506

      2. Other securities  4,786  4,806  586  586 

            2.1 structured

            2.2 others  4,786  4,806  586  586 

Total 11,534,811  2,822,553 8,278,510 13,464,097 1,724,611 11,065,092

3.3 Details of item 30 “Securities issued”: securities with specific hedges
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Amounts
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

1. Securities with specific fair value hedges:  5,255,779 11,556,157

    a) interest rate risk  3,613,924 8,794,231

    b) foreign exchange risk

    c) various risks  1,641,855  2,761,926 

2. Securities with specific cash flow hedges:

    a) interest rate risk

    b) foreign exchange risk

    c) other risks

Total 5,255,779 11,556,157
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Section 4 - Financial liabilities held for trading - item 40

4.1 Financial liabilities held for trading: breakdown by type
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Components
of the group

 Total at 31/12/2012  Total at 31/12/2011

 NV  FV  FV *  NV  FV  FV * 

 L 1  L 2  L 3  L 1  L 2  L 3 

A. Cash liabilities

1. Due to banks

2. Due to customers

3. Debt securities

    3.1 Bonds

        3.1.1 Structured  x  x 

        3.1.2 Other bonds  x  x 

    3.2 Other securities

        3.2.1 Structured  x  x 

        3.2.2 Others  x  x 

Total A

B. Derivative instruments

1. Financial derivatives 6,127,964  95,949 5,241,342  82,395 

        1.1 Trading  x 6,127,964  95,949  x  x 5,241,342  82,395  x 

        1.2 Associated with the fair value 
option

 x  x  x  x 

        1.3 Others  x  x  x  x 

2. Credit derivatives  63,335  61,180 

        2.1 Trading  x  63,335  x  x  61,180  x 

        2.2 Associated with the fair value 
option

 x  x  x  x 

        2.3 Others  x  x  x  x 

Total B  X 6,127,964 159,284 X X 5,241,342 143,575 X

Total (A+B)  X 6,127,964 159,284 X X 5,241,342 143,575 X

Key:
FV = fair value

FV* = fair value calculated excluding the value changes due to variation in issuer’s creditworthiness since the date of issue

NV = nominal or notional amaount

L 1 = Level 1

L 2 = Level 2

L 3 = Level 3
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Section 6 - Hedging derivatives - item 60

6.1 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by type of hedging and by level
thousands of euro

 Fair value 31/12/2012  NA 
31/12/2012

 

 Fair value 31/12/2011  NA 
31/12/2011L 1 L 2 L 3 L 1 L 2 L 3

 A. Financial derivatives 4,175,646 23,104 29,134,918 3,579,104 24,156 40,719,337

      1) Fair Value 4,128,213 23,104 28,575,476 3,508,322 24,156 32,050,986

      2) Cash flow hedges 47,433 559,442 70,782 8,668,351

      3) Foreign investments 

  B) Credit derivatives 

      1) Fair Value 

      2) Cash flow hedges 

 Total 4,175,646 23,104 29,134,918 3,579,104 24,156 40,719,337

Key:
NA = notional amount

L 1 = Level 1

L 2 = Level 2

L 3 = Level 3

6.2 Hedging derivatives: breakdown by portfolios hedged and type of hedging
thousands of euro

Transaction/Type
of hedging

 Fair Value Cash flow hedges

Foreign 
investments

Specific

Generic Specific Genericinterest 
rate risk

foreign 
exchange 

risk
credit risk price risk

various 
risks

1. Financial assets available 
for sale

 58,945  x  x  x 

2. Loans  3,801,025  x  91,575  x  148  x  x 

3. Financial assets held to 
maturity

 x  x  x  x  x 

4. Portfolio Hedge 186,377

5. Other transactions  x  x  x  x  x  x  x  x 

Total assets  3,859,970 0 0 0  91,575 186,377  148 0 0

1. Financial liabilities  9,939  x  3.456  x  47,285  x  x 

2. Portfolio Hedge  x  x  x  x  x  x  x 

Total liabilities  9,939 0 0 0  3,456 0  47,285 0 0

1. Forecast transactions  x  x  x  x  x  x  x  x 

2. Portfolio of financial assets 
and liabilities

 x  x  x  x  x   x 
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Section 8 - Tax Liabilities - item 80
See section 14 of Assets

Section 10 - Other liabilities - Item 100

10.1  Other liabilities: breakdown
thousands of euro

Type of transaction/Components of the group
 Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at

31/12/2011

 1. Suppliers and professionals  9,947  8,963 

 2. Accrued expenses and deferred income 6,178  1,517 

 3. Other liabilities  22,392  22,990 

 Total  38,517  33,470 

Section 11 - Employee termination indemnities - item 110

11.1 Employee termination indemnities: annual change
thousands of euro

 Total at
31/12/2012

 Total at
31/12/2011

A. Opening balances  2,359 3,044

B. Increases  75  115 

B.1 Provision in the period  75  115 

B.2 Other changes

C. Decreases 318  800 

C.1 Benefits paid  318  800 

C.2 Other changes

D. Closing balances  2,116  2,359 

Total  2,116  2,359

Section 12 - Provisions for risks and charges - item 120

12.1 Provisions for risks and charges: breakdown 
thousands of euro

Items/Components
Total at

31/12/2012
Total at

31/12/2011

1 Provisions for post emplyment benefits  296  566 

2. Provisions for risks and charges  10,126  13,067 

    2.1 legal disputes  6,245  8,465 

    2.2 personnel charges  3,881  4,564 

    2.3 others 0  38 

Total  10,422  13,633
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The fund for legal disputes includes allocations made for legal costs expected to be incurred following administrative and legal 
proceedings, relative to transactions concluded with local entities, to which Dexia Crediop is a party. For these proceedings, 
it has not, on the other hand, been deemed necessary to adjust the value. A description follows of the state of the individual 
proceedings.

On 03 February 2010, in relation to investigations into operations with the Region Apulia, some of which also carried out by 
Dexia Crediop, the latter was notified of guarantee information insofar as investigated for the administrative crime pursuant 
to Arts. 5, paragraph 1, letter a), 21, 24, paragraphs 1 and 2 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 231/01, in relation to Arts. 110, 
subsection 81, 640, paragraph 1 and 61, subsection 7. By Order dated 18 February 2012 the Preliminary Investigation Court 
of Bari revoked the attachment order applied to Dexia Crediop on 03 February 2010 for the amount of approximately € 8.6 
million and arranged for the return of this amount to Dexia Crediop. The preliminary hearing will be held on 8 May 2013.

On 29 June 2009, the Province of Pisa dissolved, through a self-protection procedure, its deliberations regarding an Interest 
Rate Swap signed on 4 July 2007 with Dexia Crediop in regards to variable interest rate bonds partially underwritten by Dexia 
Crediop. As a consequence, the Province of Pisa has interrupted its payments to Dexia Crediop owed through the signed 
Interest Rate Swap. By virtue of this, the Province of Pisa has not, as of today, proceeded with the payment of approximately  
e 4.7 million. Hence, Dexia Crediop has begun legal action in England, aimed at obtaining fulfilment of the obligations of 
the Province of Pisa. Dexia Crediop has also begun legal action in Italy aimed at obtaining the annulment of the above-cited 
self-protection procedure. Under the scope of these proceedings, on 7 September 2011 the Council of State issued a non-
definitive sentence which,inter alia, ascertained the exclusive jurisdiction of the administrative courts in ruling on the validity 
of the self-protection deed and requested that an expert witness be appointed. On 17 November 2011, Dexia Crediop 
notified an appeal with Cassation against this sentence of the Council of State for reasons relating to jurisdiction. On 27 
November 2012 the Council of State, issuing a definitive judgement on the appeal, issued a sentence which fully accepted 
the requests of Dexia Crediop and, as a result, annulled the above-cited self-protection procedure. In the light of the definitive 
sentence of the Council of State, Dexia Crediop has renounced the appeal with Cassation described above. On 29 January 
2013, the hearing in Cassation was held. Dexia Crediop is awaiting publication of the sentence.

On 21 December 2010, Dexia Crediop was served a preventative seizure decree of furniture and equipment, property and 
receivables up to the value of the amount of approximately e 635,000, under the scope of an investigation concerning 
derivative financial instruments stipulated in 2004 by Dexia Crediop with the Regional Authorities of Tuscany, in which it is 
hypothesised that Dexia Crediop had committed an unlawful administrative act pursuant to arts. 5, paragraph 1, letter a) and 
24, paragraph 2 of Italian Legislative Decree no. 231/01 in relation to arts. 110, subsection 81, 640 paragraph 2, no. 1 and 
61, subsection 7. As of today, the seizure decree has not yet been enforced, as Dexia Crediop has deposited security for the 
same amount in lieu of the seizure.
On 15 January 2013, Dexia Crediop was notified of the Decree of Dismissal for the proceedings on the part of the Preliminary 
Investigation Court of Florence, with the consequent restitution to Dexia Crediop of the deposited security provided as 
substitution for the seizure.

On 31 December 2010, the Municipality of Prato dissolved, through a self-protection procedure, its deliberation regarding an 
Interest Rate Swap signed on 29 June 2006 with Dexia Crediop in regards to two variable interest rate bonds underwritten 
by Dexia Crediop. By virtue of this, the Municipality has not, as of today, proceeded with the payment of approximately € 
4.5 million. Dexia Crediop has begun legal action in England aimed at obtaining compliance by the Municipality with its 
obligations and has also begun legal action in Italy before the Regional Administrative Court of Tuscany, which concluded in 
the favour of Dexia Crediop with the sentence dated 24 November 2011. On 23 January 2012, the Municipality initiated a 
new self-protection proceedings aimed at verifying the validity of the tender called by the Municipality of Prato to select its 
advisor (Dexia Crediop) in 2002 and the subsequent restructuring operations of swaps prior to 2006, this latter being the 
subject of the first self-protection proceedings. On 19 April 2012, the Municipality resolved annulment in self-protection. On 
19 May 2012 Dexia Crediop filed an appeal against this resolution with the TAR of Tuscany. The hearing for discussion was 
held on 21 November 2012.
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On 21 February 2013, the sentence of the Regional Administrative Court was published, accepting the appeal of Dexia 
Crediop. Specifically, the Regional Administrative Court held that:
i.  the role assigned through the tender referred only to the role of advisor and not that of swap contractor;
ii.  dissolving is, as a general principle, possible if referred to the assignment as swap contractor without a tender established 

in 2002 and that this dissolving could also overwhelm the contract and its subsequent renegotiations;
iii. the dissolving is not allowed and the relative self-protection proceedings are therefore illegitimate in that they occurred 

after the term of 3 years after the signing of the contract on the basis of that envisaged in paragraph 136 of Law 311/2004 
protecting the certainty of legal relationships between public entities and private subjects, not being applicable to the 
specific case article 21, nonies, of Law 241/1990, which envisages a generic reference to a “reasonable time” within which 
to exercise self-protection.

Finally, the Regional Administrative Court stress that jurisdiction over contracts falls to civil courts and, in particular, the 
English one.

On 23 December 2010, the Regional Authorities of Lazio served Dexia Crediop with a writ of summons before the Civil Court 
of Rome. The deed concerned transactions in derivatives concluded with the Regional Authorities of Lazio. In addition to Dexia 
Crediop, a further 11 banks are involved. The Regional Authorities of Lazio demand that Dexia Crediop pay compensation 
for damages it alleges having suffered, for an amount of approximately €8.5 million. The next hearing will be held on 18 June 
2013.

On 30 April 2011, the Municipality of Florence dissolved, through a self-protection procedure, its deliberations to approve 
two operations in derivatives completed on 26 June 2006 with Dexia Crediop. By virtue of this, the Municipality has not, 
as of today, proceeded with the payment of approximately e 8.2 million. Dexia Crediop has taken legal action in England 
aimed at ascertaining the validity and effectiveness of these contracts, in addition to taking legal action in Italy, bringing a 
case before the Regional Administrative Court of Tuscany. On 19 April 2013 the hearing before the Regional Administrative 
Court of Tuscany will be held.

On 23 January 2012, the Region of Piedmont dissolved, through a self-protection procedure, its deliberations to approve an 
amortising swap operation completed on 16 November 2006. Dexia Crediop has begun legal proceedings in England aimed 
at ascertaining the validity of the contract. By virtue of this, the Region of Piedmont has not, as of today, proceeded with the 
payment of a total of approximately e 16.3 million. The legal proceedings in England ended with a sentence registered on 
24 September 2012, by which the validity and efficacy of this swap contract were ascertained. Dexia Crediop has also begun 
legal action in Italy, with the Regional Administrative Court of Piedmont, aimed at obtaining the annulment of the above-
cited self-protection procedure. At the conclusion of these proceedings, on 21 December 2012, the Regional Administrative 
Court of Piedmont issued a sentence which declared both the main appeal and the incidental one inadmissible due to a lack 
of jurisdiction for the administrative court, while simultaneously ascertaining the jurisdiction of the civil court (in the case in 
question, the English Courts), in that the self-protection proceedings were adopted by the Regional Administration in the 
absence of the relative legal presuppositions, in order to mask a unilateral legal transaction established for the sole purpose 
of unilaterally dissolving the contractual constraint.
On 27 February 2013, Dexia Crediop was notified of an appeal with the Council of State by the Region of Piedmont, for 
reasons related to jurisdiction.

On 14 April 2011, the Municipality of Messina served Dexia Crediop with a writ of summons before the Civil Court of 
Messina. The act concerns two operations in derivatives completed on 28 June 2007. The Municipality of Messina asks that 
the nullity of the contracts be ascertained with regards to Dexia Crediop or alternatively that they be declared as cancelled, 
in addition to the sentencing of compensation for damages. The next hearing will be held on 28 March 2013. Additionally, 
on 18 October 2011, the Municipality of Florence dissolved, through a self-protection procedure, its deliberations to approve 
these operations in derivatives. By virtue of this, the Municipality has not, as of today, proceeded with the payment of a 
total of approximately e 1.5 million. Dexia Crediop has begun legal action in Italy aimed at obtaining the annulment of the 
above-cited self-protection procedure. The hearing on the merits for discussion of the case was held on 13 February 2013. 
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On 18 February 2013, with an ordinance, the Regional Administrative Court of Sicily suspended the judgement issued for 
Dexia Crediop while awaiting the sentence of the Court of Cassation in the face of the appeal related to the preventive 
ruling on jurisdiction, presented by another bank in the context of a similar proceedings established with the same Regional 
Administrative Court of Sicily.

On 14 June 2012, the Province of Crotone began a civil mediation process with Dexia Crediop, contesting the legitimacy of 
swap contracts signed between Dexia Crediop and the Province in 2007. Dexia Crediop has begun legal action in England 
aimed at ascertaining the validity and efficacy of the swap contracts existing with the Province of Crotone.

On 23 July 2012, the Municipality of Ferrara, with a Council Resolution, annulled all of its deeds that led to approval of the 
swap contracts completed in 2002, 2003 and 2005 with Dexia Crediop, as self-protection. By virtue of this, the Municipality 
has not, as of today, proceeded with the payment of approximately e 1 million. Dexia Crediop has begun legal action in 
England aimed at obtaining ascertainment of the validity and efficacy of the swap contracts, as well as compliance by the 
Municipality with its obligations and has also begun legal action in Italy, now pending before the Regional Administrative 
Court of Emilia Romagna, aimed at obtaining the annulment of the above-cited self-protection procedure. 

On 19 September 2012, Dexia Crediop received a letter from the Municipality of Forlì which contested the validity of the 
swap contracts signed in 2002, 2003 and 2005. On 19 February 2013, Dexia Crediop received a communication from the 
Financial Banking Conciliator on the subject of “Communication of a request for mediation” by which the body informed 
Dexia Crediop that it had received a request for civil mediation from the Municipality of Forlì. The mediation meeting has 
been set for 20 March 2013. Dexia Crediop has begun legal action in England aimed at ascertaining the validity and efficacy 
of the swap contracts existing with the Municipality of Forli.

Additionally, other funds include tax expense for 1.1 million, allocated during the first half of 2011 in relation to a general 
inspection by the Tax Authority in relation to tax period 2008.  

Finally, please note that on 1 December 2011, the Tax Authority served a notice of liquidation for registration tax for 
approximately e 108 million, in addition to sanctions and interest for a total of approximately e 250 million. Against 
presentation of a self-protection request and suspension of the effects of the notice of liquidation, in January 2012 the 
Administration filed suspension of the effects of the notice of liquidation. The Company also appealed against this and 
considered there being no reason to make any allocation in this respect, also given the achievement of the suspension and 
valid arguments able to confirm the correctness and legitimacy of the Company’s work.

12.2 Provisions for risks and charges: annual change
thousands of euro

Items/Components
Total

Provisions for post 
emplyment benefits

Other provisions

A. Opening balances  566  13,067 

B. Increases  1,196  292 

B.1 Provision in the period  1,196  292 

B.2 Time value changes

B.3 Changes due to discount rate variantions

B.4 Other changes 

C. Decreases  1,466  3,233 

C.1  Uses in the period  552  3,233 

C.2  Changes due to discount rate variations

C.3  Other changes  914 

D. Closing balances  296  10,126 
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B.1 The item “Provision for the year” relative to other funds benefit also contains the negative effect (- e 0.137 million), 
resulting from early termination of an employee benefit funds that made up the initial esidtenze to 01/01/2011

C.3 The item “Other decreases” represents the portion of the provisions recognized in the income statement in the year 
2012, relating to defined benefit plans in Sez.15 reclassified (other assets). That entry contains the positive effect (+ 0.155 
million e), arising from actuarial gains.

12.3 Post employment defined benefit plans

1. Description of the funds

The sub-item “Pension funds and similar benefits” includes provisions recognized on the basis of IAS 19 “Employee 
benefits” against various forms of complementary retirement schemes with defined benefits. These commitments are 
based on calculations carried out by independent Actuaries using the projected units credit method. In particular, the 
provisions correspond to the current value of the defined-benefit obligations net of the fair value of the fund’s assets, 
taking into account the actuarial profits and losses not recognised in the balance sheet by applying the so-called “corridor 
option”. This “corridor option” provides that the cumulated profits and losses that could arise from the adjustments 
made to previous actuarial hypothesis have to be accounted only for the 10% that exceed the biggest between the fair 
value of the asset plan and the fair value of the obligation and depending of the average residual maturity of the funds’ 
benefit and starting from the following period. 
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Here below are provided information related to the variation occured in the funds during the period, the reconciliation 
between the funds’ current value, the current value of the assets plan and the assets and liabilities reported in the balance 
sheet; the main actuarial assumption are also reported.

thousands of euro
2012 2011

A Variations in the defined-benefit obligations
1. Fair value of obligations at the opening of the period  43,190  44,382 
2. Post employment benefits relating to current employment  574  599 

3. Interest expenses  1,841  1,762 

4. Contributions by participants  149  160 

5. Benefits paid (2,267) (3,736)

6. Actuarial losses (profits) 4,365 23 

7. Fair value of obligations at the end of the period  47,852  43,190 

B. Variations in assets of the plans

1. Fair value of assets at the opening of the period  41,902  42,645 
2. Yield of the assets  1,439  1,265 

3. Employer contributions  1,931  2,332 

4. Contributions by participants  149  160 

5. Benefits paid (2,267) (2,840)

6. Actuarial losses (profits) on the assets 1,274 (1,660)

7. Fair value of assets at the end of the period  44,428  41,902 

C. Reconciliation of the obligations and assets of the plans

Fair value of bonds on the financed plans  47,852  43,120 

Fair value of assets  44,429  41,903 

Actuarial deficit (surplus) on the financed plans  3,423  1,217 

Actuarial deficit (surplus) on the non-financed plans 0  70 

Actuarial losses (profits) not recognized in the balance sheet (8,143) (5,115)

Liabilities (assets) recognized in the balance sheet (4,720) (3,828)

Summary of amounts recognized in the balance sheet

1. Balance sheet assets 5,016 4,394 

2. Balance sheet liabilities 296 566 

3. Balance of liabilities (assets) recognized in the balance sheet (4,720) (3.828)

D. Expenses

Post employment benefit expenses relating to current employment 574 599

Interest expenses 1,842 1,762

Yield of the assets (1,438) (1,265)

Actuarial losses (profits) recognized in the balance sheet 62 189

Total costs recognized in the balance sheet 1,040 1,285

E. Main actuarial assumptions 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

minimum maximum minimum maximum

Discount rate 3.7% 4.7% 3.0% 4.7%

Expected rate of yield of the assets 3.0% 4.7% 3.0% 3.0%

Expected rate of salary increases 2.0% 3.5% 2.5% 3.5%

Inflation rate 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

F. Reconciliation of  book values 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Opening balances of assets recognized in the balance sheet 4,394 3,117

Opening balances of liabilities recognised in the balance sheet 566 1,232

F1. Opening balances of Liabilities (Assets) (3,828) (1,884)

F2. Expenses 1,040 1,285

F3. Uses for expenses (1,931) (3,228)

Closing balances of Assets recognized in the balance sheet (5,016) (4,394)

Closing balances of Liabilities recognized in the balance sheet 296 566

F4. Closing balances of Liabilities (Assets) (4,720) (3,828)
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12.4 Provisions for risks and charges – other provisions

The “other provisions” amounting to e 10,126,000 consist of:
- personnel expenses: The fund includes e 3,881,000 for charges relating to voluntary redundancy incentives, seniority 

prizes to employees, life insurance benefits and the expense specifically allocated to a Solidarity Provision, payment of 
which is directly linked to the Company 2009-2011 Restructuring Plan. This defined benefit fund also falls under the 
scope of application of international standard IAS 19;

- provisions for legal expenses amounting to e 5,163,000; 
- provisions for taxation amounted to e 1,082,000.        
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You can see below the information relating to the variations in the Solidarity Fund during the financial period, the reconcilement 
between the relevant current value and the liabilities entered in the balance sheet, together with the main actuarial assumptions.

thousands of euro

2012 2011

A Variations in the defined-benefit obligations

1. Fair value of obligations at the opening of the period  3,748  5,761 

2. Provision 0 6 

3. Interest expenses 85 161 

4. Contributions by participants

5. Benefits paid (976) (1,465)

6. Actuarial losses (profits) 120 (715)

7. Fair value of obligations at the end of the period  2,977  3,748 

B. Variations in assets of the plans

1. Fair value of assets at the opening of the period

2. Yield of the assets

3. Employer contributions 976 1,465 

4. Contributions by participants

5. Benefits paid (976) (1,465)

6. Actuarial losses (profits) on the assets

7. Fair value of assets at the end of the period

C. Reconciliation of the obligations and assets of the plans

Fair value of bonds on the financed plans 2,977 3,748 

Fair value of assets

Actuarial deficit (surplus) on the financed plans 2,977 3,748 

Actuarial deficit (surplus) on the non-financed plans

Actuarial losses (profits) not recognized in the balance sheet

Liabilities (assets) recognized in the balance sheet 2,977 3,748 

Summary of amounts recognized in the balance sheet

1. Balance sheet assets

2. Balance sheet liabilities 2,977 3,748 

3. Balance of liabilities (assets) recognized in the balance sheet 2,977 3,748 

D. Expenses

Post employment benefit expenses relating to current employment 0 7 

Interest expenses 85 161 

Yield of the assets

Actuarial losses (profits) recorded in the balance sheet 120 (715)

Total costs recorded in the balance sheet 205 (547)

E. Main actuarial assumptions 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

minimum maximum minimum maximum

Discount rate 1.9% 2.8% 3.0% 3.3%

Expected rate of yield of the assets N/A N/A N/A N/A

Expected rate of salary increases N/A N/A N/A N/A

Inflation rate 2.0% 2.0% 2.0% 2.0%

F. Reconciliation of book values 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Opening balances of assets recognized in the balance sheet

Opening balances of liabilities recognised in the balance sheet 3,748 5,761

F1. Opening balances of Liabilities (Assets) 3,748 5,761

F2. Cost booked to the income statement 205 (547)

F3. Uses for expenses (976) (1,465)

Closing balances of Assets recognized in the balance sheet

Closing balances of Liabilities recognized in the balance sheet 2,977 3,748

F4. Closing balances of Liabilities (Assets) 2,977 3,748
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Section 15 - Group Shareholder’s equity - items 140, 160, 170, 180, 190, 200 and 220 

15.1 “Share capital” and “Treasury shares”: breakdown
The shares are fully subscribed and paid in and amounts to e 450,210,000, consisting of 174,500,000 ordinary shares 
with a nominal value of e 2.58.

15.2  Share capital - number of shares of the parent bank: annual change

Items/Types Ordinary Others

A. Shares outstanding at the opening of the period  174,500,000 

     - fully paid in  174,500,000 

     - not fully paid in

A.1 Treasury shares ( - )

A.2. Shares outstanding: initial number  174,500,000 

B. Increases

B.1 New issues

       - against payment:

          - business combinations

          - conversion of bonds

          - exercise of warrants

          - other

       - free of charge:

          - in favour employees

          - in favour directors

          - other

B.2 Sale of treasury shares

B.3 Other changes

C. Decreases

C.1 Annulment

C.2 Purchase of treasury shares

C.3 Disposal of companies

C.4 Other changes

D. Shares oustanding: final number  174,500,000 

D.1 Treasury shares ( + )

D.2. Shares number at the end of the period  174,500,000 

     - fully paid in  174,500,000 

     - not fully paid in
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15.4 Reserves: other information
thousands of euro

Legal reserve Other reserves

A. Opening balances  76,509 507,554

B. Increases

C. Decreases  22,474 

Allocation of  2011 loss  22,474 

D. Closing balances  76,509  485,080

Pursuant to article 2430 of the Italian Civil Code, the legal reserve is formed of at least one-twentieth of the net annual 
profits until the reserve reaches one fifth of the share capital.

Section 16 - Shareholders’ equity of minority interests - item 210
The item includes the shareholders’ equity of the company Tevere Finance S.r.l., included in the consolidation area since 
it is subject to control de fact, and the shareholders’ equity of the company Crediop for Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite 
S.r.l. pertaining to the minority shareholder “Stichting Collecticumburg”.
For more details, please refer to Part A – Section 3 “Consolidation area and methods”.

Other information 

1. Guarantees given and commitments 
thousands of euro

Transactions
 Total at 

31/12/2012
 Total at 

31/12/2011

1)  Financial guarantees given  365,399  423,665 

     a) Banks  253,251  293,073 

     b) Customers  112,148  130,592 

2)  Commercial guarantees given

     a) Banks

     b) Customers

3)  Irrevocable commitments to lend funds  565,178  613,028 

     a) Banks

           i) of certain use

           ii) of uncertain use

     b) Customers  565,178  613,028 

           i) of certain use  565,178  613,028 

           ii) of uncertain use

4)  Commitments underlying credit derivatives: sales of protection  802,627  802,627 

5) Assets pledged in guarantee of third party commitments

6) Other commitments

Total  1,733,204  1,839,320 
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2. Assets lodged as surety for own liabilities and commitments 
thousands of euro

Portfolios
Total at

31/12/2012
 Total at 

31/12/2011

1. Financial assets held for trading

2. Financial assets designated at fair value through profit and loss

3. Financial assets available for sale  477,699  22,595 

4. Financial assets held to maturity  214,986  253,597 

5. Due from banks  5,804,528  2,757,395 

6. Due from customers  22,352,772  11,722,544 

7. Property plant and equipment

5. Management and broking for customer accounts
thousands of euro

Type of services Amount

1. Trading on behalf of customers

     a) purchases

          1. settled

          2. to be settled

     b) sales

          1. settled

          2. to be settled

2. Portfolio management

     a) individual

     b) collective

3. Custody and administration of securities  32,749,890 

     a) third-party securities held in deposit: as custodian bank 

      (excluding portfolio management schemes)

                  1. securities issued by companies included in the consolidation area

                  2. other securities

     b) third party securities in deposit (excluding portfolio management schemes): other  10,733,733 

                  1. securities issued by companies included in the consolidation area 180,000

                  2. other securities  10,553,733 

     c) third-party securities deposited with third parties 7,363,225

     d) portfolio securities deposited with third parties  22,016,157 

4. Other transactions
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6. Change in portfolio adjustments

Here below are provided information regarding the reconciliation of the variations occurred in the period related to 
adjustments recorded for every class of financial asset. 

thousands of euro

Portfolio adjustments

 TotalFinancial assets 
available for sale

Financial assets held 
to maturity

Due from banks Due from customers

A. Opening balances 256  35,469  35,725 

B. Increases 517 0 517 

B.1 Writedowns  517  517 

C. Decreases 0 95 95 

C.1 Writedowns  95  95 

D. Closing balances 773 35,374 36,147

     

7. Fair value      
     
Please refer to “A.3 Information on fair value” for the analysis of the criteria used to determine the fair value of the 
financial assets and liabilities recorded on the financial statements.
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PART C - INFORMATION ON THE CONSOLIDATED INCOME 
STATEMENT

Section 1 - Interest - items 10 and 20

1.1 Interest and similar income: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items
Debt 

securities
Loans

Other 
transactions

Total at
31/12/2012

Total at
31/12/2011

1 Financial assets held for trading

2
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit 
and loss

   

3 Financial assets available for sale 31,293 31,293 31,433

4 Financial assets held to maturity 16,247  16,247 18,344

5 Due from banks 63,295 82,827 146,122 127,367

6 Due from customers 468,090 366,621 834,711 901,178

7 Hedging derivatives 

8 Other assets 

Total 578,925 449,448  1,028,373  1,078,322

1.3 Interest and similar income: other information
thousands of euro

Items 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

1.3.1 Interest income on financial assets in foreign currencies 25,891 27,233
  

1.4 Interest and similar expenses: breakdowne
thousands of euro

Items Payables Securities
Other 

transactions
Total at

31/12/2012
Total at

31/12/2011

1. Due to central banks (142,533) (142,533) (108,225)

2. Due to banks (197,163) (197,163) (239,014)

3. Due to customers (18,356) (18,356) (81,776)

4. Securities in issue (237,346) (237,346) (381,924)

5. Financial liabilities for trading

6.
Financial liabilities designated at fair 
value through profit and loss

7. Other liabilities and provisions 0 (521)

8. Hedging derivatives (337,153) (337,153) (175,668)

Total (358,052) (237,346) (337,153) (932,551) (987,128)
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1.5 Interest and similar expenses: differentials on hedging transactions           
thousands of euro

Items/Amounts 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

A. Positive differentials on hedging transactions: 150,299 442,555

B. Negative differentials on on hedging transactions: 487,452 618,223

C. Balance (A-B) (337,153) (175,668)

1.6 Interest and similar expenses: other information
thousands of euro

Items 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

1.6.1 Interest paid on liabilities in foreign currency (25,685) (27,154)

Section 2 - Fees and commissions - items 40 and 50

2.1 Fee and commission income: breakdown
thousands of euro

Type of services/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2012
Total at

31/12/2011

 a) guarantees given  709  1,112 

 b) credit derivatives 

 c) management, broking and consulting services:  3,869  4,544 

1. financial instrument trading

2. currency trading

3. portfolio management

3.1. individual

3.2 collective

4. custody and administration of securities  3,511  3,986 

5. depositary bank

6. placement of securities

7. order receipt and transmission

8. advisory services  358  558 

8.1 on investments

8.2 on financial structure  358  558 

9. distribution of third party services

9.1. portfolio management

9.1.1. individual

9.1.2. collective

9.2. insurance products

9.3. other products

 d)  collection and payment services

 e)  servicing related to securitization

 f)  services for factoring transactions

 g) management of rate-and-tax collection agencies

 h) multilateral trading facilities management

 i)  management of current accounts

 j)  other services  7,089  9,237 

Total  11,667  14,893



272

2.2 Fee and commission expenses: breakdown
thousands of euro

Services/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2012
Total at

31/12/2011

  a) guarantees received (13,756) (3,245)

  b) credit derivatives 

  c) management and brokerage services: (532) (670)

1. financial instrument trading

2. currency trading

3. portfolio management:

3.1 own portfolio

3.2 third party portfolio

4. custody and administration of securities (532) (670)

5. placement of financial instruments

6. external marketing of financial instruments, products and services

  d) collection and payment services (466) (313)

  e) other services (9,038) (723)

Total (23,792) (4,951)

Section 3 - Dividend and similar income - item 70

3.1 Dividend and similar income: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Income

Total at
31/12/2012

Total at
31/12/2011

dividend
income from 

Mutual Fund shares
dividend

income from 
Mutual Fund shares

A. Financial assets held for trading 

B. Financial assets available for sale  2,359 

C.
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit 
and loss

D.
Investments in associates and companies subject to joint 
control

x 750 x

Total 3,109
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Section 4 - Net trading gains (losses) - item 80

4.1 Net trading gains (losses): breakdown
thousands of euro

Transactions/Income components
Capital gains 

(A)
Trading profits 

(B)
Capital losses 

(C)
Trading losses 

(D)

Net result 
(losses) [(A+B) - 

(C+D)]

1. Financial assets hels for trading

1.1 Debt securities

1.2 Equity instruments

1.3 Mutual fund shares

1.4 Loans

1.5 Others

2. Financial liabilities held for trading

2.1 Debt securities

2.2 Payables

2.3 Others

3. Financial assets and liabilities: foreign exchange 
differences

X X X X  24 

4. Derivatives  1,533,410  1,234,858  1,488,103  1,257,561  22,242 

4.1 Financial derivatives:    1,529,860  1,234,858  1,485,936  1,257,561  20,859 

- on debt securities and interest rates  1,527,823  1,234,077  1,483,900  1,256,780  21,220 

- on equity instruments and stock indexes  2,037  781  2,036  781 1

- on currencies and gold x x x x (362)

- Others

4.2 Credit derivatives  3,550  2,167  1,383 

Total  1,533,410  1,234,858  1,488,103  1,257,561  22,266

Section 5 - Fair value adjustment in hedge accounting - item 90

5.1 Fair value adjustment in hedge accounting: breakdown
thousands of euro

Income components/Amounts
Total at

31/12/2012
Total at

31/12/2011

A. Income from: 806,731 964,848

A.1 Fair value hedge derivatives

A.2 Financial assets hedged (fair value)   804,424  954,997 

A.3 Financial liabilities hedged (fair value) 2,307 9,851

A.4 Cash flow hedge: derivatives

A.5 Currency asset and liabilities

Total hedging income (A) 806,731 964,848

B. Expenses for: 806,441 963,867

B.1 Fair value hedge derivatives 764,583 963,867

B.2 Financial assets hedged (fair value) 

B.3 Financial liabilities hedged (fair value) 41,858 0

B.4 Cash flow hedge: derivatives 

B.5 Currency asset and liabilities

Total hedging expenses (B)  806,441  963,867 

C. Fair value adjustment in hedge accounting (A – B)  290  981
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Section 6 - Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase - item 100

6.1  Gains (Losses) on disposal/repurchase: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Income components

Total at
31/12/2012

Total at
31/12/2011

Gains Losses Net result Gains Losses Net result

Financial assets

1. Due from banks 0  31,150 (31,150) 6  8,370 (8,364)

2. Due from customers 666 367  299 314 20,876 (20,562)

3. Financial assets available for sale 12 0  12 6 62 (56)

   3.1 Debt securities 12  12 6  6 

   3.2 Equity instruments 0 0 62 (62)

   3.3 Mutual fund shares

   3.4 Loans

4. Financial assets held to maturity

Total assets  678  31,517 (30,839)  326  29,308 (28,982)

Financial liabilities

1. Due to banks

2. Due to customers

3. Securities issued 1,213 1,213 12,914 12,914

Total liabilities  1,213 0 1,213  12,914 0  12,914

Financial assets
The net loss of e 31 million stems mainly from the early repayment of securities issued by the parent company Dexia 
Credit Local SA for a total nominal value of e 1,750 million

Financial liabilities
During the year 2012 it was decided to repurchase securities issued for a total nominal value of EUR 201 million. The 
difference between the repurchase price and the carrying value of these liabilities in the balance sheet and the result of 
the cancellation of any hedging transactions amounted to e 1.2 million recognized in the income statement in the same 
period.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



275

DExIA CREDIOP BANKING GROUP

Section 8 - Net adjustments for impairment - item 130

8.1 Net adjustments for impairment: breakdown
thousands of euro

Transactions/Income 
components

Impairment losses Recoveries

Total at
31/12/2012

Total at   
31/12/2011Specific Collective 

impairment

Specific
Collective 

impairment

Writeoffs Other A B A B

A. Due from banks (517) 157 (360) 4 

    - Loans (517) 157 (360) 4 

    - Debt securities

B. Due from customers (13,746) (2,559)  2,654 (13,651) (1,129)

         Impaired due purchased

                    - Loans

                    - Debt securities

         Other due (13,746) (2,559) 2,654 (13,651) (1,129)

                    - Loans (13,746) 2,654 (11,092) (267)

                    - Debt securities (2,559) (2,559) (862)

C. Total (13,746) (3,076) 2,811 (14,011) (1,125)

Key
A = interest
B = other writebacks

8.4 Net adjustments for impairment of other assets: breakdown  
thousands of euro

Transactions/Income 
components

Impairment losses Recoveries

Total at
31/12/2012

Total at   
31/12/2011Specific

Collective 
impairment

Specific
Collective 

impairment

Writeoffs Other A B A B

A. Guarantees 0 (1,905)

B. Credit derivatives

C. Commitments to disburse 
funds

D. Other operations

E. Total 0 (1,905)

Key
A = interest
B = other writebacks
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Section 11 - Administrative expenses - item 180

11.1 Personnel expenses: breakdown
thousands of euro

Type of expense/Sectors
Total at

31/12/2012
Total at

31/12/2011

 1) Employees (20,223) (24,003)

a) wages and salaries (12,798) (14,995)

b) social security contributions (3,572) (4,141)

c) termination indemnities (761) (922)

d) other termination expenses

e) provisions for termination indemnities (75) (115)

f) provision for post emplyment benefits: (1,040) (1,285)

   – defined contribution plans

  – defined benefits plans (1,040) (1,285)

g) payments to complementary external pension funds: (359) (394)

   – defined contribution plans

  – defined benefits plans (359) (394)

h) costs from share based payments

i) other employee benefits (1,618) (2,151)

 2) Other non-retired personnel

 3) Directors and statutory auditors (1,046) (1,187)

4) Early retirement costs

Total (21,269) (25,190)

11.2 Average number of employees by category

Employees:

        a) managers 28

        b) middle managers 110

        c) remaining employees 63

Other personnel

Total 201
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11.3 Company defined-benefit pension funds: total costs
thousands of euro

  31/12/2012   31/12/2011

a) Post employment benefit costs 574 (599)

 b) Interest expenses 1,842 (1,762)

 c) Yield of the assets (1,438) 1,265 

 d) Actuarial losses (gains) recognized in the balance sheet 62 (189)

 Total 1,040 (1,285)

11.4 Other employee benefits
The costs for provisions in the year amounted to e 336.000. 

This cost also includes the expense specifically allocated to the Solidarity Provisions (e 205,000), for which we would refer 
you to the information supplied in Section 12 “Provisions for risks and charges”.

11.5 Altre spese amministrative: composizione
thousands of euro

Type of expense/Amount 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Maintenance costs on furniture and equipment (3) (3)

Property rent payments (388) (420)

Telephone expenses (219) (241)

Postal and telegraph expenses (33) (36)

Costs for software maintenance and updating (1,383) (1,219)

Security (190) (164)

Car rental expenses (172) (173)

Energy, heating and water expenses (308) (252)

Maintenance costs on company-owned buildings (534) (523)

IT Services (4,691) (4,353)

Stationery and printing (24) (51)

Costs for cleaning premises (276) (247)

Professional fees (3,305) (3,210)

Advertising and public relations (249) (382)

Books, periodicals and information services (92) (88)

Insurance premiums (80) (65)

Membership fees (550) (594)

Study grants (27) (56)

Cultural and social contributions (28) (60)

Other expenses (534) (743)

Total (13,086) (12,880)

Indirect taxes

–  Imu Tax (721) (298)

–  Flat-rate tax, Decree 601/73

– Other (99) (105)

Total (820) (403)

Total other administrative expenses (13,906) (13,283)
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The fees paid by the Dexia Crediop S.p.A. Group for auditing services in 2012 are shown below, net of VAT and expenses 
which will be reimbursed:

thousands of euro

Services Dexia Crediop 
S.p.A.

Dexia Crediop
per la 

Cartolarizzazione S.r.l.

Tevere Finance 
S.r.l.

Dexia Crediop 
Ireland

COBG S.r.l.

Legal Audit 120 18

Other auditing services 65 26 13 22 5

Total 185 26 31 22 5

Section 12 - Net provisions for risks and charges - item 190

12.1 Net provisions for risks and charges: breakdown
thousands of euro

Items/Income 
components

Total at
31/12/2012

Total at
31/12/2011

Provisions Uses Net result Provisions Uses Net result

 A. Risks

Total Risks

 B. Charges

 1. Personnel (292)  39 (253) (513)  1,440  927 

 2. Others 0  124  124 (4,082) 0 (4,082)

Total Charges (292) 163 (129) (4,595) 1,440 (3,155)

Total Risks and Charges (292) 163 (129) (4,595) 1,440 (3,155)

Section 13 - Net adjustments on property plant and equipment - item 200

13.1 Net adjustments on property plant and equipment: breakdown
13.1.1 Pertaining to the banking group

thousands of euro

Assets/Income components
Amortization

(a)
Impairment losses 

(b)
Writebacks

(c)
Net result 
(a + b - c)

A. Property plant and equipment

A.1 Company owned (1,023) (1,023)

      - used in operations (1,023) (1,023)

      - investment 

A.2 Acquired under financial lease

      - used in operations

      - investment 

Total (1,023) (1,023)
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Section 14 - Net adjustments on intangible assets - item 210

14.1 Net adjustments on intangible assets: breakdown
thousands of euro

Assets/Income components
Amortization

(a)
Impairment losses 

(b)
Writebacks

(c)
Net result 
(a + b - c)

A. Intangible assets

A.1 Company owned (1,764) (1,764)

      - Internally generated

      - Other (1,764) (1,764)

A.2 Acquired on financial lease

Total (1,764) (1,764)

Section 15 - Other operating expenses and revenues - item 220

15.1 Other operating expenses: breakdown
thousands of euro

Income components/Amounts 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Other expenses (10) (11)

Total (10) (11)
  

15.2 Other operating revenues: breakdown  
thousands of euro

Income components/Amounts 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

Rents collected 57 22

Recovery of expenses 0 71

Other income 404 344

Total 461 437
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Section 20 - Taxes on income from continuing operations - item 290

20.1 Taxes on income from continuing operations: breakdown
thousands of euro

Income components/Sectors
Total at

31/12/2012
Total at

31/12/2011

1. Current taxes ( - ) (12,719) (2,629)

2. Changes in current taxes compared to previous periods ( +/- ) 2,330 0

3. Decrease in current taxes for the period ( + )

3bis. Reduction in current taxes for tax credits pursuant to Law n. 214/2011 (+)

4. Changes in deferred tax assets ( +/- ) (6,834) (4,370)

5. Changes in deferred tax liabilities ( +/- ) (121) 0

6. Taxes for the period (-)            (-1+/-2+3+/-4+/-5) (17,344) (6,999)

Current taxes are collected under the tax rules. 

The change in current taxes of previous years, amounting to 2,330 thousand euro, is attributable to the lower IRES 
previous years occurred on the deductibility of IRAP and request a refund pursuant to art. 6 of Dl. n. 185/2008 and art. 
2 of Dl. n. 201/2011.
The change in deferred tax assets amounted to 6,834 thousand euro, is due to the negative balance between increases 
and decreases in the period as indicated in Tables 14.3 and 14.4.

20.2 Reconciliation between theoretical tax charge and effective tax xharge
thousands of euro

31/12/2012

Taxable income/variations/taxes ( +/- ) Taxable amount Tax

Pre-tax profit (Rate 33.07 %) 10,297 (3,405)

Pre-tax profit (Rate 12.50 %) 5,792 (724)

Tax increase (Rate 27.50%) 34,043 (9,362)

Tax decrease (Rate 27.50%) (10,721) 2,948 

Greater amount taxable - IRAP (Regional Business Tax) (Rate 5.57 %) 36,747 (2,047)

Tax increase (Rate 5.57 %) 37,950 (2,114)

Tax decrease (Rate 5.57 %) (5,534) 308 

Deferred Taxes from consolidation entries 8,917 (2,949)

Taxes for current period (17,344)
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PART D - CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
DETAILED STATEMENT OF CONSOLIDATED COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

thousands of euro

Items Gross amount
Income

tax
Net amount

10. Net Income (Loss) for the period  24,976 (17,344)  7,632 

Other comprehensive income

20. Financial assets available for sale: 125,900 (23,965) 101,935 

    a) changes in fair value  122,432 (22,818) 99,614 

    b) reversal to income statement

        -  impairment losses

        -  profits/losses from disposals

    c) other changes  3,468 (1,147) 2,321 

30. Property plant and equipment

40. Intangible assets

50. Hedge of foreign investments:

    a) changes in fair value

    b) reversal to income statement

    c) other changes

60. Cash flow hedging: 24,053 (7,954) 16,099 

    a) changes in fair value 24,053 (7,954) 16,099 

    b) reversal to income statement

    c) other changes

70. Exchange rate differences: 

    a) changes in fair value

    b) reversal to income statement

    c) other changes

80. Non-current assets held for sale:

    a) changes in fair value

    b) reversal to income statement

    c) other changes

90. Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefits plans

100. Share of valuation reserves related to equity investments:

    a) changes in fair value

    b) reversal to income statement

        -  impairment losses

        -  profits/losses from disposals

    c) other changes

110. Total other income components 149,953 (31,919) 118,034 

120. Comprehensive income (10 + 110)  174,929 (49,263)  125,666 

130. Consolidated comprehensive income pertinent to minority interests

140. Consolidated comprehensive income pertinent to Parent Company  174,929 (49,263)  125,666 
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PART E – COMMENTS ON RISKS AND ASSOCIATED HEDGING 
POLICIES
The information which must be given pursuant to Memorandum n. 263 “New provisions on prudential surveillance for 
banks” issued by the Bank of Italy on 27th December 2006 (Title IV, Chapter I “Information for the public”) is given at 
the website of Dexia Crediop S.p.A. (www.dexia.com).  

SECTION 1 – Risk for the banking group  

1.1 Credit risk
Qualitative information

1. General aspects 

The area of operations concentrates on financing investments in the public sector and large infrastructure schemes.

2. Credit risk management policies  
2.1 Organisational aspects 
The credit risk is the risk of loss linked to the counterparts’ incapacity to honour their financial obligations. The factors 
which influence the level of this risk are: 
- the counterparty’s creditworthiness, measured by an internal rating (determined on the basis of suitable models) or a 

scoring system;
- the customer segment concerned (public sector, corporate sector, project finance, banking and financial sector, etc.);
- the economic, legal and financial context in which the counterpart operates;
- the type of operation carried out; 
- the duration of the operations; 
- any guarantees (tangible, personal, financial) which back the operation. 

Almost all the existing exposure regards customers of the public sector, with a low risk level and also subject to particular 
controls linked to their public nature.  The credit risks (like the operating, market and liquidity risks) are monitored by the 
Risk Management department divided into three sections – Credit Risk, Operational Risk and Market Risk and Balance 
Sheet Management - which ensure control of the respective risk categories. 

Risk Management has no hierarchical relationship with the Bank’s operating units. The department therefore operates 
absolutely independently from the Front Office structures. 

Specific Committees form an integral part of the internal auditing systems, helping to ensure that the system works 
correctly. 

The Credit Committee’s task is to examine loan proposals of any technical type. The Committee takes decisions relating to 
risks and financial conditions on the basis of proposals made by the competent operational Department and an opinion 
regarding the level of risk provided by the Risk Management Department. 
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The Default/Watchlist Committee examines situations falling within the criteria of defaults as established by the Supervisory 
Authorities and by the Dexia Group policies.   

2.2 Management, measuring and auditing systems  
As regards the methods of management, measuring and auditing, certain guidelines have been fixed at Group level. 

The Group has developed systems of internal annotation (SNI) for the following counterpart types: Corporate, Project 
Finance, the Local Public Sector (SPL - Settore Pubblico Locale) of western Europe, “Public Satellites”, “Private Satellites”, 
Sovereign Banks.
For other counterparts not yet covered by a specific SNI, the ratings are determined on the basis of the so-called “expert 
methods” or by means of a scoring method. 

The internal rating system (IRS) defined on the basis of the most advanced methods (Advanced IRBA) involves: 
-  the adoption of internal procedures which allow for the calculations by and historical documentation of the IRSs; 
-  the progressive development of an information system (FERMAT) aimed at consolidating - in a common standardised 

form - the information relating to all counterparties (Client Database) and all exposure (Exposure Database) of the 
Group; 

-  the adoption of a system for measuring the Bank’s entire risks on the basis of an approach based on its own economic 
resources. 

2.3 Credit risk mitigation techniques 
As regards derivative transactions, the ISDA Master Agreement includes the “Credit Support Annex” (CSA) for the 
majority of banking counterparties. This collateralization agreement minimises credit risk through the periodic (weekly or 
monthly) exchange of margins guaranteeing the net value of the bilateral exposure. 

The forms of real guarantees used are essentially pledges (mainly on securities) and much less frequently mortgages on 
properties. The management of these guarantees is the task of the administrative and legal offices.

The counterparties offering personal guarantees are banks, in the vast majority of cases, and sometimes public local or 
territorial authorities. The credit risk of these counterparties is assessed on the basis of the external and internal ratings 
attributed to them. 

The purchase of credit derivatives is not normally used as a mitigation technique, although it is permissible. 

Since financing activities are mainly aimed at the domestic public sector, the majority of guarantees backing loans consist 
of the issue of payment notes or guarantees provided by the Italian State (of a contractual nature or arising from 
legislation). 
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2.4 Impaired financial assets 
The Group has issued specific rules governing the treatment of non-performing loans and actions to be taken in order to 
manage such loans so as to ensure that the procedures aimed at a positive outcome are implemented correctly. 

These rules define the general guidelines within which the individual organisational units treat this subject within the 
scope of their own responsibilities. 

The various conditions of each non-performing loan have been classified within the scope of an internal watchlist 
consisting of four categories with an ascending scale of seriousness: 
- monitored loans;
- pre-problem loans;
- problem loans;
- non performing loans. 

The default/watchlist Committee is responsible for examining the non-performing positions and proposes: 
- their classification in one of the four categories;
- the adoption of specific writedowns on the loans; 
- the adoption of statistical or flat-rate adjustments which reflect the Expected Loss. 

Transactions which previously included in the default/watchlist categories are re-classified as “performing” when the 
counterparty emerges from a situation of economic/financial difficulty and returns to making all payments regularly as 
before. 
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QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION
A. Credit quality

A.1 Performing and non-performing credit exposures: amounts, write-downs, trends, 
economic and geographical distribution

A.1.1 Breakdown of financial assets by portfolio classification and credit quality (book values)
thousands of euro

Banking group Other companies

Portfolio/quality Doubtful 
loans

Substandard 
loans

Restructured 
loans

Past due 
loans 

Other assets 
Non-

performing
Other  Total

 1. Financial assets 
held for trading 

6,259,309 6,259,309

 2. Financial assets 
available for sale 

629,156 629,156

 3. Financial assets 
held to maturity 

281,128 281,128

4. Due from banks 13,042,910 13,042,910

5. Due from 
customers

25.490 28,139,337 28,164,827

6. Financial assets 
designated at fair 
value through profit 
and loss

7. Non-current assets 
held for sale

8. Hedging 
derivatives

540,947 540,947

Total at 31/12/2012 25.490 48,892,787 48,918,277

Total at 31/12/2011 786 48.325.212 48,325,998
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A.1.2 Breakdown of credit exposure by portfolio and credit quality (gross and net values)
thousands of euro

Portfolio/quality
Non-performing assets Performing Total 

(net 
exposure)

Gross 
exposure

Specific 
impairment

Net 
exposure

Gross 
exposure

Collective 
impairment

Net 
exposure

A. Banking group   

1. Financial assets held for trading  x  x  6,259,309  6,259,309 

2. Financial assets available for sale  629,156  629,156  629,156 

3. Financial assets held to maturity  281,128  281,128  281,128 

4. Due from banks  13,043,683  773  13,042,910  13,042,910 

5. Due from customers  46,021  20,531  25,490  28,174,711  35,374  28,139,337  28,164,827 

6. Financial assets designated at fair 
value through profit and loss

 x  x 

7. Non-current assets held for sale

8. Hedging derivatives  x  x  540,947  540,947 

Total  A  46,021  20,531  25,490  42,128,678  36,147  48,892,787  48,918,277 

B. Other companies included in 
consolidation

1. Financial assets held for trading  x  x 

2. Financial assets available for sale

3. Financial assets held to maturity

4. Due from banks

5. Due from customers

6. Financial assets designated at fair 
value through profit and loss

 x  x 

7. Non-current assets held for sale

8. Hedging derivatives  x  x 

Total  B

Total at 31/12/2012  46,021  20,531  25,490  42,128,678  36,147  48,892,787  48,918,277 

Total at 31/12/2011  7,570  6,784  786  41,557,210  35,725  48,325,212  48,325,998 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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A.1.3 Banking group - On- and off-balance sheet credit exposure to banks: gross and net amounts
thousands of euro

Type of exposure/Amounts
Gross

exposure
Specific 

impairment
Collective 

impairment
Net

exposure

A. ON-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURE

a) Non-performing loans  x 

b) Substandard loans  x 

c) Restructured loans  x 

d) Past due loans  x 

e) Other assets  13,043,683  x  773  13,042,910 

TOTAL A  13,043,683 0  773  13,042,910 

B. OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURE

a) Non-performing  x 

b) Others  1,149,409  x  1,149,409 

TOTAL B  1,149,409 0 0  1,149,409 

TOTAL (A+B)  14,193,092 0  773  14,192,319 

A.1.6 Gruppo bancario - Esposizioni creditizie per cassa e fuori bilancio verso clientela: valori lordi e netti
thousands of euro

Type of exposure/Amounts
Gross

exposure
Specific 

impairment
Collective 

impairment
Net

exposure

A. ON-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURE

a) Non-performing loans  46,021  20,531  x  25,490 

b) Substandard loans  x 

c) Restructured loans  x 

d) Past due loans  x 

e) Other assets  29,084,995  x  35,374  29,049,621 

TOTAL A  29,131,016  20,531  35,374  29,075,111 

B. OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURE

a) Non-performing  3,633  x  3,633 

b) Others 1,980,623  x 1,980,623

TOTAL B 1,984,256 0 0 1,984,256

TOTAL (A+B) 31,115,272 20,531  35,374 31,059,367
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A.1.7  Banking group - On-balance sheet credit exposures to customers: trend of gross non-performing 
exposures

thousands of euro

Reasons/Categories
Non-performing 

loans
Substandard 

loans
Restructured 

loans
Past due loans 

A. Initial gross exposure  7,570 

‘- of which: exposures sold but not derecognized

B. Increases 38,451

B.1 transfers from performing loans 38,451

B.2 transfers of impaired loans from other categories

B.3 other increases

C. Decreases 0

 C.1 transfers to performing loans 

 C.2 writeoffs 

 C.3 repayments 

 C.4 credit disposals 

 C.5 transfers of impaired loans to other categories 

 C.6 other decreases 

D. Closing gross exposure  46,021 

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized

A.1.8 Banking group - On-balance sheet credit exposure to customers: trend of total adjustments
thousands of euro

Reasons/Categories
Non-performing 

loans
Substandard 

loans
Restructured 

loans
Past due loans 

A. Total initial adjustments  6,784 

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized

B. Increases 13,747 

B.1 impairment losses 13,747

B.1 bis losses on disposal

B.2 transfers of impaired loans from other categories

B.3 other increases

C. Decreases 0

C.1 writebacks on impairment losses

C.2 writebacks on repayments

 C.2 bis gains on disposal

C.3 writeoffs

C.4 transfers of impaired loans to other categories

C.5 other decreases

D. Total final adjustments  20,531 

- of which: loans sold but not derecognized

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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A.2 Classification of exposure according to external and internal ratings
A.2.1 Banking group - breakdown of on- and off-balance-sheet credit exposure according to external ratings

thousands of euro

Exposure
External rating classes

Unrated  Total
 class 1  class 2  class 3  class 4  class 5  class 6 

A. On-balance sheet 
exposures

 112,249  6,305,107  28,962,308 211,335 866,541 139  5,660,342  42,118,021 

B. Derivatives  664,610  117,855  928,535 154,032 57,209 4,506  276,341  2,203,088 

B.1 Financial derivatives  664,610  117,855  861,094 154,032 57,209 4,506  276,341  2,135,647 

B.2 Credit derivatives 67,441  67,441 

C. Guarantees given 183,447 69,804  112,148  365,399 

D. Commitments to lend 
funds

 368,169  197,009  565,178 

E. Other  606,410  606,410 

Total  776,859  6,422,962  31,048,869  435,171  923,750  4,645  6,245,840  45,858,096 

The exposure considered is that of the financial statements included in the tables above A.1.3 and A.1.6. The external 
rating classes adopted to complete the table are those used by Standard&Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch. Given that several 
external ratings are assigned, the criteria adopted in making the choice is that established by the Bank of Italy, namely 
where there are two ratings, the worst is used, where there are three ratings the two best are identified, and, if these 
differ, the worse of the two is chosen. In order to breakdown according to ratings classes, a summary table has been used 
to convert the classification envisaged by the various different ratings companies to the credit standing classes.

A.2.2 Breakdown of on- and off-balance-sheet credit exposure according to internal rating classes 
thousands of euro

Exposure
External rating classes

Unrated  Total
 AAA / AA-  A+ / A-  BBB+/BBB-  BB+/B-  D1 / D2 

A. Cash exposure  3,276,319  16,057,253  17,714,712  5,025,632  42,958  1,147  42,118,021 

B. Derivatives  738,224  696,249  505,792  259,190 3,633 0  2,203,088 

B.1 Financial derivatives  735,897  696,249  440,678  259,190  3,633  2,135,647 

B.2 Credit derivatives  2,327  65,114  67,441 

C. Guarantees given  2,830  304,792  57,777  365,399 

D. Commitments to disburse 
funds

 77,222  268,396  135,997  83,563  565178 

E. Other  606,410  606,410 

Total  4,091,765  17,024,728  19,267,703  5,426,162  46,591  1,147  45,858,096 
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A.3 Distribution of secured loan exposure according to type of guarantee
A.3.1 Banking Group - Guaranted credit exposure to banks

thousands of euro
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1. Guaranted in-balance 
sheet credit exposures:

 5,154,424  5,154,424  5,154,424 

1.3 fully secured  5,154,424  5,154,424  5,154,424 

 - of which impaired

1.4 partially secured

 - of which impaired

3. Guaranted off-balance 
sheet exposures:

 500,000  250,000  250,000 

3.1 fully secured

 - of which impaired

3.2 partially secured  500,000  250,000  250,000 
 - of which impaired
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A.3.2 Banking Group - Guaranted credit exposure to customers
thousands of euro

N
et

 e
xp

o
su

re

Collateral guarantee (1)
Personal guarantee (2)
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1. Guaranted in-balance 
sheet credit exposures:

2,391,070  9,242 16,665  55,313  118,216  1,420,877  400,920  207,286  2,228,519 

1.3 fully secured  2,098,541  6,550  3,555  54,909  118,216  1,420,877  300,920  193,514  2,098,541 

 - of which impaired

1.4 partially secured  292,529  2,692 13,110  404  100,000  13,772  129,978 

 - of which impaired

3. Guaranted off-balance 
sheet exposures:

 60,516  25,159 21,755  2,447  49,361 

3.1 fully secured  12,111  4  9,659  2,447  12,110 

 - of which impaired

3.2 partially secured  48,405  25,155 12,096  37,251 
 - of which impaired
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B. Breakdown and concentration of credit exposure
B.1 Banking group - Breakdown of on- and off-balance sheet customer credit exposure according to sector 
(book value)

thousands of euro

Exposure/
Counterparties

Governments Other public bodies Financial companies
Insurance 
companies

Non-financial companies Other subjects
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A. On-
balance sheet 
exposures

A.1 Doubtful 
loans

 x  139  79  x  6,389  x  -    x  25,351  14,063  x  x 

A.2 
Substandard 
loans

 x  x  x  x  x  x 

A.3 
Restructured 
loans

 x  x  x  x  x  x 

A.4 Past due 
loans

 x  x  x  x  x  x 

A.5 Other 
exposure

 8,626,054  x  3,531  16,259,451  x  25,785  1,848,531  x  1,350  x  2,314,212  x  4,707  1,373  x  1 

Total  A  8,626,054 0 3,531  16,259,590  79  25,785  1,848,531  6,389  1,350 0 0 0  2,339,563 14,063 4,707  1,373 0  1 

B. Off-
balance sheet 
exposures

B.1 Doubtful 
loans

 x  x  x  x  3,633  x  x 

B.2 Substandard 
loans

 x  x  x  x  x  x 

B.3 Other 
impaired assets

 x  x  x  x  x  x 

B.4 Other 
exposure

 861,498  x  614,327  x 123,581  x  x  381,217  x  x 

Total   B  861,498 0 0  614,327 0 0 123,581 0 0 0 0 0  384,850 0 0 0 0 0

Total  (A+B) 
31/12/2012 

 9,487,552 0 3,531  16,873,917  79  25,785 1,972,112  6,389  1,350 0 0 0  2,724,413 14,063  4,707  1,373 0  1 

Total  (A+B) 
31/12/2011 

9,441,524 0 0 17,715,863 71 29,780 1,960,822 5,750 1,114 0 963 0 3,194,917 0 4,574 1,676 0 1
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B.2 Banking group - Breakdown of on- and off-balance sheet bank credit exposure according to geographical 
area (book value)

thousands of euro

Exposure/
Geographical 
area

Italy
Other European 

countries
America Asia Rest of the world

Net 
exposure

Total 
impairment

Net 
exposure

Total 
impairment

Net 
exposure

Total 
impairment

Net 
exposure

Total 
impairment

Net 
exposure

Total 
impairment

A. On-
balance sheet 
exposures
 A.1 Doubtful 
loans  25,490  14,142  6,389 

 A.2 
Substandard 
loans 
 A.3 
Restructured 
loans 
 A.4 Past due 
loans 
 A.5 Other 
exposure  28,587,561  35,184  462,060  190 

Total  28,613,051  49,326  462,060  6,579 0 0 0 0 0 0
B. Off-
balance sheet 
exposures
 B.1 Doubtful 
loans  3,633 

 B.2 
Substandard 
loans 
 B.3 Other 
impaired assets 
 B.4 Other 
exposure  1,954,647 14,286  11,690 

Total  1,958,280 0 14,286 0  11,690 0 0 0 0 0
Total at 
31/12/2012  30,571,331  49,326 476,346  6,579  11,690 0 0 0 0 0

Total at 
31/12/2011  31,951,185  36,327  361,735  5,926  1,882 0 0 0 0 0

Breakdown according to geographic area of relations with bank residing in Italy
thousands of euro

Exposure/Geographical area
North West Italy North East Italy Central Italy Italy - South and Island
Net 

exposure
Total 

impairment
Net 

exposure
Total 

impairment
Net 

exposure
Total 

impairment
Net 

exposure
Total 

impairment
A. On-balance sheet exposures
 A.1 Doubtful loans  25,351  13,100 8  139  1,034 

 A.2 Substandard loans 

 A.3 Restructured loans 

 A.4 Past due loans 

 A.5 Other exposure  7,172,919  11,404  2,951,545  5.,86  13,931,292  11,123  4,531,805  7,271 

 Total  7,198,270  24,504  2,951,545  5,386  13,931,292  11,131  4,531,944  8,305 
B. Off-balance sheet exposures
 B.1 Doubtful loans  3,633 

 B.2 Substandard loans 

 B.3 Other impaired assets 

 B.4 Other exposure  460,443  121,710  1,220,192  152,302 

 Total  464,076 0  121,710 0  1,220,192 0  152,302 0
 Total (A+B) 31/12/2012  7,662,346  24,504  3,073,255  5,386  15,151,484  11,131  4,684,246  8,305 
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B.3 Banking group - Distribution of on and off-balance sheet custumers lcredit exposure according to 
geographical area (book value)

thousands of euro

Exposure/
Geographical 
area

Italy
Other European 

countries
America Asia Rest of the world

Net 
exposure

Total 
impairment

Net 
exposure

Total 
impairment

Net 
exposure

Total 
impairment

Net 
exposure

Total 
impairment

Net 
exposure

Total 
impairment

A. On-
balance sheet 
exposures
A.1 Doubtful 
loans
A.2 
Substandard 
loans
A.3 
Restructured 
loans
A.4 Past due 
loans
A.5 Other 
exposure  686,043  717  12,343,230  56  524  13,113 

Total  686,043  717  12,343,230  56  524 0  13,113 0 0 0
B. Off-
balance sheet 
exposures
B.1 Doubtful 
loans
B.2 Incagli 
B.3 Altre 
attività 
deteriorate 
B.4 Other 
exposure  383,155  766,254 

Total  383,155 0  766,254 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Total at 
31/12/2012  1,069,198  717  13,109,484  56  524 0  13,113 0 0 0

Total at 
31/12/2011 2,249,927 226 11,121,001 30 121,679 0 15,508 0 0 0

Breakdown according to geographic area of relations with custumers residing in Italy

thousands of euro

Exposure/Geographical area
North West Italy North East Italy Central Italy Italy - South and Island

Net 
exposure

Total 
impairment

Net 
exposure

Total 
impairment

Net 
exposure

Total 
impairment

Net 
exposure

Total 
impairment

A. On-balance sheet exposures

A.1 Doubtful loans

A.2 Substandard loans

A.3 Restructured loans

A.4 Past due loans

A.5 Other exposure  450,959  235,084  717 

 Total  450,959 0 0 0  235,084  717 0 0

B. Off-balance sheet exposures

B.1 Doubtful loans

 B.2 Incagli 

 B.3 Altre attività deteriorate 

B.4 Other exposure  48,233  16,546  318,376 

 Total  48,233 0  16,546 0  318,376 0 0 0

 Total  (A+B) 31/12/2012  499,192 0  16,546 0  553,460  717 0 0
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B.5 Large exposures

a) Exposures  39,873,634 thousands of euro

b) Weighted exposures  3,028,387  thousands of euro

c) Number of exposures  31

C. SECURITISATION AND ASSET DISPOSAL 
C.1 Securitisation transactions

Qualitative information
The Bank organised three securitisation operations pursuant to Italian Law no. 130/1999, which were concluded in 2004, 
2005 and 2008. In organising these securitisation transactions, the bank sought assistance from the leading specialised 
rating Agencies: Moody’s, Standard&Poor’s and FitchRatings.

The transactions were carried out via the special purpose vehicle DCC - Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l. 
(“DCC”), whose share capital is held entirely by Dexia Crediop S.p.A., which issued ABSs representing a portfolio of 
securities issued by Local and District Authorities in Italy. The securitisation transactions are aimed at the medium-to-long 
term refinancing of public-sector bonds held in the Parent Bank’s portfolio. 

The three securitisation transactions, of a traditional type, have the same financial structure and involve hedging against 
the interest rate risks inherent in the separate assets and in the ABSs issued, by agreeing interest rate swaps with Dexia 
Crediop S.p.A..

The class A ABS securities (senior) issued by the vehicle company have the benefit of an unconditioned first-demand 
guarantee granted by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.; pursuant to this guarantee and the consequent obligation to buy back the 
securities and repay the entire ABS in the case of any credit or fiscal event, the assets sold have not been cancelled from 
the Bank’s financial statement, in accordance with the indications of IAS 39, and the securities in question are posted 
on the Italian Parent Bank’s financial statement as well as the corresponding liabilities for the ABSs issued by the vehicle 
company.

In order to minimise management and operational risks, the services of the corporate servicer, paying agent and account 
bank were provided by entities outside the Group.

The information on the securitisation operations in which the Bank underwrote the deed for the issue of all the ABS 
securities are given in Section 1.3 “Liquidity risk”.

As regards the role of investor, the portfolio as at 31st December 2012 consists entirely of senior securities deriving mainly 
from the securitisation of loans to entities belonging to the Public Administration or from funds deriving from their real 
estate assets.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION
C.1.1 Banking group - Breakdown of exposure from securitisation transactions according to quality of 
underlying assets

thousands of euro

Quality of 
underlying assets/
Exposure

Cash exposure Guarantees given Credit lines
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A. With own 
underlying assets:

a) impaired

b) others

B. With third 
parties’ underlying 
assets:

1,144,561 1,144,561

a) impaired

b) others 1,144,561 1,144,561

C.1.3 Banking group - Exposure from main “third party” securitisation transactions according to type of 
securitised asset and type of exposure

thousands of euro

Type of 
underlying 
assets/
Exposure

Cash exposure Guarantees given Credit lines

Senior Mezzanine Junior Senior Mezzanine Junior Senior Mezzanine Junior
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 A.1  

-  Non-
residential 
mortgage loans

86,404

 A.2  

 - Other 1,058,157

 A.3 

-  Residential 
mortgage loans
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C.1.4 Banking group - Breakdown of exposure to securitisation transactions distributed by portfolio and type
thousands of euro

Exposure/
Portfolio

Financial 
assets held for 

trading

Financial 
assets 

designated 
at fair value 

through profit 
and loss

Financial 
assets 

available for 
sale

Financial 
assets held to 

maturity

Loans Total at
31/12/2012

Total at
31/12/2011

1. On-balance 
sheet exposures

- “Senior” 1,144,561 1,144,561  1,266,837 

- “Mezzanine”

- “Junior”

2. Off-balance 
sheet exposures

- “Senior”

- “Mezzanine”

- “Junior”

C.1.6 Banking group - Stakes in special purpose vehicles

Name Registered office % Stake

DCC-Dexia Crediop per la cartolarizzazione S.r.l. Rome 100
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C.2 Disposal transactions
C.2.1 Banking group - Financial assets sold but not derecognized: book value and full value   
 

thousands of euro

Technical types 
/ Portfolio

Financial 
assets held 
for trading

Financial 
assets 

designated 
at fair value 

through 
profit and 

loss

Financial assets 
available for sale

Financial 
assets held 
to maturity

Due from banks Due from customers Total

 A  B  C  A  B  C  A  B  C  A  B  C  A  B  C  A  B  C 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

A. Cash assets

1. Debt 
securities

28,059  650,105 1,481,861  2,160,025 5,852,455 

2. Equity 
instruments

 x  x  x  x  x  x  x  x  x 

3. Mutual fund 
shares

 x  x  x  x  x  x  x  x  x 

4. Loans

B. Derivatives  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X  X 
 
X 

 
X 

 X  X  X 

Total at 
31/12/2012 

28,059  650,105 1,481,861  2,160,025 

of which 
impaired

Total at 
31/12/2011 

0 2,757,395 3,095,060  5,852,455 

of which 
impaired

 Key: 
A = financial assets sold and fully recognized (book value)
B = financial assets sold and partially recognized (book value)
C = financial assets sold and partially recognized (full value)
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C.2.2 Banking group - Financial liabilities related to financial assets sold not derecognized: book value 
thousands of euro

Liabilities/Assets portfolio
Financial 

assets held 
for trading

Financial 
assets 

designated 
at fair 
value 

through 
profit and 

loss

Financial 
assets 

available 
for sale

Financial 
assets held 
to maturity

Due from 
banks

Due from 
customers

Total

1. Due to customers 28.059 777.337 805,396

  a) fully recognized 28.059 777.337 805,396

  b) partially recognized

2. Due to banks 651.174 1.102.896 1.754.070

  a) fully recognized  651.174 1.102.896 1.754.070

  b) partially recognized

3. Securities in issue 3.363.278 3.363.278

  a) fully recognized 3.363.278 3.363.278

  b) partially recognized

 Total at 31/12/2012 0 0 28.059 0 651.174 5.243.511  5.922.744 

 Total at 31/12/2011 0 0 0 0 3.192.383 5.898.523 9.090.906

Financial liabilities related to assets sold but not derecognized refer to repurchase agreements, as shown in tables 1.1 
“Due to banks” and 1.2 “Due to customers”. Those regarding Securities issued refer to the securitisation carried out as 
originator and recorded as a consequence of the consolidation of the SPV; the relative assets are recorde as debt securities.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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SECTION 2 – Market risks   

1.2 – Interest rate and price risks - Regulatory trading book  

INTEREST RATE RISK

Qualitative information

A. General aspects 
The portfolio is composed exclusively of derivative products.

The short-term derivative is mainly composed of forward rate agreements and overnight indexed swaps. These instruments 
are used by the Cash & Liquidity Management (CLM) Business Line (BL) to hedge the interest rate risk linked to the Euribor 
parameter and generated by the bank’s core business. At the 31.12.2012 there aren’t short-term trading derivative.

The medium-long term derivative is composed almost entirely of derivatives for matched broking (mainly interest rate 
swaps). The underlying operations regard the management of the medium/long term debt, represented by mortgages or 
securities, of the public clientele, and the sale of derivative products to financial and Corporate customers. In both cases, 
the risk is precisely covered by derivatives of the opposite sign traded on the market. Operations in derivatives are also 
carried out to counter-balance the changes in the Credit Value Adjustment (CVA) due to the interest rate trend.

Management and measurement methods of interest rate risk and price risk  
The activities for measuring and controlling the interest rate risk, as well as market risks in general, are the responsibility 
of the Market Risk and Balance Sheet Management sector of the Risks Management department. 

According to the market risk management policy followed by the Dexia Group, the risk profiles are divided according to 
Business Line. This is also the case when banking and trading items are included in the same BL.

If the single BL can generate an interest rate risk which is more than marginal, operating limits on one or more risk 
indicators are imposed and the use is monitored daily. Periodic scenario analyses are also carried out periodically to 
measure the impact on the value of the portfolios monitored, by a series of non-parallel instantaneous shocks in the 
market interest rates.

The interest rate risk indicators measured are the following:
-   Shift sensitivity of fair value; 
-   Value at Risk (VaR). 

The shift sensitivity of fair value quantifies the variation in the portfolio value consequent to parallel and instantaneous 
increases of the market rates curve. 
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The VaR is defined as the maximum potential loss caused by possible adverse movement in market rates, with reference 
to a confidence level of 99% and a holding period of 10 working days. 

The internal model is not used to calculate the equity requirements for market risks. 

PRICE RISK
The portfolio is not exposed to price risk. 

QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION
1. Regulatory trading book: breakdown by residual duration (re-pricing date) of cash financial assets and 
liabilities and financial derivatives
Currency: Euro thousands of euro

Type/ 
Residual 
term

on demand up to 3 months
between 3 and 

6 months

between 6 
months and 1 

year

between 1 
year and 5 

years

between 5 
and 10 years

beyond 10 
years

Unspecified 
duration

 1. Cash 
assets
1.1 Debt 
securities
     - with 
early 
redemption 
option

     - others

1.2 Other 
assets
 2. Cash 
liabilities

2.1 
Repurchase 
agreements

2.2 Other 
liabilities

3. Financial 
derivatives

 3.1 With 
underlying 
security 

  - Options 
     + long 
positions 
     + short 
positions 
  - Others 
     + long 
positions 
     + short 
positions 
 3.2 Without 
underlying 
security 
  - Options 
     + long 
positions 
     + short 
positions 
  - Others 
     + long 
positions  568,974  13,038,569  13,180,787  1,421,185  7,158,261  5,109,619  10,452,185 

     + short 
positions  1,210,366  13,219,040  12,369,490  1,439,091  7,152,797  4,917,600  10,510,594 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3. Regulatory trading book - internal models and other sensitivity analysis methods  

With regards to the short-term horizon, the above derivatives of the CLM classified in the trading portfolio but with the 
managerial purpose of hedging, as of 31 December 2012 showed a shift-sensitivity close to zero. Since the interest rate 
risk indicators are measured within the overall operating limits assigned to the CLM, please see the section dedicated to 
the banking portfolio to obtain a more comprehensive vision of said risk. 

With regard to the broking of medium and long term derivatives at par value carried out by the Public & Wholesale 
Banking business line, a sensitivity shift of €€  6,369 for every base point was registered at 31.12.12, against an established 
ceiling of € 10,000. This sensitivity has remained constantly below the limit during 2012. The same BL is responsible 
for the management of the shift sensitivity to the interest rates of the CVA mentioned in the preceding paragraph. This 
management takes place through the trading of derivatives (plain vanilla interest rate swaps), which as of 31.21.2012 
show a sensitivity of -€ 90,262 for 1 b.p. against sensitivity of the CVA estimated as +€107,927.

2.2 – Interest rate risk and price risk – Banking book  

INTEREST RATE RISK

QUALITATIVE INFORMATION 

A. General aspects, management and measurement methods of interest rate risk and price risk   
Interest rate exposure on the short-term horizon (two years) in the banking portfolio, generated in particular by re-
fixing of variable rates, is managed by the Cash and Liquidity Management BL (CLM). Medium and long-term exposure, 
generated by a mismatching of fixed rate assets and liabilities (including, most recently, Own Funds) is of a residual nature 
as the new fixed rate production is hedged at the same time as it is recorded by the BL operating on the bank portfolio.
 
As with the regulatory trading book, the market risk monitoring and measurement activities are the responsibility of the 
Market Risk e Balance Sheet Management department, which calculates risk/performance indexes, verifying compliance 
with the operating limits established.

Exposure to the interest rate risk is also subject to regular disclosure and analysis by the Finance Committee with specific 
regard to the operative proposals for opening and closing the rate risk and the alternative investments to conventional 
liabilities at fixed rates represented by Own funds. The management and measurement of the medium and long-term 
interest rate risk takes place on a consolidated level.

For the interest rate risk, derivatives to hedge the fair value or the cash flows are used. The first category, fair value hedge 
derivatives, also includes certain derivatives of the CLM classified in the trading portfolio (see paragraph 2.1). The most 
commonly used instruments are Overnight Indexed Swaps, Forward Rate Agreements and Interest Rate Swaps.



302

B. Fair value hedging activities 
Fair value hedging (both micro and macro, the latter by means of the Portfolio Hedge) is used to immunise the market 
value of the underlying financial instruments, protecting them against adverse changes in market rates. 

The instruments underlying the hedging are specific financial assets or liabilities, or  aggregates of similar type, and 
transactions are carried out under market conditions. 

Initial tests are performed on each hedge regarding the applicability of hedge accounting as well as regular tests on their 
effectiveness.

C. Cash flow hedging
Cash flow hedging is mainly short-term and serves to stabilise cash flows indexed to variable parameters (usually the 
Euribor rates). 
The instruments underlying the hedging are specific financial assets or liabilities, or  aggregates of similar type, and 
transactions are carried out under market conditions. 

Initial tests are performed on each hedge regarding the applicability of hedge accounting as well as regular tests on their 
effectiveness. 

PRICE RISK

QUALITATIVE INFORMATION
 
A. General aspects, management and measurement of price risk  
The banking portfolio is exposed to price risk relative to equity securities classified among assets available for sale. 

Of the above investments, all unlisted, the one relating to the Istituto per il Credito Sportivo is particularly significant. The 
fair value was measured on the basis of a mixed capital-income method. 

B. Price risk hedging activities 
Considering the nature of the equity investments and the book value calculated on the basis of the fair value, no price-
risk hedges have been implemented. 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION

1. Banking book: breakdown by residual duration (re-pricing date) of cash financial assets and liabilities 
Currency of instruments: Euro thousands of euro

Type/ Residual term on demand up to 3 months
between 3 and 

6 months

between 6 
months and 1 

year

between 1 
year and 5 

years

between 5 
and 10 years

beyond 10 
years

Unspecified 
duration

 1. Cash assets  715,463  11,287,493  13,433,144  1,567,481  4,142,752  2,077,542  5,906,784 

 1.1 Debt securities  467,321  2,490,778  5,296,018  1,026,283  1,954,166  1,161,075  4,186,640 
      - with early 
redemption option 
      - others  467,321  2,490,778  5,296,018  1,026,283  1,954,166  1,161,075  4,186,640 

 1.2 Due from banks  6,559  7,876,850  3,703,514  8,239  69,546  66,325  61,536 
 1.3 Due from 
customers 

 241,583  919,865  4,433,612  532,959  2,119,040  850,142  1,658,608 

      - c/a 

      - other loans  241,583  919,865  4,433,612  532,959  2,119,040  850,142  1,658,608 
           - with early 
redemption option 
           - others  241,583  919,865  4,433,612  532,959  2,119,040  850,142  1,658,608 

 2. Cash liabilities  817,118  29,511,488  1,159,205  1,644,991  2,756,181  516,776  355,183 

 2.1 Due to customers  12,292  1,202,984  5,200  141,469  7,977 

       - current accounts  12,287 

       - other payables  5  1,202,984  5,200  141,469  7,977 
           - with early 
redemption option 
           - others  5  1,202,984  5,200  141,469  7,977 

 2.2 Due to banks  804,826  21,884,896  685,312  96,626  205,815  48 

       - current accounts  15,000 

       - other payables  789,826  21,884,896  685,312  96,626  205,815  48 

 2.3 Debt securities  6,423,608  468,693  1,406,896  2,550,366  516,776  347,158 
           - with early 
redemption option 
           - others  6,423,608  468,693  1,406,896  2,550,366  516,776  347,158 

 2.4 Other liabilities  
           - with early 
redemption option 
           - other 
3. Financial 
derivatives
 3.1 With underlying 
security 
  - Options 

     + long positions 

     + short positions 

  - Others 

     + long positions 

     + short positions 

 3.2 Without underlying 
security 

  - Options 

     + long positions 

     + short positions 

  - Others 

     + long positions  13,044,440  7,610,767  11,075,134  1,941,750  2,504,858  391,980  74,805 

     + short positions  4,476,869  7,103,606  12,235,549  2,466,275  3,553,161  1,540,013  5,233,582 
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2. Banking book: internal models and other methods for analysing sensitivity 
The following indicators and charts show the performance of the indicators during the year: 

(euro) VAR 10 days Shift Sensitivity 100 bps (absolute values)

31-Dec-2012 366,655 18,257,471

minimum 33,119 3,220

average 536,494 8,598,443

maximum 2,606,770 25,525,400

For both indicators measured, no excess was recorded during  2012 over and above the operating limits. 

With regards to the measurement of risk and related operating limits on the medium and long-term timeframe, please 
refer to that explained in the section on market risks in the consolidated financial statements.

(euro) Shift Sensitivity 100 bps (absolute values)

31-Dec-2012 10,325,876

minimum 5,770,174

average 7,929,264

maximum 11,697,715

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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It should be noted that the sensitivity detected at 31 December 2012 for management purposes stated above and 
includes a sensitivity equal to +60 mln/€ liabilities attributable to conventional fixed-rate represented by the Own Funds 
Group. There were no trespassing during 2012 compared to the operational limit set at 15 mln/€.

1.2.3 - Exchange rate risk 

QUALITATIVE INFORMATION

A. General aspects, management and measurement of exchange rate risk 
The Group holds financial assets and issues bonds in non-euro currencies with the aim of exploiting favourable market 
opportunities, taking into account the cost of exchange rate risks. 

B. Exchange rate risk hedging activities
Financial assets and liabilities in currencies other than the euro are systematically hedged at the origin against exchange 
rate risks using derivative products (cross currency swaps). 

QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION

1. Distribution according to currency of the assets, liabilities and derivatives
thousands of euro

Items
Currencies

US Dollar British pound  Yen Canadian Dollar Swiss franc
Other 

currencies

A. Financial assets

 A.1 Debt securities  293,829  159,294 

 A.2 Equity instruments 

 A.3  Due from banks  523  28  1  41 

 A.4  Due from customers 

 A.5 Other financial assets 

 B. Other assets 

 C. Financial liabilities 

 C.1 Due to banks  105,679 

 C.2 Due to customers 

 C.3 Debt securities  8,802 

 C.4 Other financial liabilities 

 D. Other liabilities 

 E. Financial derivatives 

  - Options 

     + long positions 

     + short positions 

  - Others 

     + long positions  301,417  33,697  8,802 

     + short positions  489,454  192,991 

 Total assets  595,769  193,019  8,803 0 41 0

 Total liabilities  595,133  192,991  8,802 0 0 0

 Differences (+/-)  636  28 1 0 41 0
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1.2.4 DERIVATIVES
A. Financial derivatives
A.1 Regulatory trading book: period-end and average notional amounts

thousands of euro

Underlying assets/Type of 
derivatives

Total at 31/12/2012 Total at 31/12/2011

Over the counter Central counterparties Over the counter Central counterparties

1. Debt securities and interest rates  49,963,118  61,742,117 

    a) Options  275,434  285,214 

    b) Swaps  49,687,684  61,456,903 

    c) Forwards

    d) Futures

    e) Others

2. Equity securities and stock indices  110,600  170,650 

    a) Options  27,350 

    b) Swaps  110,600  143,300 

    c) Forwards

    d) Futures

    e) Others

3. Foreign exchange rates and gold  458,643  595,825 

    a) Options

    b) Swaps  458,643  595,825 

    c) Forwards

    d) Futures

    e) Others

4. Commodities

5. Other underlying assets

Total 50,532,361  62,508,592 

Averages 50,450,571  60,983,476 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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A.2 Banking book: period-end and average notional amounts

A.2.1  Hedging
thousands of euro

Underlying assets/Type of 
derivatives

Total at 31/12/2012 Total at 31/12/2011

Over the counter Central counterparties Over the counter Central counterparties

1. Debt securities and interest rates  36,081,023  46,007,582 

    a) Options  40,873  42,261 

    b) Swaps  36,040,150  45,965,321 

    c) Forwards

    d) Futures

    e) Others

2. Equity securities and stock indices  1,612,183  2,749,738 

    a) Options  91,072  91,072 

    b) Swaps  1,521,111  2,658,666 

    c) Forwards

    d) Futures

    e) Others

3. Foreign exchange rates and gold  567,719  645,260 

    a) Options

    b) Swaps  461,926  517,183 

    c) Forwards  105,793  128,077 

    d) Futures

    e) Others

4. Commodities

5. Other underlying assets

Total  38,260,925  49,402,580 

Averages  28,249,653  30,025,671 
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A.3 Financial derivatives: gross positive fair value - breakdown by products
thousands of euro

Portfolios/Types of derivatives

Positive fair value

Total at 31/12/2012 Total at 31/12/2011

Over the counter Central counterparties Over the counter Central counterparties

A. Regulatory trading book  6,170,722  5,232,465 

   a) Options  3,257  1,900 

   b) Interest rate swaps  6,092,690  5,151,871 

   c) Cross currency swaps  74,436  76,359 

   d) Equity swap  339  2,335 

   e) Forwards

   f) Futures

   g) Others

B. Banking book - hedging  540,947  599,431 

   a) Options  58,204  54,392 

   b) Interest rate swaps  429,831  451,946 

   c) Cross currency swaps  11,600  26,657 

   d) Equity swap  41,255  66,098 

   e) Forwards  57  338 

   f) Futures

   g) Others

C. Banking book - other derivatives

   a) Options

   b) Interest rate swaps

   c) Cross currency swaps

   d) Equity swap

   e) Forwards

   f) Futures

   g) Others

Total  6,711,669  5,831,896 
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A.4 Financial derivatives: gross negative fair value - breakdown by products
thousands of euro

Portfolios/Types of derivatives

Negative fair value

Total at 31/12/2012 Total at 31/12/2011

Over the counter Central counterparties Over the counter Central counterparties

A. Regulatory trading book  6,223,909  5,323,738 

   a) Options  3,263  1,908 

   b) Interest rate swaps  6,144,407  5,242,033 

   c) Cross currency swaps  75,900  77,462 

   d) Equity swap  339  2,335 

   e) Forwards

   f) Futures

   g) Others

B. Banking book - hedging  4,198,749  3,603,260 

   a) Options  6,096  5,027 

   b) Interest rate swaps  4,097,622  3,474,894 

   c) Cross currency swaps  92,865  98,604 

   d) Equity swap  2,166  24,735 

   e) Forwards

   f) Futures

   g) Others

C. Banking book - other derivatives

   a) Options

   b) Interest rate swaps

   c) Cross currency swaps

   d) Equity swap

   e) Forwards

   f) Futures

   g) Others

Total  10,422,658  8,926,998 
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A.5 OTC financial derivatives - regulatory trading book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair 
values by counterparties - contracts not included under netting arrangemets

thousands of euro

Contracts not part of offsetting 
agreements

Governments 
and Central 

Banks

Other 
public 

entities
Banks

Financial 
institutions

Insurance 
companies

Non-
financial 

companies

Other 
entities

 1) Debt securities and interest rates 

     - notional value  3,393,468  2,661,499  113,897  305,475  574,645 

     - positive fair value  593,102  409,005  56,579  78,719  92,656 

     - negative fair value  2,308 

     - future exposure  28,374  24,156  1,666  1,686  6,421 

 2) Equity securities and stock indices 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

     - future exposure 

 3) Foreign exchange rates and gold 

     - notional value  127,489 

     - positive fair value  33,171 

     - negative fair value 

     - future exposure  9,562 

 4) Other values 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

     - future exposure 
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A.6 OTC financial derivatives - regulatory trading book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair 
values by counterparties - contracts included under netting arrangemets

thousands of euro

Contracts part
of offsetting agreements

Governments 
and Central 

Banks

Other 
public 

entities
Banks

Financial 
institutions

Insurance 
companies

Non-
financial 

companies

Other 
entities

 1) Debt securities and interest rates 

     - notional value  42,067,148  846,986 

     - positive fair value  4,859,306  6,581 

     - negative fair value  6,029,673  115,693 

 2) Equity securities and stock indices 

     - notional value  110,600 

     - positive fair value  339 

     - negative fair value  339 

 3) Foreign exchange rates and gold 

     - notional value  331,154 

     - positive fair value  41,264 

     - negative fair value  75,900 

 4) Other values 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 
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A.7 OTC financial derivatives - banking book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair values by 
counterparties - contracts not included under netting arrangemets

thousands of euro

Contracts not part
of offsetting agreements

Governments 
and Central 

Banks

Other 
public 

entities
Banks

Financial 
institutions

Insurance 
companies

Non-
financial 

companies

Other 
entities

 1) Debt securities and interest rates 

     - notional value  28,600 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value  138 

     - future exposure  2,288 

 2) Equity securities and stock indices 

     - notional value  105,793 

     - positive fair value  57 

     - negative fair value 

     - future exposure  1,058 

 3) Foreign exchange rates and gold 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

     - future exposure 

 4) Other values 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

     - future exposure 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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A.8 OTC financial derivatives - banking book: notional values, gross positive and negative fair values by 
counterparties - contracts included under netting arrangemets

thousands of euro

Contracts part
of offsetting agreements

Governments 
and Central 

Banks

Other 
public 

entities
Banks

Financial 
institutions

Insurance 
companies

Non-
financial 

companies

Other 
entities

 1) Debt securities and interest rates 

     - notional value  35,226,097  854,926 

     - positive fair value  388,953  40,877 

     - negative fair value  3,824,681  279,038 

 2) Equity securities and stock indices 

     - notional value  1,522,033  61,550 

     - positive fair value  99,459 

     - negative fair value  1,780  248 

 3) Foreign exchange rates and gold 

     - notional value  206,676  255,249 

     - positive fair value  81  11,519 

     - negative fair value  92,865 

 4) Other values 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

A.9 Residual maturity of OTC financial derivatives: notional amounts
thousands of euro

Underlying instruments/ Residual term Up to 1 year
Between 1 year and 

5 years
More than 5 years Total

A. Regulatory trading book  9,219,077  14,257,244  27,056,040  50,532,361 

A.1 Fin. derivatives on debt securities and 
interest rates

9,194,996 14,109,171 26,658,951  49,963,118 

A.2 Fin. derivatives on equity securities and 
stock indices

0 110,600 0  110,600 

A.3 Fin. derivatives on exchange rates and gold 24,081 37,473 397,089  458,643 

A.4 Fin. derivatives - other 0 0 0 0

B. Banking book  21,554,274  6,716,464  9,990,187  38,260,925 

B.1 Fin. derivatives on debt securities and 
interest rates

 20,522,174  5,934,064  9,624,785  36,081,023 

B.2 Fin. derivatives on equity securities and 
stock indices

 903,759  708,424 0  1,612,183 

B.3 Fin. derivatives on exchange rates and gold  128,341  73,976  365,402  567,719 

B.4 Fin. derivatives - other

Total at 31/12/2012  30,773,351  20,973,708  37,046,227  88,793,286 

Total at 31/12/2011  44,886,559  25,980,593  41,044,020  111,911,172 
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B. Credit derivatives
B.1 Credit derivatives: period-end and average notional amounts

thousands of euro

Type of transaction
Regulatory trading book Banking book

single counterparty
more counterparties 

(basket)
single counterparty

more counterparties 
(basket)

 1. Protection purchases  802,627 

        a) Credit default products  802,627 

        b) Credit spread products 

        c) Total rate of return swap 

        d) Others 

 Total at 31/12/2012  802,627 

Average amount  802,627 

 Total at 31/12/2011  802,627 

 2. Protection sales  802,627 

        a) Credit default products  802,627 

        b) Credit spread products 

        c) Total rate of return swap 

        d) Others 

 Total at 31/12/2012  802,627 

Average amount  802,627 

 Total at 31/12/2011  802,627 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B.2 OTC credit derivatives: gross positive fair value - breakdown by products
thousands of euro

Portfolios/Types of derivatives
Positive fair value

Total at 31/12/2012 Total at 31/12/2011

 A. Regulatory trading book  67,441  63,902 

        a) Credit default products 67,441 63,902

        b) Credit spread products 

        c) Total rate of return swap 

        d) Others 

 B. Banking book 0 0

        a) Credit default products 

        b) Credit spread products 

        c) Total rate of return swap 

        d) Others 

 Total  67,441  63,902 
  

  

 
B.3 OTC credit derivatives: gross negative fair value - breakdown by products 

thousands of euro

Portfolios/Types of derivatives
Negative fair value

Total at 31/12/2012 Total at 31/12/2011

 A. Regulatory trading book  63,335  61,180 

        a) Credit default products 63,335 61,180

        b) Credit spread products 

        c) Total rate of return swap 

        d) Others 

 B. Banking book 0 0

        a) Credit default products 

        b) Credit spread products 

        c) Total rate of return swap 

        d) Others 

 Total  63,335 61,180
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B.4 OTC credit derivatives: gross (positive and negative) fair values by counterparties - contracts not included 
under netting arrangemets      

thousands of euro

Contracts not part of 
offsetting agreements

Governments 
and Central 

Banks

Other public 
entities

Banks
Financial 

institutions
Insurance 
companies

Non-financial 
companies

Other 
entities

 Regulatory trading 

 1) Protection purchase 

     - notional value  802,627 

     - positive fair value  67,441 

     - negative fair value 

     - future exposure  80,263 

 2) Protection sale 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

     - future exposure 

 Banking portfolio 

 1) Protection purchase 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

 2) Protection sale 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B.5 OTC credit derivatives: gross (positive and negative) fair values by counterparties - contracts included 
under netting arrangemets     

thousands of euro

Contracts part of offsetting 
agreements

Governments 
and Central 

Banks

Other public 
entities

Banks
Financial 

institutions
Insurance 
companies

Non-financial 
companies

Other 
entities

 Regulatory trading 

 1) Protection purchase 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

 2) Protection sale   

     - notional value  583,724  218,903

     - positive fair value   

     - negative fair value  36,654  24,681

 Banking portfolio 

 1) Protection purchase 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

 2) Protection sale 

     - notional value 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

B.6 Residual maturity of credit derivatives: notional amounts
thousands of euro

Underlying instruments/ Residual term Up to 1 year
Between 1 
year and 5 

years

More than 5 
years

Total

A. Regulatory trading book 0 0 1,605,254 1,605,254

A.1 Credit derivatives with "qualified reference obligation"

A.2 Credit derivatives with "unqualified reference obligation" 1,605,254 1,605,254

B. Banking book 0 0 0 0

B.1 Credit derivatives with "qualified reference obligation"

B.2 Credit derivatives with "unqualified reference obligation"

Total at 31/12/2012 0 0 1,605,254 1,605,254

Total at 31/12/2011 0 0  1,605,254  1,605,254 
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C. CREDIT AND FINANCIAL DERIVATIVES
C.1 OTC credit and financial derivatives: net fair values and future exposure by counterparty

thousands of euro

Governments 
and Central 

Banks

Other 
public 

entities
Banks

Financial 
institutions

Insurance 
companies

Non-
financial 

companies

Other 
entities

 1) Financial derivatives - bilateral
agreements 

     - positive fair value  839,521  11,690 

     - negative fair value  5,513,984  372,372 

     - future exposure  301,429  17,265 

     - net counterparty risk  1,140,950  189,492 

 2) Credit derivatives - bilateral agreements 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

     - future exposure 

     - net counterparty risk 

 3) "Cross product" agreements 

     - positive fair value 

     - negative fair value 

     - future exposure 

     - net counterparty risk 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1.3 BANKING GROUP – Liquidity risk   

QUALITATIVE INFORMATION

A. General aspects, management and measurement of liquidity risk  

The Group is structurally exposed to the risk of liquidity as the loans activity is mainly concentrated on a long-term horizon 
against deposits that are characterised by a shorter average duration.

Exposure is concentrated on the Parent Bank as the activities of the subsidiaries does not have any tangible effect on the 
liquidity risk. As such, please refer to that stated in the paragraph devoted to this matter in the Explanatory Notes to the 
Individual Financial Statements.



320

QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION

1. Breakdown by maturity by residual maturity of financial assets and liabilities - Currency: Euro
thousands of euro

Item/Time bracket
On 

demand

Between 
1 and 7 

days

Between 
7 and 15 

days

Between 
15 days 
and 1 
month

Between 
1 month 

and 3 
months

Between 
3 and 6 
months

Between 
6 months 

and 1 
year

Between 1 
year and 5 

years

More than 
5 years

Unspecified 
maturity

 Cash assets  74,739  5,570,418  476,465  211,711  2,723,702  4,931,520  949,244  5,967,069  16,954,189 
 A.1 Government 
securities 

14,917 84,541 949,653 3,663,708  x 

 A.2 Other debt securities 1,832 3,253 13,182 4,514 554,765 733,041 202,953 1,761,253 8,057,809  x 

 A.3  Mutual fund shares  2,030  x 

 A.4 Loans  70,877  5,567,165  463,283  207,197  2,168,937  4,183,562  661,750  3,256,163  5,232,671 

       - Banks  1,567  5,118,710  462,978  146,259  2,150,000  3,701,586  8,058  68,029  113,067  x 

       - Customers  69,310  448,455  305  60,938  18,937  481,976  653,692  3,188,134  5,119,604  x 

 Cash liabilities   290,869  4,080,652 444,220 3,901,174  1,296,598  771,287  1,036,680  20,687,748  3,987,822 
 B.1 Deposits and current 
accounts 

 288,752  x 

       - Banks  15,000  x 

       - Customers  273,752  x 

 B.2 Debt securities  15,157 74,891 2,456,762  721,628  185,004  426,466  4,128,373  3,108,751 

 B.3 Other liabilities   2,117  4,065,495  369,329  1,444,413  574,970  586,283  610,214  16,559,375  879,071 

 Off balance sheet 
transactions 
 C.1 Financial derivatives 
with exchange of capital 

     - long positions  12,703  105,856  11,795  24,824  114,579  821,854  x 

     - short positions  12,703  106,829  11,094  24,100  109,880  791,532  x 

 C.2 Financial derivatives 
without exchange of 
capital 

     - long positions  6,096,229  162  9,560  38,998  41,836  90,939 

     - short positions  6,147,637  190  22,125  34,791  140,937  241,082 

 C.3 Deposits and loans 
to be settled 

     - long positions 

     - short positions 

 C.4 Irrevocable 
commitments to lend 
funds 

     - long positions  188,475  112,906  24,136  237,347  2,314  x 

     - short positions  802,627  x 

 C.5 Financial guarantees 
given 
 C.6 Financial guarantees 
received 
 C.7 Credit derivatives 
with equity swap 

     - long positions 

     - short positions 

 C.8 Credit derivatives 
without equity swap 

     - long positions 

     - short positions  x 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The financial derivatives without the exchange of capital include, with regard to trading derivatives, the fair value exposed 
in “on demand” timeframe and, with regard to hedging derivatives, the positive or negative differentials that are due in 
the year following that of reference of the financial statements.

The securitisation transactions in place as of 31 December 2012, originating on internal assets through Tevere Finance 
srl, in which Dexia Crediop (originator bank) signed the deed for the issue, total liabilities issued by the vehicle company 
are as follows:
- 200,678,527 euro, of which 199,635,527 euro Senior Notes, with ratings assigned by Standard & Poor’s as “A” and 

1,043,000 euro Junior Notes (without ratings), concerning loan agreements stipulated with Istituto per il Credito 
Sportivo;

- 309,787,682 euro of which 307,220,682 euro Senior Notes (without ratings) and 2,567,000 euro Junior Notes (without 
ratings), concerning loan agreements stipulated with public and private enterprises.

1.4 BANKING GROUP – Operational risks 

QUALITATIVE INFORMATION 

A. General aspects, management and measuring of operational risk  
Operational risk is “the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems, or from 
external events”. This definition includes legal risk, but not strategic risk (i.e. the risk of not achieving the desired 
performance owing to assessment errors by the management) or reputational risk (i.e. the risk of losing revenues owing 
to a loss of public confidence in the broker). 

The method used by the Group for measuring operational risk is the Traditional Standardized Approach (TSA). 

As regards the qualitative method of assessing operational risks, an Operational Risk & Security Unit is active within the 
Risk Management Office, and has responsibility for: 
- drafting and updating the rules for the correct management of company processes and the consequent mitigation of 
the operational risk;
- measuring annually the Group’s exposure to the operational risk by means of the RCSA method (Risk & Control Self 
Assessment); 
- defining, adopting and producing the reporting system on operational risk trends;
- prepare, for the part of competence on operating risks, the document “ICAAP Report” to be send annually to the Bank 
of Italy; 
- managing the security logics which control access to the IT applications;
- guarantee the efficiency and update of the Operating Continuity Plan (OCP), also through the execution of annual tests. 

As regards management performance assessments, a number of Operational Risk Correspondents (ORC) have been 
chosen within each of the Parent Bank’s (Dexia Crediop S.p.A.) structures and Dexia Crediop Ireland (DCI), with the task 
of noting every operational risk event and subsequently filing the information in the Group’s software OSCAR. 
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QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION 

The main causes of operational risk events are shown below in percentage terms: 

CATEGORY OF EVENT %

internal fraud 0%

external fraud 0%

relationships with staff and safety in the workplace 0%

customers, products and business practice 7%

damage to or loss of property plant and equipment 0%

system failure or breakdown 20%

process execution, delivery and management 73%

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PART F – COMMENTS ON THE CONSOLIDATED CAPITAL
Section 1 - Consolidated shareholders’ equity

A. QUALITATIVE INFORMATION
The consolidated capital consists of the share capital, of reserves from profits of previous periods, valuation reserves on 
financial assets available for sale and cash flow hedges and reserves as a result of first adoption of the IAS/IFRS principles. 
Except for the part of the capital used in equity investments and properties and the part from reserves consisting of the 
fair value of assets available for sale and cash flow hedging, the remaining capital is mainly invested in fixed-rate mid- to 
long-term financial assets.

B. QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION
B.1 Consolidated capital: distribution by type of company

thousands of euro

Shareholders’ equity Banking group
Insurance 
companies

Other 
companies

Netting and 
adjustments on 
consolidation

Total

Share capital  450,210  11  450,221 

Share premiums

Reserves 736,728 736,728

Equity instruments

(Treasury shares)

Valuation reserves  (68,044)  (68,044)

         -    Financial assets available for sale  (76,425)  (76,425)

         -    Property plant and equipment

         -    Intangible assets

         -    Hedges on foreign investments

         -    Cash flow hedges  8,381  8,381 

         -    Foreign exchange differences

         -    Non-current assets held for sale

         -    Actuarial gains (losses) on defined benefits 
plans

         -    Share of of valuation reserves related to 
equity investments

         -    Legally-required revaluations

Parent's company's net income (loss) and minority 
interest

 7,632  7,632 

Shareholders' equity  1,126,526 0 11 0  1,126,537 
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B.2 Valuation reserves of financial assets available for sale: breakdown
thousands of euro

Assets/Amounts
Banking group Insurance companies Other companies

Netting and 
adjustments on 
consolidation

Totala at
31/12/2012

Positive 
reserve

Negative 
reserve

Positive 
reserve

Negative 
reserve

Positive 
reserve

Negative 
reserve

Positive 
reserve

Negative 
reserve

Positive 
reserve

Negative 
reserve

  1. Debt securities  21,698  222,554  21,698  222,554 

  2. Equity investments  124,370  124,370 

  3. Mutual fund shares  162  101  162  101 

  4. Loans 

 Total  146,230  222,655  146,230  222,655 

 Total at 31.12.2011 125,486 303,846  125,486  303,846 

B.3 Valuation reserves of financial assets available for sale: annual changes

thousands of euro

Debt securities
Equity 

investments
Mutual fund 

shares
Loans

 1.     Opening balances (280,670)  102,160  150 

 2.    Increases  79,814 22,210

 2.1    Fair value increass  77,493  22,210 

 2.2    Reversal to income statement of 

          negative reserves: 

          - impairment 

          - disposal 

 2.3   Other changes  2,321 

 3.    Decreases  89 

 3.1    Fair value decreases  89 

 3.2    Impairment losses 

 3.3    Reversal to income statement of 

          positive reserve: disposal 

 3.4   Other changes 

 4.     Closing balances (200,856)  124,370  61 

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



325

DExIA CREDIOP BANKING GROUP

Section 2 - Regulatory capital and capital ratios

2.2 Bank regulatory capital

A. QUALITATIVE INFORMATION
1. Tier 1 capital
The share capital, income reserves and the income of the period are positive elements of the tier I capital. The negative 
elements consist of the intangible fixed assets and prudential filters due to the negative valuation reserves of debt 
securities classified as “Financial assets available for sale”.  All positive and negative elements of the tier I are deducted 
by 50% due to the book value valuation of the investment in Istituto per il Credito Sportivo, net of the positive reserve.

2. Tier 2 capital
The positive elements of the supplementary equity consist of the positive valuation reserves relating to capital securities 
considered at 50%, the subordinate loan subscribed by the parent company Dexia Crédit Local and the excess total value 
adjustments as compared with forecast losses. Deductions are accounting for 50% by the book value of the investment 
in Istituto per il Credito Sportivo, net of the positive reserve.

B. QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION

thousands of euro

Total at
31/12/2012

Total at
31/12/2011

A. Tier 1 capital before application of prudential filters  1,191,258  1,183,544 

B.Tier 1 capital prudential filters: (84,761) (87,082)

    B.1  - positive IAS/IFRS prudential filters (+)

    B.2  - negative IAS/IFRS prudential filters (-) (84,761) (87,082)

C. Tier 1 capital inclusive of elements to be deducted (A+B)  1,106,497  1,096,462 

D. Intems to be deducted from tier 1 capital  12,329  12,329 

E. Total Tier 1 capital (C-D)  1,094,168  1,084,133 

F. Tier 2 capital before application of prudential filters  341,945  419,451 

G. Tier 2 capital prudential filters:  30  75 

   G.1  - positive IAS/IFRS prudential filters (+)  30  75 

   G.2  - negative IAS/IFRS prudential filters (-)

H. Tier 2 capital inclusive of elements to be deducted (F+G)  341,975  419,526 

I. Items to be deducted from tier 2 capital  12,329  12,329 

L. Total Tier 2 capital (H-I)  329,646  407,197 

M. Intems to be deducted from total tier 1 and tier 2 capital 

N. Regulatory capital (E+L-M)  1,423,814  1,491,330 

O. Tier 3 capital 

P. Regulatory capital including Tier 3 (N+O)  1,423,814  1,491,330 
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2.3 Capital adequacy

A. QUALITATIVE INFORMATION

B. QUANTITATIVE INFORMATION
   

thousands of euro

Categories/Amounts
Unweighted amounts

Weighted amounts/
requirements

31/12/2012 31/12/2011 31/12/2012 31/12/2011

A. RISK ASSETS

A.1 CREDIT AND COUNTERPARTY RISK  41,718,363  43,808,376  4,762,501  3,805,806 

1. Standardized methodology  1,634,785  1,697,751  1,104,998  1,069,513 

2. Methodology based on internal ratings  39,997,052  42,018,702  3,625,402  3,230,153 

2.1 Basic

2.2 Advanced  39,997,052  42,018,702 3,625,402  3,230,153 

3. Securitisation  86,526  91,923  32,101  11,693 

B. REGULATORY CAPITAL REQUIREMENTS

B.1 CREDIT AND COUNTERPARTY RISK  381,000  344,909 

B.2 MARKET RISKS  24,651  18,102 

1. Standard methodology  24,651  18,102 

2. Internal models

3. Concentration risk

B.3 OPERATIONAL RISK  5,014  12,035 

1. Basic method

2. Standardized method  5,014  12,035 

3. Advanced method

B.4 OTHER PRUDENTIAL REQUIREMENTS

B.5 OTHER CALCULATION ELEMENTS  69,138  171,141 

B.6 TOTAL PRUDENTIAL REQUIREMENTS  479,803  546,187 

C. RISK ASSETS AND REGULATORY RATIOS

C.1 Risk-weighted assets  5,997,538  6,827,334 

C.2 Tier 1 capital/ Risk-weighted assets (Tier 1 capital ratio) 18.24% 15.88%

C.3 Regulatory capital including Tier 3/ Risk-weighted assets (Total capital 
ratio)

23.74% 21.84%

Item B.5 “Other calculation elements” includes adjustment for intra-group transactions and the integration envisaged 
for banks calculating the equity requirement for the credit and counterparty risk according to the IRB ( Floor ) method.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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PART H – TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES  
In compliance with law dispositions and internal procedures, all related party transactions occured during the fiscal year 
have been carried out at conditions equivalent to market conditions applied to transactions of similar nature and risk 
occured with non related parties. With regard to related parties, any unsusual or non-typical transaction and/or any 
transaction with non standard condistions, both economic and contractual, has been concluded.

1. Information on key management personnel’s remuneration
The information referred to in paragraph 17 of IAS 24 regarding key management personnel is shown below:
      

thousands of euro

Short term benefits  3,569 

Post-employment benefits  179 

Other long term benefits

Severance indemnity

Payment in shares

Total  3,748

2. Information on transactions with related parties
The bank is the Parent Company of “Gruppo Bancario Dexia Crediop S.p.A.” which, in addition to Dexia Crediop S.p.A., 
includes the following subsidiaries:

1. DCC - Dexia Crediop per la Cartolarizzazione S.r.l., with a 100% shareholding;
2. D.C.I. - Dexia Crediop Ireland with a 100% shareholding(1);
3. Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie Garantite S.r.L. with a 90% shareholding;
4. Tevere Finance S.r.l.(2)

The company is controlled (70% of the share capital) by Dexia Crédit Local SA with registered offices in - 1, passerelle des 
Reflets Tour Dexia - La Défense 2 - 92913 La Défense Cedex.

(1)  Unlimited liability company constituted under Irish law, with registered offices in 6 George’s Dock, Dublin 1 and share capital of Euro 100 million 
represented by 100 million shares, each with a nominal value of 1 euro.

 - 99,999,999 shares are held by Dexia Crediop S.p.A.;
 - 1 share held by Belfius Ireland (ex Dexia Investments Ireland), in its capacity as Trustee for Dexia Crediop S.p.A. until the 05/03/2013; on 

06/03/2013  Belfius Ireland sold, whitout trustee agreement, the share to Dexia Crédit Local.

(2) Vehicle company in accordance with Italian law no. 130/1999 over which Dexia Crediop S.p.A. exercises de facto control.
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2.1 Transactions with the parent company

      

Assets and Liabilities thousands of euro

Assets

 -  Financial assets held for trading  63,671 

 -  Deposits  441,799 

 -  Bonds & securities  602,699 

 -  Hedging derivatives  6,304,813 

 -  Other Assets  209 

 Total 7,413,191

 Liabilities 

 -  Borrowings  1,000,398 

 -  Financial liabilities held for trading  18,081 

 -  Hedging derivatives  538,820 

 -  Subordinated debts  400,040 

 -  Repurchase agreements  3,580,484 

 -  Deposits  436,625 

 -  Other liabilities  53 

 Total 5,974,501
      
      

Other transactions thousands of euro

- Guarantees received  325,000 

 Total  325,000

Income and charges thousands of euro

 - Interest and similar income  185,307 

 - Interest paid and similar charges (209,242)

of which

interest margin on hedging transactions (27,680)

 - Commission income 395

 - Net trading gains (losses)  9,048 

 - Gains (losses) on disposal or repurchase (31,150)

 - Administrative expenses (730)

 Total (46,372)
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2.2 Transactions with other companies of the Dexia Group
In addition to the above-illustrated transactions with the parent company, the Dexia Crediop Group also carried out 
transactions with Dexia SA holding and its subsidiaries; all these transactions refer to the core business. 

DEXIA HOLDING
Assets and Liabilities thousands of euro

Liabilities

 - Other liabilities  1,113 

 Total  1,113 

Income and charges thousands of euro

 - Administrative expenses  (1,120)

 Total (1,120)

COMPANIES IN THE DCL GROUP      
Assets and Liabilities thousands of euro

Assets

 - Financial assets held for trading  693,226 

 - Other assets  399 

 Total  693,625 

Liabilities

 - Issued securites  53,473 

 - Repurchase agreements  440,413 

 - Payables - other loans  3,373,337 

 - Financial liabilities held for trading  21 

 Total 3,867,244

Income and charges thousands of euro

 - Interest paid and similar charges (54,511)

 - Commission income  3,504 

 - Net trading gains (losses)  159,167 

 Total  108,160 
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PART L – INFORMATION ON SECTORS 
Criteria for segment reporting

Segment reporting must be drawn up in accordance with IFRS8 Operating Sectors principle and no longer drafted 
according to IAS 14, as required in the past.

The adoption of IFRS8 confirms the logic according to which the sectors of activity subject to disclosure are chosen, the 
Bank having long had a so-called “management approach”, i.e. the adoption of using the same structure for the annual 
report as that used for the preparation of internal reporting.

- Primary schedule “Segment Reporting”

The approach, in line with that adopted in 2011, contemplates the aggregation of business lines with similar features as 
regards the products and services offered to the clientèle, and the use of the following two sectors: 
• Public and Wholesale Banking (PWB);
• Group Centre.

The Public and Wholesale Banking (PWB) sector includes loans and financial services offered by the Group to customers 
in the public sector and the corporate clientèle, which represent the two target segments. 

The Group Centre sector includes all the activity carried out by the Dexia Crediop Group on financial and money markets, 
as well as the management of the free capital, equity investments and other assets not otherwise allocated.

More information on the content of each sector are given in the paragraph “Operating Trends” of the Dexia Crediop 
S.p.A. Report on Operations.

- Secondary schedule “Information by geographic area”

The method adopted, in line with 2011, is based on the country where the Group companies are located.

More information on the Group companies are given in the paragraph “Information on trends in the Group’s companies” 
of the Dexia Crediop Group Report on Operations.

A. Primary schedule

The tables below provide the economic results of the Dexia Crediop Group at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 
2011, subdivided by business sector. The results of the income statement are shown according to the reclassified income 
statement schedule give in the Report on Consolidated Operations.

The income statement for each sector is constructed by aggregating the income statements of the Dexia Crediop Group 
companies after having eliminated infra-group transactions and consolidation entries.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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A general description of the economic results of the Dexia Crediop Group is given in the paragraph “Changes to key 
income statement items” in the Report on Operations of the Dexia Crediop Group. 

A.1 Distribution according to business sector: income details 2012

thousands of euro

Income Statement items 2012  Public and 
Wholesale Banking 

 Group           
Centre 

Dexia Crediop 
Group

Net interest income 79,259 16,853 96,112

Net fee and commission income 6,200 -18,325 -12,125

Dividend

Net trading gains (losses) 29,013 -36,373 -7,360

Net interest and other banking income 114,472 -37,845 76,627

Net adjustments for impairment -13,529 -482 -14,011

Net income from financial activities 100,943 -38,327 62,616

Administrative expenses -22,597 -12,578 -35,175

Net provisions for risks and charges 0 -129 -129

Net adjustments on assets -1,995 -792 -2,787

Other operating expenses/income  -   451 451

Operating costs -24,592 -13,048 -37,640

Gains (losses) on disposal of investments

Profit (loss) from continuing operations before tax 76,352 -51,376 24,976

A.1 Distribution according to business sector: income details 2011

thousands of euro

Income Statement items 2011  Public and 
Wholesale Banking 

 Group           
Centre 

Dexia Crediop 
Group

Net interest income 79,306 12,869 92,175

Net fee and commission income 13,023 -3,081 9,942

Dividend 0 3,109 3,109

Net trading gains (losses) -49,799 -24,199 -73,998

Net interest and other banking income 42,530 -11,302 31,228

Net adjustments for impairment -3,099 69 -3,030

Net income from financial activities 39,431 -11,233 28,198

Administrative expenses -24,125 -14,348 -38,473

Net provisions for risks and charges -3,000 -155 -3,155

Net adjustments on assets -1,753 -718 -2,471

Other operating expenses/income 0 426 426

Operating costs -28,878 -14,795 -43,673

Gains (losses) on disposal of investments

Profit (loss) from continuing operations before tax 10,553 -26,028 -15,475
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A.2 Distribution according to business sector: equity details 2012

thousands of euro

   Balance Sheet items 2012  Public and 
Wholesale Banking 

 Group           
Centre 

Dexia Crediop 
Group

Financial assets held for trading (item 20) 5,595,765 663,544 6,259,309

Financial assets available for sale (item 40) 0 789,588 789,588

Financial assets held to maturity (item 50) 281,128 0 281,128

Due from customers (item 70) 27,710,040 454,787 28,164,827

Due from banks (item 60) 311,981 12,730,929 13,042,910

Due to banks (item 10) 0 23,680,581 23,680,581

Due to customers (item 20) 1,220,423 1,345,445 2,565,868

Securities in issue (item 30) 0 11,534,811 11,534,811

Investments in tangible and intangible assets 0 2,161 2,161

A.2 Distribution according to business sector: equity details 2011

thousands of euro

   Balance Sheet items 2011  Public and 
Wholesale Banking 

 Group           
Centre 

Dexia Crediop 
Group

Financial assets held for trading (item 20) 4,737,393 570,259 5,307,652

Financial assets available for sale (item 40) 0 694,927 694,927

Financial assets held to maturity (item 50) 338,415 0 338,415

Due from customers (item 70) 28,436,717 725,112 29,161,829

Due from banks (item 60) 345,309 12,015,133 12,360,442

Due to banks (item 10) 0 23,467,351 23,467,351

Due to customers (item 20) 1,270,574 591,224 1,861,798

Securities in issue (item 30) 0 13,464,097 13,464,097

Investments in tangible and intangible assets 0 2,337 2,337

The consolidated interest income, of e 96.1 million at 31 December 2012, is calculated for each business sector as the 
difference between real interests and theoretic interests offset, for the treasury pool determined according to the internal 
transfer rates defined at Dexia Group level. The item is periodically reported to the Board of Directors of the Bank, as well 
as to the department operators. 
The contribution of the single customers of the Bank to the interest income is less than 10%. 
The margin is mainly due to medium/long term lending through mortgages and securities in the Public and Wholesale 
Banking sector and to the short and medium/long term deposits within the Group Centre sector.
With respect to 2011, the item is greater, mainly due to the effect of better results from the Group Centre.

Net commission amounted to -e 12.1 million compared to +9.9 million in 2011. This was generated in the amount of 6.2 
million by the activities of Public and Wholesale Banking and in the amount of -18.3 million by the activities of the Group 
Centre. The decline can be viewed in relation to commissions for loan on securities, commissions payable linked to the 
issuing of Italian government backed securities and the reduction of the activities of Project Finance.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The total intermediation margin of the Dexia Crediop Group, amounting to e 76.6 million (31.2 million in 2011) consists 
of e 114.5 million from Public and Wholesale Banking activities and -37.8 million from Group Centre sector activities, 
where the results suffered from the effects of early termination of assets, which is described in the Report on Operations. 
In addition, the 2012 results suffered significantly from the valuation effect due to the improvement over the course of 
2012 of the spread on government debt. 

As of 31 December 2012, net write-downs were made for the deterioration of loans for -e 14 million. These write-downs 
involve -13.5 million for the Public and Wholesale Banking sector, mainly due to specific write-downs carried out for a 
project financing transaction and -0.5 million for the Group Centre.

Of the total intermediation margin of the Dexia Crediop Group as of 31 December 2012 amounting toe 25 million (-15.5 
million at 31 December 2011), e 76.4 million derives from Public and Wholesale Banking Activities and -e 1.4 from 
Group Centre activities. The improved result with respect to 2011 for the Public and Wholesale Banking sector can mainly 
be attributed to the cited improvement over 2012 of the spread on government debt. The worsened result for the Group 
Centre sector with respect to 2011 can be attributed to the charges for transactions for early termination of assets.
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B. Secondary schedule

With reference to the breakdown according to geographic area of operations, the activity of the Dexia Crediop group is 
to a large extent concentrated on the domestic market. 
Customer receivables are 100% in Italy whilst the net interest and other banking income is 61.8 million from Italy and 
14.8 million from the rest of the world. As noted above, the net interest and other banking income coming from Italy was 
affected positively by the improvement over the course of 2012 of the spread on government debt.

The secondary disclosure regarding segment reporting is based on the residence of the entity falling under the scope of 
consolidation. In particular:

• Italy: includes Dexia Crediop, Dexia Crediop for Securitisation, Tevere Finance and Crediop per le Obbligazioni Bancarie 
Garantite;

• Rest of World: includes Dexia Crediop Ireland net of the elimination of infra-group transactions and consolidation 
entries. 

B.1 Distribution according to geographic area: income details 2012

Income Statement items Italy Rest of the world Dexia Crediop 
Group

Net interest and other banking income (item 120) 61,820 14,807 76,627

B.1.1 Distribution according to geographic area: income details 2011

Income Statement items Italy Rest of the world Dexia Crediop 
Group

Net interest and other banking income (item 120) 16,343 14,885 31,228

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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B.2 Distribution according to geographic area: equity details 2012

Balance Sheet items Italy Rest of the world Dexia Crediop 
Group

Financial assets held for trading (item 20) 6,415,796 -156,487 6,259,309

Financial assets available for sale (item 40) 666,255 123,333 789,588

Financial assets held to maturity (item 50) 281,128 0 281,128

Due from customers (item 70) 28,220,450 -55,623 28,164,827

Due from banks (item 60) 13,042,438 472 13,042,910

Investments in tangible and intangible assets 2,161 0 2,161

B.2.1 Distribution according to geographic area: equity details 2011

Balance Sheet items Italy Rest of the world Dexia Crediop 
Group

Financial assets held for trading (item 20) 5,435,554 -127,902 5,307,652

Financial assets available for sale (item 40) 603,107 91,820 694,927

Financial assets held to maturity (item 50) 338,415 0 338,415

Due from customers (item 70) 29,378,012 -216,183 29,161,829

Due from banks (item 60) 12,358,959 1,483 12,360,442

Investments in tangible and intangible assets 2,337 0 2,337
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